# Sedentary behavior enhances the loss of bone tissue quality induced by age and hypoestrogenemia

Hélder Rui Martins Fonseca

Sedentary behavior enhances the loss of bone tissue quality induced by age and hypoestrogenemia





Hélder Rui Martins Fonseca Porto, 2011

## Universidade do Porto

Faculdade de Desporto

Centro de Investigação em Actividade Física, Saúde e Lazer - CIAFEL

## Sedentary behavior enhances the loss of bone tissue quality induced by age and hypoestrogenemia

Dissertação apresentada às provas para obtenção do grau de Doutor em Actividade Física e Saúde, nos termos do Decreto-Lei nº 74/2006 de 24 de Março, orientada pelo Professor Doutor José Alberto Ramos Duarte, professor Catedrático da Faculdade de Desporto da Universidade do Porto e co-orientada pela Professora Doutora Maria Paula Gonçalves da Mota, professora Auxiliar do Departamento de Desporto da Unividersidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro.

Hélder Rui Martins Fonseca

Porto, 2011

Fonseca H (2011). Sedentary behavior enhances the loss of bone tissue quality induced by age and hypoestrogenemia. Dissertação apresentada às provas de Doutoramento em Actividade Física e Saúde. Faculdade de Desporto da Universidade do Porto, Porto

### Keywords

OSTEOPOROSIS; PHYSICAL INACTIVITY; BONE FRAGILITY; ANIMAL MODELS; OSTEOCYTES

## **Funding Sources**

The author of this thesis was supported by a joint fellow (SFRH/BD/38110/2007) from Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (FCT) and Fundo Social Europeu (FSE).

The experimental studies included in this thesis were supported by a grant (SFRH/BD/33123/2007) from Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (FCT).

The experimental studies presented in this work were performed in the Research Center for Physical Activity, Health and Leisure (Centro de Investigação em Actividade Física, Saúde e lazer; CIAFEL) which is a research unit housed in the Faculty of Sports of the University of Porto (Faculdade de Desporto da universidade do Porto).



"We are first taught to think inside the box. Then we are taught to think outside the box. The main question though is... Who put the box there?!"

Unknown author

To my parents

To Gabi, for being my strength,

my inspiration and my life

### Acknowledgments

These last four years have undoubtedly been some of the most challenging of my life, being plentiful of difficulties and uncertainties, who tested my resiliency sometimes close to limits. When I initiated this journey I knew very little about the subject of bone biology and I lacked the skills and competences needed to perform laboratory research work, especially in areas as different as mechanics, histology or biochemistry. Nevertheless, I was lucky enough to be surrounded by a number of people that helped me to grow and to overcome each of the difficulties that successively stood on the way. It is to all of them that I would like to express my highest gratitude, because without their help I would never had done it.

I would like first to express my appreciation to my adviser, Prof. José Duarte, for supervising this work. Despite not knowing me previously nor having a particular interest on bone biology, you have accepted the challenge of supervising this work and helped me to keep on track and to overcome the many drawbacks that succeeded. In addition, your knowledge of science and your tremendous work capacity were to me a great inspiration. Thank you!

To my co-adviser, Prof.<sup>a</sup> Paula Mota, I am truly grateful for her enthusiasm and for helping me to embark in this journey.

A wish to thank my dear friend Daniel for all the help he gave me during these last four years. You were much more than a colleague! You were a good teacher from whom a learned tremendously, a role model of integrity, and a very good friend who was always ready to help with everything that was in your reach. I believe that I was very lucky to have you as a "brother in arms" through this fight and I wish that this has been the beginning of a long lasting and fruitful friendship.

I wish to thank D<sup>a</sup> Celeste Resende for her most valuable, and so many times underappreciated, technical assistance and for always being available to do some afterhours work just to make sure things were ready in time. I also want to thank her for being such a good friend and for having treated me with such affection through these years. You are truly a special person.

I wish to thank to Prof. José Oliveira for his cheerfulness and thoughtful advises.

I wish to thank to Prof. Rita Ferreira for always being available to kindly answer my questions about biochemistry and for her contribution in this work. I also wish to

express my gratitude to Prof. Francisco Amado, Prof. Rui Vitorino, Prof. Valdemar Esteves and D<sup>a</sup> Teresa Caldeira for their contribution in the biochemical analysis of the bone matrix.

I wish to thank to Eng. Nuno Viriato and to Prof. Mário Vaz for all their help in the design and fabrication of the supporting gigs for the biomechanical testing. I also wish to express my gratitude towards Prof. José Esteves for granting me total freedom to use the materials testing machine as well as for helping me with the calculations of the results.

I wish to express my gratitude to Prof.<sup>a</sup> Maria Helena Fernandes, Doutor Pedro Gomes and Dr.<sup>a</sup> Raquel Palmas for their most valuable contribution to this work.

To my good friend Alberto Alves, thank you for all of your insightful advises during our many conversations.

I also wish to thank to my lab friends António, Eduardo, Teresa and Ana for all the joyful moments that we have spent together and for all the insightful discussions that we shared during our scientific meetings. Although you jumped in the middle, we make a good team.

Finally I wish to thank ...

...to my mother and to my father. Thank you for helping me throughout these years and for always being present to support me even despite my increasingly frequent awful mood. If I have managed to reach this far it is to a great extent to you that I owe.

... to my Gabi for all your support and tolerance, especially during these last couple of years. Only a great person as you could have tolerated my constant absence, lack of time, as well as my frequent zone-out thoughts and far-away gaze when I managed to be present. These years have not been easy to me, but certainly were also not to you. Therefore, these words are both to express my gratitude as well as to apologize for the countless time that I have stolen from us. Thank you for being my strength, my inspiration...my life.

## **Table of Contents**

| Title page   | I     |  |
|--|-------|--|
| Funding Sources  |       |  |
| Dedication   |       |  |
| Acknowledgments  |       |  |
| Table of Contents  |       |  |
| Abstract   |       |  |
| Resumo   | XIX   |  |
| Resumé   | XXI   |  |
| List of abbreviations  | XXIII |  |
| Chapter I – INTRODUCTION   | 1     |  |
| Chapter II – STATE OF THE ART  | 13    |  |
| 1. Determinants of bone strength and fragility   | 15    |  |
| 1.1 Bone Physiology  | 15    |  |
| 1.2 Pathophysiology of Osteoporosis and Bone Fragility                                 | 16    |  |
| 1.2.1 Changes in the determinants of Bone Strength in Osteoporosis                     | 17    |  |
| 1.2.1.1 Bone material properties   |       |  |
| 1.2.1.2 Cellular density   | 21    |  |
| 1.2.1.3 Bone turnover  | 24    |  |
| 1.2.1.4 Microarchitecture  | 25    |  |
| 1.2.1.5 Bone geometry  | 26    |  |
| 1.2.2 Mechanisms leading to increased bone loss and skeletal fragility in Osteoporosis | 29    |  |
| 1.2.2.1 Direct role of estrogen on bone cells  | 30    |  |
| 1.2.2.2 Role of proinflammatory cytokines in bone loss                                 | 32    |  |
| 1.2.2.3 Oxidative Stress   | 33    |  |
| 1.2.2.4 Secondary hyperparathyroidism  | 34    |  |
| 1.2.2.5 Physical inactivity  | 36    |  |
| 2. Physical activity and bone strength   | 39    |  |
| 2.1 Evidences on athletes  | 39    |  |
| 2.2 Experimental studies on animals  |       |  |
| 2.3 Effects of unloading or disuse on bone   |       |  |
| 3. Mechanisms involved in bone tissue response to mechanical loading                   |       |  |

| 3.1 Detection of the mechanical stimulus  |     |  |
|---|-----|--|
| 3.2 Mechanotransduction   |     |  |
| 3.3 Propagation of biochemical signals between bone cells   | 50  |  |
| 4. Variations in bone tissue responsiveness to exercise with age and estrogen   | 52  |  |
| 4.1 Estrogen Receptors are involved in the response of bone cells to mechanical loading   | 52  |  |
| 4.2 Possible effects of age and estrogen levels on bone tissue responsiveness to mechanical loading   | 54  |  |
| 5. Exercise in the prevention and treatment of osteoporosis   | 60  |  |
| 5.1 Peak bone mass  | 60  |  |
| 5.2 Exercise programs for increasing bone mass  | 62  |  |
| Chapter III – EXPERIMENTAL STUDIES  | 67  |  |
| <b>Study 1</b> - Physical inactivity is a major contributor to ovariectomy induced muscle loss  | 69  |  |
| Study 2 - Lifelong Sedentary Behavior and Femur Structure   | 101 |  |
| <b>Study 3</b> - Changes in proximal femur bone properties following ovariectomy and their association with resistance to fracture          | 113 |  |
| <b>Study 4</b> - Voluntary physical activity improves proximal femur bone quality in adult ovariectomized Wistar rats                       | 149 |  |
| <b>Study 5</b> - Voluntary exercise has long-term in vivo protective effects on osteocyte viability and bone strength following ovariectomy | 185 |  |
| Chapter IV – GENERAL DISCUSSION   | 199 |  |
| 1. General Discussion   | 201 |  |
| 2. Overal limitations   | 215 |  |
| 3. Main conclusion  |     |  |
| 4. Perspectives for future research   |     |  |
| References  | 221 |  |

#### Abstract

There is substantial evidence that exercise has anabolic effects on bone tissue. Nevertheless, exercise induced bone gains are more evident at young ages, and seem to be negligible in the elder and in post-menopausal women. However, most studies regarding the effectiveness of exercise in the prevention of bone fragility have used just bone mineral density (BMD) increases as the main end-point for assessing the intervention effectiveness despite that bone strength depends on a cluster of properties and not just on BMD. Therefore, the effectiveness of exercise as a strategy to prevent bone strength losses with age or estrogen deficiency may have been largely underappreciated by studies in which effectiveness was merely monitored by analyzing changes in BMD. Consequently, the main objective of this work was to investigate how ageing and/or estrogen deficiency affect several of the bone material and geometrical microarchitecture, properties (trabecular cellular density, radiographic absorptiometry, mineralization degree, bone geometry) that determine its mechanical resistance (strength and stiffness) as well as to determine the possible role of physical activity in the prevention of those changes. To accomplish these objectives we used male C57BL/6 mice that were subjected through life (from 2 to 25 months of age) to sedentary or physically active housing conditions. This model enabled us to determine the extent to which sedentary behavior contributed to the bone changes associated with ageing. In another set of experiments we have used female Wistar rats that were first ovariectomized (or sham-operated) at 5-months of age, and afterwards housed until 14-months of age in sedentary or physically active conditions. This model allowed us to appreciate how voluntary physical activity was affected by estrogen levels as well as to determine the role of regular exercise in the prevention of estrogen-loss induced bone changes.

Our overall results show that in the elder male mice, age related bone losses were significantly greater in the sedentary animals than in the physically active animals, suggesting therefore that physical inactivity significantly enhances bone losses associated with age. Our results also demonstrate that estrogen exerted a pivotal role in the female rat motor activity pattern since low estrogen levels induced a significant

XVII

decrease in physical activity levels and were thereby a main contributor to estrogen loss associated sarcopenia. Regular physical activity however, was shown to significantly prevent the decline in bone tissue quality that occurs with age and estrogen loss. The overall conclusion of the present work is that regular physical activity is able to prevent at some extent the bone tissue quality declines associated with ageing and estrogen loss, contributing thereby to the prevention of bone fragility associated with these conditions.

#### Resumo

Existem bastantes evidências de que o exercício físico tem efeitos anabólicos sobre o tecido ósseo. Porém, os ganhos de massa óssea associados ao exercício parecem ocorrer essencialmente em idades jovens, parecendo ser negligenciáveis em idosos e mulheres pós-menopausicas. Contudo, a maioria dos estudos que analisam a eficácia de programas de exercício na prevenção da fragilidade óssea, utilizam como medida principal de eficácia a determinação de alterações na densidade mineral óssea (DMO). Porém, a capacidade de resistência do tecido ósseo depende de um conjunto alargado de propriedades e não apenas da DMO. Desta forma, os reais efeitos benéficos do exercício na prevenção da fragilidade óssea associada à idade e à perda de estrogénio poderão ter sido subvalorizados por estudos prévios que se basearam apenas em alterações da DMO. Consequentemente, este trabalho teve como principal objectivo investigar de que forma a idade e/ou a ausência de estrogénio afectam um conjunto alargado de propriedades materiais e geométricas do fémur (microarquitetura trabecular, densidade celular, geometria, densidade radiográfica, concentrações de cálcio e fosfato) determinantes para a sua resistência mecânica (força máxima e rigidez óssea), assim como investigar os possíveis efeitos do exercício físico na prevenção desse conjunto de alterações. Para atingir estes objectivos, foram utilizados murganhos machos da estripe C57BL/6 submetidos durante toda a vida (desde os 2 até aos 25 meses de idade) a condições de sedentarismo ou de actividade física regular. Este modelo permitiu avaliar de que forma é que o sedentarismo contribuiu para o agravamento das alterações ósseas associadas ao envelhecimento. Num outro conjunto de experiências utilizaram-se ratos fêmea da estirpe Wistar que foram ooforectomizados (ou operados sem remoção dos ovários) aos 5 meses de idade e seguidamente alojados até aos 14 meses de idade em condições de sedentarismo ou de actividade física regular. A utilização deste modelo permitiu analisar de que forma é que a actividade motora dos animais é influenciada pelos níveis de estrogénio assim como determinar a influência da prática de exercício físico regular na prevenção das alterações ósseas associadas à perda de estrogénio.

Os resultados demonstraram que, nos ratinhos machos idosos, as alterações do tecido ósseo associadas ao envelhecimento foram significativamente mais extensas nos animais sedentários comparativamente aos animais fisicamente activos, o que sugere portanto que o sedentarismo exacerba significativamente o envelhecimento do tecido ósseo. Os resultados demonstraram igualmente que o estrogénio exerce um papel fundamental na regulação da actividade motora dos ratos fêmea já que a redução dos níveis de estrogénio induziu uma diminuição acentuada da actividade física voluntária destes animais. Este facto teve uma influência determinante na diminuição da massa muscular verificada após a ooforectomia. A realização de actividade física regular porém, demonstrou ser uma estratégia eficaz na prevenção da deterioração da qualidade do tecido ósseo associada à idade e à perda de estrogénio. A conclusão geral deste trabalho é que a actividade física regular é capaz de prevenir, em certa medida, a deterioração das propriedades do tecido ósseo resultantes do envelhecimento e da perda de estrogénio, contribuindo dessa forma para a prevenção da fragilidade óssea associada a estas condições.

#### Resumé

Il y a plusieurs évidences que l'exercice physique a des effets anaboliques sur le tissu osseux. Néanmoins, les profits de la masse osseuse associés à l'exercice semblent se produire essentiellement pendant le jeune âge, semblant être négligeables dans les personnes âgées et les femmes post-ménopausiques. Malgré cela, la majorité des études qui analysent l'efficacité des programmes d'exercice dans la prévention de la fragilité osseuse, utilisent comme mesure principale d'efficacité la détermination des modifications dans la densité minérale osseuse (DMO). Cependant, la capacité de résistance du tissu osseux dépend d'un ensemble élargi de propriétés et non seulement de la DMO. Ainsi, les réels effets bénéfiques de l'exercice dans la prévention de la fragilité osseuse associé à l'âge et à la perte d'estrogène peuvent avoir été sousvalorisés par des études préalables qui ne se sont basées que sur les modifications de la DMO. En conséquence, ce travail a eu comme principal objectif faire des recherches sur la façon dont l'âge et/ou l'absence d'estrogène affectent un ensemble élargi de propriétés matérielles et géométriques du fémur (microarchitecture trabeculaire, densité cellulaire, géométrie, densité radiographique, concentrations de calcium et phosphate) déterminantes pour sa résistance mécanique (force maximum et rigidité osseuse), ainsi que faire des recherches sur les possibles effets de l'exercice physique dans la prévention de cet ensemble de modifications. Affin d'atteindre ces objectifs, nous avons utilisé des souris mâles d'extirpe C57BL/6 soumises pendant toute leur vie (depuis l'âge 2 jusqu'à 25 mois) à des conditions de soit de sédentarité soit d'activité physique régulière. Ce modèle a permis d'évaluer de qu'elle façon la sédentarité a contribué à l'aggravation des modifications osseuses associés au vieillissement. Dans un autre ensemble d'expériences nous avons employé des rats femelles de la lignée Wistar qui ont été ooforectomisées (ou opérés sans déplacement des ovaires) à l'âge e 5 mois et ensuite logés jusqu'à l'âge de 14 mois dans des conditions de sédentarité ou d'activité physique régulière. L'utilisation de ce modèle a permis d'analyser de qu'elle façon l'activité motrice des animaux est influencée par les niveaux d'estrogène ainsi que déterminer l'influence de la pratique de l'exercice physique régulier dans la prévention des modifications osseuses associés à la perte d'estrogène.

Les résultats ont démontré que, dans les petites souris mâles âgées, les modifications du tissu osseux associés au vieillissement ont été significativement plus étendues dans les animaux sédentaires comparativement aux animaux physiquement actifs, ce qui suggère donc que la sédentarité exacerbe significativement le vieillissement du tissu osseux. Les résultats ont démontré également que l'estrogène exerce un rôle fondamental dans le règlement de l'activité motrice des souris femelles puisque la réduction des niveaux d'estrogène a induit une diminution accentuée de l'activité physique volontaire de ces animaux. Ce fait a eu une influence déterminante dans la diminution de la masse musculaire vérifiée après l'ooforectomie. La réalisation d'une activité physique régulière néanmoins, a démontré être une stratégie efficace dans la prévention de la détérioration de la qualité du tissu osseux associé à l'âge et à la perte d'estrogène. La conclusion générale de ce travail est que l'activité physique régulière est capable d'empêcher, dans une certain mesure, la détérioration des propriétés du tissu osseux résultant du vieillissement et de la perte d'estrogène, en contribuant ainsi à la prévention de la fragilité osseuse associé à ces conditions.

## List of abbreviations

| AGEs                             | Advanced glycation end products           |
|----------------------------------|---|
| ALP                              | Alkaline phosphatase                      |
| АТР                              | Adenosine triphosphate                    |
| B.Dm                             | Bone diameter                             |
| BMC                              | Bone mineral content                      |
| BMD                              | Bone mineral density                      |
| BV/TV                            | Trabecular bone volume fraction           |
| [Ca <sup>2+</sup> ] <sub>i</sub> | Intracellular calcium concentration       |
| CFMA                             | Compression force moment arm              |
| COX-2                            | Cyclooxygenase-2                          |
| Ct.Th                            | Cortical bone thikness                    |
| Cx43                             | Connexin43                                |
| DXA                              | Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry          |
| ECM                              | Extracellular matrix                      |
| ER                               | Estrogen receptors                        |
| ERK                              | Extracellular signal-regulated kinases    |
| FNAL                             | Femoral neck axis length                  |
| FNW                              | Femoral neck width                        |
| GM-CSF                           | Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating |
| GPCR                             | G-protein coupled receptors               |
| GSK-3β                           | Glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta           |
| HRT                              | Hormone replacement therapy               |
| IL                               | Interleukin                               |
| INF-γ                            | Interferon-gamma                          |
| Ma.Dm                            | Marrow diameter                           |
| МАРК                             | Mitogen activated protein kinase          |
| M-CSF                            | Macrophage colony-stimulating factor      |
| MHC                              | Myosin heavy chain                        |
| mRNA                             | Messenger ribonucleic acid                |
| MSC                              | Mesenchymal stem cells                    |
| NFAT2                            | Nuclear factor of activated T-cells-2     |
| •NO                              | Nitric oxide                              |
| NSA                              | Femoral neck-shaft angle                  |
| OPG                              | Osteoprotegerin                           |
| OVX                              | Ovariectomy/ovariectomized                |
| PGE2                             | Prostaglandin E2                          |
|                                  |   |

| Protein kinase A                                    |
|---|
| Peripheral quantitative computed tomography         |
| Parathyroid hormone                                 |
| Receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-B        |
| Receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-B ligand |
| Reactive oxygen species                             |
| Sham-operated                                       |
| Trabecular number                                   |
| Trabecular separation                               |
| Trabecular thickness                                |
| Transforming growth factor beta                     |
| Tumor necrosis factor-alpha                         |
| World health organization                           |
| Wingless-int/beta-catenin                           |
| Microcomputed tomography                            |
| Magnetic resonance microimaging                     |
|   |

# CHAPTER I Introduction



During the last century, the implementation of several public health measures as well as the general increase in the quality and availability of medical care, have contributed to the overall enhancement of life expectancy, making the elderly the fastest growing age group in industrialized countries [402]. The reduction of the mortality in young and adults has led to that people now are living long enough to experience more frequently degenerative disorders which became the major causes of morbidity and mortality in industrialized countries [87].

Osteoporosis is one of the most common age-related diseases [118], affecting a significant portion of the elder population and of post-menopausal women [201]. It is defined conceptually as low bone mass and microarchitectural deterioration of bone tissue [408] while in the clinical practice osteoporotic patients are operationally defined as those having a bone mineral density (BMD) that is 2.5 or more standard deviations lower than the average bone mass of healthy young adults [408]. Its clinical significance arises from the increased risk of fracture following minimal trauma, which has substantial consequences both to the individual as well as to the society [127]. Although osteoporotic fractures may occur at multiple skeletal sites, the most commonly affected are the femoral neck, vertebral bodies and distal radius. Epidemiological studies [569] estimate that about half the women and one-fifth of man will experience a fragility fracture after 50 years of age, and that even if the current incidence rate remains stable, absolute numbers of fractures should rise as the average age of the population increases [504, 260]. In addition, the occurrence of a fragility fracture significantly increases the risk of having subsequent fractures [469, 287, 370]. Osteoporotic fractures are a considerable cause of disability to the individual [128, 369] and frequently lead to premature death [92, 58, 246]. For instance, during the first year following femoral neck fracture, there is an increase of more than 2-fold and of more than 3-fold in the mortality risk in women and men, respectively [97]. Osteoporotic fractures are also a huge economic burden to the society due to health care costs associated with medical treatments [452] and losses of productivity [433, 344], and it is estimated that the annual costs should rise substantially in the course of the following years [84].

The increased bone fragility in osteoporosis is a consequence of the overall loss of bone tissue, microarchitectural deterioration [100], and alterations in extracellular bone matrix properties [483], which are to a great extent the outcome of imbalances in bone turnover [185]. Bone tissue is continuously being remodeled throughout life by the action of osteoclasts and osteoblasts that coordinately perform bone resorption and bone formation, respectively, allowing thereby the renewal of damaged bone tissue [461] as well as the buffering of blood calcium levels. It is the unbalance in this process that is in the origin of osteoporosis and on most cases of bone fragility.

According to the estrogen-centric model of osteoporosis [456], bone losses take place as a result of estrogen deficiency. Estrogen exerts a pivotal role on the activity of bone cells, namely by inhibiting the differentiation and promoting the death by apoptosis of osteoclasts [76] as well as by inhibiting the differentiation of early osteoblast progenitors [139], thereby slowing the rate of bone turnover. Consequently, the rapid decrease in estrogen concentration that follows menopause in women, leads to an increase in bone turnover rate [185] with resorption exceeding bone formation. This results in an initial period of rapid bone loss, especially trabecular bone [392], followed by a more slower period of bone loss [456] which is also similar to what is observed in men. The more progressive loss of bone tissue that happens in men as well as in elder women is considered to be mostly the consequence of secondary hyperparatiroidism [366] due to effects that low estrogen concentration has on extraskeletal tissues involved in the regulation of calcium homeostasis, namely the kidney [365] and the intestine [188]. Only more recently, the role of oxidative stress and of cell senescence in the pathogenesis of both post-menopausal and age related osteoporosis has began to assume increasingly importance [339, 280, 343].

Despite the relevance of low bone mass for bone fragility [345], other abnormalities also contribute to fracture risk, most importantly the loss of skeletal muscle mass [538] that occurs with age [144] and at the onset of menopause [143] and that is designated as sarcopenia. Besides effecting directly bone cells and other tissues involved in the regulation of calcium homeostasis, there is compelling evidence suggesting that low estrogen concentration also promotes skeletal muscle wasting

[143] which may increase substantially the fracture risk namely due to the higher probability of falling [538]. For instance, decreases in skeletal muscle mass and strength are a well documented outcome of menopause [143] and they are shown to be prevented by estrogen replacement therapy [520, 468]. Low estrogen levels are also shown to have a negative impact on skeletal muscle energy metabolism since the mitochondria are estrogen sensitive organelle [101] and estrogen administration to ovariectomized (OVX) animals enhances respiratory chain activity [429]. Quite interestingly, there is also compelling evidence suggesting that estrogen regulates motor activity [196]. For instance OVX rats have been reported to run significantly less when compared to age matched intact controls [552] and estrogen replacement effectively reverses OVX-induced physical inactivity in mice in a dose-dependent fashion [131, 196]. It is therefore possible that menopause-induced sarcopenia might not just be caused by the effects of low estrogen on skeletal muscle, but it may also be consequence of skeletal muscle disuse due to decreases in voluntary physical activity.

The progressive loss of skeletal muscle mass is also observed in the ageing male [144], and despite that in the male there is no evidence of an abrupt decrease in physical activity as there is in the female following estrogen loss, there is substantial evidence showing that males also experience a significant decrease in voluntary physical activity levels throughout life [233]. Therefore, it is possible that at the resemblance of females, age-related sarcopenia might be associated not just with the ageing process *per se*, but also with progressively lower physical activity levels. Most importantly, and considering the importance that regular exercise has for the maintenance of bone heath [176, 292, 78], it is also possible that the increased bone fragility observed in the ageing male might not just result from imbalances in calcium homeostasis or cell senescence due to the ageing process *per se*, but may also be a significant outcome of the decline in physical activity levels over the years.

One of the major challenges raised by osteoporosis is that it remains clinically silent until it manifests itself through the occurrence of a fragility fracture. This makes therefore essential the establishment of adequate screening strategies that allow reliable, timely and cost-effective detection of those at risk of fracture. Currently, dual-

energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) derived measures of BMD are the gold-standard for diagnosing osteoporosis and for the clinical assessment of fracture risk. However and regardless of the epidemiological evidence showing that BMD values correlate with fracture risk [345] this variable is only able to predict a portion of the individuals fracture risk [500], which leads to insufficient recognition of those that are more likely to experience a fracture [423, 582]. For instance, there are reports showing that 66% and 79% of non-vertebral fractures occur in women and men without diagnosed osteoporosis, respectively [496]. Additionally, age related decreases in femur strength are estimated to be steeper than decreases in BMD [270], suggesting that the population at risk for fragility fractures is substantially underestimated according to the DXA diagnosis criteria, which has led to the discouragement of osteoporosis screening programs relying merely in BMD as an endpoint [345]. Despite the clinical relevance of BMD and of low bone mass as a component of fracture risk, it is now well established that bone strength is influenced by a set of orchestrated features [239] and that skeletal fragility is the final outcome of the interaction between several material and structural bone properties [360]. Hence, the use of BMD alone for estimating fracture risk is largely insufficient and likely misleading as it provides limited information about bone tissue material composition and structural design [360]. In order to improve the assessment of bone fragility, several investigations have been performed with the objective of determining how other than BMD bone properties correlate with bone strength, such as bone geometry [82], trabecular microarchitecture [470] or bone turnover [184]. However, the existence of conflicting results [15, 48] has difficult the assessment of the contribution that each of these properties have for bone resistance.

During the last decades, several pharmacological agents have become available for treatment of osteoporosis and their effectiveness is well demonstrated by large placebo controlled trials [135, 56]. Bisphosphonates are among the most commonly used. Nevertheless, as any drug, these treatments have adverse secondary effects, namely gastrointestinal disorders [160], osteonecrosis of the jaw [55, 356] and increased occurrence of atypical femoral fractures [531, 505]. Recently a significant

increase in the incidence of atrial fibrillation was also reported as a serious adverse effect in patients receiving some forms of bisphosphonates [57, 427, 4]. Likewise, poor compliance [430, 79, 60, 359] and persistence [114, 431] to the treatments are serious shortcomings in patients receiving drugs against osteoporosis. Prevention of fractures with pharmacological treatments is also costly [128], and the treatment cost-effectiveness is a significant matter of concern [169, 251] as health care resources are inevitable limited and the population at risk for osteoporotic fractures is significant and is increasing [84]. The cornerstone in osteoporosis treatment should therefore not just be treating those with established bone loss, but specially preventing skeletal fragility through non-pharmacological measures in order to reduce or delay the requirement of pharmacological treatments. Several non-pharmacological measures, like a calcium and vitamin-D rich nutrition [546] and exercise [255, 159] have the potential of reducing the risk of developing osteoporosis.

There is extensive evidence showing that exercise is beneficial to the skeleton [222, 219, 220, 205, 397, 579, 576, 603] and that disuse seriously jeopardizes bone structure [304, 275, 299]. For instance, observational studies show that bone mass is higher in athletes compared to sedentary controls [219, 220, 603] and that BMD is higher in the dominant, compared to the non-dominant, arm in tennis players [294, 206, 205, 358]. Conversely, microgravity [304, 275] and prolonged bed rest [299] are major skeletal stimulus that lead to rapid bone losses. Several studies however suggest that exerciseinduced increases in BMD occur especially during growth [332, 276] which would, by increasing peak bone mass [214, 216], grant extra protection against bone losses later in life, thereby preventing osteoporosis. Nevertheless, there is compelling evidence that exercise-induced bone gains during growth are not maintained throughout old age [264, 414, 602] and that therefore, to be an effective preventive strategy against osteoporosis, exercise should be performed throughout life. For instance, in a study where BMD and fracture rate were assayed in former soccer players and age matched controls, it was shown that despite exercise induced an increase in peak BMD during youth, when activity ceased there was an accelerated bone loss, and at 60 years of age

there were no differences between former athletes and controls regarding BMD and fracture rate.

Despite the extensive evidence showing that exercise benefits bone health [176, 292, 78, 222, 219, 220, 205, 397, 579, 576, 603], observational studies and clinical trials have shown that exercise in the adult has no effects or produces only minor BMD increments [351, 350, 273, 349]. Because osteoporosis is defined in terms of BMD and because DXA derived BMD screening is an easy, minimally invasive and widely available way of estimating bone mass, BMD has been the primary outcome in the majority of the studies for determining exercise-induced improvements in fracture risk. However, regardless of its value diagnosing osteoporosis, BMD increases correlate poorly with fracture risk reduction following treatment [94], which suggests that its usefulness as a surrogate for treatment efficacy may be limited [500]. This is the result of the fact that bone strength depends on several material and structural properties [501] and changes in these properties are not necessarily captured by a shift in BMD [136]. For instance, a meta-analysis about the efficacy of fluoride for the reduction of fractures in osteoporotic post-menopausal women [208] demonstrated that despite the treatment was able to increase BMD by 16% at the end of 4 years, there was no reduction in fracture risk what so ever in the treatment group. Therefore, increased BMD did not resulted in a reduction in fracture occurrence, which in this case might be due to the inability of fluoride to restore trabecular microarchitecture [1] an important determinant of bone resistance. In opposition, post-menopausal woman to witch raloxifene, a selective estrogen receptor modulator (SERM), was given for 3-years, displayed a significant decrease in fracture occurrence despite average BMD increases were only about 2.5%. In another study [488], BMD increases following raloxifene treatment were shown to explain only 4% of the observed vertebral fracture reduction. Consequently, assessing exercise effectiveness in the reduction of fracture risk by monitoring just BMD changes is insufficient and likely misleading and would instead be best achieved by monitoring a broad set of bone properties that might change with treatment reducing thereby fracture risk.

One of the bone properties for which there is growing evidence about its importance for bone health and that is undervalued by bone mass measurements is the viability of the osteocyte network [465]. Osteocytes are the bone resident cells as they are embedded in the bone extracellular matrix. They are derived from osteoblasts that were entombed during the deposition of new bone. Osteocytes contact through cytoplasmatic projections, forming a syncytial network [436] that regulates local bone responses to mechanical (un)loading [618, 217, 544, 543, 305] as well as the systemic mineral homeostasis [66, 252, 513, 50]. Despite being for long disregarded, their role in bone physiology is now evidenced by a wealth of experimental studies showing that osteocytes are essential for the preservation of bone tissue integrity [465] being bone fragility in several cases associated with a decrease in osteocyte viability [343]. Advanced age [571], low estrogen levels [554, 555, 295, 156] and glucocorticoid therapy [399, 437], are all conditions leading to bone fragility which are also associated with loss of osteocyte viability. For instance, studies performed on bone biopsies evidence that osteocyte density is lower in osteoporotic patients than in health individuals [384], and a 34% lower number of osteocytes has been identified in woman who would latter suffer vertebral a fracture [448]. Moreover, studies on experimental animals also demonstrate that targeted osteocyte ablation rapidly leads to a decrease in bone strength [547] showing therefore that the presence of a viable osteocyte network is critical for the maintenance of bone health.

Interestingly, besides detecting and converting mechanical into biochemical signals within bone [285] osteocytes seem to depend on these same mechanical signals for their own survival [438]. For instance, mice subjected to tail suspension show a rapid increase in osteocyte apoptosis [13]. Conversely, studies performed on cultured osteocytes demonstrate that when subjected to mechanical stimulation they have increased viability compared to unstimulated osteocytes [438], and that fluid shear stress increases in osteocytes the Bcl-2/Bax ratio [35], which represents protection against apoptosis. Although the increase in osteocyte viability induced by mechanical stimulation has not been yet confirmed *in vivo*, mechanical stimulation induced by regular physical activity seems to have the potential to counteract osteocyte death

Physical Inactivity and Bone Health

associated with age and estrogen deficiency which is unaccounted by merely performing bone mass measurements thought routine imaging techniques.

Considering therefore the several questions raised, the global purpose of present work is to investigate how ageing and low estrogen levels affect bone tissue quality thereby compromising its mechanical resistance as well as to study how physical inactivity might affect those changes contributing thereby to the increase in bone fragility and fracture risk.

The following work is divided in four main sections. In the first two sections an introduction and a global review of the literature, regarding the physiology and pathology of osteoporosis as well as about the effects of exercise on bone quality, is presented. In the third section the experimental design, the methods used, results obtained and a specific discussion of those results is presented. A global and comprehensive discussion of the results as well as of the main conclusions of the work is presented in the fourth section.

In order to answer the main question that was raised, we performed a series of studies, which are presented in the second section of the work, each one dedicated to answering a specific aspect of the problem. The objective of each of the studies is:

- *Study 1*: To investigate if physical inactivity is a major contributor to menopause related sarcopenia.
- Study 2: To investigate if lifelong sedentary behavior aggravates the detrimental effects of age on bone health.
- Study 3: To investigate how bone mineral content, trabecular microarchitecture, femoral neck geometry, radiographic absorptiometry and biochemical markers of bone turnover are influenced by estrogen loss and how well are they associated with the proximal femur biomechanical properties.
- Study 4: To determine if regular physical activity is able to prevent bone mass losses, mineralization degree losses and to reduce bone resorption rate induced by estrogen deficiency as well as to determine if these changes are captured by radiographic absorptiometry changes.

*Study 5*: To investigate if *in vivo* mechanical stimulation induced by voluntary exercise reduces osteocyte death following estrogen deficiency with protective effects on bone mechanical properties.
Introduction

# CHAPTER II State of The Art



#### **1. DETERMINANTS OF BONE STRENGTH AND FRAGILITY**

#### 1.1 Bone Physiology

Bones are the individual components of the skeletal system. They accomplish several functions ranging from protection of vital organs, such as the brain or the mediastinum, act as attachment site and lever for muscles and tendons allowing them to produce movement, house the bone marrow and also importantly, they serve as a mineral reservoir, mostly of calcium and phosphate. The vast majority of the body's reserves of calcium are within the bone extracellular matrix (ECM) and when adequate amounts of this mineral are not absorbed by the intestine to meet the organism needs an endocrine response is triggered by the parathyroid glands in order to promote bone resorption, thereby releasing calcium into the circulation and making it available to be used elsewhere in the body [393].

At the microscopic level, bone tissue consists mostly of an ECM made from an organic and a mineral fraction. The organic fraction is composed mainly of type I collagen but also by a variety of other non-collagenous proteins. Deposited in the organic matrix is the mineral fraction formed predominantly by calcium hydroxyapatite crystals [40]. At the macroscopic level, bone tissue can be organized in the form of cortical or trabecular bone. Cortical bone is organized in a compact way forming the outer shell of all bones as well as the shafts of long bones. Trabecular bone is organized in an alveolar fashion forming the interior of irregular bones and the metaphysis and epiphysis of long bones [40].

Bone tissue is continuously remodeled thought life as a result of the action of three specialized types of cells, namely osteoclasts, osteoblasts and osteocytes. Osteoclasts are multinucleated cells derived from the hematopoietic lineage that adhere to the bone matrix forming a sealed compartment between them and the bone surface. They promote bone lyses through the secretion of hydrochloric acid and catabolic enzymes, releasing afterwards the degraded remnants to the extracellular fluid [76]. Osteoblasts are derived from mesenchymal stem cells (MSC), and they are responsible for the synthesis and deposition of the bone ECM, which is first laid as unmineralized bone (called osteoid) and afterwards undergoes progressive mineralization [148]. During

bone formation, some osteoblasts become embedded in the ECM differentiating thereafter as osteocytes, which comprise the vast majority of cells in the bone tissue. Osteocytes are connected between them and with other cells on the bone surface by projections that travel within small channels through the bone matrix called canaliculi, which are filled with extracellular fluid. Damages to the osteocyte cytoplasmatic projections as well as disturbances on their surface caused by the flow of the extracellular fluid in the canaliculi, allow the osteocyte to detect damage to the bone matrix as well as to sense mechanical loading applied to the bone, sending thereafter signals to other bone cells in order to initiate bone remodeling [66]. Bone remodeling (or bone turnover), occurs through life in the various bone surfaces (endocortical, intracortical and trabecular surface) in order to adapt bone mass to its mechanical needs, to repair microdamage and to preserve calcium homeostasis. Remodeling involves the removal of a portion of bone by osteoclasts, followed by the filling of the cavity formed with new bone deposited by osteoblasts [418].

#### 1.2 Pathophysiology of Osteoporosis and Bone Fragility

Osteoporosis is defined conceptually by the World Health Organization (WHO) as low bone mass and microarchitectural deterioration of bone tissue leading to increased occurrence of low trauma fractures [408]. In order to translate this definition to the clinical practice allowing those with osteoporosis to be more accurately diagnosed, an operational definition was established defining that osteoporotic patients are those having a bone mineral density (BMD) that is 2.5 or more standard deviations lower than the average bone mass of healthy young adults [408]. Nevertheless, despite measures of BMD are well correlated with fracture risk at the population level [345, 125], they merely explain a fraction of the individual bone strength. Moreover, there is substantial evidence showing that the majority of fragility fractures occur in individuals who do not have osteoporosis according to the operational WHO definition [496]. For instance, results from a recent study in which femoral strength was assayed by finite-element analysis and dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) in individuals ranging from 20 to 90 years old, show that the

decline in femoral neck strength with age is much more pronounced than the decline in BMD, suggesting therefore that the prevalence of low bone strength was significantly higher that the prevalence of osteoporosis [270]. These data show that bone strength evolution with age occurs somewhat independently of the evolution of BMD, and that therefore other bone properties are also of importance for determining fracture occurrence. Several epidemiologic studies also support this finding. A recent study performed with more than 7800 individuals, whose fracture occurrence was tracked for a 7 years period, identified that only 44% and 21% of non vertebral fractures, occurred in women and men with T scores lower than 2.5, respectively [496]. Similar results were also obtained in a different study where fracture occurrence and BMD were followed for 3 years in a population of 16500 women older than 50 years [124]. Again the highest number of fractures occured in women that were not osteoporotic according to the BMD definition. Several other studies also support the notion that low BMD only explains a small portion of fracture risk, and that bone fragility is not just ther result of low BMD [423, 530, 582]. Furthermore, studies with the objective of determining the efficacy of pharmacological treatments in the reduction of fracture risk show that decreases in fracture risk following treatment are disproportionate to changes detected in BMD [126, 103, 589]. BMD changes alone were unable to explain the fracture risk reduction and therapy efficiency, and therefore improvements were the result of changes in other bone properties [435, 434]. Moreover, treatment with fluoride has been shown to increase fracture risk flowing 2-years of treatment, despite significant increases in BMD [373], showing therefore that the use of BMD as a surrogate for treatment efficacy could be extremely deceiving.

#### 1.2.1 Changes in the determinants of Bone Strength in Osteoporosis

Bone strength is the maximal amount of load that a bone can tolerate before it fails due to a fracture [560]. Considering the hierarchical organization of the bone [361] it is currently well-established that several factors, from the collagen properties and matrix mineralization degree to the whole bone geometry, all contribute to bone strength

[347, 501, 224]. Moreover, the development of new biochemical assays and the increasingly higher resolution of imaging techniques, namely microcomputed tomography ( $\mu$ CT) and magnetic resonance microimaging ( $\mu$ MRI), as well as the adaptation of engineering modeling procedures (such as finite element analysis) to bone biology, have allowed to increase the awareness about the importance that several other properties beyond BMD have in determining bone strength. Therefore, impaired bone strength in osteoporosis might result from decreases in the amount of bone mass, decreases in the mechanical properties of the bone tissue, changes in the bone microarchitecture or geometry, or due to a combination of all the previous.

#### **1.2.1.1** Bone material properties

Bones are composed mainly of ECM which is a composite material made up mainly of type I collagen, but also to a minor extent from noncollagenous proteins and proteoglicans [174]. These elements are organized as an organic network, between which small hydroxyapatite crystals are laid down to grow. The two-phase composite nature of bone fabric enables it to absorb loads by elastic deformation but simultaneously to bear high loads before fracturing, being the mineral phase responsible for its stiffness and the collagen fibers for its toughness [501, 174]. Therefore, alterations in either fraction have the potential to affect the bone mechanical properties and thereby the fracture risk.

Type I collagen, laid down by osteoblasts during bone formation, is the major organic constituent of bone tissue. Collagen is first synthesized in the precursor form of procollagen, constituted by three polypeptide chains that are organized in a triple helix structure, and stabilized by post-translational modifications and disulfide bond formation. Following secretion into the ECM the soluble procollagen molecules are cleaved of their N- and C- terminals enabling spontaneous self-assembly into collagen fibrils. These are further stabilized by post-translational modifications that allow the formation of intermolecular and interfibrilar crosslinks in the collagen fibrils through the action of lysyl oxidase which is responsible for the activation of lysine and hydroxylisine residues [578]. The crucial importance of collagen for bone strength is

observed in pathologies like osteogenesis imperfecta were mutations affecting collagen genes lead to abnormalities in the collagen polymer and to the formation of a disorganized fibril structure resulting in a substantial decrease in bone strength and increased fracture occurrence [346]. The formation of inter and intrachain cross-links is a key feature for the collagen mechanical properties, since they maintain the several polypeptide chains in a closely organized fibril structure. These cross-links can be enzymatically formed by the action of lysyl hydroxylase or by non enzymatic processes inducing the formation of advanced glycation end products (AGEs) [578]. The most abundant enzymatically derived collagen cross-links are pyridinoline and deoxypyridinoline (collectively called pyridinium cross-links), while pentosidine is the most common AGEs associated cross-link [578]. There is evidence suggesting that changes in cross-linking are associated with reduced bone strength and increased fracture risk [410, 33, 38]. The reduction in pyridinium cross-link content in bone induced by lysyl oxidase inhibition was shown to reduce substantially the bending strength and elastic modulus of bone from experimental animals despite the absence of differences in bone mass [410]. It was also shown, in human bone from different skeletal sites, a relationship between bone strength and enzymatic cross-link profile [33]. In vertebral trabecular bone, the amount of pyridinoline cross-links was also correlate with the bone ultimate strain while the shown to ratio pyridinoline/deoxypyridinoline was shown to correlate with the bone ultimate stress and elastic modulus [38]. Enzymatic cross-link formation and collagen assembly [378] is also regulated by non-collagenous proteins present in bone matrix. These have also been shown to significantly influence the collagen mechanical properties [585].

Glycation is a common posttranslational modification of proteins mediated by reactive aldose or ketose sugars and other metabolic intermediates that can react with free amino groups in lysine, hydroxylysine or arginine residues, forming in some cases adducts to proteins while in others promote protein cross linking [265]. Non enzymatic cross-link formation due to glycation is shown to be associated with the deterioration of bone mechanical properties. Several *in vitro* studies demonstrate that an increase in AGEs in bone increases the tissue brittleness, leading to microdamage accumulation

Physical Inactivity and Bone Health

and decreases in bone strength [183, 484, 570]. The formation of AGEs associated cross-links is also thought to be the main responsible for the increased fracture risk and bone fragility seen in diabetic patients, especially in type II diabetes which even often have increased BMD [575, 483]. This hypothesis however remains controversial since the altered biomechanical properties of bones from diabetic patients may be related to a variety of factors, namely hormonal and vascular factors, bone structure and density, and other matrix components [497]. There is also evidence showing that bone matrix composition in the osteoporotic bone is different from bone of healthy individuals, which could also affect its mechanical properties. For instance, a study by Bailey and colleagues [34] has reported that bones from osteoporotic patients had an altered expression of type III and IV collagen when compared to bones from individuals without osteoporosis. However, the major differences reported between the osteoporotic and normal bone are in terms of collagen hydroxylation and cross-link formation. For instance, in a study where type collagen I was isolated from the femoral heads of osteoporotic women, it was shown a significantly higher degree of hydroxylation of lysine residues in osteoporotic bone compared to normal bone [297]. Recently, a study using infrared imaging analysis of iliac crest biopsy specimens from patients with osteoporotic and multiple spontaneous fractures also showed that collagen cross-links in newly deposited bone was markedly different between patients with osteoporosis and normal controls [422].

The inorganic fraction of bone tissue is also of crucial importance for its mechanical properties, being the degree of mineralization the main responsible for the bone stiffness [501, 174]. However, not only the degree of mineralization matters as also the individual characteristics of the hydroxyapatite crystals, namely their size and shape. Indeed, results suggest that adequate bone tissue mechanical strength is achieved with the presence of mineral crystals with different sizes as bones from older and osteoporotic animals are shown to have only larger size mineral crystals while younger animals, with increased bone strength, are shown to have a greater variety of crystal sizes [71]. In addition, in a study with human bone samples from donors ranging between 52 to 85 years old, it was also possible to identify an overall reduction in

crystal heterogeneity with age [613]. As mineral crystals grow between the collagen fibrils [173] it is possible that crystal overgrown may induce physical damage to the adjacent collagen fibers thereby affecting the tissue mechanical properties. Interestingly, studies performed in monkeys showed that the administration of parathyroid hormone (PTH) was able to enhance bone mechanical strength which was associated with an increase in the variety of bone tissue mineral crystal size [421]. As PTH increases bone turnover [278], it is most likely that this increase has promoted the removal of older bone with larger mineral crystals, which was then replaced by new bone tissue with smaller mineral crystals, increasing thereby crystal size heterogeneity.

The degree of crystallinity (the orderliness of the crystal minerals) assayed in human cadaveric femurs, has also been shown to explain between 6.7% and 63.5% of the variation in the bone mechanical properties, with crystallinity increases being associated with increases in bone strength and stiffness [612]. Despite the apparent randomness of mineral crystal growth in bone, there is evidence showing that this is a tightly regulated process where many factors may contribute to the formation of the mineral crystals or in opposition may inhibit their formation [181, 9, 574]. Therefore, by influencing crystal growth and maturation, the presence of some proteins appears to be critical in determining the inorganic properties of the bone tissue and consequently its mechanical properties [29, 11, 10]. Hence, changes with age in the secretion of proteins that might be involved in biomineralization [142] could lead to modifications of the mineral crystal growth pattern.

#### 1.2.1.2 Cellular density

Osteocytes were for long considered as just terminally differentiated osteoblasts that remained in a somewhat quiescent state after becoming entombed in the mineralized matrix during the deposition of new bone. Most certainly due to both their apparent inactive state and to the difficulty in obtaining osteocytes in reasonable numbers and purity from experimental animals, their function remained largely unknown, and therefore undervalued, for long. The establishment of cell lines [65, 267] able to mimic the features of primary osteocytes enabled them to be studied *in* 

*vitro*. There is now a wealth of experimental evidence showing that osteocytes are absolutely essential for the preservation of bone tissue integrity and that bone fragility is in several cases triggered by a decrease in osteocyte viability.

Several studies have verified that triggering osteocyte apoptosis, whether by mechanical [301] or biochemical [151] insults leads to the activation of osteoclasts into that site, increasing local bone resorption. Although the precise mechanism leading to osteoclast activation remains largely unknown, there is evidence suggesting that decreases in transforming growth factor beta (TGF- $\beta$ ) [217], increases in receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-B ligand (RANK-L) and macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) [301] as well as the formation of apoptotic bodies [290] are all involved in osteoclast activation following osteocyte apoptosis. For instance, it was previously shown that cultured osteocytes were able to stimulate osteoclast formation from bone marrow stem cells, through the expression and secretion of M-CSF and RANK-L [628], which are growth factors required for osteoclast commitment and activation [76]. Moreover, mechanically damaged cultured osteocytes were also shown to stimulate the activation of osteoclasts in a closely restricted area by releasing M-CSF and RANK-L [301]. A recent study with experimental animals also demonstrates that microdamage to the bone matrix was able to trigger osteocyte apoptosis which was spatially and temporally linked to osteoclast activation and intracortical bone remodeling [90]. Most interesting however was that blocking osteocyte apoptosis was able to prevented the osteoclast activation [90]. Another recent study [290], also provides evidence that the increased osteoclast activation and bone resorption that follows osteocyte death is signaled through the release of apoptotic bodies independently of RANK-L and M-CSF signaling [290]. Interestingly apoptotic bodies derived from osteoblasts were unable to promote osteoclast activation either in vivo or in vitro, which highlights the specific importance of osteocytes in the mediation of localized osteoclast activation [290].

Osteoclast activation seems therefore to be achieved by the loss of the constitutive inhibition of osteocytes over osteoclasts [203] as well as by the release of stimulatory factors following their death [301, 290]. If restricted to particular bone regions this must be seen as a protective mechanism, as it promotes the renewal of damaged bone

with worse mechanical properties [90]. However large increases in osteocyte death could lead to excessive bone resorption and increased intracortical porosity, ultimately compromising bone strength [547]. Osteocytes are therefore essential for promoting targeted remodeling of bone tissue and impairment of the osteocyte network may affect bone quality by hindering the repair of damaged bone [149] or by promoting excessive bone resorption. In vivo studies performed on iliac bone biopsies also show that there is a strong association between osteocyte density and fracture occurrence. Qiu al colleagues [448] identified a 34% lower osteocyte density in women who latter would suffer spontaneous vertebral compression fractures demonstrating hence that this was an important factor influencing bone quality. Moreover, targeted ablation of osteocytes in experimental animal was also shown to lead to decreases in bone strength [547]. Aging [571], lack of estrogen [156] and glucocorticoid therapy [399, 437], are all causes associated with loss of osteocyte viability that also lead to bone fragility. Moreover, lack of mechanical stimulation is also shown to trigger osteocyte apoptosis resulting in the rapid increase in bone resorption seen for instance in tail suspended mice [13].

Although many of the effects of osteocyte apoptosis on bone fragility are recognized to derive from their direct action over osteoblasts and osteoclasts, a connection between the decrease in osteocyte density and loss of bone strength due to hydration status is also acknowledged. It is broadly described that water is responsible for some hydraulic properties in hard tissues, and that dehydrated structures have increased brittleness [377]. Bone is a hydrated structure [601] and much of its water is estimated to reside in the canalicular system due to the presence of a glycoprotein and proteoglican rich pericellular matrix surrounding the osteocyte body and its dendritic projections [619]. The death of osteocytes and the disruption of their associated pericellular matrix could therefore affect the bone hydration status compromising bone strength [594]. In fact, there is some evidence that bone hydration decreases with age [234] which is also consistent with an osteocyte density decrease. Finite element analysis modeling shows evidence that hydration is able to increase 2.5 fold the cortical bone ultimate strength [322] and direct mechanical testing of cortical

bone specimens with different degrees of hydration show that dehydration progressively increases bone tissue brittleness and decreases its strength [398].

#### 1.2.1.3 Bone turnover

The existence of an adequate balance between bone formation and resorption is crucial for bone quality since the uneven increase in resorption leads to bone loss. However, it is important that bone turnover also occurs at an adequate rate. Several clinical trials have demonstrated the importance of bone turnover in skeletal fragility. For instance, in a recent study with post-menopausal women, fracture occurrence was shown to be associated with the rate of bone resorption independently of other fracture risk predictors, such as BMD and previous factures [521]. In another study in women undergoing treatment with raloxifene, changes in bone turnover markers, but not in BMD, were associated with a reduction in vertebral fractures.

Bone strength depends, in a great extent, on the degree of tissue mineralization, which in turn is greatly determined by the rate of turnover [64]. During the formation of new bone, osteoblasts secrete the organic matrix that initially serves as a scaffold for the initial mineral templates to be formed (primary mineralization). Following this initial period, the new bone progressively suffers further mineralization (secondary mineralization), with a slow and gradual increase in mineral crystal number and size [194]. If bone turnover rate if too high, secondary mineralization does not occur efficiently, as this slow process does not have the enough time to occur before a new remodeling unit reabsorbs the new bone again, leading to a decrease in the overall bone tissue degree of the mineralization and consequentially to a decrease in bone stiffness [63, 62, 61].

Conversely, excessively reduced bone turnover rate leads to a decrease in the renewal of bone tissue and therefore to the accumulation of older and more extensively mineralized bone tissue [62, 372], which has two main biomechanical disadvantages. Firstly, more extensively mineralized bone becomes more brittle [129], and therefore is unable to absorb energy by elastic deformation. Consequently, loads applied during everyday movements will be dissipated through structural failure,

initially by the development of microcracks that eventually will progress until reaching complete fracture. Secondly, one of the main purposes of bone turnover is to selectively remove damaged old bone and to replace it by new, more mechanically competent bone. An excessively low bone turnover rate leads therefore to the accumulation of damaged bone [352, 353], with reduced elastic properties [86] increasing the probability of microcrack proliferation and fracture occurrence. When turnover is too much suppressed, not only new microcracks accumulate, as they have more opportunity to grow to critical sizes. Over suppression of bone turnover during long-term use of anti-resorptive therapies has been associated with spontaneous fracture occurrence and absence of fracture healing [401]. An adequate rate of bone turnover is therefore necessary for achieving a properly mineralized bone structure that best combines stiffness and brittleness, since undermineralized bone tends to be very weak and overmineralized bone too brittle.

#### **1.2.1.4 Microarchitecture**

Due to the greater surface per volume ratio, trabecular bone is rapidly affected by increases in bone resorption. Individual trabeculae become progressively thinner while trabecular separation increases, shifting from a plate-like shape to a rod-like shape. Progressive perforation of individual rods leads to loss of trabecular connectivity and reduces the number of trabeculae, resulting ultimately in trabecular architecture deterioration [514, 303, 74]. Since at several skeletal sites the majority of bone is trabecular, like in the extremities of long bones and vertebral bodies, these progressive changes in trabecular architecture rapidly lead to compromised strength in these regions [558, 232]. In a study where the contribution of trabecular bone mass and architecture to the compressive strength of rat vertebra were assayed, it was shown that they were able to explain 91% of the compressive strength variability [67]. In another recent study [590], trabecular bone volume and trabecular microarchitecture of the distal radius and tibia of postmenopausal women were shown to explain 96% of the mechanical properties variation. However, in another study, trabecular bone volume was only able to explain between 37 to 67% of the bone

Physical Inactivity and Bone Health

mechanical properties [99]. Trabecular bone architecture has also been demonstrated to be a determinant of bone strength independently of BMD [315]. Moreover, regional variations in trabecular architecture between different sites of the same vertebra have also shown to be correlated with the site of fracture and with the failure load after compression testing [522], while BMD was shown to be weakly correlated [523].

As cortical bone represents a substantial amount of the total bone mass, and it is responsible for substantial load bearing specially in the appendicular skeleton bones [334], cortical bone architecture is also a significant determinant of bone quality and therefore of bone strength [49]. The imbalance in bone resorption seen in osteoporosis also leads to cortical bone architectural changes, most frequently to the progressive increase in intracortical porosity. This progressive increase leads to cortical bone trabecularization witch consequentially compromises bone strength [511, 119]. For instance, biomechanical studies performed in cortical bone samples of human femur show that bone stiffness is inversely correlated with the porosity of cortical bone [146]. Moreover, in a recent study it was shown that intracortical porosity was responsible for a 6% decrease in tibia stiffness and to a significant load transfer from the cortical compartment to the already weakened trabecular bone compartment [85]. Together these results demonstrate that microarchitectural alterations that occur either in cortical or in trabecular bone are responsible for significant changes in the bone mechanical properties.

#### 1.2.1.5 Bone geometry

Several parameters of bone geometry, namely size, shape, cortical thickness and cross sectional area have revealed a significant relationship with bone strength and fracture occurrence. For instance, in a recent study were 677 young men were examined at the age of peak bone mass for bone geometry, BMD and fracture occurrence, it was shown that fractures were more frequent in those with decreased cortical thickness and larger endosteal perimeter but were not significantly associated with cortical BMD [540]. Moreover, several studies performed with the objective of testing the effects of pharmacological treatments for osteoporosis have shown that

changes in cortical bone geometry, like increased cortical thickness and increased cortical perimeter are associated with increased bone strength and reduced fracture occurrence [24, 152, 26]. Differences in bone strength between african and caucasian post-menopausal women [391, 390], as well as between aged men and women [478, 479], have also been attributed to differences identified in the cortical bone geometry of the femoral shaft, namely to its cross sectional area. The increase in cortical perimeter is a crucial geometric parameter influencing bone strength since, as mechanical engineering shows, increasing a hollow cylinder diameter provides exponential resistance increases to bending and torsion without necessary increases in bone mass [560]. In fact, some authors have argued that the increase in bone diameter seen in cases of age or menopause associated bone loss are the result of a compensatory mechanism for the decreases in bone mass and trabecular architecture, helping in this way to maintain bone strength [479, 499, 409]. Therefore, it could be possible that the major adaptations in bone geometry seen in bones that have the greater deterioration in other parameters of bone quality are in fact signs of weakened bones.

There is also growing awareness about the importance of femoral neck geometry for bone quality, despite the existence of conflicting results regarding the different parameters ability to predict fracture risk independently of BMD. This knowledge is leading to the development of DXA scanners software that provides additional information about bone geometry, namely about the hip-axis length, femoral neck shaft angle, femoral neck cross-sectional area and moment of inertia, and to the computation of equations that based on these parameters better predict the risk of fracture [164, 515, 46]. The combination of both BMD and upper femur geometrical parameters has already been demonstrated to improve the assessment of hip fracture risk provided by BMD alone [446], demonstrating the importance of proximal bone geometry for femoral strength and for the risk of fracture occurrence. In a study with the objective of determining the relationship between femoral neck geometry and the risk of hip fracture in post-menopausal women [153], it was identified that hip fractures were more frequent in individuals who had greater femoral neck width,

femoral shaft width and femoral neck axis length. In other studies, hip axis length has also been found to be significantly longer in women that had suffered a hip fracture compared to women without previous fractures [175, 53]. African women also have smaller bone widths and hip axis lengths compared to caucasians and these geometrical differences are thought to be also associated with hip fracture occurrence differences between these two populations independently of BMD differences [551]. Despite these evidences, others have not identified a relationship between femoral neck axis length and fracture risk [374]. Neck-shaft angle and femoral neck width are geometric parameters that are also found to be increased in individuals with greater fracture risk [22]. Regression analysis has showed that an increase of 1 standard deviation in neck-shaft angle was associated with an increase in 2.45% and 3.48% increase in fracture risk in men and women respectively, while the increase in femoral neck width was associated with an increase in 2.15% and 2.40% fracture risk in men and women, respectively [22]. Neck-shaft angle and femoral neck width were however not found to be significantly associated with hip fracture risk in another study, while an increase in each standard deviation in hip axis length doubled the risk of hip fracture independently of age and of bone mineral density [163]. The magnitude and direction of forces acting on the femoral neck after a sideways fall is also determined by the geometry of the proximal femur. Considering that a significant number of hip fractures occur as a sequence of a fall [420], it was found that individuals that have a longer femoral neck moment arm have more frequent hip fractures after a sideways fall due to a greater concentration of forces in the femoral neck [588]. Most interestingly, a recent study has identified an association between genetic polymorphisms involved in the bone mineralization pathway and several femoral neck geometrical parameters, suggesting that both traits are interconnected by genetic influence [108]. Antiresorptive and anabolic agents used for the treatment of osteoporosis have also been shown to modify proximal femur geometric parameters increasing thereby bone strength [199, 567].

## 1.2.2 Mechanisms leading to increased bone loss and skeletal fragility in Osteoporosis

Although an extensive number of heterogeneous causes might lead to bone loss and increased skeletal fragility [210], age and most importantly estrogen deficiency, are the main causes of osteoporosis [456, 486]. Currently, the most broadly accepted explicative model for osteoporosis considers estrogen deficiency as the main cause for the rapid bone loss seen in woman following menopause as well as the primary cause for the slow bone loss observed with increasing age in both women and men [456, 279]. The relevance of estrogen in the maintenance of bone mass in men is documented in several studies. For instance, absence of estrogen receptors was shown to result in reduced bone mass in a man that had normal testosterone levels [519]. Moreover, men with mutations on the enzyme aromatase, which is responsible for the conversion of testosterone into estrogen, also have reduced bone mass. Nevertheless, bone mass in these cases was restored by administration of estrogen [89]. In addition, several studies have shown that with age there is a significant decrease in the available estrogen levels in men [279, 517, 198], and that both in young and in aged men, estrogen levels rather than testosterone levels are a major predictor of bone mass [279, 517, 198].

More recently, improvements in the knowledge about the cellular mechanisms associated with bone loss have called attention to the importance of ageing dependent bone cells damage in the pathogenesis of osteoporosis [340]. Although this awareness has shifted the cornerstone of the osteoporosis cause away from estrogen, it is seen as a complementary rather than an opposite view about the pathogenesis of osteoporosis as estrogen deficiency and changes in bone cells and ECM due to age are most likely to be cumulative [280].

The rapid bone loss observed in postmenopausal women is associated with the abrupt decline in ovarian hormone production. Despite the evidence that decreases in trabecular bone volume begin, at some skeletal sites, before the menopause [458], most studies show that until this period BMD remains relatively constant and that fracture rates are low [457]. However, after the menopause onset, fracture rates

increase exponentially as a consequence of bone mass loss, disrupted trabecular microarchitecture and decreased bone tissue material properties [486]. The onset of estrogen deficiency leads to a significant increase in bone turnover with resorption greatly exceeding formation [627, 185]. This increased and unbalanced bone remodeling results in an initial phase of rapid bone loss [74] and deterioration of trabecular architecture [88], followed by a phase of slower bone loss [318], similar to what is observed in men [457]. The loss of bone mass following estrogen deficiency results both from the direct effects of low estrogen on bone cells activity as well as from its effects on other organs that regulate calcium homeostasis leading thereby indirectly to increased bone resorption. Nevertheless, it is possible that other factors, such as a reduction in mechanical stimulation due to a decline in physical activity levels may also contribute to this decrease in bone mass and the increased skeletal fragility.

#### 1.2.2.1 Direct role of estrogen on bone cells

Estrogen is a global classification for several steroid and non steroid compounds that are able to induce estrous cycle. The three major naturally occurring estrogens are estrone, estriol and predominantly estradiol ( $17\beta$ -estradiol). Estrogen is able to exert direct effects on bone cells due to the presence of estrogen receptors (ER) on osteoblasts [137, 158], osteocytes [621] osteoclasts [407] and in bone marrow MSC [403].

One of the effects of estrogen is the regulation of osteoblasts differentiation [132]. Both osteoblasts and adipocytes share the same MSC progenitors [376]. Several studies show that estrogen is able to promote osteoblast differentiation in detriment of adipocyte differentiation from their common precursor increasing this way the number of differentiated osteoblasts in bone. Dang and colleagues [132] showed that  $17\beta$ -estradiol stimulated the differentiation of both cultured MSC and mice bone marrow cells into osteoblasts and inhibited adipocyte formation. Similar results were also reported in another study [403] where bone marrow cells treated with estrogen showed increased alkaline phosphatase (ALP; a specific osteoblast enzyme) activity and decreased lipid accumulation, which were reversed by administration of an ER

antagonist. These results demonstrate that estrogen directly influences osteoblast differentiation and that estrogen absence leads to a shift towards adipocyte differentiation, which explains the accumulation of adipocytes in the bone marrow of osteoporotic patients bone [253, 614], and its decrease following estrogen therapy [537, 155].

Estrogen is also shown to increase osteoblast proliferation [493], as evidenced by the increased number of cultured osteoblasts from rat bone marrow treated with 17β-estradiol [180]. However, there are also conflicting results showing an inhibitory effect of estrogen on osteoblast proliferation [460]. For instance, estrogen loss is shown to increase osteoblastogenesis [245] while estrogen administration to OVX animals [139] and postmenopausal women [573] is shown to decrease osteoblast number and activity. The reason for the different findings between the *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies seems to reside on the stimulatory effect that estrogen loss has on osteoclast development, activity and survival [508, 257, 526].

A key step in the differentiation of the osteoclast is the activation of RANK by RANK-L [302], which is expressed by bone marrow MSC, osteoblasts and lymphocytes [595, 259, 308, 580]. The interaction between RANK and RANK-L is regulated by a decoy protein secreted by osteoblasts, called osteoprotegerin (OPG), that binds RANK-L preventing its interaction with RANK [512, 566]. There is evidence suggesting that estrogen reduces osteoclast differentiation by increasing OPG secretion by osteoblasts [69, 226, 481] which leads to a dramatic increase in the number of osteoclasts following estrogen loss. Moreover there is also evidence that estrogen induces osteoclast apoptosis [257, 229, 388]. So, estrogen deficiency enhances both osteoclast activity and survival increasing the amount of bone resorbed by each osteoclast, leading thereby to a dramatic elevation in bone resorption. Since the activity of osteoclasts and osteoblasts is tightly coupled [348], an increase in osteoclast activity eventually stimulates an increase in osteoblast activity [245]. The increase in the activity of osteoclasts and the higher bone resorption following estrogen loss therefore leads to an increase in the proliferation of osteoblasts, which explains the contradictory findings between in vivo and in vitro studies about the effect of estrogen

on osteoblasts. Increases in bone formation following estrogen loss are however insufficient to compensate the increases in bone resorption [295], leading to the unbalance between the two process and consequently to bone loss [606]. In addition, estrogen is also shown to prevent the death by apoptosis of MSC [629], osteoblasts [120, 193] and osteocytes [202, 554, 555].

#### 1.2.2.2 Role of proinflammatory cytokines in bone loss

Increased bone resorption is a frequent complication in periodontal disease [548] and orthopedic implant loosening [17], resulting from inflammation and an increase in the local proinflammatory cytokine production. There is evidence suggesting that this mechanism might be also involved in the pathogenesis of osteoporosis as low estrogen levels are associated with increases in proinflammatory cytokine production which is reversed by estrogen administration [412, 3]. For instance, OVX women showed as soon as 1 week after surgery increases in granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ) and interleukin-1 (IL-1) which were accompanied by increases in biochemical markers of bone resorption in the urine [412]. Interestingly, estrogen administration was able to reduce the levels of proinflammatory cytokines and markers of bone resorption.

There is evidence that the activity of osteoclasts is regulated by several cytokines, namely IL-1, IL-6, IL-7 and TNF- $\alpha$ , and that the secretion of these cytokines is in turn influenced to a great extent by estrogen levels [342, 341]. For instance, OVX leads to a rapid increase in IL-1 and TNF- $\alpha$  levels in the bone marrow of experimental animals which is followed by a decrease in bone mass. However, treatment with IL-1 and TNF- $\alpha$  antagonists completely prevents those bone losses [283]. Additionally, mice lacking IL-1 receptor do not exhibit OVX-induced bone loss [326], suggesting therefore that IL-1 has an important role in mediating OVX-induced increases in bone resorption. TNF- $\alpha$  levels are also increased in the bone marrow of OVX animals and in cultured blood cells from postmenopausal women [412, 450] and there is evidence that estrogen inhibits TNF- $\alpha$  production by T-lymphocytes [527]. Moreover, TNF- $\alpha$  is shown to induce RANK-L expression by MSC [591] and T-lymphocytes [227, 467]. Interestingly, OVX-

induced bone losses are prevented in mice lacking T-lymphocytes [96] and TNF- $\alpha$  [467, 23]. The main effect of low estrogen levels however, appears to be the increase in the number of activated T-lymphocytes in the bone marrow that actively secrete TNF- $\alpha$  [467] being this a consequence of an increase in IL-7 [480, 596] and in interferon-gamma (INF- $\gamma$ ) levels [95].

Several studies have also provided evidence about the involvement of IL-6 on the increased bone losses following estrogen deficiency. IL-6 has been shown to be able to stimulate osteoclast differentiation [327] by acting on osteoblasts or MSC [565]. Moreover, IL-6 expression increases with estrogen loss and decreases with estrogen replacement therapy [191]. Moreover, increases in osteoclast numbers in mice following OVX are prevented by IL-6 inhibition [244]. Additionally, some [441] but not all [282] studies have shown that IL-6 deficient mice are resistant to OVX-induced bone loss. In addition to stimulating osteoclast differentiation, proinflammatory cytokines are also shown to inhibit osteoblast differentiation, further contributing to the uncoupling between bone resorption and formation observed following estrogen loss [596, 189].

#### 1.2.2.3 Oxidative Stress

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) include a variety of molecules, such as superoxide anion, hydroxyl radical and hydrogen peroxide, which can be either generated exogenously or produced within the cell from various sources, being the most relevant the mitochondria electron transport chain [168]. ROS are to a great extent neutralized by antioxidant defenses, which include a series of enzymatic scavengers and other molecules with anti-oxidant properties [168]. The unbalance between the production of ROS and the antioxidant defenses leads to an increase in oxidative stress which may result in damages to a variety of cellular structures such as DNA, proteins and lipids. If the cell is unable to repair or replace the damaged structures, its normal function or even its survival will be compromised.

Increased oxidative stress is thought to be the main driving force of ageing as it has been shown to contribute to age related changes in many tissues [37, 168, 190, 328],

including bone [21], namely by decreasing bone formation [379, 32] and by increasing bone resorption [186, 31, 532]. For instance, cultured osteoblasts and bone marrow MSC exposed to hydrogen peroxide showed an increased oxidative damage and a decreased expression of markers of bone formation such as ALP [379, 32]. Likewise, exposure to hydrogen peroxide is also shown to increase apoptosis in cultured osteocytes [338]. Conversely, increasing ROS in rat calvarial organ cultures [186] as well as in human marrow cultured cells [31] causes an increase in the number of active osteoclasts and enhances bone resorption. In addition to these *in vitro* evidences suggesting that ROS have an important role modulating bone cells survival and activity, clinical studies have also shown evidence of ROS involvement in bone loss. For instance, antioxidant defenses are shown to be decreased in individuals with osteoporotis [336] and the levels of oxidative stress biomarkers are shown to be inversely associated with BMD measurements in both women and men [44, 609].

Interestingly, the increase in ROS with age seems to result, at least in part, of a decrease in estrogen levels, as estrogen is shown to have anti-oxidant effects on bone tissue [21]. For instance, animal studies show that OVX results in the increase in ROS production [387], and that this increase is reversed by the administration of either estrogen or anti-oxidants [21]. Additionally it has also been shown that administration of anti-oxidants prevents OVX-induced bone loss and that the blockage of endogenous anti-oxidants leads to bone loss [307]. Studies on post-menopausal women also showed that oxidative stress is directly related with bone resorption and inversely related with BMD [31].

#### 1.2.2.4 Secondary hyperparathyroidism

The skeleton has a pivotal role in the maintenance of circulating calcium levels, acting as a reservoir from witch calcium is drained in response to states of hypocalcemia. Therefore, reductions in circulating calcium levels, either due to a decreased intestinal absorption or due to an increased renal excretion, will inevitably have consequences on bone metabolism [40]. There is evidence suggesting that low

estrogen levels might be associated with changes in the calcium balance due to increases in calcium lost in the urine as well as in the faeces [279].

Rat intestinal epithelial cells express ER [553] and they are shown to increase calcium transport when stimulated with 17 $\beta$ -estradiol [27] suggesting therefore that estrogen directly stimulates intestinal calcium absorption. Moreover, significantly lower intestinal calcium absorption was observed in OVX rats compared to pair-fed sham-operated (SHAM) counterparts, despite absences in circulating vitamin D differences [400]. In addition, when OVX animals were treated with estrogen, there was a significant increase in intestinal calcium absorption [400, 115]. The action of estrogen in intestinal calcium absorption appears to be mediated by its binding with ER as estrogen induced increases in intestinal calcium absorption are inhibited by the administration of ER antagonists [550]. Moreover, there is evidence that activation of ER increases the expression of calcium transport protein 1, increasing thereby the calcium uptake by the intestinal epithelial cells [568].

The kidney also has a major role in the regulation of circulating calcium concentration by increasing or decreasing tubular reabsorption in a process that involves calcium uptake at the distal tubule luminal membrane, intracellular calbindindependent storage and trafficking and finally extrusion through the basolateral membrane by the plasma membrane calcium pump (PMCA) in a way that is closely regulated by Vitamin D [70, 248]. Like in the intestine, there is evidence that the kidney also expresses ER [207] and that they regulate the expression of several genes [241], and it is possible that some of those genes might be involved in the renal calcium reabsorption. For instance, cultured renal tubule cells supplemented with 17βestradiol have an increase in PMCA activity that is blocked by the addition of an estrogen antagonist [141]. Studies on elder women also show the existence of an inverse relationship between plasma estrogen concentration and renal calcium excretion [140]. Therefore, as estrogen deficiency seems to increase calcium wasting through the kidney, a compensatory increase in bone resorption occurs through an increase in PTH in order to maintain calcium concentration. For instance, serum PTH levels and bone resorption markers are shown to be closely associated and to increase

Physical Inactivity and Bone Health

with age [278]. Moreover, intravenous calcium administration is able to suppress PTH increases and to reduce bone resorption in elder women [312], suggesting therefore that the increased bone resorption in the elder is mostly due to hyperparathyroidism. In men, similarly to what occurs in elder women, there is also evidence of an increase in PTH levels and bone resorption markers with age [157], suggesting that hyperparathyroidism, due to the effects that low estrogen levels produce on extraskeletal tissues, is a likely cause for the progressive bone loss observed in elder women and men [279].

However, bone losses due to hyperparathyroidism appear to assume an important role only in the elder women and men, and not during the early phase of the menopause which is characterized by a rapid bone loss. During this phase, the increased renal calcium excretion and decreased intestinal calcium absorption are a consequence and not the cause of the increased bone resorption. In early postmenopausal women, the high bone resorption induced by the direct effects of low estrogen levels on bone cells, leads to an increase in circulating calcium levels, which consequently results in a compensatory increase in the renal excretion of calcium and a reduction in its intestinal absorption, in order to prevent hypercalcemia [6, 395]. So, as calcium levels remain within normal limits, PTH concentration does not increase in early postmenopausal women [444].

#### 1.2.2.5 Reduced mechanical stimulation associated with physical inactivity

The effects of mechanical stimulation or its lack on bone mass are well described [411]. Exposure to low gravity environments, prolonged bed rest or sedentary behavior, are causes leading to bone loss and compromised bone quality [541]. As there is evidence from studies on experimental animals as well as on humans, suggesting that estrogen might influence motor activity, it is possible that lack of mechanical stimulation caused by decreased physical activity also contributes to the development of bone loss. Physical activity levels in the female rat are shown to vary in accordance to the estrous cycle, with higher physical activity levels being observed during the phases of higher estrogen levels [605]. In addition, female mice that

undergo OVX experience a significant decrease in the amount of voluntary activity, which is reversed by estrogen replacement [196]. Similarly, there is also evidence that the menopause transition in women is accompanied by a decrease in physical activity and energy expenditure [440]. Moreover, post-menopausal women undergoing estrogen therapy have a higher maximal oxygen uptake and anaerobic threshold than post-menopausal women not receiving estrogen [453] suggesting that they are more physically active. These effects are apparently gender independent since aromatase-deficient male mice also show reduced spontaneous physical activity levels [250] while administration of estrogen to castrated male rats significantly increases their physical activity levels [371].

Decreases in physical activity following estrogen loss might be due to the effects that low estrogen concentration has on skeletal muscle, leading thereby to the inability to perform physical activity. For instance, there is evidence that OVX mice have a significant decrease in skeletal muscle contractility [381], that is reversed by estrogen replacement [380]. Moreover, a decrease in *plantaris* muscle type IIx myosin heavy chain (MHC) isoform expression has also been described in OVX rats, but not in OVX rats undergoing estrogen supplementation [432]. OVX has also been shown to induce a shift from type II to type I MHC isoforms in the rat *soleus* and *extensor digitorum longus* muscles [254].

Estrogen also seems to be able to influence voluntary physical activity levels by acting directly on central nervous system structures. For instance, targeted inhibition of ER in the ventromedial nucleus of the rat hypothalamus leads to significant decreases in daily physical activity levels, which are comparable to decreases observed following OVX [386]. Moreover, direct estrogen administration to the medial preoptic area of OVX rats is able to restore physical activity levels [161]. Damages to the anterior hypothalamic nucleus and medial preoptic area also impair the increases in physical activity observed in OVX rats treated with estrogen. There is therefore a significant amount of evidence suggesting that estrogen loss is accompanied by a considerable decrease in physical activity levels, which could thereby contribute to decreases in both skeletal muscle mass and bone tissue mass. Considering the

importance of mechanical stimulation in the preservation of bone mass, it is possible that the progressive loss of estrogen with age might be associated with decreases in physical activity levels which further enhances bone mass losses observed with age.

#### 2. PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND BONE STRENGTH

The notion that bone structure has the ability to adapt itself to the mechanical forces that are applied to it was established for more than a century ago by the work of Julius Wolff, in what was to became known as the *Wolff's Law* or *Law of Bone Remodeling* (for reference see [428]). As an orthopedist surgeon, Wolff was able to conduct a series of observational studies in which he described that the variations of bone geometry and trabecular architecture were in accordance with the loads that were applied to the bone [230]. Since that time, several observational and experimental studies have been performed showing that bones are able to increase their mass when subjected to mechanical loading and also that they undergo significant bone mass losses when subjected to unloading, supporting therefore the initial observations made by Wolff that bone tissue is sensitive to mechanical stimulation [222, 219, 220, 205, 397, 579, 576, 603].

#### 2.1 Evidences on athletes

Several observational studies have shown that bone mass is higher in athletes when compared to sedentary individuals [109, 534, 219, 220, 603]. For instance, male professional soccer players were shown to have a significantly higher BMD than age matched sedentary controls. Furthermore, bone mass increases in the lower limbs were shown to result from both a significant increase in bone size as well as in BMD [603]. Comparison between weightlifters and sedentary controls has also been able to demonstrate that bone mass at the lumbar spine and femoral neck was significantly higher in athletes than in non-athletes [116]. In another study comparing triple jumpers and sedentary controls, it was shown that bone mass at the lumbar spine, proximal and distal tibia as well as in the femoral neck was significantly higher in the athletes [222]. However, not all types of exercise seem to be able to increase bone mass. For instance, in a study with skiers, cyclists, runners and weightlifters, it was shown that BMD was only significantly increased in weightlifters and runners compared to matched controls [220]. In another study involving individuals engaged in

weightlifting, running, cross-training, or recreational exercise, the results showed that the higher bone mass values were present in weightlifters while the lowest values were identified in the runners [211]. These results therefore suggest that not all exercise regimens have the potential to increase bone mass, and perhaps to increase bone mass it is necessary that exercise reaches a certain minimum of loading or frequency.

These is also evidence from several prospective studies showing that regular exercise is able to increase bone mass [382, 600]. For instance, young girls with ages between 9 and 10 years that were subjected to a physical exercise training program of 10-months duration evidenced significantly higher BMD increases in total body, lumbar spine, and femoral neck than age-matched sedentary controls [382]. Moreover, exercise training not only enhanced bone mineral accrual, as it also improved bone geometry and bone strength in growing boys that were subjected to a 20-months duration training program [333]. Although a large proportion of the increases in bone mass identified in this study were most likely due to age-related growth, these results demonstrate that exercise significantly enhanced bone mass gains. Moreover, in a study in which a group of adult men who trained during 9-months for a marathon race were compared with sedentary controls, it was shown that BMD at the end of the training period had increased significantly in the runners, but was unchanged in controls [600]. Moreover, increases in BMD were correlated significantly with the running distances performed [600], suggesting that exercise had a dose-dependent effect. These results also demonstrate that bone mass increases following exercise also occur in the adult and not just in the growing bones.

Despite there is evidence that genetic variation influences bone mass [439, 502] and the ability of bone tissue to adapt to mechanical loading [274, 439, 138], there is also compelling evidence showing that regular exercise is a major determinant of bone mass and structure, independently of the genotype. For instance, in a study with homozygotic twins [330] it was shown that bone mass and trabecular architecture were significantly increased in those that were physically active compared with those that were sedentary.

In all the previously mentioned studies, exercise was able to increase bone mass. However, these results alone make impossible to conclude if the effects of exercise on bone tissue were due to the whole physiological changes associated with exercise (heart rate, ventilator frequency, hormonal changes, temperature, etc), or if they were a consequence of the increased mechanical loading imposed to the bones. For instance, there is evidence that exercise is able to increase the circulating levels of growth factors [284, 167] which are known to increase bone mass [26]. Nevertheless, there is also a great body of evidence showing that the skeletal responses to exercise are site-specific [262, 294, 206, 205, 358] and that therefore are unlikely to result just from the action of systemic factors induced by exercise. For instance, in a previous study the differences between the dominant and non-dominant arm bone properties in a group of tennis and squash players were determined and compared to the differences between the dominant and non-dominant arm of a matched control group. It was shown that the between-arm differences were substantially higher in the players than in the controls [294], demonstrating therefore that the effects of exercise were localized, as the increases in bone mass occurred only in the arm that was subjected to mechanical stimulation.

#### 2.2 Experimental studies on animals

Animal studies using *in vivo* well-controlled mechanical stimulation have also provided a wealth of information regarding the effects of exercise on bone formation and resorption [225, 462, 561]. The first experimental model of this kind was the *rat tibia four-point bending model* [559], being followed years later by the *rodent ulna axial loading model* [556], which is currently the most broadly employed *in vivo* mechanical stimulation protocol in experimental studies.

Regarding the application of controlled mechanical loading protocols, the work of Hillam and Skerry [225] was pivotal. In this study, the strains experienced by the rat ulna during normal deambulation were measured *in vivo* through the use of strain gauges. Considering the recorded values, the ulna of another group of rats was subjected to controlled axial loading [556] for 6 days. Histological analysis revealed

that bone formation was significantly increased while bone resorption was significantly decreased in the loaded ulna compared to the contra-lateral unloaded ulna. These results therefore support the concept that exercise, by increasing mechanical loading in bones, has the ability to increase bone formation and to decrease bone resorption in a site-specific way.

Experimental studies using the *in vivo* ulna loading model were also able to provide relevant findings regarding the characteristics of the loading regimen that are implicated in the osteogenic response. For instance, by comparing the osteogenic effect of static *vs* dynamic compressive loading regimens on the rat ulna, it was possible to verify that dynamic loading was able to increase significantly both periosteal and endocortical bone formation, while static loading regimens produced no osteogenic response [462]. In addition, by using the same loading model and by comparing the osteogenic effects of different loading frequencies with the same magnitude, it was demosntrated that higher loading frequencies were associated with higher bone formation rates [561].

#### 2.3 Effects of unloading or disuse on bone

In opposition to regular exercise, extreme cases of disuse such as prolonged bed rest or microgravity are also able to demonstrate the importance that mechanical stimulation has for bone quality [304, 275, 299]. The effects of space flight on bone mass are well documented [495, 304, 93, 426, 275], and include loss of cortical and trabecular bone mass due to reduced bone formation and increased bone resorption, compromised trabecular microarchitecture and significantly reduced bone strength. For instance, in a recent study performed on astronauts that went on mission to the international space station, it was estimated that femoral neck strength decreased about 2.5% per month [275]. Studies using tail suspended rodents have also been used to mimic the effects of weightlessness on the skeleton [309, 506, 5, 396]. In general these studies also demonstrate that the absence of mechanical stimulation leads to a rapid bone loss. Similarly, the lack of mechanical stimulation due to prolonged bed rest has also been shown to induce significant bone mass losses [145, 299, 577, 310, 59,

626], with reduction in BMD reaching 0.9% per week [299]. Notoriously, there is also evidence that re-ambulation is able to restore the previous bone mass losses [299], despite in most cases losses are not fully reversed [310, 59].

### 3. MECHANISMS INVOLVED IN BONE TISSUE RESPONSE TO MECHANICAL LOADING

Although it is well established that bone tissue is responsive to mechanical stimulation and to the lack of it [225], the nature of the stimulus and the pathways involved in the conversion of mechanical signals into biochemical responses are still largely unknown. Nevertheless, there is evidence that several of the cells in bone, namely MSCs, osteoblasts, osteoclasts, endothelial cells and osteocytes, are able to be stimulated by mechanical signals influencing thereby bone turnover.

Several studies have shown evidence that MSCs are sensitive to mechanical stimulation, being the most noteworthy consequence of such stimulation a shift in their differentiation away from adipogenesis and towards osteoblastogenesis. For instance, *in vitro* studies show that oscillatory fluid flow applied to cultured bone marrow MSCs results in increased cell proliferation and messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) expression of osteocalcin and osteopontin, two proteins expressed by the mature osteoblast [320]. In another recent study [503], mechanical strain was also shown to inhibit in cultured MSCs the expression of adipocyte-related genes and to promote the expression of osteoblast-related genes, thereby shifting their differentiation fate towards the osteoblast lineage and away from the adipocyte lineage. This shifting effect has also been described in several *in vivo* studies, were application of low magnitude mechanical stimulus was able to increase MSCs number and differentiation towards the osteoblast lineage and away from the adipocyte lineage, resulting in decreased adipose tissue formation and increased formation of trabecular bone [472, 329].

The osteoblast has also been shown to respond to mechanical stimulation by increasing the secretion of signaling factors such as prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) and nitric oxide (\*NO) [518, 172, 170] and by rearranging its cytoskeleton [424]. Mechanical stimulation was also suggested previously to directly target the osteoclast precursors, namely by inhibiting their differentiation, since bone marrow cultured cells subjected to mechanical strain had a significantly reduced osteoclast formation in opposition to unstimulated controls [474]. The decrease in osteoclast differentiation was shown

however in a later study by the same group [475] to be associated with a decrease in RANK-L expression. Therefore mechanical strain did not inhibited osteoclastogenesis directly; conversely this impairment was achieved through a reduction in RANK-L expression by osteoblasts.

The bone marrow and matrix are richly pierced by capillary vessels. Considering that the release of 'NO from endothelial cells in response to fluid shear is well established [134] and that 'NO is known to influence bone cells activity [477], some authors have suggested that vascular endothelial cells might also have a relevant role in bone adaptations to mechanical loading [117]. Nevertheless, whether 'NO derives from bone cells or from the endothelium remains unclear, since 'NO is also released by other bone cells, like osteoblasts [247] and osteocytes [622].

Due to the numerous lines of evidence suggesting that several types of cells in the bone are sensitive to mechanical stimulation, it is impossible to designate a unique cell type responsible for mechanotransduction. Perhaps all these cells contribute to the system homeostasis and therefore their mechanosensing role is at some extent redundant. Nevertheless, the morphology and ubiquitous presence of the osteocyte in the bone matrix, leaves it in the most favorable position for detecting and amplifying mechanical signals applied to the bone. Therefore, in recent years the osteocyte has been considered as the most relevant cell in mechanotransduction and on the orchestration of local bone remodeling in response to mechanical loading [66].

Osteocytes are ubiquitously present in bone tissue, interconnected with each other and to the bone surface by cellular projections that pierce through the bone matrix within canaliculi, while the cellular body remains housed in a lacuna [258]. These projections have gap-junctions at contact sites allowing direct cell-to-cell signaling between the osteocyte network [147], and between osteocytes and surface osteoblasts [611] placing therefore the osteocyte in a favorable position for orchestrating bone remodeling. The role of osteocytes in mechanotransduction is now well documented by several experimental studies showing that the osteocyte is responsive to different types of mechanical stimulation [545, 35]. There is evidence that mechanical stimulus lead to increases in osteocyte metabolism [516], gene

Physical Inactivity and Bone Health

transcription [487] and to the secretion of signaling molecules [455, 16, 364, 464] that, by targeting other bone cells, ultimately lead to changes in bone turnover. For instance, results from a previous study shown that mechanical stimulation of cocultured osteocytes and osteoclast-precursors leads to a significant decrease in osteoclast differentiation when compared to non stimulated cultures, which is a consequence of the reduction in RANK-L and an increase in OPG expression by the osteocytes [618]. Mechanical stimulation also appears to be able to inhibit osteoclast activation by preventing osteocyte apoptosis [438] while lack of stimulation is shown to increase osteocyte apoptosis [35]. For instance, a study by Aguirre et al. [13] demonstrates that mice subjected to unloading by tail suspension, have significantly increased osteocyte apoptosis, which is spatially and temporally followed by increases in osteoclast activation resulting in decreased bone mass and strength. It is also notorious that bone resorption following bone unloading is impaired if the osteocyte network is compromised [547], which highlights the role of the osteocyte network in the control of bone remodeling.

Osteocytes have also been shown to modulate osteoblast activity and MSCs commitment into the osteoblast lineage [218, 329]. However, the pivotal role of osteocytes in the regulation of bone formation, has in recent years, been shown to be associated with their ability to regulate the Wingless-int/beta-catenin (Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin) signaling pathway. Wnts are secreted signaling glycoproteins [110, 624] that have been shown to be involved in bone tissue mechanotransduction [39]. Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin cascade is initiated by the binding of Wnt to its transmembrane receptors [54, 542], which triggers glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta (GSK-3 $\beta$ ) phosphorylation [625]. In a non-phosphorylated state, GSK-3 $\beta$  phosphorylates  $\beta$ -catenin leading to its ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation [2], which consequently reduces the levels of  $\beta$ -catenin in the cytoplasm. Wnt binding to its receptor however inhibits GSK-3 $\beta$ , leaving non-phosphorylated  $\beta$ -catenin free to translocate into the nucleus, activating thereby gene transcription [383]. Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway has been shown to be associated with increases in bone mass through a number of mechanisms namely by increasing the proliferation of stem cells, increasing osteoblastogenesis,

inhibiting osteoblast and osteocyte apoptosis [298, 466, 195, 75], and by inhibiting osteoclast activation [192]. Recent findings also show that Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling is activated in osteoblasts in response to mechanical stimulation [306, 459, 491].

Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling is regulated to a great extent by sclerostin, a decoy protein secreted by osteocytes that prevents the interaction between Wnt and its receptors, thereby inhibiting the activation of the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway [442, 319]. For instance, administration of sclerostin to cultured osteoblasts inhibits their activity and stimulates their death by apoptosis [535], while inhibiting sclerostin leads to increases in bone mass [405, 413]. Importantly, there is evidence that osteocytes are able to regulate bone formation following mechanical stimulation by decreasing sclerostin expression [464, 324]. For instance, bones subjected to mechanical stimulation have a lower number of sclerostin positive osteocytes, while bones from suspended limbs have a significantly higher number of sclerostion positive osteocytes. Therefore, by regulating sclerostin expression, osteocytes are able to control bone turnover in accordance to their surrounding mechanical environment.

Considering therefore the evidence on the role of osteocytes in mechanotransduction, it is also possible that the progressive deterioration of the osteocyte network that typically occurs with age [385] may contribute to the lower responsiveness to mechanical stimulation previously identified in the elder [471].

#### 3.1 Detection of the mechanical stimulus

Several studies demonstrate that the responses of bone tissue to mechanical loading are influenced by mechanical strain magnitude [473], loading frequency [228] and intermittency [463, 525]. Nevertheless, how these external signals are sensed, translated and conveyed between the osteocyte networks still remains largely unknown, with evidence suggesting the involvement of several pathways [592, 122, 425, 43, 268, 485, 599, 608, 337, 263].

As bone is not a rigid entity, mechanical forces applied to it are at some extent dissipated by elastic deformation [182] witch consequently induces deformation of the osteocyte membrane and/or cytoskeleton and causes a flow of water and solutes

Physical Inactivity and Bone Health
through the canalicular network [524]. Although whole bone strains experienced *in vivo* are of very small magnitude, it has been proposed that the canalicular network has the ability to amplify these strains [592, 212] creating a useful stimulus. Ultrastructural findings [619] evidence the presence of the basic elements involved in the amplification models, namely the existence of a proteoglycan rich pericellular matrix surrounding the osteocyte processes witch increases fluid drag forces and shear stresses, projections that anchor the osteocyte processes to the canaliculi as well as the presence of elements of the cytoskeleton within the cell processes. This amplification model [617] proposes that fluid drag on the pericellular matrix is transmitted to the projections surrounding the osteocyte process, causing them to deform which results in the generation of a tensile force that is transmitted to the osteocyte cytoskeleton. These findings form the basis for the three main proposed mechanisms for mechanosensing, which are shear stress, membrane deformation and cilia presence.

Fluid flow through the canalicular system is believed to be one of the most important stimuli following mechanical loading in bone [592, 122] as different types of flows, such as laminar [20], pulsatile [545] or oscillatory [417] flow, have been successfully used *in vitro* to induce osteocyte stimulation. Nevertheless, direct evidence of the existence of canalicular fluid flow *in vivo* is still limited [587]. In order to detect and respond to mechanical signals, cells are required to be either physically attached to the ECM or to have structures that are able to detect changes in an intermediary such as in the extracellular fluid flow [18]. Modification of membrane potential through channels is one of the most widespread biological strategy for regulating cell behavior and there is evidence that mechanical stimulation in osteoblasts [133, 215], and osteocytes [451], leads to the activation of mechanosensite [451] and voltage-sensitive ion channels [133, 317, 215] thereby resulting in the activation of intracellular signaling pathways.

Integrins are transmembrane proteins involved in the attachment of the cell cytoskeleton to its surrounding ECM and in signal transduction through the activation of protein kinases that are associated with the intracellular domain of the integrin. As

there is evidence of the presence of integrins on the osteocyte [368] and osteoblast membranes [313, 598] it is believed that integrins also have an active role in the detection of mechanical loading in bone [425, 43, 268, 485].

More recently, a mechanism for detecting fluid flow based on the presence of cilia, similar to what is observed in renal epithelial cells [325, 443, 389], was also been proposed as a mechanosensing mechanism in bone cells [599, 608, 337].

As there are several lines of evidence supporting each one of the proposed mechanisms, it is most likely that a certain redundancy exists and that no single receptor or mechanosensing pathway is responsible for detecting mechanical stimulus in bone, especially if we consider that mechanical stimulation is able to activate several signaling pathways in bone cells [263].

#### 3.2 Mechanotransduction

Mechanical signals sensed by bone cells eventually activate intracellular signaling pathways that ultimately alter cell function, gene expression and induce the release of second messengers. This process is designated by mechanotransduction. Owing to the existence of several mechanosensing strategies, there is evidence that several signaling pathways are involved in mechanotransduction in bone cells.

G-protein coupled receptors (GPCR) are a large group of receptors that are able to mediate cellular responses to several different stimulus and studies on endothelial cells have shown that GPCR are activated by fluid shear stress [98]. The role of GPCR signaling in bone cells mechanotransduction has also been documented [454, 30, 331].

Mechanical stimulation on bone cells also leads to an increase in intracellular calcium concentration ( $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ ) [231], which is shown to depend both on the entrance of extracellular calcium through voltage-dependent calcium channels as well as on the mobilization of intracellular calcium stores [231, 583, 616, 102]. For instance, *in vivo* studies show that blocking calcium channels leads to a decrease in bone formation following mechanical stimulation [317]. The activation of osterix, an essential transcription factor controlling osteoblastogenesis, is also controlled by  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  increase. Calmodulin activation by calcium leads to activation of calcineurin, with in

Physical Inactivity and Bone Health

turn activates nuclear factor of activated T-cells-2 (NFAT2). Activated NFAT2 assembles then with Osterix and promotes its nuclear migration where it up regulates the transcription of osteoblast specific genes such as type I collagen [289, 533].

Mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPKs) are involved in several intracellular signaling pathways and there is evidence suggesting that they are also involved in bone cells response following mechanical loading [616, 477, 476, 261]. For instance, in has been previously shown that mechanical strain applied to cultured osteoblasts increases their proliferation, which in turn is prevented by inhibiting MAPK signaling [72].

Nitric oxide is a highly soluble gas with an important role as an intra and intercellular messenger, and it has also been shown to be implicated in mechanotransduction in bone cells [449, 162].

#### 3.3 Propagation of biochemical signals between bone cells

It is believed that osteocytes are able to communicate between then and with other cells through different ways. One of the most broadly studied and for which there is more evidence is direct communication through gap junctions. There is evidence of the presence of connexin43 (Cx43), a gap-junction protein, in osteoclasts [494], osteoblasts [113] and osteocytes [204]. The importance of gap junctions for normal bone function is suggested in several studies where experimental animal or humans with Cx43 mutations exhibit several ossification disorders [311, 91, 509]. Moreover, gap junctions have been shown to play a role in osteoblast differentiation and proliferation following mechanical stimulation [197, 321, 549, 630, 104, 436]. Additionally, there is evidence that mechanical stimulation increases Cx43 expression in osteocytes [19].

Prostaglandins are signaling molecules derived from fatty acids that are involved in cell signaling between a great diversity of cells. Several studies have provided evidence suggesting that PGE2 is involved in the communication between bone cells, namely between osteocytes and osteoblasts, following mechanical stimulation [111, 331], and that cultured bone cells mechanically stimulated have an increase in PGE2 production

[489, 45, 498]. Moreover, administration of PGE2 is able to increase bone formation in experimental animals [240], while inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) inhibits bone formation induced by mechanical stimulation [112, 170, 482, 291].

Although adenosine triphosphate (ATP) main role is to act as an energy carrier, it can also mediate cell signaling by binding to purinergic receptors which are either ligand-dependent ion channels (P2X receptor) or GPCR (P2Y) and studies on cultured osteoblasts have shown that ATP is also involved in cell signaling in bone following mechanical stimulation [615, 121, 404, 187].

Despite the broad evidence supporting gap-junctional based communication importance between bone cells, it is also known that mechanically stimulated osteocytes are able to release 'NO, which has the ability to rapidly cross the cell membrane and to diffuse to neighboring cells [572] independently of gap junctions.

### 4. VARIATIONS IN BONE TISSUE RESPONSIVENESS TO EXERCISE WITH AGE AND ESTROGEN

According to the mechanostat theory [176] bone mass is regulated in a way to ensure that bone strain is kept within a certain physiological range. Therefore, when loads imposed to the skeleton lead to excessive strain, there is a compensatory increase in bone mass in order to reduce bone strain to within the safety range. However, this theoretical model by witch bone mass adapts to mechanical loading seems to fail in the elder and after estrogen loss [178]. Together with the gradual decline in bone mass seen with ageing and after the menopause, the clear anabolic effects of mechanical loading seen in adolescents and young adults apparently do not occur in ageing adults [562, 471]. This observation has lead to the belief that bone tissue responsiveness to mechanical loading may be reduced with ageing and low estrogen levels [177].

# 4.1 Estrogen Receptors are involved in the response of bone cells to mechanical loading

There is some evidence suggesting that a possible reduction in bone tissue responsiveness to mechanical stimulation associated with low estrogen levels might be linked with abnormalities involving ER signaling pathways as there is evidence that ER are involved in mechanotransduction in bone cells.

The ER are ligand-inducible transcription factors that after interacting with estrogen, bind to estrogen response elements activating thereby gene transcription in the cell [419, 123, 300]. ER are expressed in osteoblasts [137, 158], osteocytes [621], MSCs [403] as well as in osteoclasts and osteoclast precursors [407], and they mediate the stimulatory action of estrogen on bone formation [363]. In addition to their classical ligand-induced activation, ER have two transcriptional activation domains [362] that have been demonstrated to allow ligand-independent activation following phosphorylation [154], namely via MAPK [266] and protein kinase A (PKA) [154] pathways, which are two intermediates involved in mechanotransduction in bone cells

[72, 581]. Studies on cultured osteoblasts demonstrate that, soon after being stimulated with estrogen or being subjected to mechanical stimulation, there is an increase in the expression of activated ER [242]. Moreover, the activation of ER by strain and estrogen was demonstrated to be associated with the activation of MAPK and PKA signaling pathways, since ER activation was prevented in both cases by the introduction of MAPK and PKA inhibitors [242]. In other studies it was also demonstrated that mechanical strain and estrogen were both able to stimulate the proliferation of cultured osteoblasts [620, 105]. Moreover, osteoblast proliferation following mechanical strain was shown to be greater in cells expressing higher amounts of ER and was blocked by the presence of ER antagonists [620]. Interestingly, the bone mass increase following mechanical stimulation was also shown to be significantly lower in mice lacking ER than in wildtype mice [314]. Moreover, following mechanical stimulation, cultured osteoblasts lacking ER showed no signs of proliferation, whereas in normal osteoblasts there was a significant increase in proliferation [314, 243]. These results therefore suggest that ER are required for the proliferation of osteoblasts following mechanical stimulation, and that a reduction in the expression of ER might impair bone mass increases following mechanical stimulation.

There is also evidence suggesting that ER are involved in Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway [28, 296], which is an important signaling pathway mediating the response of bone cell to mechanical stimulation [459]. The key event in Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling is the translocation of  $\beta$ -catenin into the nucleus where it leads to the up regulation of gene transcription [383]. However,  $\beta$ -catenin apparently requires association with other transcription factors to pass through the nuclear membrane pore as it is shown to lack the required nuclear recognition sequences [223, 213]. Interestingly, there is evidence from both cultured osteoblasts as well as *in vivo* studies, that inhibition of ER significantly impairs the accumulation of active  $\beta$ -catenin in the nucleus and reduces the expression of Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin related genes in response to mechanical strain [28].

mechanical strain induced response in osteoblasts through the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling.

In addition to its effects on osteoblast [132, 493, 245] and osteoclast activity [69, 226, 481, 257, 229, 388], mechanical stimulation has also been shown, in *in vitro* studies, to promote osteocyte viability, which is considered to be a key aspect of bone quality [547, 448]. Interestingly, mechanical stimulation [438] and estrogen [555] have been both shown to promote osteocyte survival through the activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK), which suggests that they share common intracellular pathways. Moreover, inhibition of ER was shown to prevent the mechanical strain induced activation of ERK in cultured osteoblasts and osteocytes, and to abrogate the anti-apoptotic effects of mechanical stimulation over osteocytes and osteoblasts [12]. These findings therefore suggest that ER are involved in the signaling pathways through which mechanical strain prevents osteocyte apoptosis. Thus, abnormalities in ER expression following estrogen loss might reduce the effects of mechanical stimulation on the promotion of osteocyte viability.

Notoriously, there is evidence suggesting that ER expression is regulated by circulating estrogen levels [51, 8], and that estrogen administration significantly increases ER expression [536]. For instance, by comparing the ER expression in the osteocytes from OVX and SHAM animal's tibiae, Zaman and colleagues [621] showed that ER expression was significantly lower in OVX animals. Together these findings suggest that the cessation of estrogen production leads to a reduction in the availability of ER in osteoblasts. Hence, this reduction could be associated with the impairment of mechanical strain signaling therefore leading to diminished bone responsiveness to mechanical loading following estrogen loss.

# 4.2 Possible effects of age and estrogen levels on bone tissue responsiveness to mechanical loading

Despite that both mechanical stimulation and estrogen have well documented effects on bone cells and the evidence that they share some common intracellular signaling pathways, whether they act synergistically or not in modulating bone cells

activity remains largely unknown. There is evidence from *in vitro* as well as from animal and humans studies, suggesting that estrogen is able to increase [610, 249, 36, 293], to decrease [492, 235] or even that it has no influence [415] on the osteogenic response of bone cells following mechanical stimulation.

In a very recent study with the objective of determining if estrogen influences the response of bone cells to mechanical stimulation [610] it was shown that both estrogen as well as shear stress were able to increase the expression of target genes in cultured osteoblasts. However, estrogen was able to significantly enhance the effects of shear stress. The blocking of ER in turn prevented the enhanced response provided by shear stress and estrogen in concert, but did not prevented shear stress from activating the target genes. Interestingly, estrogen has also been shown to increase the expression of membrane integrins on osteoblasts. Integrins are known to have an important role in mechanotransduction [323] and to be involved in osteoblast differentiation and commitment [200]. In this study [610], the estrogen enhancement of shear stress induced gene activation was shown to be associated with the increase in integrin expression. Similar results were also demonstrated in a previous study [249], in which stimulation of cultured human osteoblasts by fluid flow was able to increase the expression of target genes. Estrogen in association with fluid flow was able to enhance the expression of some but not all of the genes activated by fluid flow. These findings therefore suggest that although estrogen was able to increase the osteoblast responsiveness to mechanical stimulation, lack of estrogen did not impaired the response of bone cells. If this is so, mechanical strain following estrogen loss need to be of higher magnitude than in during estrogen presence in order to produce an effective anabolic response in bone. These conclusions are in agreement with the findings of another study [36], that describes the response to fluid flow of bone cells from osteoporotic women that were cultured in the presence or absence of estrogen. In this study, both estrogen and fluid flow were able to stimulate PGE2 and 'NO expression independently. However, the simultaneous stimulation by estrogen and fluid flow promoted an increased response compared to the application or either

stimuli alone, suggesting that the actions of mechanical stimulation and estrogen are independent but additive.

The apparently additive effect of estrogen and mechanical stimulation appears to be associated with their independent action over whole bone structure, suggesting the existence of *in vivo* regional differences in bone response to loading and estrogen, that are unable to be fully apretiated in cell culture studies. By analyzing microarchitecture, bone geometry and strength of bones from OVX and SHAM animals that were either loaded or cast immobilized, Järvinen and colleagues [415] verified that the overall effects of loading were identical between animals that lacked or not estrogen. Noteworthy however was that the effects of estrogen and loading were anatomically distinct. While loading induced increases in periosteal apposition with resorption occurring mainly in the endocortical surface, estrogen was associated with both periosteal and endocortical bone apposition. The regional differences of estrogen and loading induced bone adaptation are also evidenced in two studies where estrogen was shown to inhibit periosteal bone formation and enhance endocortical bone apposition [281] while in another study the mechanical loading produced mostly increases in periosteal bone formation in the rat cortical bone [288]. Interestingly, the pattern of bone formation following exercise has also been shown to be different according to the pubertal state. Bass et al. [42] verified that while in pre-pubertal tennis players, who have low estrogen levels, exercise induced mostly an increase in periosteal expansion in the playing arm, in post-pubertal girls who have comparatively higher levels of estrogen, exercise enhanced mostly endocortical bone formation. It is therefore possible that when associated with exercise, estrogen somewhat inhibits the periosteal bone formation that would be archived by exercise stimulation alone but simultaneously enhances bone formation in the encortical region more than it would be achieved by exercise alone. In order to test the hypothesis that estrogen reduces the exercise induced periosteal expansion while enhances endocortical bone formation, Saxon and Turner [492] stimulated by mechanical loading the ulna of male rats supplemented with either estrogen or vehicle. Loading resulted in significantly higher increases in cortical bone area and bone mass in animals that were not

receiving estrogen. Moreover, periosteal bone formation rate was 2-fold lower in animals that received estrogen, while no differences were identified in the endocortical region.

Besides the regional differences in bone response to loading and estrogen, the temporal pattern of estrogen and mechanical stimulation also appears to influence the bone adaptive response. This is evidenced in a study where *in vivo* estrogen administration suppressed while estrogen loss enhanced the early anabolic effects of mechanical stimulation on bone [235]. In this study, a single episode of cyclic loading of the vertebra resulted in a significant increase in bone formation that was suppressed by the administration of estrogen before or after the load. Interestingly, when estrogen was given 3 days after mechanical stimulation, a significant enhancement of the anabolic response was identified, suggesting that estrogen was only able to increase the activity of previously stimulated bone cells by loading. However, in another study, the administration of estrogen to OVX animals once a week was unable to enhance the exercise induced increases in BMD and bone mineral content (BMC), showing that exercise alone was able to increase bone mass in OVX animals [557].

Results from studies performed on post-menopausal woman are also inconsistent regarding the influence of hormone replacement therapy (HRT) in enhancing the effects of mechanical loading. Kohrt et al. [293] verified that both lumbar spine and proximal femur BMD were significantly increased in response to exercise or HRT alone in the elder women. However, when combined they resulted in additive effects in some skeletal sites but not in others. Identical results are also described by Milliken et al. [375], in which the combination of exercise and HRT produced higher increases in BMD of postmenopausal woman than either one alone. As it was previously mentioned, variations in the regional expression of different ER isoforms as well as variations according to osteoblast differentiation stage [68, 406] might originate at least some of the different and site specific results described regarding the effects of exercise and HRT alone or in combination. The documented evidence regarding the interaction between estrogen and mechanical stimulation shows then a very complex

picture with the involvement of several variables that seem to be time and place dependent.

Studies using different exercise regimens as well as controlled bone loading have also reported conflicting findings regarding the variation of bone tissue responsiveness to mechanical loading with age, with studies reporting either reduced responsiveness in aged animals, no difference between young and old animals or even enhanced responsiveness in aged animals.

There is some evidence that the anabolic response of bone to loading varies with age. Results from previous studies suggest that higher mechanical loading thresholds are necessary for promoting bone formation in aged compared to young rats [562] and that the ulna from young turkeys is substantially more responsive to mechanical stimulation than the ulna from 3-years-old turkey [471]. Nevertheless, there are also several studies suggesting that bone from aged animals is as responsive as bone from adult animals when submitted to exercise and that there is no loss of mechanosensitivity with age. For instance, a 14-week treadmill running program on male and female mice with either 47 or 75 weeks of age resulted in overall increases in bone mass and strength that were higher in the older group, particularly in female animals [316]. Similarly, in the rat with back-pack model, neither young (4 months) or adult (12 months) animals were significantly influenced by exercise, while in the older (22 months) animals there was a decrease in marrow area and in trabecular bone separation [83]. In another very recent study [80] in which two groups of male mice with 7 and 22 month of age were subjected to tibial axial compression, it was demonstrated that the response to loading in aged mice was significantly higher compared to young mice. Moreover, mechanical loading was shown to significantly reduce bone resorption in old mice.

One of the possible reasons for the contradictory findings between several studies is that age might have different effects on bone cells, leading to different conclusions whether the outcomes are considered at a cell or tissue level. A study by Klein-Nulend [286] shows that the response of cultured bone cells to fluid flow varies according with the donor age. While cell proliferation significantly decreased according to donor age,

basal ALP activity and PGE2 expression increased with donor age following mechanical stimulation. This suggests therefore that probably there is no loss of responsiveness with age. What happens is that the response following mechanical stimulation most likely suffers a gradual change leading however to similar whole bone effects after *in vivo* stimulation since increased cell activity compensates for reduced cell proliferation.

#### **5. EXERCISE IN THE PREVENTION AND TREATMENT OF OSTEOPOROSIS**

#### 5.1 Peak bone mass

During childhood and adolescence the skeleton grows progressively, with individual bones increasing not only in length but also in cross sectional area due to a gradual periosteal expansion. This process is designated bone modeling [428]. The gradual increase in bone mass observed during growth reaches a peak at about 20 years of age [355], stabilizing thereafter. This point of maximal bone mass accumulation at the end of the growth period is designated as peak bone mass, and it is determined by several factors, such as genetic background, hormonal status, nutrition and physical activity [107, 216].

Considering therefore the existence of a period in life at which bone mass reaches a maximum and that afterwards it declines progressively until reaching dangerously low levels decades later, several authors have argued that osteoporosis could be the late outcome of a low peak bone mass during growth [165, 354, 107]. Consequently, interventions such as exercise with the potential of enhancing the peak bone mass during growth were considered to be an effective strategy to prevent or delay the onset of osteoporosis in the adult [41, 367]. In fact there are several studies demonstrating that exercise is able to enhance peak bone mass in the growing child and adolescent [77, 382, 221, 179].

For instance, a group of 10-year boys that were engaged in an 8-month regular exercise training program, demonstrated 2-fold higher BMD increases than agematched controls at several skeletal sites [77]. In another study with a group of 10year girls enrolled in a exercise training program, it was shown that at the end of 10months their BMD was significantly higher than the BMD in a group of age-matched controls that were sedentary, despite the absence of initial differences between the two groups [382]. Several experimental studies with growing animals submitted to exercise training protocols have also demonstrated that bones from these animals have significantly higher increases in cortical bone thickness, cortical bone crosssectional area and ultimate strength than bones of non-exercising counterparts [490, 171, 237, 357].

Nevertheless, the bone mass of the elder and post-menopausal women depends not only on the amount of bone acquired during growth, i.e. peak bone mass, as also on the rate of the progressive bone loss during adulthood. So, for a higher peak bone mass to be able to grant some advantage at old age it should be reflected as a higher bone mass later in life. In a retrospective study that compared BMD of a group of 50years old retired ballet dancers with that of a group of age matched controls that were sedentary during youth, it was shown that former ballet dancers had a significantly higher BMD than the controls. Moreover, higher differences in BMD between groups were associated with higher self reported training hours [277]. In another interesting study [41] in which the bone mass of a group of 10-year old female gymnasts was assayed and compared to that of sedentary controls, it was demonstrated that gymnasts had a significantly higher BMD than controls. Moreover, during a 12-month duration exercise training program, BMD increases were 85% higher in the group of gymnasts than in controls, demonstrating therefore that exercise was able to significantly enhance bone mass accrual in the young, boosting thereby their peak bone mass. Notoriously, in this same study, the BMD of a group of retired 25-years old gymnasts was also determined, and it was shown that their BMD was significantly higher than that of controls, suggesting therefore that the benefits of increasing peak bone mass were maintained into adulthood.

Nevertheless, despite that the benefits of increasing peak bone mass might be detected in the adult, several lines of evidence suggest that exercise-induced bone gains achieved during growth are not preserved in the elder [264, 414, 602]. To investigate if increasing bone mass through exercise in the growing rat would have a meaningful effect on the bone mass at old age, Pajamaki et al [414] subjected a group of young rats to an exercise training protocol of 14 weeks of duration. At the end of the training protocol the animals were put back on normal cage activity and were scarified following 14, 28 or 42 weeks. Interestingly, despite bone mass was significantly higher immediately after the training protocol in exercised animals compared to controls, at the end of the 42 weeks of deconditioning there were no differences between previously exercised animals and controls that were kept in

normal cage activity through life. In another pivotal study with former soccer players and age matched controls [264], it was shown that despite exercise during growth promoted an increase in peak BMD, after retiring from practice the soccer players experienced an accelerated bone loss, resulting that at 60 years of age there were no differences between former athletes and controls regarding BMD and, most importantly, fracture rate. Therefore, these important findings demonstrate that reaching a high peak bone mass alone is not enough to prevent osteoporosis or increased risk of fracture at old age since exercise-induced bone benefits are eventually lost if exercise is not maintained. Therefore, the maintenance of a regular physical activity through life is most probably necessary to protect the skeleton from accelerated bone loss and thereby to prevent fractures.

#### 5.2 Exercise programs for increasing bone mass

Despite the evidence provided by studies with animals [238, 81] and humans [600] that adult bone still preserves its responsiveness to mechanical loading and exercise training, conclusions between different studies have been somewhat conflicting. In the last 15 years several meta-analysis and systematic reviews have analyzed the results of studies in which the effects of exercise on bone mass and fracture risk were assessed [271, 272, 349-351, 416, 584, 604, 273]. The main question that these large studies were tiring to answer was if post-menopausal woman were able to increase or maintain their BMD by performing regular physical activity. The answers though have been inconsistent.

One of the first meta-analysis performed with the objective of determining the effects of physical activity programs on bone mass of healthy postmenopausal women, was performed by Bérard and colleagues [52]. Only prospective controlled intervention trials with healthy postmenopausal women over 50 years of age were included, regardless of the type of exercise program or if the exercises were targeted or not to a specific body region. Eighteen studies were analyzed, and it was concluded that physical activity had a significant effect on BMD at the lumbar spine, but no effect what so ever at the forearm or femoral neck. A year later another meta-analysis

examining the effects of just aerobic exercise training on the lumbar vertebra BMD of postmenopausal women concluded that BMD was significantly higher in exercised women compared to sedentary controls. However, the higher BMD observed was mostly caused by the significant decreases in BMD in non-exercising women rather than being the result of true increases in the exercising group [271]. In the same year, these authors presented another meta-analysis [272], this time analyzing the effects of aerobic exercise on the femoral neck BMD, in which it was concluded that aerobic training was not only able to prevent decreases in BMD as it was also able to produce significant increases, contrasting therefore with previous analyses performed by others [52].

In another study analyzing randomized controlled trials about the effects of impact and non-impact exercise training programs on the lumbar vertebra and femoral neck BMD of post-menopausal women, it was concluded that both exercise regimens were able to increase BMD significantly at both skeletal sites [584]. However, results from meta-analysis on studies about the effects of programs involving walking-alone exercises concluded that significant increases were observed in lumbar vertebra BMD but not in the femoral neck [416]. Interestingly, a few years later another metaanalysis was performed analyzing previously published data on the effects of walkingalone exercises on lumbar spine and femoral neck BMD and concluded that exercise had no effects what so ever on the spine whilst significant improvements in the femoral neck were observed. Moreover, in another more recent meta-analysis [273] in which controlled trials that assessed the effects of exercise training on femoral neck BMD were analyzed, it was concluded that exercise was unable to significantly increase BMD at any skeletal site in post-menopausal women. Therefore, the main outcome of these studies is the inconsistency of previous findings regarding the effects of exercise on preventing the loss or in promoting the increase in BMD in post-menopausal women.

Notoriously, all the published data analyzed in these meta-analyses included only studies in which the primary outcome used to evaluate the effects of exercise on bone was BMD changes assayed by DXA. Regardless of its value for diagnosing osteoporosis,

Physical Inactivity and Bone Health

BMD increases correlate poorly with fracture risk reduction following treatment [94], which suggests that its usefulness as a surrogate for detecting treatment effectiveness may be low [500]. Bone mass assessment with DXA has a number of limitations due to its two-dimensional nature as well as due to its low spatial resolution [236]. These limitations do not allow DXA to identify changes in trabecular or cortical architecture, changes in bone geometry as well as changes in bone tissue properties that can largely and independently influence bone strength. Consequently, assessing treatment effectiveness by monitoring just BMD changes is insufficient and likely misleading and would instead be best achieved by monitoring a broad set of bone properties that might change with treatment reducing thereby fracture risk. It is important to mention again that BMD is not a synonymous of bone strength, and that bone strength depends on several material and structural properties [501]. Moreover changes in these properties are not necessarily captured by a shift in BMD during treatment [136] as we see for instance in cases were fracture risk is reduced without increases in BMD [488] and in cases where large increases in BMD do not reduce fracture risk [208].

Despite the inexistence of randomized control trials using fracture rate as a primary outcome for determining the effectiveness of exercise programs in the prevention of osteoporosis, some prospective studies have been published providing data about fracture occurrence and habitual physical activity levels of the participants. An interesting recent meta-analysis has analyzed results from these studies and has concluded that moderate-to-vigorous physical activity was associated with a reduction of about 45% and 38% fracture risk in men and women above 40-years of age, respectively. These results therefore suggest that regular physical activity significantly reduces fracture occurrence in late adults and elder individuals, and that the inconclusive and quite reduced effects of exercise on the BMD of these individuals is not likely to be the main responsible for that reduction in fracture rate.

Nevertheless, as exercise also increases skeletal muscle mass [539] and improves balance [507], one might argue that the reduction in fracture occurrence reported in this study might not reflect true bone strength gains but rather a reduction in the number of falls witch consequently would result in a reduction of the number of

fractures. However, data from another interesting study suggests that this reduction does not result only from a reduction in the number of falls. In a randomized controlled trial Adami and collegues [7] applied an exercise program to a group of 250 postmenopausal women for 6 months. All participants were assayed by DXA and peripheral quantitative computed tomography (pQCT) at baseline and after the training program. DXA results showed that the exercise program had no effects on BMD as there were no significant differences between exercised women and controls. Interestingly, pQCT revealed that exercise training increased the radius cross sectional area significantly. Moreover, due to its ability to distinguish between cortical and trabecular bone, pQCT revealed a significant increase in cortical bone BMD and a decrease in trabecular bone BMD, suggesting therefore that there was a redistribution in bone mass away from the bone neutral axis, witch from a mechanical standpoint significantly increases its strength. This study therefore provides two important findings. First, that exercise was able to induce differences in bone geometry and mineralization degree that are consistent with an increase in bone strength, and second, that DXA was unable to identify those alterations. In another study [237] performed on experimental animals that were submitted to an exercise protocol during 9-weeks, it was showed that exercise induced a significant increase in cortical bone thickness and cross-sectional area in the animals resulting in a significantly increased bending and compression strength of the femoral shaft and neck, respectively. Quite notorious however was that no differences were detected between groups regarding DXA derived BMD measurements.

Therefore, exercise interventions seem to be able to increase bone strength and to reduce fracture risk by reorganizing bone mass distribution, an effect that seems to have been greatly underestimated by DXA derived BMD measurements.

Physical Inactivity and Bone Health

## CHAPTER III

## **Experimental Studies**



**Experimental Studies** 

### Study 1

Fonseca H, Powers SK, Moreira-Gonçalves D, Santos A, Mota MP, Duarte JA. **Physical inactivity is a major contributor to ovariectomy induced muscle loss**. (*Submitted* to Int J Sports Med) **Experimental Studies** 

#### Manuscript submitted to editorial office



#### Menopause related sarcopenia

| Journal:         | International Journal of Sports Medicine                               |
|------------------|--|
| Manuscript ID:   | Draft  |
| Manuscript Type: | Physiology & Biochemistry  |
| Key word:        | Voluntary running, Menopause, Sedentary behavior, Sarcopenia, Estrogen |
|                  |  |



#### Title

Physical inactivity is a major contributor to ovariectomy-induced muscle loss

#### **Running title**

Menopause related sarcopenia

#### Abstract

Introduction: Since the mechanism(s) underlying menopause-related sarcopenia remain unknown we aimed to investigate the role of physical inactivity in its etiology. *Methods*: Ovariectomized and sham-operated rats were allocated into two experimental groups: 1) sedentary-standard housing; and 2) exercise-housed with running wheel. After a 9-month experimental period, soleus muscle structure and biochemical properties were analyzed. *Results*: No differences existed in muscle fiber size or ultrastructure between sedentary sham and ovariectomized animals housed in standard conditions. In the exercise groups, average daily running distance was 10-fold less in ovariectomized compared to sham-animals. Further, in exercised animals, soleus fiber size was smaller in ovariectomized compared to shamanimals. Nonetheless, compared to both sedentary groups, muscle fiber size was larger in the exercised ovariectomized animals. *Discussion*: Our results indicate that ovariectomy-induced sarcopenia is not due to the loss of ovarian hormones per se, but is largely due to physical inactivity.

#### **Keywords**

Voluntary running; Menopause; Sedentary behavior; Sarcopenia; Estrogen

#### Introduction

Menopause is a milestone in women's health, as the loss of regular estrogen production is typically followed by an increased occurrence of several detrimental musculoskeletal and cardiovascular changes. Among those, decreases in skeletal muscle mass and function are major outcomes of menopause and they are thought to be directly linked to hypoestrogenemia [9]. Skeletal muscle in several animal species, including humans [17] express estrogen receptors (ER) making muscle fibers a target tissue of estrogen action. A decrease in skeletal muscle mass and strength is a well-documented outcome of menopause. [9] This menopause-related loss of skeletal muscle mass and strength can be prevented, at least in part, with estrogen replacement therapy [30]. Ovariectomy (OVX) in mice also leads to significant decreases in locomotor muscle strength [21] which can be successfully restored following estrogen treatment [20]. Several mechanisms have been proposed to explain the loss of skeletal muscle mass and strength induced by estrogen deficiency [2-6,16,25,26,32,35,37]. For example, changes in mice soleus muscle contractile properties following OVX are shown to be associated with a significant shift in muscle fiber composition from fast to slow myosin heavy chain (MyHC) isoforms [16]. Ovariectomy is also known to induce alterations on the extracellular matrix of the rat heart by promoting an increase in type I collagen expression and a decrease in matrix metalloproteinase 2 expression, both of which are prevented by estrogen supplementation [38].

Furthermore, low estrogen levels could also have a negative impact on skeletal muscle energy metabolism as mitochondria are an estrogen sensitive organelle [5] as estrogen administration to OVX animals enhances respiratory chain activity [25]. Interestingly, some of the impairment within skeletal muscle of OVX animals has been shown to be prevented by regular bouts of muscular exercise [16]. This observation raises the possibility that the impact of estrogen deficiency on skeletal muscle is not due to estrogen deficiency alone. In this regard, evidence suggests that estrogen plays an important role in voluntary physical activity because low estrogen levels is associated with physical inactivity [11]. Indeed, OVX rats have been reported to run significantly less when compared to age matched intact controls [34]. Furthermore, estrogen replacement can effectively reverse OVX induced physical inactivity in mice in a dose-dependent fashion [8,11]. Collectively, these data suggest that low estrogen levels are associated with a decrease in voluntary physical activity. It follows that the decreases in skeletal muscle mass and strength following menopause could be linked to reduced physical activity (i.e., muscle disuse) and therefore, may not be directly linked to the

effect of low estrogen levels on skeletal muscle fibers *per se*. To investigate this important issue we tested the hypothesis that physical inactivity is a major contributor to menopause related sarcopenia. Specifically, we determined if the loss of ovarian function has a direct effect on skeletal muscle structural and biochemical properties or if the changes in skeletal muscle following loss of ovarian function largely reflect muscle disuse due to decreases in voluntary motor activity.

d bi unction lar

#### Materials and methods

 Overview of experimental approach: To determine the role that estrogen plays in skeletal muscle structure and size as well as the role of estrogen in promoting physical activity, we performed the following experiment. Our experimental approach was to study ovariectomized and sham operated female rats that were housed with access to running wheels or housed in standard, sedentary conditions. We recorded the levels of physical activity in all animals during a 9-month period and at sacrifice we evaluated the structural and biochemical properties of the soleus muscle.

Study design: All procedures involving animal care and sacrifice were approved by the local ethics committee (University of Porto) and meet the ethical standards of the journal [13]. Following one week of quarantine after arrival, 25 nulliparous female Wistar rats aged 5 months (Charles River laboratories, Barcelona) were randomly ovariectomized (OVX; n=13) or sham operated (SHAM; n=12). Bilateral ovariectomy was performed by standard ventral approach [24] under anesthesia with 4% sevoflurane. A sham surgery without removal of the ovaries was performed to another group of animals (SHAM). After one week of recovery, OVX and SHAM rats were separated into two sub-groups that were housed in different conditions. In one of the sub-groups, the rats were individually housed in cages with activity wheel and distance counter (floor area 800 cm<sup>2</sup>; Tecniplast) allowing them to perform voluntary running activity (OVX+VR, n=7; SHAM+VR, n=6). In the second sub-group, animals were housed in identical conditions (OVX+C, n=6; SHAM+C, n=6) except for the running wheel in the cage. Distance traveled by each rat in the running wheel was recorded daily and body weight recorded weekly at the end of the light phase. Food intake was also recorded weekly and was determined as the difference in chow weight contained on the rack between the beginning and the end of the week. All animals were maintained in an inverted 12h light/dark cycle in a controlled environment (i.e., constant humidity and temperature). Standard rat chow and water were provided *ad libitum* throughout the experimental period.

Animal sacrifice and organs collection: Following the 9-month experimental period, all rats were anesthetized with 4% sevoflurane and sacrificed by exsanguination. Note that all animals were 14 months old at time of sacrifice. Blood was collected from *vena cava* and was later used for biochemical analysis. Parametrial, retroperitoneal, inguinal, and mesenteric fat depots were surgically dissected and weighted for quantification of intra-abdominal fat content. Both hind limbs *soleus* muscle were dissected, washed in could PBS (pH 7.2) and

 weighted together. Organs weight was determined with a precision balance (resolution 0.01 mg; Kern 870). Right tibia was also collected and its length measured with a digital caliper (resolution 0.01mm, Powerfix) for correcting weight comparisons to differences in animal size. The right *soleus* muscle was removed, weighed and transversely sectioned in two samples: one processed immediately for light (LM) microscopy and the second for transmission electron microscopy (TEM). The left *soleus muscle* was minced and homogenized in a ratio of 1:10 in ice-cold extraction medium containing 50mM Tris/base and 1mM EDTA (Sigma) pH 7.4 with a Potter-Elvehjem homogenizer and pestle. The homogenate was then collected, sonicated for 1min in ice cold water (Sonorex, Bandelin Electronic) and centrifuged at 700g for 10min at 4°C. The supernatant was collected for spectrophotometric assessment of citrate synthase (CS) and glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) activity as well as type I myosin expression by Slot-Blot. Total protein content was determined by the Lowry method using BSA (Sigma) as standard.

#### Histology

Tissue processing for light and transmission electron microscopy: One of the right soleus muscle samples was fixed overnight in a solution containing 4% paraformaldehyde, 2.5% sucrose (Sigma) and 0.1% gluteraldehyde (TAAB) in PBS (pH 7.2) at 4°C, dehydrated through graded ethanol solutions, cleared in xylene and mounted in paraffin. Transverse 6µm thick sections were cut, and used for assessing fiber cross-sectional area (CSA), fibrous tissue accumulation, apoptotic myonuclei presence and type I myosin heavy chain (MyHC) expression by immunohistochemistry. The sections were analyzed with a light microscope and images recorded with a coupled digital camera (Axio Imager A1, Carl Zeiss; Germany). The remaining sample of the right soleus muscle was sectioned into smaller portions (≈3 mm<sup>3</sup>) and fixed overnight in 2.5% gluteraldehyde in 0.2M sodium cacodylate buffer (Sigma; pH 7.2) at 4°C. After rinsing with 0.2M sodium cacodylate buffer they were post fixed with 2% osmium tetroxide in 0.2M sodium cacodylate, dehydrated in graded ethanol and embedded in Epon (TAAB) at 60°C until polymerization. Ultra-thin (100 nm) sections were cut in a ultramicrotome (Reichert-Jung Ultracut) with a diamond knife (ultra 45° Diatome), contrasted with uranyl acetate and lead citrate (Sigma) and analyzed with a transmission electron microscope (Zeiss EM10A) at an accelerating voltage of 60 kV. Micrographs were recorded with a coupled photographic camera.

Soleus muscle fiber cross-sectional area (CSA): Soleus muscle sections were stained with H&E and the images analyzed with ImageJ software (NIH, Bethesda, MD). CSA was determined for each animal as the average area of 350 fibers.

Assessment of fibrous tissue accumulation: Soleus muscle sections were stained with Picrosirius red (PSR) according to the method of Sweat et al. [33] by incubation on 0.1% sirius red in saturated picric acid for 1h. Sections were then rinsed in 0.5% acetic acid, dehydrated in ethanol and cleared in xylene. PSR technique stains collagen bright red and muscle tissue yellow. Images were analyzed with Image-Pro Plus 6.0 software (Media Cybernetics, Inc.) by quantification of the percentage area covered by collagen (red) and muscle tissue (yellow).

Assessment of apoptosis in soleus muscle: The presence of apoptotic nuclei in soleus muscle was assayed by terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL) using a commercially available kit (*In situ* cell death detection kit AP) according to the manufacturer instructions (Roche). After deparaffinization, sections were immersed in 0.1M citrate buffer (pH 6.0) and microwave irradiated for 1 min (750W). After rinsing in could PBS, sections were first blocked with 3% BSA in 0.1M Tris-HCl (pH 7.5) for 30min at 20°C and then incubated in freshly prepared TUNEL reaction solution (nucleotide mixture + terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase) in a humidified chamber at 37°C for 60 min in the dark. Negative and positive controls were simultaneously prepared by incubation with label solution only (nucleotide mixture) or by incubation with DNase I (Sigma) prior to the labeling procedure, respectively. Sections were analyzed with a fluorescent microscope coupled to a digital camera (Axio Imager A1, Carl Zeiss) and apoptotic cells were identified as brightly fluorescent in opposition to the pale green background staining.

Soleus muscle ultrastructure analysis: Morphometric analysis of soleus muscle ultrastructure was performed on the digitized TEM micrographs. Intermyofibrillar (IMF) and subsarcolemmal (SSM) mitochondria size (area) as well as total mitochondria density ( $n/\mu m^2$ ) were determined using imageJ software (NIH, Bethesda, MD) considering each image magnification. Qualitative morphological analysis of sub cellular structures was also performed.

Assessment of soleus muscle type I myosin heavy chain (MyHC) expression by immunohistochemistry: After deparaffinization and rehydration, soleus muscle sections were rinsed in 0.1% TBS-T and non specific binding was blocked by incubation with 3% BSA in 0.1%

Page 7 of 29

#### Manuscript submitted to editorial office

TBS-T for 30 min at 37°C. Sections were then incubated with mouse monoclonal anti type I myosin (M8421, Sigma) primary antibody diluted 1:100 in 0.1% TBS-T overnight in a humidified chamber. After rinsing 3x 5min in 0.1% TBS-T, sections were incubated with goat anti-mouse alkaline phosphatase conjugated secondary antibody (SC-3698, Abcam) diluted 1:100 in 0.1% TBS-T for 1h at 37°C in a humidified chamber. Detection was performed by incubation with Fast Red TR/Naphthol AS-MX Tablets (SigmaFast, Sigma). Negative controls were performed for each section by omission of the primary antibody. Counterstaining was performed with hematoxylin.

#### **Biochemistry**

*Determination of serum* 17β-*estradiol concentration:* Serum was separated from the blood samples by centrifugation at 4°C and estradiol (17β-estradiol) concentration was assayed by solid phase competitive binding ELISA using a commercially available kit (Estradiol ELISA DE2693) and a spectrophotometer (iEMS, Labsystems) according to the manufacturer recommendations (Demeditec Diagnostics) for validating the effectiveness of the OVX procedure. Briefly, 25µl of serum and 200µl of enzyme conjugate were dispensed in each plate well and incubated for 120 min at 25°C. After complete washing, 100µl of substrate solution was added to each plate well and incubated for a further 15min. Absorbance was read at 450nm after addition of 50µl stop solution. Duplicates were analyzed for each sample and triplicates for each standard. Assay range is between 9.7 to 2000 pg/mL.

*MyHC I immunoblot:* Semi-quantification of MyHC I content was performed by Slot Blot as described previously [14]. Briefly, samples of *soleus* muscle homogenate containing 10µg of protein were loaded into a nitrocellulose membrane (Hybond; Amersham Biosciences) with a slot blot filtration manifold device (Hybri-Slot; Gibco BRL) coupled to a vacuum pump (KNF Neuberger). The membrane was then blocked in 5% non-fat dried milk in 0.1% TBS-T for 1h, incubated with primary antibody (Mouse monoclonal anti type I myosin; M8421, Sigma) diluted 1:1000 in 5% non-fat dried milk in 0.1% TBS-T for 2h, washed 3x 5 min in TBS-T and then incubated with secondary antibody (Rabbit polyclonal to Mouse IgG HRP; ab6728, Abcam) conjugated with horseradish peroxidase diluted 1:1000 in 5% non-fat dried milk in 0.1% TBS-T for 2h. The blots were developed by enhanced chemiluminescence according to the manufacturer instructions (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech), followed by exposure to a photographic film (Kodac Biomax Ligth Film, Sigma). The films were then analyzed with ImageJ software (NIH, Bethesda, MD) using the "Integrated Density" option to measure the intensity of the auto radiographic signal inside a boundary drawn around the bands detected in the films after background subtraction.

Determination of citrate synthase (CS) activity: CS activity was determined as described previously [7] by the spectrophotometric measurement at 412nm of the amount of 5,5-dithiobis(2-nitrobenzoate) that reacted with acetyl-coenzyme A (CoA) after its release from the reaction of acetyl-CoA with oxaloacetate. Brifly 150µl of ultrapure water, 20µl of freshly prepared assay buffer containing 1.0mM DTNB and 1% Triton X-100 (pH 8.1), and 20µl of the *soleus* homogenate were dispensed to each plate well. The absorbance was read for 5min with 15 seconds interval in a spectrophotometer (iEMS, Labsystems) at 37°C following the addition of 10µl of 10mM oxaloacetate. The activity was calculated using CS from porcine heart (C3260, Sigma) as standard and expressed per mg of protein content.

Determination of Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) activity: GAPDH activity was measured as described previously [36] as an increase in absorption at 340nm following the reduction of NAD. Briefly freshly prepared 173µl of assay buffer containing 15mM sodium pyrophosphate and 30mM sodium arsenate pH 8.5, 6.6µl of 7.5 mM NAD, 6.6µl of 100mM DTT (Sigma) and 6.6µl of the *soleus* homogenate were dispensed to each plate well. Absorbance was read at 340 nm for 5 min with 15 seconds interval in a spectrophotometer (iEMS, Labsystems) at 37°C following the addition of 6.6µl of 7.5mM glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate solution. The activity was calculated using GAPDH from rabbit muscle (C2267, Sigma) as standard and expressed per mg of protein content.

Statistical analysis: The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to investigate within-group normality for a given variable. Levene's test was used to assess homogeneity of variance. Comparisons between groups were performed by two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Bonferroni *post hoc* test if normality and equality of variance existed. When normality or equality of variance were not verified, root square transformation was employed (intraabdominal fat weight) to reestablish the necessary assumptions for ANOVA. Comparisons between groups regarding mitochondria size and number were performed with the Mann-Whithney non-parametric test due to distribution lack of normality. Differences were considered significant at p<0.05 and results are presented as mean ± standard deviation (SD). Data was analyzed with SPSS 17.0. Post hoc analysis of the statistical power achieved for the number of animals used was performed with G\*Power 3.1 software and was found to be between 0.95 and 0.98 for all variables assayed.

#### Results

Serum 17 $\beta$ -estradiol: Mean serum 17 $\beta$ -estradiol concentration in OVX+C (20.4 $\pm$ 5.69 pg/mL) and OVX+VR (16.7 $\pm$ 4.78 pg/mL) groups was significantly lower compared to SHAM+VR (86.7 $\pm$ 16.57 pg/mL) and SHAM+C (82.4  $\pm$  19.51 pg/mL) groups. No significant differences existed between OVX+C and OVX+VR and between SHAM+VR and SHAM+C.

*Physical activity:* During the first week of the experiments the average daily distance traveled by OVX+VR and SHAM+VR animals were similar (1.02±0.383Km.day<sup>-1</sup> vs. 1.38±0.631Km.day<sup>-1</sup> respectively, p=0.294; Figure 1A). However, beginning in week two, the difference in physical activity began to differ markedly between the experimental groups. Indeed, by the end of the 9 months of differential housing SHAM+VR animals accumulated a 10-fold higher running distance compared to OVX+VR animals (1449.7±308.98Km vs. 146.0±31.46Km respectively; Figure 1B).

#### Body weight variation and food intake: Detailed information is presented in table 1.

At the beginning of these experiments, body weight did not differ between the experimental groups. However, over time all animals increased body weight significantly ( $p \le 0.003$ ) with larger body weight increases in OVX animals compared to their SHAM counterparts. Further, body weight increases in the OVX+C were greater than the OVX+VR animals (p < 0.05). Regardless of their higher body weights, food intake was similar between SHAM and OVX animals but significantly higher (p < 0.01) in exercised than in sedentary animals. At the time of sacrifice, while OVX+VR body weight was significantly higher than that of SHAM+VR ( $400.9\pm36.61g$  vs.  $303.2\pm41.27g$ , p < 0.01) no differences were identified between OVX+C and SHAM+C groups ( $363.5\pm31.79g$  vs.  $324.7\pm39.67g$ , p = 0.087). Intra-abdominal fat mass was also higher in OVX+VR animals compared to SHAM+VR ( $33.6\pm10.15g$  vs.  $10.5\pm9.27g$ , p < 0.01) but not between OVX+C and SHAM+C animals ( $30.9\pm7.77g$  vs.  $25.3\pm7.59g$ , p = 0.285).

*Soleus* muscle weight was significantly higher in exercised animals compared to sedentary controls (p<0.05) but no differences existed between OVX+VR and SHAM+VR (p=0.5) as well as between OVX+C and SHAM+C (p=1.0).

Soleus muscle fiber CSA and protein content: Average soleus muscle fiber CSA was 1913.2±269.10µm<sup>2</sup>, 1048.5±315.81µm<sup>2</sup>, 2920.4±805.39µm<sup>2</sup> and 1175.6±395.59µm<sup>2</sup> for OVX+VR, OVX+C, SHAM+VR and SHAM+C groups, respectively. A significantly higher soleus muscle fiber CSA was identified in SHAM+VR animals compared to OVX+VR animals but there were no significant differences between OVX+C and SHAM+C (Figure 2). Fiber CSA was

#### Manuscript submitted to editorial office

significantly correlated with the amount of running each animal performed on the wheel (r=0.765; p<0.05). To investigate if fiber size differences reflected true anabolic gains or just increases in non-protein content (i.e. edema), total protein content of the left soleus muscle was determined and expressed as percentage of muscle wet weight. Total protein content was  $15.3\pm3.08\%$ ,  $17.4\pm2.85\%$ ,  $15.0\pm2.24\%$  and  $17.1\pm2.40\%$  for OVX+VR, OVX+C, SHAM+VR and SHAM+C groups, respectively. No significant differences in total protein existed between these experimental groups (p $\ge$ 0.757).

*Myofiber apoptosis and fibrous tissue expression:* No signs of apoptotic nuclei were identified in *soleus* muscle fibers of any experimental group despite the presence of other positively stained interstitial cells (Figure 3A). Muscle collagen content was greater in both the OVX and SHAM control groups compared to their exercised counterparts (Figure 3B, C). No differences in muscle collagen content existed between animals housed in the same conditions.

Soleus muscle ultrastructure: No significant differences existed in soleus muscle fiber mitochondria density (Figure 4) between the experimental groups despite the slightly higher mean values in exercised animals (Mean±SD): OVX+VR =0.30±0.133, μm<sup>2</sup>, SHAM+VR =0.28±0.094, μm<sup>2</sup>, OVX =0.21±0.071, and SHAM =0.20±0.029, μm<sup>2</sup>. Further, no differences existed in IMF mitochondrial size between the groups (Figure 4J). In contrast, SSM mitochondria were significantly larger in the soleus muscle of SHAM+VR compared to OVX+VR (Figure 4B, F). No differences in SSM mitochondria size existed between the two sedentary groups (Figure 4D, H) although SSM mitochondria were significantly smaller in the sedentary groups compared to both exercise groups (Figure 4K). Independent of their estrogen status, exercised animals also showed abundant glycogen granules, signs of satellite cell activation (Figure 5A), increased myonuclei transcriptional activity (Figure 5C) and myofibril splitting (Figure 4E). Several OVX+VR and SHAM+VR animals also displayed frequent secondary lysosomes (Figure 5B, D), often near large aggregates of SSM mitochondria. In contrast, these features were in general not observed in both control groups. In turn, muscles from sedentary control animals showed increased levels of both adipose and fibrous tissue (Figure 4G) as well as thinner myofibrils with evidence of sarcomeric disorganization (Figure 4C).

*Enzymatic profile: Soleus* muscle CS activity was  $3.99\pm0.784$ ,  $4.99\pm0.706$ ,  $4.32\pm1.514$  and  $5.18\pm0.828 \ \mu$ mol/min/mg in OVX+C, OVX+VR, SHAM+C and SHAM+VR groups respectively. Although soleus muscle CS activity tended to be higher in the exercise animals compared to

sedentary, these differences did not reach significance (p≥0.052). GAPDH activity in the soleus muscle was 535±124.1, 521±107.1, 531±110.5 and 569±187.6 nmol/min/mg in OVX+C, OVX+VR, SHAM+C and SHAM+VR groups, respectively. No significant differences existed between the experimental groups.

Soleus muscle MyHC I expression: The immunoblot analysis (Figure 6A) showed that soleus muscle MyHC I was over expressed in OVX compared to SHAM animals independently of their housing conditions. Access to the running wheel significantly influenced MyHC I expression in SHAM but not in OVX animals. Further, no differences in MyHC I expression existed between OVX+VR and OVX+C animals. SHAM animals MyHC I was over expressed in those with access to the running wheel. *In situ* findings of MyHC I expression assayed by immunohistochemistry (Figure 6B) also revealed a higher number of muscle fibers positively stained in OVX animals compared to SHAM. Note, however, that a quantitative analysis of muscle fibers expressing MyHC I isoforms was not performed since the majority of the fibers were found to be hybrid, revealing several degrees of affinity with the antibody against type I myosin.
#### Discussion

#### **Overview of major findings**

These experiments provide three important findings. First, ovariectomy significantly reduces voluntary physical activity in rats. Second, our data also reveal that ovariectomy-induced sarcopenia in female rats is not directly linked to the loss of ovarian hormones (OH) but appears to be due, at least in part, to a decrease in voluntary physical activity. Finally our results indicate that the surgical removal of the ovaries significantly changes the myosin isoform profile within the soleus muscle as the expression of MyHC I was significantly increased in both exercised and control OVX animals compared to SHAM counterparts. A brief discussion of each of these major findings follows.

#### Ovariectomy reduces voluntary physical activity in rats

Our findings clearly demonstrated that ovariectomy greatly decreases voluntary physical activity in rats. Indeed, compared to the OVX+VR animals, the sham operated animals (SHAM+VR) ran, on average, a 10-fold greater distance each day during the 9-month experimental period. For example, the OVX+VR animals averaged only  $\approx$ 560 meters/day whereas the SHAM+VR animals traveled an average of  $\approx$  5580 meters/day during the duration of the study.

Note that previous studies have also shown that motor activity is influenced by circulating estrogen levels [1,8,11,16,31]. Nonetheless, most studies have described variations in physical activity during relatively short experimental periods (i.e., days to 12-weeks) following estrogen loss [23] [22]. Therefore, the current study is unique because we investigated animal activity patterns following ovariectomy for long time periods (i.e., 36 weeks). Moreover, by investigating the long-term effects of ovariectomy, our results reveal that the level of inactivity associated with the loss of ovarian hormones is greater than previous reports that investigated activity patterns during relatively short time periods following ovariectomy [11,16]. Finally, our results reveal that the reduced voluntary physical activity associated with ovariectomy lasted throughout the entire duration of our study, suggesting that the effects induced by OH loss are permanent.

#### Ovariectomy does not alter muscle fiber size

To determine if the loss of ovarian hormones has a direct effect on muscle structural and biochemical properties or if these changes are a consequence of muscle disuse due to decreases in voluntary motor activity, we analyzed muscle structure and metabolic profile in

 animals with and without access to running wheels. We reasoned that muscle differences between sham operated and ovariectomized animals exposed to standard housing would reflect alterations in skeletal muscle structure resulting from OH loss while differences between animals housed with running wheels would reveal additional muscle alterations that occur due to differences in voluntary physical activity levels. We specifically selected the soleus muscle for study because this muscle has been widely used by others for the study of OH loss effects on skeletal muscle [16,20,21]; hence, this enables a comparison of the current data with findings from previous studies.

Our results reveal that the soleus muscle weight and fiber CSA did not differ between the OVX and SHAM control animals (Table 1; Figure 2). These results indicate that the absence of OH did not impact soleus muscle weight and suggests that estrogen is not a requirement to maintain muscle mass. Further, our data indicate that when given access to the running wheel, soleus muscle mass of OVX animals increased significantly and was not different from that of SHAM+VR animals, indicating that exercise was effective in inducing an anabolic response. This finding further supports the concept that loss of OH *per se* does not lead to skeletal muscle atrophy, since without the anabolic stimulus provided by exercise, CSA was identical between OVX+C and SHAM+C animals. Nonetheless, soleus muscle fibers CSA from OVX+VR animals were significantly smaller compared to the CSA of soleus muscle fibers from the SHAM+VR animals. Interestingly, the soleus muscle fiber CSA of these two groups of animals were highly correlated (r=0.765; p<0.05) with the daily distance traveled in the running wheel. Again, these results are consistent with the concept that OH per se, does not directly regulate muscle fiber size but rather muscular activity plays a significant role in determining muscle mass during aging.

It is noteworthy that a previous study has reported that ovariectomy results in an increase skeletal muscle water content [18]. Therefore, we analyzed the total protein content of the soleus muscle and determined that the ratio of protein content/muscle wet weight was similar between all groups. These findings indicate that our group differences in muscle weights and fiber CSA's were not due to differences in muscle water content.

Further, since variations in estrogen status could also influence food intake [10] which could impact skeletal muscle mass independently of receptor mediated estrogen effects, we recorded the animals food intake throughout the experimental period. Our results show that OVX and SHAM animals ingested the same amount of food when housed in equivalent conditions. Therefore, differences in food intake did not contribute to the variance in muscle mass between the experimental groups. In addition, when access to the running wheel was

 provided, both OVX+VR and SHAM+VR animals increased their food intake by an identical  $\approx$ 28% compared to control animals.

#### **Ovariectomy does not alter muscle structure**

Previous studies provide evidence that estrogen exerts anti-apoptotic effects in skeletal muscle, which raises the possibility that OVX could impact soleus muscle structure and size by increasing the rate of apoptotic cell death [4,35]. We therefore analyzed soleus muscle fibers for the presence of myonuclei undergoing apoptosis using the TUNEL staining method. Our results revealed no signs of myonuclei undergoing cell death in any of the experimental groups indicating that OH absence was not associated with increases in apoptotic nuclei at the time of the animals sacrifice (Figure 3).

Further, a previous report has demonstrated that estrogen significantly affects the compositions of the extracellular matrix in cardiac myocytes by inhibiting fibrous tissue accumulation [38]. Others have also reported that estrogen deficiency leads to an increase in the collagen/muscle ratio in the rat urinary tract [27] and that estrogen replacement up regulates the synthesis of MMP-2 in mice mesangial cells [12]. Hence, to determine if loss of ovarian hormone affected the extracellular matrix composition we quantified the fibrous tissue accumulation in the soleus muscle by staining with picrosirius red. Our results indicate that OH absence was not associated with an increase in fibrous tissue accumulation as no differences existed between OVX and SHAM animals housed in the same conditions (Figure 3). Sedentary behavior, but not ovariectomy, influenced fibrous tissue accumulation with both OVX and SHAM control animals displaying increases in collagen amount when compared to VR counterparts (Figure 3). Similar results have been reported by others in experiments investigating the impact of inactivity on muscle tissue connective tissue [15].

Our examination of the ultrastructure of muscle also indicates that loss of OH did not impact the structure of the soleus muscle (Figures 4, 5). However, both the OVX and SHAM animals with access to the running wheel showed signs of metabolic and structural adaptations induced by regular physical activity, which included increased SSM mitochondria size, increased presence of glycogen granules and signs of satellite cell activation as well as signs of highly active protein synthesis, as evidenced by the presence myonuclei with multiple nucleoli and prominent endoplasmic reticulum. Consistent with these ultrastructural results, our findings in soleus muscle sections stained with H&E (Figure 2) revealed myofibers with central nuclei suggesting an increase in muscle regeneration. Note, however, that central nuclei were not observed in muscle fibers of either OVX or SHAM control animals. This indicates that exercise was the main stimulus for the increased anabolic activity observed in

muscle cells, and that in the absence of exercise, anabolic activity was similar between experimental groups independently of OH status.

Finally, previous studies have reported that mitochondria are an estrogen sensitive organelle and that estrogen administration to OVX animals enhances respiratory chain activity and antioxidant enzyme expression [25]. Therefore, we quantitatively evaluated mitochondria size and density to determine if a lack of OH alters mitochondrial size in skeletal muscle. Our analysis revealed that the SSM mitochondria size was reduced in both control groups, independent of the OH status. Therefore, mitochondria size and density was unaffected by OVX. Moreover, lack of OH did not influence SSM size in OVX animals with access to the running wheel.

#### Ovariectomy increases the abundance of myosin heavy chain type I in muscle

Our results reveal an increase in MyHC I expression occurred in the soleus muscle of both control and running OVX animals in comparison to their SHAM counterparts (Figure 6). These results indicate that a loss of OH stimulated a shift in soleus muscle contractile protein toward an increase in MyHC I abundance in the muscle fibers. Previous studies on cardiac muscle also show that a shift in MyHC isoform expression from fast to slow occurs following ovariectomy [28] and that this shift is reversed with estrogen replacement therapy [29]. Nonetheless, studies investigating the impact OH on skeletal muscle have been more inconsistent with some reports describing a fast-to-slow shift in muscle phenotype whereas others report no changes in myosin heavy chain isoform [16,19]. The reasons for this variation in the literature remain unclear.

Interestingly, despite the increased expression of MyHC I isoform identified in OVX animals, this was not accompanied by notorious metabolic profile changes as differences in soleus muscle CS and GAPDH activity did not exist between OVX and SHAM in both the sedentary and running animals. We interpret these findings as an indication that the lack of OH does not have a major impact on the expression of bioenergetic enzymes in skeletal muscle.

#### **Summary and Conclusions**

These experiments provide several new and significant findings. Foremost, ovariectomy results in a large and permanent decrease in voluntary physical activity in rodents. Further, our results indicate that ovariectomy-induced sarcopenia in female rats is not due to the loss of ovarian hormones (OH) per se, but appears to be due, at least in part, to a decrease in voluntary physical activity. Furthermore, our experiments also reveal that the surgical removal of the ovaries significantly changes the myosin isoform profile in skeletal muscle as the

abundance of MyHC I was significantly increased in muscle of both exercised and control OVX animals compared to SHAM counterparts.

#### References

- 1. Anantharaman-Barr HG, Decombaz J. The effect of wheel running and the estrous cycle on energy expenditure in female rats. Physiol Behav 1989; 46: 259-263
- 2. Angstwurm MW, Gartner R, Ziegler-Heitbrock HW. Cyclic plasma IL-6 levels during normal menstrual cycle. Cytokine 1997; 9: 370-374
- Baltgalvis KA, Greising SM, Warren GL, Lowe DA. Estrogen regulates estrogen receptors and antioxidant gene expression in mouse skeletal muscle. PLoS One 2010; 5: e10164
- 4. Boland R, Vasconsuelo A, Milanesi L, Ronda AC, de Boland AR. 17beta-estradiol signaling in skeletal muscle cells and its relationship to apoptosis. Steroids 2008; 73: 859-863
- 5. Chen JQ, Delannoy M, Cooke C, Yager JD. Mitochondrial localization of ERalpha and ERbeta in human MCF7 cells. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2004; 286: E1011-1022
- Chen JQ, Eshete M, Alworth WL, Yager JD. Binding of MCF-7 cell mitochondrial proteins and recombinant human estrogen receptors alpha and beta to human mitochondrial DNA estrogen response elements. J Cell Biochem 2004; 93: 358-373
- 7. Coore HG, Denton RM, Martin BR, Randle PJ. Regulation of adipose tissue pyruvate dehydrogenase by insulin and other hormones. Biochem J 1971; 125: 115-127
- 8. Cushing BS, Marhenke S, McClure PA. Estradiol concentration and the regulation of locomotor activity. Physiol Behav 1995; 58: 953-957
- 9. Dionne IJ, Kinaman KA, Poehlman ET. Sarcopenia and muscle function during menopause and hormone-replacement therapy. J Nutr Health Aging 2000; 4: 156-161
- 10. Giles ED, Jackman MR, Johnson GC, Schedin PJ, Houser JL, MacLean PS. Effect of the estrous cycle and surgical ovariectomy on energy balance, fuel utilization, and physical activity in lean and obese female rats. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol; 299: R1634-1642
- 11. Gorzek JF, Hendrickson KC, Forstner JP, Rixen JL, Moran AL, Lowe DA. Estradiol and tamoxifen reverse ovariectomy-induced physical inactivity in mice. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2007; 39: 248-256
- Guccione M, Silbiger S, Lei J, Neugarten J. Estradiol upregulates mesangial cell MMP-2 activity via the transcription factor AP-2. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 2002; 282: F164-
- Harriss DJ, Atkinson G. International Journal of Sports Medicine ethical standards in sport and exercise science research. Int J Sports Med 2009; 30: 701-702

| 2        |     |  |
|----------|-----|--|
| 3        | 14. | Johansson C, Lunde PK, Gothe S, Lannergren J, Westerblad H. Isometric force and              |
| 4<br>5   |     | endurance in skeletal muscle of mice devoid of all known thyroid hormone receptors. J        |
| 6<br>7   |     | Physiol 2003; 547: 789-796   |
| 8        | 15. | Jozsa L, Kannus P, Thoring J, Reffy A, Jarvinen M, Kvist M. The effect of tenotomy and       |
| 9<br>10  |     | immobilisation on intramuscular connective tissue. A morphometric and microscopic            |
| 11       |     | study in rat calf muscles. I Bona Joint Surg Br 1000, 72, 202 207                            |
| 12       |     | study in rat can muscles. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1990; 72: 293-297                             |
| 14       | 16. | Kadi F, Karlsson C, Larsson B, Eriksson J, Larval M, Billig H, Jonsdottir IH. The effects of |
| 15<br>16 |     | physical activity and estrogen treatment on rat fast and slow skeletal muscles               |
| 17       |     | following ovariectomy. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 2002; 23: 335-339                             |
| 18<br>19 | 17. | Lemoine S, Granier P, Tiffoche C, Rannou-Bekono F, Thieulant ML, Delamarche P.               |
| 20       |     | Estrogen receptor alpha mRNA in human skeletal muscles. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2003;           |
| 22       |     | 35- 439-443  |
| 23       | 10  | Machine INA Devis INA Million MAA Coldenith EC. Conten IA. Estrement status and              |
| 24<br>25 | 18. | Micclung JM, Davis JM, Wilson MA, Goldsmith EC, Carson JA. Estrogen status and               |
| 26       |     | skeletal muscle recovery from disuse atrophy. J Appl Physiol 2006; 100: 2012-2023            |
| 27<br>28 | 19. | McCormick KM, Burns KL, Piccone CM, Gosselin LE, Brazeau GA. Effects of ovariectomy          |
| 29       |     | and estrogen on skeletal muscle function in growing rats. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 2004;      |
| 30<br>31 |     | 25: 21-27  |
| 32       | 20. | Moran AL, Nelson SA, Landisch RM, Warren GL, Lowe DA. Estradiol replacement                  |
| 33<br>34 |     | reverses ovariectomy-induced muscle contractile and myosin dysfunction in mature             |
| 35<br>36 |     | fomalo mico. J Appl Bhyciol 2007: 102: 1287 1202   |
| 37       | 24  |  |
| 38<br>39 | 21. | Moran AL, Warren GL, Lowe DA. Removal of ovarian hormones from mature mice                   |
| 40       |     | detrimentally affects muscle contractile function and myosin structural distribution. J      |
| 41<br>42 |     | Appl Physiol 2006; 100: 548-559  |
| 43       | 22. | Musatov S, Chen W, Pfaff DW, Mobbs CV, Yang XJ, Clegg DJ, Kaplitt MG, Ogawa S.               |
| 44<br>45 |     | Silencing of estrogen receptor alpha in the ventromedial nucleus of hypothalamus             |
| 46       |     | leads to metabolic syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2007; 104: 2501-2506                     |
| 47<br>48 | 23. | Ogawa S. Chan I. Gustafsson JA. Korach KS. Pfaff DW. Estrogen increases locomotor            |
| 49<br>50 | 23. | activity in miss through astrogon recenter alpha: specificity for the type of activity       |
| 50<br>51 |     | activity in fince through estrogen receptor alpha. specificity for the type of activity.     |
| 52       |     | Endocrinology 2003; 144: 230-239   |
| 53<br>54 | 24. | Olson ME, Bruce J. Ovariectomy, Ovariohysterectomy and Orchidectomy in Rodents               |
| 55       |     | and Rabbits. Can Vet J 1986; 27: 523-527   |
| 56<br>57 | 25. | Pedram A, Razandi M, Levin ER. Nature of functional estrogen receptors at the plasma         |
| 58       |     | membrane Mol Endocrinol 2006: 20: 1996-2009  |
| 59<br>60 |     |  |
| 00       |     |  |

- Persky AM, Green PS, Stubley L, Howell CO, Zaulyanov L, Brazeau GA, Simpkins JW.
   Protective effect of estrogens against oxidative damage to heart and skeletal muscle in vivo and in vitro. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 2000; 223: 59-66
  - 27. Sartori MG, Girao MJ, de Jesus Simoes M, Sartori JP, Baracat EC, Rodrigues de Lima G.
     Quantitative evaluation of collagen and muscle fibers in the lower urinary tract of castrated and under-hormone replacement female rats. Clin Exp Obstet Gynecol 2001; 28: 92-96
  - 28. Schaible TF, Malhotra A, Ciambrone G, Scheuer J. The effects of gonadectomy on left ventricular function and cardiac contractile proteins in male and female rats. Circ Res 1984; 54: 38-49
  - 29. Scheuer J, Malhotra A, Schaible TF, Capasso J. Effects of gonadectomy and hormonal replacement on rat hearts. Circ Res 1987; 61: 12-19
  - 30. Sorensen MB, Rosenfalck AM, Hojgaard L, Ottesen B. Obesity and sarcopenia after menopause are reversed by sex hormone replacement therapy. Obes Res 2001; 9: 622-626
  - 31. Stenn PG, Klinge V. Relationship between the menstrual cycle and bodily activity in humans. Hormones and Behavior 1972; 3: 297-305
  - 32. Stirone C, Duckles SP, Krause DN, Procaccio V. Estrogen increases mitochondrial efficiency and reduces oxidative stress in cerebral blood vessels. Mol Pharmacol 2005; 68: 959-965
  - 33. Sweat F, Puchtler H, Rosenthal SI. Sirius Red F3ba as a Stain for Connective Tissue. Arch Pathol 1964; 78: 69-72
- Thomas DK, Storlien LH, Bellingham WP, Gillette K. Ovarian hormone effects on activity, glucoregulation and thyroid hormones in the rat. Physiol Behav 1986; 36: 567-573
- Vasconsuelo A, Milanesi L, Boland R. 17Beta-estradiol abrogates apoptosis in murine skeletal muscle cells through estrogen receptors: role of the phosphatidylinositol 3kinase/Akt pathway. J Endocrinol 2008; 196: 385-397
- Velick S. Glyceraldehyde-3-Phosphate Dehydrogenase from Yeast. In: Press A ed, Methods in Enzymology; 1955: 401
- Weitzmann MN, Pacifici R. Estrogen deficiency and bone loss: an inflammatory tale. J
   Clin Invest 2006; 116: 1186-1194
- 38. Xu Y, Arenas IA, Armstrong SJ, Davidge ST. Estrogen modulation of left ventricular remodeling in the aged heart. Cardiovasc Res 2003; 57: 388-394

# act of tra

#### **List of Figure Captions**

**Figure 1.** Voluntary motor activity recorded on the running wheel. (A) Running well activity of OVX+VR and SHAM+VR rats was continuously monitored throughout the 9 months of the experimental procedure. As soon as after the first week following surgery, distance traveled by OVX+VR animals was found to be always significantly lower than SHAM counterparts (\*p<0.05). (B) Total running distance was 10-fold higher in SAM+VR than in OVX+VR animals. C-control; VR-voluntary running; OVX-ovariectomized; SHAM-sham operated. \*Significant differences between groups (p<0.05). Data are mean ± standard deviation.

**Figure 2.** Average *soleus* muscle myofiber cross sectional area (CSA). (A) Micrographs of *soleus* muscle fibers sectioned transversely and stained with H&E. A higher fiber CSA is evident in both OVX and SHAM running animals. Arrows point out myofibers whith central nucleus. Bars are 50µm. (B) Quantitative assessment of soleus muscle fiber CSA. C-control; VR-voluntary running; OVX-ovariectomized; SHAM-sham operated. \*Significant differences between groups (p<0.05).

**Figure 3**. Apoptotic nucleus and fibrous tissue expression on *soleus muscle*. (A) Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling method (TUNEL) staining revealed the absence of myonuclei currently undergoing apoptosis. A higher magnification detail from the TUNEL image of OVX+VR group is provided (†) in which it is possible to identify several brightly fluorescent non muscular nuclei (arrows). (B) Micrographs of *soleus* muscle cross sections stained with Picrosirius red. Collagen is stained red and skeletal muscle yellow. (C) Quantitative assessment of fibrous tissue accumulation. C-control; VR-voluntary running; OVX-ovariectomized; SHAM-sham operated. \*Significant differences between groups (p<0.05). All bars correspond to 100µm.

**Figure 4**. Soleus muscle ultrastructure assayed by transmission electron microscopy (TEM). It was possible to identify, in running animals that were either OVX (B) or SHAM operated (F), large aggregates of subsarcolemmal (SSM) mitochondria, clearly contrasting with SSM mitochondria seen in OVX (D) or SHAM sedentary controls (H) which were smaller and sparser. Quantitative analysis of mitochondria number per square micrometer (I), intermyofibrillar (IMF) mitochondria (J) and SSM mitochondria median size (K). (E) Arrows highlight signs of myofibril splitting in SHAM+VR animals. (G) Arrows highlight areas of increased fibrous tissue accumulation. (C) Arrows highlight sarcomeres with disorganized

structure. C-control; VR-voluntary running; OVX-ovariectomized; SHAM-sham operated. Brackets indicate significant differences between groups (p<0.05).

**Figure 5.** *Soleus* muscle TEM photomicrographs from OVX+VR (upper panel) and SHAM+VR (lower panel) animals. (A) The presence of a prominent nucleolus and rough endoplasmic reticulum (arrow head), as well as an increased cytoplasm/nucleus size ratio indicates satellite cell activation. Arrows point out places were the satellite cell plasma membrane has already disappeared demonstrating that fusion with the underling myofiber is occurring. (C) Myofiber nucleus with multiple nucleoli suggesting highly active translational activity. Secondary lysosomes were frequently distinguishable in both OVX and SHAM running animals. B and D micrographs show the presence of secondary lysosomes between subsarcolemmal mitochondria which in turn show no signs of compromised structure.

**Figure 6**. Soleus muscle myosin heavy chain I (MyHC I) isoform expression. (A) Slot blots with graphic representation of MyHC I protein expression. (B) MyHC I expression assayed by immunohistochemistry. In the upper micrograph it is possible to identify muscle fibers with high affinity for MyHC I antibody (arrohead) together with fibers showing no affinity what so ever (black arrows) who were therefore assumed to be composed mainly of other MyHC isoforms. Most fibers however displayed some intermediate degree of affinity with the antibody (white arrows) and were considered to be hybrid regarding MyHC isoform expression. The lower photomicrograph shows a negative control *soleus* muscle section with some artefactual staining due to alkaline phosphatase activity on blood vessels. C-control; VR-voluntary running; OVX-ovariectomized; SHAM-sham operated; AU–arbitrary units. \*Significant differences between groups (p<0.05). Bars correspond to 50µm.



Voluntary motor activity recorded on the running wheel. (A) Running well activity of OVX+VR and SHAM+VR rats was continuously monitored throughout the 9 months of the experimental procedure. As soon as after the first week following surgery, distance traveled by OVX+VR animals was found to be always significantly lower than SHAM counterparts (\*p<0.05). (B) Total running distance was 10-fold higher in SAM+VR than in OVX+VR animals. C-control; VR-voluntary running; OVX-ovariectomized; SHAM-sham operated. \*Significant differences between groups (p<0.05). Data are mean ± standard deviation.

725x314mm (96 x 96 DPI)

Georg Thieme Verlag KG. P. O. Box 30 11 20, D-70451 Stuttgart, Germany. http://www.thieme.de/fz/sportsmed/index.html





Average soleus muscle myofiber cross sectional area (CSA). (A) Micrographs of soleus muscle fibers sectioned transversely and stained with H&E. A higher fiber CSA is evident in both OVX and SHAM running animals. Arrows point out myofibers whith central nucleus. Bars are 50µm. (B) Quantitative assessment of soleus muscle fiber CSA. C-control; VR-voluntary running; OVX-ovariectomized; SHAM-sham operated. \*Significant differences between groups (p<0.05). 689x351mm (96 x 96 DPI)





Apoptotic nucleus and fibrous tissue expression on soleus muscle. (A) Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling method (TUNEL) staining revealed the absence of myonuclei currently undergoing apoptosis. A higher magnification detail from the TUNEL image of OVX+VR group is provided (†) in which it is possible to identify several brightly fluorescent non muscular nuclei (arrows). (B) Micrographs of soleus muscle cross sections stained with Picrosirius red. Collagen is stained red and skeletal muscle yellow. (C) Quantitative assessment of fibrous tissue accumulation. C-control; VR-voluntary running; OVX-ovariectomized; SHAM-sham operated. \*Significant differences between groups (p<0.05). All bars correspond to 100µm. 786x680mm (96 x 96 DPI)



Soleus muscle ultrastructure assayed by transmission electron microscopy (TEM). It was possible to identify, in running animals that were either OVX (B) or SHAM operated (F), large aggregates of subsarcolemmal (SSM) mitochondria, clearly contrasting with SSM mitochondria seen in OVX (D) or SHAM sedentary controls (H) which were smaller and sparser. Quantitative analysis of mitochondria number per square micrometer (I), intermyofibrillar (IMF) mitochondria (J) and SSM mitochondria median size (K). (E) Arrows highlight signs of myofibril splitting in SHAM+VR animals. (G) Arrows highlight areas of increased fibrous tissue accumulation. (C) Arrows highlight sarcomeres with disorganized structure. C-control; VR-voluntary running; OVX-ovariectomized; SHAM-sham operated. Brackets indicate significant differences between groups (p<0.05). 790x749mm (96 x 96 DPI)





Soleus muscle TEM photomicrographs from OVX+VR (upper panel) and SHAM+VR (lower panel) animals. (A) The presence of a prominent nucleolus and rough endoplasmic reticulum (arrow head), as well as an increased cytoplasm/nucleus size ratio indicates satellite cell activation. Arrows point out places were the satellite cell plasma membrane has already disappeared demonstrating that fusion with the underling myofiber is occurring. (C) Myofiber nucleus with multiple nucleoli suggesting highly active translational activity. Secondary lysosomes were frequently distinguishable in both OVX and SHAM running animals. B and D micrographs show the presence of secondary lysosomes between subsarcolemmal mitochondria which in turn show no signs of compromised structure.

453x481mm (150 x 150 DPI)





Soleus muscle myosin heavy chain I (MyHC I) isoform expression. (A) Slot blots with graphic representation of MyHC I protein expression. (B) MyHC I expression assayed by immunohistochemistry. In the upper micrograph it is possible to identify muscle fibers with high affinity for MyHC I antibody (arrohead) together with fibers showing no affinity what so ever (black arrows) who were therefore assumed to be composed mainly of other MyHC isoforms. Most fibers however displayed some intermediate degree of affinity with the antibody (white arrows) and were considered to be hybrid regarding MyHC isoform expression. The lower photomicrograph shows a negative control soleus muscle section with some artefactual staining due to alkaline phosphatase activity on blood vessels. C-control; VR-voluntary running; OVX-ovariectomized; SHAM-sham operated; AU-arbitrary units. \*Significant differences between groups (p<0.05). Bars correspond to

> 50µm. 588x379mm (96 x 96 DPI)

Table 1. Food intake, whole body, intra-abdominal fat and soleus muscle weights.

| Weight                        | OVX+C         | OVX+VR          | SHAM+C        | SHAM+VR         |  |  |  |  |
|-------------------------------|---------------|-----------------|---------------|-----------------|--|--|--|--|
| Whole Body                    |               |                 |               |                 |  |  |  |  |
| Initial (g)                   | 267.1 ± 28.72 | 260.3 ± 18.32   | 269.8 ± 16.70 | 241.8 ± 9.61    |  |  |  |  |
| At sacrifice (g)              | 363.5 ± 31.79 | 400.9 ± 36.61 + | 324.7 ± 39.67 | 303.2 ± 41.27   |  |  |  |  |
| Variation (%)                 | 35.4 ± 7.13 † | 54.1 ± 11.27 *† | 21.0 ± 11.19  | 25.3 ± 15.85    |  |  |  |  |
| Intra-abdominal fat (g)       | 30.9 ± 7.77   | 33.6 ± 10.15 †  | 25.3 ± 7.59   | 10.5 ± 9.27 *   |  |  |  |  |
| Total food intake (g)         | 4,225 ± 230.8 | 5,169 ± 306.0 * | 4,311 ± 439.2 | 5,408 ± 599.2 * |  |  |  |  |
| Weekly food intake (g)        | 115 ± 5.5     | 148 ± 8.7 *     | 118 ± 11.4    | 151 ± 16.3 *    |  |  |  |  |
| Soleus muscle (mg)            | 210 ± 20.6    | 261 ± 31.3 *    | 211 ± 23.5    | 288 ± 26.6 *    |  |  |  |  |
| * p<0.05 versus SED counterpa | art.          |                 |               |                 |  |  |  |  |
| † p<0.05 versus SHAM counter  | rpart.        |                 |               |                 |  |  |  |  |
|                               |               |                 |               |                 |  |  |  |  |
|                               |               |                 |               |                 |  |  |  |  |
|                               |               |                 |               |                 |  |  |  |  |
|                               |               |                 |               |                 |  |  |  |  |
|                               |               |                 |               |                 |  |  |  |  |
|                               |               |                 |               |                 |  |  |  |  |
|                               |               |                 |               |                 |  |  |  |  |
|                               |               |                 |               |                 |  |  |  |  |
|                               |               |                 |               |                 |  |  |  |  |
|                               |               |                 |               |                 |  |  |  |  |
|                               |               |                 |               |                 |  |  |  |  |
|                               |               |                 |               |                 |  |  |  |  |
|                               |               |                 |               |                 |  |  |  |  |
|                               |               |                 |               |                 |  |  |  |  |
|                               |               |                 |               |                 |  |  |  |  |
|                               |               |                 |               |                 |  |  |  |  |
|                               |               |                 |               |                 |  |  |  |  |
|                               |               |                 |               |                 |  |  |  |  |

Study 2

Fonseca H, Moreira-Gonçalves D, Figueiredo P, Mota MP, Duarte JA. (2011) Lifelong Sedentary Behavior and Femur Structure. Int J Sports Med. 32: 344 – 352 Reprinted here with the kind permission of Georg Thieme Verlag KG **Experimental Studies** 

# Lifelong Sedentary Behaviour and Femur Structure

Authors

Affiliations

Key words
senile osteoporosis
histomorphometry
ageing
lifelong physical activity
osteocytes

accepted after revision

December 23, 2010

Bibliography DOI http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1055/s-0031-1271679 Published online: March 4, 2011 Int J Sports Med 2011; 32: 344–352 © Georg Thieme Verlag KG Stuttgart - New York ISSN 0172-4622

Correspondence Dr. Helder Fonseca FADEUP Biochemistry Rua Dr. Plácido Costa 91 4200-450 Porto Portugal Tel.: +351/225/074 700 Fax: +351/225/500 689 helder.rmf@gmail.com H. Fonseca<sup>1</sup>, D. Gonçalves<sup>2</sup>, P. Figueiredo<sup>3</sup>, M. P. Mota<sup>4</sup>, J. A. Duarte<sup>5</sup>

<sup>1</sup> FADEUP, Biochemistry, Porto, Portugal

- FADEUP, Biochemistry of Sports, Porto, Portugal
- Faculty of Sports, CIAFEL, University of Porto, Portugal
- <sup>4</sup> Department of Sport, University of Tras-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Vila Real, Portugal <sup>5</sup> Sport Biology, University of Porto, Portugal
  - sport biology, oniversity of Porto, Portugal

### Abstract

The aim of the present study was to analyze the lifelong differences of femur structure in sedentary and physically active animal models. Thirty male C57BL/6 mice, 2 months old, were either: i)housed in cages with running wheel (AA; n = 10), ii) housed in cages without running wheel (AS; n = 10), iii) or sacrificed without intervention (Y; n = 10). AA and AS animals were sacrificed after 23 months of housing. Right femur structure was analyzed in all animals by histomorphometry. Significant differences in several microarchitectural parameters of cancellous and cortical bone were identified between Y mice and both

groups of aged mice, as well as between AA and AS groups. Lifelong physically active mice had significantly higher cancellous bone surface (Cn. BS) and trabecular number (Tb.N) and decreased trabecular separation (Tb.Sp) at both epiphyses when compared to AS animals. No differences were observed between Y and AA groups regarding osteocyte number (N.Ot) despite its significant reduction in AS animals, suggesting that age alone was not a cause for decreases in N.Ot. Our results suggest that the reduced bone quality observed in the elderly is not only a consequence of age but also of lack of physical activity since sedentary behaviour significantly aggravated the degenerative age-related bone differences.

#### Introduction

The overall improvements in health care services have allowed life expectancy to be enhanced in many developed countries. Due to the increase in the elder population proportion [25] it is expected that the occurrence of degenerative diseases will rise, making them a major cause of concern in these countries [7].

Osteoporotic bone fractures are among the most distressing health concerns in the elderly [29] being both a clinical and public health problem, as they are associated with increased mortality [24], morbidity [21] and health care expenditures [20]. Although several risk factors may contribute to bone fragility [28], epidemiological studies show that advanced age is the major common risk factor to comprise a bone fracture [1, 18, 35].

Given the magnitude of the osteoporosis problem, the most cost-effective strategy should be prevention of fracture occurrence. Exercise is shown to be effective in preventing fracture occurrence, being for that reason included in several health guidelines for fracture prevention in individuals who have already osteoporosis [14], or as a way to prevent osteoporosis onset in the young by increasing peak bone mineral density [13]. The evidence that exercise is an anabolic stimulus for bone formation comes from both human and animal studies, where parameters suggesting increased resistance to fracture [34] are found in bones stimulated by mechanical strain [37] and tend to be absent in those that lack stimulation, namely following microgravity [17] or prolonged immobilization [4]. Exercise interventions have also shown to reverse the deleterious effects of reduced mechanical strain in bone [16].

Despite being poorly understood, the progressive decline in physical activity with age is a welldescribed biological phenomenon [15]. Considering the role of mechanical strain for bone health, it is therefore unknown whether the progressive age-related loss of skeletal quality results from the ageing process *per se* or if it reflects the age-related decrease in physical activity levels. Studies performed up to now have mainly focused on the effects of an exercise program during a determined period of time. Although these studies have demonstrated the importance of mechanical stimulation for bone health, little is known about the effects that lifelong sedentary behaviour has on bone health and the extent to which skeletal fragility could be a consequence of disuse. To address this problem, it would be necessary to determine bone quality differences between subjects that have an active pattern of physical activity and subjects that have a sedentary lifestyle. The majority of the studies performed concerning this subject, both in humans as well as in animal models, employ intermittent exercise interventions. Subjects that participate in clinical trials for assessing the influence of an exercise intervention are submitted to a program of physical activity, the remaining daily activities being roughly monitored. In these cases, the time in exercise corresponds to just a minor fraction of the daily behaviour, impairing the possibility to understand the real scope that a natural physical activity pattern would have on bone health.

Additionally, the outcomes of the exercise intervention are matched to control individuals, in which habitual physical activity is difficult to control and therefore frequently suffer from bias contamination. Similarly, studies using animal models, although being able to more accurately control physical activity, generally have similar problems. Animals are housed in standard cages from which they are removed whenever the exercise protocol is to be performed. This leads to a situation where the animal is unable to have a wild-like activity pattern since it is constrained to the cage dimensions, having therefore a sedentary behaviour for most of the time. Moreover, the use of forced-exercise protocols is usual. These have been shown to increase stress levels with their disadvantageous related outcomes [22], namely the increase in glucocorticoid production [9].

We propose an alternative approach to investigate if age is the sole cause for the skeletal deterioration in the elderly, or if reduced physical activity is also a major determinant. To accomplish this, a group of experimental animals was housed for lifelong in conventional cages, therefore being constrained to a sedentary behaviour. Histomorphometric properties observed in these animals were compared to young animals and to a group of animals that were also housed for life, but in cages equipped with running wheels, allowing them to be physically active, mimicking the wild-like voluntary physical activity pattern. Therefore it might be assumed that the skeletal features identified in animals that were allowed to freely exercise resulted from ageing per se while the skeletal features of animals housed in sedentary conditions resulted from both the ageing process and lack of physical activity. As a result, comparison between these 2 groups allowed us to identify the effects of lifelong sedentary behaviour on bone tissue. In order to support our experimental model and take into account the muscle-bone interaction [6], we also assessed the effect of the two different housing conditions on skeletal muscle properties.

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### Animal handling and experimental design

Thirty male C57BL/6 mice, 2 months of age, were purchased from Charles River Laboratories (Barcelona) and randomly assigned into 3 experimental groups: young (Y; n=10), aged sedentary (AS; n=10) and aged active (AA; n=10). After one week of quarantine following arrival, all animals from the Y group were sacrificed by a lethal intraperitoneal injection of ketamine and xylazine. The remaining animals were housed

individually in standard mice cages (size: L35×W20×H13cm; Tecniplast, Italy). The cages of the AA mice were additionally equipped with a running wheel (diameter 23 cm; lane width 5 cm; Tecniplast) and revolution counter, allowing them to freely exercise while the travelled distance was monitored. Voluntary wheel running was used previously to study exercise induced bone adaptations [23] and effects of lifelong exercise on the attenuation of age related conditions [5]. Both AS and AA animals were sacrificed as described above at 25 months of age. During the 23 months of the experimental period, animals of both groups were maintained at constant environmental temperature (20°C) on a 12h inverted light cycle and fed with standard rodent chow (A04 chow diet, Scientific Animal Food & Engineering) and water ad libitum. Body weights were recorded at the beginning of the experimental period and further in each trimester until sacrifice. Male C57BL/6 mice were selected as models in this study because their age-related changes in skeletal mass and architecture are similar to those seen in human ageing [11]. All animal interventions were approved by the local ethics committee and were in accordance with the ethical standards of the IJSM [12].

#### Tissue processing for light microscopy

Immediately after sacrifice, the animals were weighed on a precision scale (Kern 440-35N) and the right femur excised, cleared of surrounding soft tissue and fixed in a solution containing 4% paraformaldehyde (Sigma; St Louis), 2.5%. sucrose (Sigma; St Louis) and 0.1% gluteraldehyde (TAAB; UK) in PBS (pH 7.2) at 4°C. Following fixation, the femur samples were decalcified in 10% EDTA (Sigma; St Louis) in PBS (pH 7.2) at 4°C. The decalcification solution was changed daily and calcium presence was assayed by precipitate formation after addition of 5% ammonium oxalate monohydrate solution (Sigma; St Louis). Absence of precipitate formation indicated complete decalcification.

After decalcification, the femurs were sectioned into proximal epiphysis, diaphysis and distal epiphysis with aid of a graticule and a stereomicroscope (SZ30, Olympus). Each anatomical region was further dehydrated through graded ethanol solutions and embedded in paraffin blocks. Seven to 9 sections from each anatomical region (6µm thick), distanced 30µm apart were cut on a Leica 2125 rotary microtome (Leica Microsystems Inc). Sectioning of the diaphysis was performed in the transverse plane, at half length of the bone, whilst both epiphyses were sectioned in the frontal plane being the mid region indicated by the fovea in the proximal epiphysis. Sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin.

#### **Bone histomorphometry**

Sections were viewed under a light microscope (Axio Imager A1, Carl Zeiss; Germany) with a 2.5× (both epiphysis) or 5× (diaphysis) magnification objective and images captured by a coupled digital camera with Axio Vision 4.7 software. Obtained images were then analyzed with ImageJ software to quantify standard geometrical and microarchitectural parameters in each region. In both epiphyses histomorphometric analysis was performed within a 3 mm length region between both endocortical surfaces starting 100 µm below the growth plate line. Histomorphometric parameters analyzed in both epiphysis included: cortical thickness (Ct.Th; µm), tissue volume (TV; mm<sup>3</sup>), absolute cancellous bone volume (Cn.BV; mm<sup>3</sup>), absolute cancellous bone surface (Cn.BS; mm<sup>2</sup>), relative cancellous bone volume (Cn.BV/



**Fig. 1** Voluntary running activity of mice from the aged active (AA) group was continuously monitored in running-wheel activity cages for 23 months. Data represents the average distance (Km) that animals travelled per day in each week during the 23 months period.

TV; %), relative cancellous bone surface (Cn.BS/TV; mm<sup>2</sup>/mm<sup>3</sup>), trabecular thickness (Tb.Th=2/(BS/BV); µm), trabecular number (Tb.N=(BV/TV)/Tb.Th;/mm) and trabecular separation (Tb. Sp=(1/Tb.N)-Tb.Th); mm). Histomorphometric parameters analyzed in each mid-diaphysis cross-section included: tissue volume (TV; mm<sup>3</sup>), cortical bone volume (Ct.BV; mm<sup>3</sup>), periosteal bone surface (Ps.BS; mm<sup>2</sup>), marrow volume (Ma.V; mm<sup>3</sup>), marrow perimeter (Ma.Pm; mm), bone diameter (B.Dm; mm), marrow diameter (Ma.Dm; mm) and cortical thickness (Ct.Th, µm). Additionally, 6 fields with a 40× magnification objective were also captured from each section of a representative sub sample for quantification of cellular density parameters, namely: osteocyte number (N.Ot; /mm<sup>2</sup>), empty lacunae number (N.Lc; /mm<sup>2</sup>) and empty lacunae to osteocyte ratio (N.Lc/N.Ot). All histomorphometric parameters were either directly measured or calculated according to the ASBMR guidelines [26].

Skeletal muscle extraction and Citrate Synthase (CS) activity determination

Due to its role as a pace-making enzyme in the first step of the Krebs Cycle, CS activity was used as an indicator of mitochondrial density and aerobic capacity in skeletal muscle, and assayed to confirm the effectiveness of the differential housing conditions between AS and AA animals in the induction of the different physical activity patterns.

Immediately after sacrifice, the right hind limb muscles (soleus, gastrocnemius, tibialis anterior and quadriceps femoris) were excised, cleared of surrounding connective tissue and weighed on a precision scale. Briefly, muscles were minced in ice-cold isolation medium containing 100 mM sucrose, 0.1 mM EGTA, 50 mM Tris/HCl, 100 mM KCl, 1 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> and 0.2% bovine serum albumin (Sigma; St Louis) pH 7.4. Minced blood free tissue was rinsed and suspended in 10 ml of fresh medium containing bacterial proteinase (Nagarse E.C.3.4.21.62, type XXVII; Sigma) at 0.2 mg/ml and 0.1% Triton X-100 and stirred for 2 min. The sample was then homogenized in a Potter-Elvehjem homogenizer and pestle on ice. After homogenization, 3 volumes of Nagarse-free isolation medium were added to the homogenate. A sample was then collected for biochemical assessment of CS activity and total protein content determination. CS activity was measured according to Coore and colleagues [10] by spectrophotometric (412 nm) measurement of the amount of 5.5-dithiobis (2-nitrobenzoate) that reacted with acetyl-coenzyme A (CoA) upon release from the reaction of acetyl-CoA with oxaloacetate. Total protein concentration was spectrophotometrically determined according to Lowry and colleagues [19], using bovine serum albumin as standard.



**Fig. 2** Average body weight evolution of the aged active (AA) and aged sedentary (AS) groups throughout the 23 months of experimental period. Following week 13 body weight of sedentary animals was consistently higher compared to animals from the active group. \* Significant differences between groups (p<0.05).

#### Statistics

Means and standard deviations were calculated for all variables of the 3 groups. After assaying the variables for normal distribution with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test with Lilliefors significance correction, groups were compared for the histomorphometry indices using a model of analysis of covariance (ANCOVA). To eliminate data contamination resulting from the comparison of experimental groups that differ in body weight and size, all comparisons were adjusted to the weight of the animal. To verify the extent to which the bone outcomes were associated with the amount of exercise performed throughout life, Pearson correlation coefficient was determined between the histomorphometric variables and the total distance travelled by the animals of the AA group. Independent samples *t*-test was performed to analyze the differences in body weights, skeletal muscle weights and CS activity between the AS and AA groups of animals. Data was analyzed with SPSS 17.0 statistical software and significant differences considered when p<0.05.

#### Results

Voluntary physical activity pattern and weight

Two animals from the AS group died during the experimental procedure and therefore were not included in the results. During the 3 initial months of the experimental protocol, the animals in the active group registered a mean running distance of 9 km per day, ranging from 6 to 13 daily km (**•** Fig. 1). After this initial stage of more pronounced activity, the average daily distance fell to about 6 km a day during the succeeding 7 months, after which it stabilized around 5 km a day until sacrifice. The analysis of the animals' patterns of physical activity shows that they were substantially more active during the initial months of age, having afterwards a decline in the amount of the daily running distance. Despite this decline, animals in this group evidenced a significant predisposition to exercise during the entire duration of the experimental protocol, showing therefore that an active pattern of behaviour was maintained throughout life.

Accordingly, weight evolution also shows that animals housed in cages without running wheel became heavier than animals housed in cages with wheels, suggesting body weight increase as a consequence of sedentary behaviour (**•** Fig. 2).

 Table 1
 Body weight, hind limb skeletal muscle weight and citrate synthase activity.

|                              | Aged sedentary<br>mean±sd | Aged active<br>mean±sd |
|------------------------------|---------------------------|------------------------|
| body weight (g)              | 36.14±3.36ª               | 33.09±1.99             |
| hind limb muscle weight (g)  | $1.76 \pm 0.14^{a}$       | $1.97 \pm 0.16$        |
| ratio muscle/body weight (%) | $4.87 \pm 0.78^{a}$       | $5.95 \pm 0.51$        |
| CS activity (mmol/min/mg)    | 47.71±5.59ª               | 58.24±8.43             |

CS – citrate synthase. <sup>a</sup> Statistically significant difference vs. aged active group (p<0.05). Results are mean±standard deviation (sd)



Despite having a significantly higher body weight, animals housed in cages without running wheels (AS) had a significantly smaller hind limb skeletal muscle weight than animals that were allowed to exercise (AA), even after adjusting the comparisons of skeletal muscle weight to total body weight. Determination of hind limb CS activity showed significant differences between AA and AS animals, with a noticeable smaller activity in the AS group (**o Table 1**).

Histomorphometry of the proximal epiphysis

When analyzing the selected parameters of bone histomorphometry of the proximal epiphysis, the detrimental effects of age on bone structure were evident, with the identification of a significant decrease in both the thickness of cortical bone (Ct.Th) as well as a decrease in all the parameters associated with the amount of cancellous bone in the AA group (**o** Fig. 3, 4). When comparing AA and AS animals, significant differences between these groups were evidenced mainly in variables associated with cancellous bone, since there were no differences identified in cortical thickness. Animals that experienced lifelong sedentary behaviour showed decreased Cn.BS, Cn.BS/TV and Tb.N as well as an increased Tb.Sp when compared to their active counterparts (**o** Table 2).

Although comparison between both aged groups revealed differences in several parameters, no significant correlation coefficients were identified between the amount of voluntary activity and the majority of the selected parameters in the AA group. Only trabecular thickness showed to be significantly correlated with the amount of physical activity in this group (**•** Table 2).

Histomorphometry of the distal epiphysis The detrimental effect of age in skeletal structure was also noticeable in the distal epiphysis of the femur, as significant dif-

> **Fig. 3** Percent variation and group comparison of the histomorphometric parameters analyzed in each anatomical region of the femur. Data is expressed in percentage and represents variation relative to young group. Ct.Th = cortical thickness; Cn.BV/TV = cancellous bone volume (relative); Tb.Th = trabecular thickness; Tb.N = trabecular number; Tb.Sp = trabecular separation; Ct.BV = cortical bone volume; Ps.BS = periosteal bone surface; N.Ot = osteocyte number; N.Lc = empty lacunae number. **a** Statistically significant difference vs. young group (p < 0.05), **b** Statistically significant difference vs. aged active group (p < 0.05).





**Fig. 4** Representative photomicrographs of analyzed femur anatomical regions from mice of the 3 experimental groups. First row – photomicrographs of mid femoral diaphysis axial sections in each group. Second and third rows – coronal sections of both epiphysis showing differences in trabecular bone microarchitecture between groups. Several age associated hallmarks of bone fragility are shown to be increased by sedentary behaviour and therefore are not age related per se. Sedentary behaviour significantly contributed to the decrease in Tb.N and consequently to the increase in Tb.Sp in both epiphysis. Bars represent 500 µm.

ferences in all parameters were identified between young and both aged groups (**o Table 2**; **o Fig. 4**). Furthermore, the same variables that revealed significant differences between sedentary and active groups in the proximal epiphysis were also identified in the distal epiphysis, namely Cn.BS, Tb.N, Cn.BS/TV and Tb.Sp. Therefore, the same skeletal pattern was recognized, with sedentary animals having reduced Tb.N and increased Tb.Sp compared to active animals (**o Fig. 3**). Contrary to the proximal epiphysis, all the variables related to cancellous bone microarchitecture were here significantly correlated with the amount of activity performed by the active animals. The only variable that did not show correlation with travelled distance was Ct.Th, which also did not show significant differences between both aged groups (**o Table 2**).

#### Histomorphometry of the diaphysis

The histomorphometry parameters of the diaphysis indicate that age significantly influenced this region dimensions, affecting both the cortical bone as well as the medullar cavity dimensions (**• Table 2**; **• Fig. 4**). In the AS group, animals revealed a larger mid-diaphysis cross-sectional area (B.Dm) when compared to the Y group. This increase was due to a significant enlargement of the marrow cavity (Ma.V) since they evidenced a decrease in the cortical thickness (Ct.Th). Conversely, animals in the AA group showed no significant differences in several variables when compared to Y animals, namely in TV, Ps.BS and B.Dm. Although the cross-sectional area of the diaphysis was unaltered in the AA group compared to the Y group, their medullar cavity was significantly larger, resulting in a significant smaller cortical bone volume (Ct.BV) and cortical thickness (Ct. Th) in AA group compared to Y group ( Fig. 3). Interestingly, physical activity appeared to be related to a more pronounced decrease of diaphysis cortical thickness, since the differences between AS and Y groups for this variable were smaller than between AA and Y groups. This relationship was also supported by the identification of a significant negative correlation coefficient between the variables cortical thickness and cortical bone volume with the travelled distance by the AA animals ( **C** Table 2).

| Table 2  | Histomorphometric analysis of the 3 femur regions in each group and correlation coefficients between histomorphometry and total distance covered |
|----------|--|
| by AA an | imals.   |

|                          | Young           | Aged sedentary              | Aged                        | active  |          |
|--------------------------|-----------------|-----------------------------|-----------------------------|---------|----------|
|                          | mean±sd         | mean±sd                     | mean±sd                     | Running | Distance |
|                          |                 |                             |                             | r       | D        |
| provimal eniphysis       |                 |                             |                             |         | r        |
| Ct Th (um)               | 165 98 + 31 05  | 115 80+19 64ª               | 117 00+9 54ª                | -0.14   | 0 330    |
| $T/(mm^3)$               | 5 45 + 0 81     | 5 85+0 99                   | 6.02+0.87                   | -0.55   | 0.550    |
| $(n \text{ BV} (mm^3))$  | 1.06+0.32       | 0.43+0.11ª                  | 0.51+0.23ª                  | 0.00    | 0.704    |
| Cn BS (mm <sup>2</sup> ) | 38 97 + 7 08    | 22 50 + 5 11 <sup>a,b</sup> | 26.24+11.27ª                | 0.05    | 0.345    |
| Cn BV/TV(%)              | 19 70 + 6 28    | 7 38+1 94ª                  | 8 19+2 46ª                  | 0.09    | 0.521    |
| $Cn BS/TV (mm^2/mm^3)$   | 7 17 + 0 99     | 3 90 + 0 98 <sup>a,b</sup>  | 0.13±2.40<br>A 2A+1 13ª     | 0.05    | 0.059    |
| Th Th (um)               | 54 17 + 13 80   | 38.05+6.28ª                 | 38 54+4 35ª                 | 0.39    | < 0.055  |
| Th N $(/mm)$             | 3 59+0 50       | $1.95 \pm 0.49^{a,b}$       | 2 12+0 57ª                  | 0.35    | 0.059    |
| Th Sp (mm)               | 0.23+0.05       | $0.51 \pm 0.16^{a,b}$       | $0.46\pm0.11^{\circ}$       | -0.25   | 0.055    |
| distal eninhysis         | 0.25 - 0.05     | 0.51-0.10                   | 0.40-0.11                   | 0.25    | 0.074    |
| Ct Th (um)               | 115 94+25 72    | 113 23+29 79ª               | 95 04+18 72ª                | 0.18    | 0 224    |
| $TV (mm^3)$              | 6 52 + 0 59     | 6 70 + 0 89                 | 6 90 + 0 85                 | -0.12   | 0.452    |
| $Cn BV (mm^3)$           | 0.78+0.21       | $0.15 \pm 0.05$             | 0.19+0.05ª                  | 0.50    | < 0.01   |
| Cn BS (mm <sup>2</sup> ) | 46 89 + 5 78    | $12.82 \pm 2.45^{a,b}$      | 16 39+4 41 <sup>a</sup>     | 0.36    | 0.013    |
| Cn BV/TV(%)              | 11 92 + 3 06    | 2 27+0 54ª                  | 2 72+0 57ª                  | 0.70    | < 0.015  |
| $Cn BS/TV (mm^2/mm^3)$   | 7 21 + 0 80     | $1.91 \pm 0.30^{a,b}$       | 2 35+0 47ª                  | 0.58    | < 0.01   |
| Th Th (um)               | 32 92 + 6 86    | 23 67 + 4 26 <sup>a</sup>   | 23.01+2.58ª                 | 0.30    | 0.033    |
| Th N (/mm)               | 3 60 + 0 40     | $0.96 \pm 0.15^{a,b}$       | 1 17+0 23ª                  | 0.58    | < 0.035  |
| Th Sp (mm)               | 0.25±0.03       | $1.05\pm0.19^{a,b}$         | 0.88±0.21ª                  | -0.53   | < 0.01   |
| diaphysis                | 0.25 - 0.05     | 1.05 - 0.15                 | 0.00-0.21                   | 0.55    |          |
| TV (mm <sup>3</sup> )    | 1.76±0.14       | 2 07±0 25 <sup>a,b</sup>    | 1.75±0.42                   | -0.32   | < 0.01   |
| $Ct BV (mm^3)$           | $0.85 \pm 0.14$ | $0.81 \pm 0.23^{b}$         | $0.57 \pm 0.20^{\circ}$     | -0.52   | < 0.01   |
| Ps BS (mm <sup>2</sup> ) | $5.54 \pm 0.54$ | 5.77±0.45 <sup>a,b</sup>    | $5.42 \pm 0.70$             | -0.34   | < 0.01   |
| $Ma V (mm^3)$            | $0.92 \pm 0.09$ | $1.26 \pm 0.20^{a,b}$       | 1.19±0.32ª                  | -0.08   | 0.296    |
| Ma Pm (mm)               | $3.74\pm0.30$   | 4 47±0.73ª                  | $4.38\pm0.62^{\circ}$       | -0.13   | 0.129    |
| B.Dm (mm)                | $1.50 \pm 0.06$ | $1.62 \pm 0.11^{a,b}$       | 1.48±0.19                   | -0.32   | < 0.01   |
| Ma.Dm (mm)               | $1.08 \pm 0.06$ | 1.26±0.11 <sup>a,b</sup>    | 1.21±0.16ª                  | -0.14   | 0.101    |
| Ct Th (um)               | 0.21±0.03       | $0.18 \pm 0.05^{a,b}$       | $0.13\pm0.04^{a}$           | -0.48   | < 0.01   |
| cellular density         | 0121-0100       | 0110 - 0100                 | 0110 - 010 1                | 0110    | 0101     |
| N.Ot (/mm <sup>2</sup> ) | 1028.80±92.90   | $876.50 \pm 100.70^{a,b}$   | 962.30±118.20               |         |          |
| N.Lc (/mm <sup>2</sup> ) | 244.10±58.20    | 373.90±98.80 <sup>a,b</sup> | 269.00 ± 72.20 <sup>a</sup> |         |          |
| N.Lc/N.Ot                | 0.241±0.065     | $0.441 \pm 0.160^{a,b}$     | 0.286±0.094ª                |         |          |
| Ot (%)                   | 80.80±4.30      | $70.20 \pm 7.20^{a,b}$      | 78.10±5.50ª                 |         |          |
| Lc (%)                   | 19.20±4.30      | $29.80 \pm 7.20^{a,b}$      | 21.90±5.50ª                 |         |          |
|                          |                 |                             |                             |         |          |

Ct.Th = cortical thickness; TV = tissue volume; Cn.BV = cancellous bone volume (absolute); Cn.BS = cancellous bone surface (absolute); Cn.BV/TV = cancellous bone volume (relative); Cn.BS/TV = cancellous bone surface (relative); Tb.Th = trabecular thickness (Tb.Th = 2/(BS/BV)); Tb.N = trabecular number (Tb.N = (BV/TV)/Tb.Th); Tb.Sp = trabecular separation (Tb.Sp = (1/Tb.N)-Tb.Th); Ct.BV = cortical bone volume; Ps.BS = periosteal bone surface; Ma.V = marrow volume; Ma.Pm = marrow perimeter; B.Dm = bone diameter; Ma.Dm = marrow diameter; N.Ot = osteocyte number; N.Lc = empty lacunae number; N.Lc/N.Ot = empty lacunae to osteocyte ratio; Ot = osteocyte; Lc = empty Lacuna. The *p*-value in the right column refers to the correlation coefficient between histomorphometric variables and total distance travelled by animals in the AA group. <sup>a</sup> Statistically significant difference vs. young group (p < 0.05)

<sup>b</sup> Statistically significant difference vs. aged active group (p<0.05). Results are mean ± standard deviation (sd)

#### **Cellular density patterns**

The analysis of osteocyte (N.Ot) and empty lacunae (N.Lc) distribution pattern in the animals of each group shows that with advancing age, there was a decrease in osteocyte number and a parallel increase in empty lacunae per area, because of the significant differences encountered between AS group and Y group. However, sedentary animals demonstrated these alterations to a much greater extent than their active counterparts (**o Table 2**; **o Fig. 3**). While animals from the AS group showed significant differences both in osteocyte and empty lacunae number when compared to Y animals, AA mice showed only significant differences in empty lacunae number, these however being of lesser extent than those exhibited by the sedentary group (**o Fig. 5**).

#### Discussion

Our results show that ageing is not the sole cause responsible for the reduction of bone quality observed in the elderly, as sedentary behaviour significantly exacerbates that loss. As expected, we identified in both aged groups a significant reduction of several parameters of cancellous bone distribution when compared to the young group. These differences were however significantly more pronounced in animals confined to lifelong sedentary behaviour. The amount of decrease in voluntary physical activity also showed to be related to the decrease in bone quality as a significant correlation was identified between distance travelled by AA animals and several parameters of cancellous bone distribution. Differences in cellular density patterns were also identified between the 3 groups of animals, with lifelong sedentary animals revealing reduced osteocyte numbers and higher empty



**Fig. 5** Details of mid diaphysis axial sections showing osteocyte and empty lacunae distribution in cortical bone from mice of the 3 experimental groups. It is noticeable a significantly higher number of empty lacunae in AS animals compared to both AA and Y animals suggesting that physical inactivity increased osteocyte loss within bone matrix. Magnification is 40 × . Bars represent 50 µm.

lacunae number, showing therefore increased signs of bone devitalization.

By monitoring daily physical activity, we identified that mice tended to be active, and to voluntarily spend a significant amount of time running. This need for activity was particularly evident in the first months of the experimental protocol, after which a slight decrease was registered, eventually stabilizing over time until the end of the protocol. This inverse relationship between age and physical activity has also been identified in several other human and non human studies, suggesting that a strong biological component influences it [15]. These findings also demonstrate that experimental animals have a need to be physically active and consequently experimental models restricted to regular cages are not adequate controls of the biological ageing process itself as they also suffer the harmful effects of imposed sedentary behaviour. As a result what we see in animals housed in cages with access to running wheel is a consequence of the ageing process. Conversely, the lifelong changes that occur in sedentary animals are not only the result of ageing but the combined result of ageing together with lifelong sedentary behaviour. Consequently, by comparing AS with AA animals we isolated the effect of sedentary behaviour from the effect of ageing allowing us to determine to what extent age is the major cause for the skeletal fragility observed in the elderly.

The sedentary lifestyle created by the regular housing conditions was evident when AA and AS body weights and hind limb skeletal muscle characteristics were compared. During the second trimester of the experimental procedure AS mice began to significantly increase weight when compared to AA mice (**• Fig. 2**) showing progressive signs of obesity. Moreover, AS animals revealed at time of sacrifice extensive atrophy of the hind limb muscle as it was evident from their smaller muscular weight. Both increased weight and muscle atrophy are characteristic features of a sedentary lifestyle, which confirms our animal models for the 2 patterns of behaviour. CS activity determination also corroborates that standard housing conditions were responsible for reducing the animals' movements which lead to an imposed sedentary lifestyle with consequences at skeletal muscle aerobic capacity level.

In our study, we identified several deleterious effects that ageing has on the skeletal structure of the femur by comparing several histomorphometric parameters between AA and Y animals, at 3 different femur sites. In both epiphyses, the amount of cancellous bone was significantly smaller in the AA animals. This decrease in cancellous bone volume (Cn.BV/TV) was a result of both a decrease in trabecular number (Tb.N) and trabecular thickness (Tb.Th). The issue about the age related changes in trabecular thickness is still a source of controversy in the literature as several authors have identified conflicting variations of trabecular thickness with the increase of age [33]. While some identify a global decrease in cancellous bone with age [8], others state that this reduction is mostly due to the number of horizontal trabeculae whereas vertical ones tend to be better preserved over time. The overall decrease in cancellous bone volume that we have registered in our study, had a marked effect in the increase of trabecular separation (Tb.Sp), which is a fundamental property of the 3-dimensional cancellous bone network, and a determinant for maintenance of bone strength [30].

Interestingly, the cancellous bone volume differences that we identified between both aged groups and the young group were more pronounced in the distal epiphysis. Also, at this site, the total decrease in cancellous bone volume was mostly due to the reduction in trabecular number, rather than in thickness, leading to an even greater increase of trabecular separation than in the proximal epiphysis. The observed differences between proximal and distal epiphysis suggest that the underlying mechanisms that lead to the reduction of cancellous bone are site specific. While in some sites cancellous bone is probably eroded evenly over time, in other sites the erosion is uneven, leading to more extensive erosion of some trabeculae, while others may have reduced resorption rates due to their compensatory mechanical role. This might explain the different results described in the literature about the changes in trabecular thickness with age mentioned above.

Despite the fact that both aged groups showed a decrease in cancellous bone parameters compared to young animals, lifelong sedentary behaviour had an exacerbation effect on the encountered differences, as several variables were significantly different between sedentary and active animals. The most noteworthy effect of sedentary behaviour on cancellous bone was the smaller trabecular number compared to active animals. Although there were no differences in cancellous bone volume, sedentary animals had less individual trabeculae which led to a significantly higher trabecular separation. The evidence that the reduction in spontaneous physical activity is a key aspect to the age derived skeletal differences, comes also from the identification of a significant correlation between several cancellous bone parameters and the amount of activity that the animals performed during

the experimental procedure. While in the proximal epiphysis only trabecular thickness showed a significant correlation with the amount of exercise, in the distal epiphysis almost all selected variables were significantly correlated. Once more there seem to be differences between femoral sites regarding the way they are affected by age and by physical activity.

Regarding the cortical bone from mid-diaphysis, several age derived features that have been previously identified in other studies were here particularly evident in sedentary animals [11]. Aged sedentary (AS) animals showed a significantly higher bone diameter (B.Dm) as a result of the enlargement of both periosteal bone surface (Ps.BS) and marrow perimeter (Ma.Pm). This global increase of the cross-sectional dimensions reduces the differences of cortical bone volume (Ct.BV) between sedentary (AS) and young animals despite the marked decrease in cortical thickness in the AS group. Animals from the active group (AA) showed no increase in periosteal bone surface, which is a distinctive feature of aged bones. Additionally, although they revealed an increase in marrow volume (Ma.V), this was less pronounced than in the sedentary group. Interestingly, sedentary animals displayed a less pronounced reduction in cortical thickness than their active counterparts.

We believe that the differences in Ct.Th between sedentary and active animals are explained by the reduction in bone resorption in AS animals resulting in the accumulation of more bone tissue, but at the expense of reducing the removal of older and more brittle bone. When looking at the cellular density patterns in each group of animals, a significant decrease in osteocyte density was identified in sedentary animals. Additionally, the presence of empty lacunae, the histological footprint of osteocyte death, showed here a significant increase. We hypothesize that this noticeable devitalization in sedentary animals could hinder osteoclast activation and the resorption of older bone, since there is evidence both in vitro [31] and in vivo [32] suggesting that the integrity of the osteocyte network is a requirement for bone resorption to occur. We therefore believe that the increased cortical thickness identified in aged sedentary animals does not represent a true net gain due to bone formation, but instead might be the result of a decrease in osteoclastic bone resorption with a consequent accumulation of older bone as a result of reduced osteocyte signalling. Previous studies [36] have also shown a significant correlation between the decrease of osteocyte number and the accumulation of microcracks in cortical bone, suggesting that a viable osteocyte network is necessary for detection and removal of damaged bone.

The differences identified between groups regarding cellular density distribution suggest that age alone does not significantly diminish osteocyte numbers, since aged active animals showed no decrease in osteocyte number compared to young animals. In contrast, aged sedentary animals, displayed significantly less osteocyte numbers compared to their active counterparts. Therefore previous findings suggesting an age-related decrease in osteocyte numbers [27,36], did in fact not determine the effect of age *per se*, but the cumulative effects of age and lack of physical activity. Sedentary behaviour was also shown to significantly increase the presence of empty lacunae, since aged active animals had significantly less empty lacunae than sedentary animals.

Several studies have shown that osteocyte survival relies on a great extent to the mechanical forces that are applied to the bone matrix, with bone unloading increasing osteocyte apoptosis while mechanical stimulation decreases apoptosis [2,3]. Con-

sidering therefore the importance of mechanical stimulation for osteocyte viability, it is understandable why sedentary behaviour considerably worsened the effects of age on osteocyte number.

It is also important to mention that bone mass in the elderly is the result of both bone gains during growth and of subsequent bone losses during ageing. Therefore, the differences identified between AA and AS animals at sacrifice might result not only from differences in bone loss rate during adulthood but also from differences in bone mass accrual during growth, especially because this was the age period when AA animals were most active (• Fig. 1). In addition, although being aware that the use of decalcified paraffin embedded bone sections for histomorphometric analysis might introduce bias to the bone structure, we believe that this limitation was overcome by the use of a standard protocol for the preparation of all samples. The effects resulting from tissue processing were therefore uniform between different samples allowing valid comparisons to be made among groups.

In conclusion, considering our main objective of determining if age is the sole major cause for the skeletal fragility observed in the elderly, or if a decrease in physical activity is also responsible, we were able to show that aged sedentary mice have a more pronounced decrease in several histomorphometric parameters of cancellous bone microarchitecture, as well as significant differences in osteocyte distribution pattern when compared to aged active animals, showing extensive signs of devitalization. The differences identified between AS and AA groups demonstrate that age is not the only responsible factor for the bone fragility identified in the elderly as sedentary behaviour clearly aggravates these differences. It is also our believe that studies that aim to describe age related physiological or structural changes should be sensitive to the fact that a significant amount of these changes are due to the sedentary behaviour induced by typical housing conditions and not only attributable to the ageing process per se.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors wish to express their appreciation to Dr. Joana Fonseca and Celeste Resende for their helpful technical contribution. The present work was funded by FCT grants PTDC/ DES/103047/2008 and PTDC/DES/104567/2008. First and second authors are recipients of FCT fellows SFRH/BD/38110/2007 and FRH/BD/33123/2007 respectively.

References

- 1 Felsenberg D, Silman A, Lunt M, Armbrecht G, Ismail A, Finn J, Cockerill W, Banzer D, Benevolenskaya L, Bhalla A, Bruges AJ, Cannata J, Cooper C, Dequeker J, Eastell R, Felsch B, Gowin W, Havelka S, Hoszowski K, Jajic I, Janott J, Johnell O, Kanis J, Kragl G, Lopes Vaz A, Lorenc R, Lyritis G, Masaryk P, Matthis C, Miazgowski T, Parisi G, Pols H, Poor G, Raspe H, Reid D, Reisinger W, Scheidt-Nave C, Stepan J, Todd C, Weber K, Woolf A, Yershova O, Reeve J, O'Neill T. Incidence of vertebral fracture in Europe: Results from the European Prospective Osteoporosis Study (EPOS). J Bone Miner Res 2002; 17: 716–724
- 2 Aguirre JI, Plotkin LI, Stewart SA, Weinstein RS, Parfitt AM, Manolagas SC, Bellido T. Osteocyte apoptosis is induced by weightlessness in mice and precedes osteoclast recruitment and bone loss. J Bone Miner Res 2006; 21: 605–615
- 3 Bakker A, Klein-Nulend J, Burger E. Shear stress inhibits while disuse promotes osteocyte apoptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2004; 320: 1163–1168

- 4 Blouin S, Gallois Y, Moreau MF, Basle MF, Chappard D. Disuse and orchidectomy have additional effects on bone loss in the aged male rat. Osteoporos Int 2007; 18: 85–92
- 5 Bronikowski AM, Carter PA, Morgan TJ, Garland T Jr, Ung N, Pugh TD, Weindruch R, Prolla TA. Lifelong voluntary exercise in the mouse prevents age-related alterations in gene expression in the heart. Physiol Genomics 2003; 12: 129–138
- 6 Burr DB. Muscle strength, bone mass, and age-related bone loss. J Bone Miner Res 1997; 12: 1547–1551
- 7 Butler RN, Miller RA, Perry D, Carnes BA, Williams TF, Cassel C, Brody J, Bernard MA, Partridge L, Kirkwood T, Martin GM, Olshansky SJ. New model of health promotion and disease prevention for the 21<sup>st</sup> century. BMJ 2008; 337: a399
- 8 *Chen H, Zhou X, Washimi Y, Shoumura S.* Three-dimensional microstructure of the bone in a hamster model of senile osteoporosis. Bone 2008; 43: 494–500
- 9 Coleman MA, Garland T Jr, Marler CA, Newton SS, Swallow JG, Carter PA. Glucocorticoid response to forced exercise in laboratory house mice (Mus domesticus). Physiol Behav 1998; 63: 279–285
- 10 Coore HG, Denton RM, Martin BR, Randle PJ. Regulation of adipose tissue pyruvate dehydrogenase by insulin and other hormones. Biochem J 1971; 125: 115–127
- 11 Halloran BP, Ferguson VL, Simske SJ, Burghardt A, Venton LL, Majumdar S. Changes in bone structure and mass with advancing age in the male C57BL/6J mouse. J Bone Miner Res 2002; 17: 1044–1050
- 12 Harriss DJ, Atkinson G. International Journal of Sports Medicine Ethical Standards in Sport and Exercise Science Research. Int J Sports Med 2009; 30: 701–702
- 13 Heaney RP, Abrams S, Dawson-Hughes B, Looker A, Marcus R, Matkovic V, Weaver C. Peak bone mass. Osteoporos Int 2000; 11: 985–1009
- 14 Hellekson KL. NIH releases statement on osteoporosis prevention, diagnosis, and therapy. Am Fam Physician 2002; 66: 161–162
- 15 *Ingram DK*. Age-related decline in physical activity: generalization to nonhumans. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2000; 32: 1623–1629
- 16 Ju YI, Sone T, Okamoto T, Fukunaga M. Jump exercise during remobilization restores integrity of the trabecular architecture after tail suspension in young rats. J Appl Physiol 2008; 104: 1594–1600
- 17 Lang T, LeBlanc A, Evans H, Lu Y, Genant H, Yu A. Cortical and trabecular bone mineral loss from the spine and hip in long-duration spaceflight. J Bone Miner Res 2004; 19: 1006–1012
- 18 Lofthus CM, Frihagen F, Meyer HE, Nordsletten L, Melhuus K, Falch JA. Epidemiology of distal forearm fractures in Oslo, Norway. Osteoporos Int 2008; 19: 781–786
- 19 Lowry OH, Rosebrough NJ, Farr AL, Randall RJ. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. J Biol Chem 1951; 193: 265–275
- 20 Maravic M, Le Bihan C, Landais P, Fardellone P. Incidence and cost of osteoporotic fractures in France during 2001. A methodological approach by the national hospital database. Osteoporos Int 2005; 16: 1475–1480

- 21 Melton LJ 3<sup>rd</sup>. Adverse outcomes of osteoporotic fractures in the general population. J Bone Miner Res 2003; 18: 1139–1141
- 22 Moraska A, Deak T, Spencer RL, Roth D, Fleshner M. Treadmill running produces both positive and negative physiological adaptations in Sprague-Dawley rats. Am J Physiol 2000; 279: R1321–R1329
- 23 Newhall KM, Rodnick KJ, van der Meulen MC, Carter DR, Marcus R. Effects of voluntary exercise on bone mineral content in rats. J Bone Miner Res 1991; 6: 289–296
- 24 Nguyen ND, Ahlborg HG, Center JR, Eisman JA, Nguyen TV. Residual lifetime risk of fractures in women and men. J Bone Miner Res 2007; 22: 781–788
- 25 Oeppen J, Vaupel JW. Demography. Broken limits to life expectancy. Science 2002; 296: 1029–1031
- 26 Parfitt AM, Drezner MK, Glorieux FH, Kanis JA, Malluche H, Meunier PJ, Ott SM, Recker RR. Bone histomorphometry: standardization of nomenclature, symbols, and units. Report of the ASBMR Histomorphometry Nomenclature Committee. J Bone Miner Res 1987; 2: 595–610
- 27 Qiu S, Rao DS, Palnitkar S, Parfitt AM. Reduced iliac cancellous osteocyte density in patients with osteoporotic vertebral fracture. J Bone Miner Res 2003; 18: 1657–1663
- 28 Rolland Y, Abellan van Kan G, Benetos A, Blain H, Bonnefoy M, Chassagne P, Jeandel C, Laroche M, Nourhashemi F, Orcel P, Piette F, Ribot C, Ritz P, Roux C, Taillandier J, Tremollieres F, Weryha G, Vellas B. Frailty, osteoporosis and hip fracture: causes, consequences and therapeutic perspectives. J Nutr Health Aging 2008; 12: 335–346
- 29 Sambrook P, Cooper C. Osteoporosis. Lancet 2006; 367: 2010-2018
- 30 Seeman E. Bone quality: the material and structural basis of bone strength. J Bone Miner Metab 2008; 26: 1–8
- 31 *Shimizu H, Sakamoto M, Sakamoto S.* Bone resorption by isolated osteoclasts in living versus devitalized bone: differences in mode and extent and the effects of human recombinant tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases. J Bone Miner Res 1990; 5: 411–418
- 32 Tatsumi S, Ishii K, Amizuka N, Li M, Kobayashi T, Kohno K, Ito M, Takeshita S, Ikeda K. Targeted ablation of osteocytes induces osteoporosis with defective mechanotransduction. Cell Metab 2007; 5: 464–475
- 33 Thomsen JS, Ebbesen EN, Mosekilde LI. Age-related differences between thinning of horizontal and vertical trabeculae in human lumbar bone as assessed by a new computerized method. Bone 2002; 31: 136–142
- 34 *Turner CH*. Biomechanics of bone: determinants of skeletal fragility and bone quality. Osteoporos Int 2002; 13: 97–104
- 35 van Staa TP, Dennison EM, Leufkens HG, Cooper C. Epidemiology of fractures in England and Wales. Bone 2001; 29: 517–522
- 36 Vashishth D, Verborgt O, Divine G, Schaffler MB, Fyhrie DP. Decline in osteocyte lacunar density in human cortical bone is associated with accumulation of microcracks with age. Bone 2000; 26: 375–380
- 37 Winters-Stone KM, Snow CM. Site-specific response of bone to exercise in premenopausal women. Bone 2006; 39: 1203–1209

**Experimental Studies** 

## Study 3

Fonseca H, Moreira-Gonçalves D, Váz M, Fernandes MH, Ferreira R, Amado F, Mota MP, Duarte JA. Changes in proximal femur bone properties following ovariectomy and their association with resistance to fracture. J Bone Miner Metab (*In press*)

**Experimental Studies** 

Editorial Manager(tm) for Journal of Bone and Mineral Metabolism Manuscript Draft

Manuscript Number: JBMM-D-11-00120R1

Title: Changes in proximal femur bone properties following ovariectomy and their association with resistance to fracture

Article Type: Original Article

Corresponding Author: Helder Fonseca

Corresponding Author's Institution: University of Porto

First Author: Helder Fonseca

Order of Authors: Helder Fonseca;Daniel Moreira-Gonçalves;Mário Vaz;Maria Helena Fernandes;Rita Ferreira;Francisco Amado;Maria Paula Mota;José Alberto Duarte

Abstract: Bone strength depends on several material and structural properties, but findings concerning the best predictors of bone mechanical performance are conflicting. The aim of this study was to investigate how a broad set of bone properties in the proximal femur are influenced by age and hormonal status and how altogether these properties determine bone strength. Twenty-five Wistar rats were ovariectomized (OVX, n=13) or sham operated (SHAM, n=12) at 5 months of age and later sacrificed following 9 months. Another group of rats with 5 months was sacrificed as baseline control (BSL, n=7). At sacrifice, serum 17β-estradiol and bone turnover markers concentration were determined in the serum. Both femurs were collected for assessment of trabecular microarchitecture, femoral neck geometry, radiographic absorptiometry, calcium and phosphate content and biomechanical properties. While stiffness was mostly associated with proximal femur trabecular microarchitecture and mineralization degree, bone strength was mostly linked to bone size and femoral neck geometry which predicted almost 50% of its variance. Despite the decrease in cortical and trabecular bone as well as in mineralization degree following estrogen loss, bone strength was not reduced in OVX animals compared to BSL or SHAM. This was due to a change in femoral neck geometry as well as to an increase in femur size in OVX, which apparently compensated their lower bone volume and mineral content, thereby preserving bone strength. Estrogen loss leads to a deterioration of bone tissue quality but bone strength was preserved at the expense of geometric adaptations.

#### Authors

Hélder Fonseca<sup>1</sup>, Daniel Moreira-Gonçalves<sup>1</sup>, Mário Vaz<sup>2</sup>, Maria Helena Fernandes<sup>3</sup>, Rita Ferreira<sup>4</sup>, Francisco Amado<sup>4</sup>, Maria Paula Mota<sup>5</sup>, José Alberto Duarte<sup>1</sup>

#### Title

Changes in proximal femur bone properties following ovariectomy and their association with resistance to fracture

#### Affiliation

- <sup>1</sup> CIAFEL, Faculty of Sport, University of Porto
- <sup>2</sup> INEGI, Faculty of Engineering, University of Porto
- <sup>3</sup> Faculty of Dental Medicine, University of Porto
- <sup>4</sup> Department of Chemistry, University of Aveiro
- <sup>5</sup> CATED, Department of Sport, University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro

#### Addresses

- <sup>1</sup> Rua Dr. Placido Costa 91, 4200-450 Porto, PORTUGAL
- <sup>2</sup> Rua Dr. Roberto Frias 400, 4200-465 Porto, PORTUGAL
- <sup>3</sup> Rua Dr. Manuel Pereira da Silva, 4200-393 Porto, PORTUGAL
- <sup>4</sup> Campus Universitário de Santiago, 3810-193 Aveiro, PORTUGAL
- <sup>5</sup> Quinta de Prados, 5001-801 Vila Real, PORTUGAL

#### **Corresponding author address**

Hélder Fonseca

Adress: Faculdade de Desporto da Universidade do Porto

Rua Dr. Placido Costa, 91

4200-450 Porto, PORTUGAL

Email: helder.rmf@gmail.com

Telephone: +351 225 074 700

Fax: +351 225 500 689

#### Abstract

Bone strength depends on several material and structural properties, but findings concerning the best predictors of bone mechanical performance are conflicting. The aim of this study was to investigate how a broad set of bone properties in the proximal femur are influenced by age and hormonal status and how altogether these properties determine bone strength. Twenty-five Wistar rats were ovariectomized (OVX, n=13) or sham operated (SHAM, n=12) at 5 months of age and later sacrificed following 9 months. Another group of rats with 5 months was sacrificed as baseline control (BSL, n=7). At sacrifice, serum  $17\beta$ -estradiol and bone turnover markers concentration were determined in the serum. Both femurs were collected for assessment of trabecular microarchitecture, femoral neck geometry, radiographic absorptiometry, calcium and phosphate content and biomechanical properties. While stiffness was mostly associated with proximal femur trabecular microarchitecture and mineralization degree, bone strength was mostly linked to bone size and femoral neck geometry which predicted almost 50% of its variance. Despite the decrease in cortical and trabecular bone as well as in mineralization degree following estrogen loss, bone strength was not reduced in OVX animals compared to BSL or SHAM. This was due to a change in femoral neck geometry as well as to an increase in femur size in OVX, which apparently compensated their lower bone volume and mineral content, thereby preserving bone strength. Estrogen loss leads to a deterioration of bone tissue quality but bone strength was preserved at the expense of geometric adaptations.

## Keywords

Osteoporosis

Biomechanical testing

Femoral neck geometry

Bone mineral density

Histomorphometry

#### Introduction

Osteoporosis is a largely prevalent metabolic bone disease in the elder population as well as in postmenopausal women, being characterized by a generalized loss of bone mass and architectural deterioration. The clinical significance of osteoporosis arises from the increased risk of fracture occurrence following minimal trauma, resulting in the substantial increase of bone fractures in the population above 45 years of age. Fragility fractures are an important health concern as they significantly increase morbidity, mortality risk and are a huge economic burden to the society due to health care costs associated with medical treatment and reduced productivity. One of the major challenges of osteoporosis is that it remains clinically silent until it manifests as a fracture, making therefore essential the establishment of adequate screening strategies that allow reliable, timely and cost-effective detection of those at risk of fracture.

Currently, DXA derived measures of areal bone mineral density (aBMD) are the goldstandard for diagnosing osteoporosis and for the clinical assessment of fracture risk. However, regardless of epidemiological evidence that aBMD correlates with fracture risk [1] it is only able to predict a portion of the individuals fracture risk [2], which leads to insufficient recognition of those that are more likely to experience a fracture [3]. For instance, reports show that 66% and 79% of non-vertebral fractures occur in women and men without diagnosed osteoporosis, respectively [4]. Additionally, age related decreases in femur strength are steeper than decreases in aBMD [5], suggesting that the population at risk for fragility fractures is underestimated according to the DXA diagnosis criteria, which has led to the discouragement of osteoporosis screening programs relying only in aBMD as an endpoint [1]. Despite the clinical relevance of aBMD and of low bone mass as a component of fracture risk, it is now well established that bone strength is influenced by a set of orchestrated features [6]. Skeletal fragility is therefore a complex entity and the final outcome of the interaction
between several material and structural bone properties [7]. Hence, the use of aBMD alone for estimating fracture risk is largely insufficient and likely misleading as it provides limited information about bone tissue material composition and structural design [7].

To improve the assessment of fracture risk, efforts have been made to determine to what extent, other than aBMD bone features, such as bone geometry [8], microarchitecture [9] or bone turnover [10] might influence bone strength as well as to determine how these features are affected by age or hormone status thereby contributing to bone fragility. Nevertheless, evidence showing their association with fracture risk has been provided by different studies that independently determine how variations in these properties affect bone resistance. Conflicting results [11, 12] have however complicated the assessment of the contribution of each of these separate bone features to bone strength. Additionally, as some bone features might adapt in order to compensate for deficits in others [13, 14], the assessment of isolated bone features makes difficult to determine how changes in one property might influence the others and thereby bone strength. For instance, it has been previously described that with age there is an increase in femoral neck section modulus, which biomechanically compensates for decreases in bone mass [13]. A similar adaptive response has also been described in the ulna [14]. Therefore, as none of the determinants of bone strength alone appears to be able to express the bone's mechanical competence, a comprehensive assessment of how several of these properties are influenced by age and hormonal status can provide useful insights into how bone adapts itself to changes in some features and how they, altogether, determine the strength of the bone, thereby leading to bone fragility.

The objective of our study was then to investigate how bone mineral content, trabecular microarchitecture, femoral neck geometry, radiographic absorptiometry (RA) and biochemical markers of bone turnover are influenced by estrogen loss in the ovariectomized (OVX) rat model and how well are they associated with the proximal femur biomechanical properties.

## **Materials and methods**

#### Animal models and experimental design

Following arrival, 32 nulliparous female Wistar rats with 5 months old (Charles River Laboratories, Barcelona, Spain) were randomly ovariectomized (OVX; n=13), sham operated (SHAM; n=12) or sacrificed as baseline controls (BSL; n=7) following one week of quarantine. Bilateral ovariectomy was performed by standard ventral approach under anesthesia with 4% sevoflurane. In SHAM animals the ovaries were only exposed but not removed. OVX and SHAM animals were maintained for 9 months in an inverted 12h light/dark cycle in a humidity/temperature controlled environment. Standard rat chow (A04, SAFE, Augy, France) and water were provided *ad libitum* throughout the experimental period. Body weight of each animal was recorded weekly with a precision balance (Kern 440, Balingen, Germany). All procedures involving animal care were approved by the local ethics committee (University of Porto).

#### Animal sacrifice and tissue harvesting

At 14 months of age, OVX and SHAM animals were sacrificed by exsanguination under anesthesia with 4% sevoflurane. Serum was separated from the blood by centrifugation at 1500rpm for 30min at 4°C and used for assaying estrogen and markers of bone turnover concentration. Both femurs were removed and cleared of surrounding soft tissue. Right femur was used for assaying femoral neck geometry, RA, biomechanical testing and quantification of calcium and phosphate content. Left femur was used for assaying trabecular microarchitecture.

#### **Biochemistry**

Biochemical parameters were assayed in the serum using commercially available ELISA kits and a spectrophotometer (iEMS Labsystems, Washington, USA) according to the manufacturer recommendations. 17β-estradiol concentration was assayed with Estradiol DE2693 ELISA kit (Demeditec Diagnostics, Kiel-Wellsee, Germany) for the confirmation of the OVX animal model. Assay range was between 9.7 and 2000pg/mL. Inter and intra-assay coefficients of variation (CV) are lower than 9.4% and 6.8%, respectively. Bone formation was assayed by measuring osteocalcin (OC) concentration with Rat-MID<sup>™</sup> ELISA kit (Immunodiagnostic Systems, Boldon, UK). Assay range was between 50 and 1500ng/mL. Inter and intra-assay CV are lower than 7.7% and 5.0%, respectively. Bone resorption was assayed by measuring Cterminal telopeptides of type I collagen (CTX) concentration with RatLaps<sup>™</sup> ELISA kit (Immunodiagnostic Systems, Boldon, UK). Assay range was between 7.7 and 188ng/mL. Inter and intra-assay CV are lower than 14.8% and 9.2% respectively. Positive controls for OC and CTX were assayed together with samples and their concentration was found to be within the manufacturer's quality control concentration limits.

#### Radiographs

Digital radiographs were taken from the right femur in the craniocaudal direction using dental radiographic equipment (CCX Digital, Trophy, Croissy-Beaubourg, France). The right femur was positioned over the sensor plate (DenOptix Imaging Plates, Sterling Heights, USA) at a 20cm distance from the X-ray-source. Exposure time and intensity were 0.08sec at 70Kv and 8mA. To ensure equal positioning between samples, all bones were placed with the caudal surfaces of both condyles and of the trocanter minor in contact with the film. A standard referent made from a cortical bone section with 10mm of length was included in each radiograph for calibration purposes.

#### Radiographic absorptiometry

Bone mass was assayed in the right femur by RA as described previously [15] using imageJ software (NIH, Bethesda, USA). Correlation between RA and DXA derived aBMD is shown to be as good as between different DXA scanners themselves [16]. Briefly, each x-ray image was composed of pixels within a grayscale value between 0 and 255, were 0 is black and 255 is white. Whiter pixels correspond to higher radiopacity. Bone mass was determined in each region as the mean gray value (MGV) of the pixels within that region. For total bone mass, the boundary of the femur was manually traced and the whole bone defined as the region of interest (ROI). For the other analyzed regions, including the standard referent, a circular selection with 1.5mm of diameter was defined as the ROI and positioned according to anatomical landmarks. The MGV registered for each region was the average of 4 repeated measures. In order to consider differences in background noise, the MGV of the background in the vicinity of the ROI was subtracted to the MGV of each region analyzed. Results were expressed as percentage of the MGV of the standard referent. The regions analyzed were total femur, femoral head, upper and central area of the femoral neck, trocanter major and minor and intertrochanteric region (Fig.1a). The CVs between repeated measures were 0.05%, 0.26%, 1.32%, 0.17%, 1.45%, 1.50% and 1.59%, respectively.

#### Femoral neck geometry

Femoral neck geometry was assayed on the digital radiographs of the right femur by measuring standard geometric parameters using ImageJ software as described previously [17] (Fig. 1b). Briefly, femoral-neck axis length (FNAL) was the distance from the lateral aspect of the trocanter major to the medial surface of the femoral head. Femoral neck-shaft angle (NSA) was the angle between the femoral neck and shaft axes. Femoral-neck width (FNW) was measured at the narrowest region perpendicular to the femoral neck axis. Compression force moment arm (CFMA) was the distance between femur axis and the medial surface of the femoral head. Results were the average of 2 repeated measures. Relative lengths were determined and expressed as percentage of femur length in order to allow comparisons independently of femur length. CVs between repeated measures were found to be among 0.07% (femur length) and 2.8% (CFMA).

#### Histomorphometry

Left femur proximal third was sectioned with a circular diamond saw continuously wet in could PBS (pH 7.2) and fixed and decalcified in a solution containing 4% paraformaldehyde, 2.5% sucrose (Sigma, St. Louis, USA), 0.1% gluteraldehyde (TAAB, Aldermaston, UK) and 10% EDTA (Sigma) in PBS (pH 7.2) at 4°C for 3 weeks. It was then dehydrated through graded ethanol (Panreac, Barcelona, Spain) concentrations and mounted in paraffin (MERK, Darmstadt, Germany). Six-µm-thick sections were obtained from the head and neck region in the coronal plane, stained with H&E and viewed under a light microscope coupled to a digital camera (Axio Imager A1, Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany). Images were analyzed with imageJ. Standard histomorphometric parameters were determined as the average of five sections per specimen and included trabecular bone volume fraction (BV/TV, %), trabecular number (Tb.N; /mm<sup>2</sup>), trabecular separation (Tb.Sp, µm), trabecular thickness (Tb.Th, µm) and cortical thickness (Ct.Th, µm). Trabecular architecture and Ct.Th were determined in the region between the femoral head growth plate and the lesser trocanter.

# Biomechanical testing of the femoral neck

Biomechanical properties were assayed by compression testing of the right femur head according to recommend guidelines [18] using a servo-hydraulic testing machine (TIRATest 2705, Schalkau, Germany). Each femur midpoint was determined and sectioned with a circular diamond saw. The proximal half was then fixed on the testing apparatus and a vertical load applied on the femoral head parallel to the diaphysis. A stabilizing preload was first applied at a rate of 0.1mm.s<sup>-1</sup> until 5N was reached. Above this point the load rate shifted to 0.5mm.s<sup>-1</sup> until failure. Bones were kept moist in PBS throughout the testing procedure. The load-deformation plot and bone ultimate strength (maximal load registered, N) were obtained directly from the test and converted to stress-strain. Ultimate stress was the maximum stress the bone could sustain and ultimate strain was the strain at failure. Young's modulus was the highest slope of the stress-strain curve. Energy to fracture was the area under the load-deformation curve, expressed in mega Joule (MJ). CV for compression testing was 7.6%.

# Bone mineral content and degree of mineralization

Bone mineral content was determined by quantification of the calcium and phosphate extracted during the decalcification of the right femur, as described elsewhere [19, 20]. Briefly, after compression testing, the proximal and distal halves of the right femur were collectively fixed overnight in 70% ethanol (Panreac), lyophilized during 4 days (EZ550Q, FTS Systems, Warminster, USA) and their dry weight determined with an analytical balance (Kern 870, Balingen, Germany). They were then decalcified in 5mL of 2% formic acid (Sigma) during 10 days. In each day a 2mL aliquot of the decalcification solution was collected, the remaining discarded and replaced by 5mL of fresh solution. Calcium content was then determined as the sum of the calcium in each daily aliquot by atomic absorption spectroscopy (Perkin Elmer AAnalyst 100, Massachusetts, USA) after addition of 0.5% lanthanum chloride (Sigma). Degree of mineralization was the ratio between calcium content and both halves dry weight. Calibration solutions (Sigma) were read between sets of samples to minimize effects of equipment drift. Recovery degree was found to be on average 99.1% and CV between

repeated samples to be 2.84%. Phosphate content was determined by spectrophotometry (iEMS, Labsystems) based on the formation of molybdate complex using KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> solutions as standard (Sigma). Total phosphate content and density were calculated as described above for calcium. Average CV between repeated samples was 3.55%.

# Statistical analysis

The Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Levene's test were used to investigate within-group normality and homogeneity of variance of each variable, respectively.

Comparisons between groups were performed by one-way-ANOVA with Bonferroni or Games-Howell *post hoc* test whenever homogeneity of variance was verified or not, respectively. When normal distribution was not verified, natural log transformation was employed to reestablish the necessary assumptions for ANOVA. Correlation analysis was performed using Pearson correlation coefficient, except for Energy to fracture in which Spearman's Rho was employed due to lack of data normal distribution. Linear and simultaneous multiple regression analysis were conducted to investigate the best predictors of femoral neck biomechanical properties. Results are expressed as mean ± standard deviation and differences were considered significant when p<0.05. Data was analyzed with PASW 18.0 (IBM, Armonk, USA).

## Results

Means and standard deviations for each variable assayed are listed in Table 1. Quantification of serum  $17\beta$ -estradiol concentration revealed the expected differences between OVX and both SHAM and BSL groups, confirming low estrogen levels in OVX animals.

The animal's initial body weight was 262±16.5g, 264±22.9g and 256±19.5g for the BSL, OVX and SHAM groups, respectively (Fig 2). During the subsequent 9 months, body weight increases were significantly higher in OVX compared to SHAM animals (p<0.01), resulting in a significantly higher body weight at the time of sacrifice in OVX animals (384±38.3 vs. 313±40.2, p<0.01).

Histomorphometric analysis of the femoral neck trabecular microarchitecture showed that in OVX animals there was a significantly lower BV/TV and Tb.N compared to both BSL and age matched (SHAM) controls, which was accompanied by a correspondent increase in Tb.Sp. The average Ct.Th in OVX animal's proximal femur was also significantly lower compared to SHAM.

Direct quantification of bone mineral content by atomic absorption spectroscopy showed that SHAM and OVX animals had similar total calcium and phosphate contents, which in both groups was significantly higher than in BSL. However, after normalizing bone mineral content to tissue dry weight, a significantly lower degree of mineralization was identified in OVX animals compared to SHAM and BSL. Calcium to phosphate ratio was identical throughout all groups.

Despite the differences between OVX and SHAM animals regarding both the degree of mineralization and the amount of trabecular (BV/TV) and cortical bone (Ct.Th), no differences were identified between OVX and SHAM groups for RA measurements at all sites analyzed, with the exception of the femoral head in which it was found to be significantly lower in OVX compared to SHAM animals.

Bone resorption was increased in OVX animals as evidenced by their significantly higher concentration in CTX compared to both SHAM (p<0.01) and BSL (p=0.05) groups. Bone formation in turn was not shown to parallel the OVX animals higher bone resorption, as there were no significant differences between OVX and both SHAM and BSL animals regarding OC concentration (p=0.130 and p=0.330, respectively). CTX was inversely correlated with both calcium density (r=-0.511, p<0.01) and phosphate density (r=-0.427, p<0.05).

There was an increase in bone size with age, evidenced by the higher femur length in both OVX and SHAM groups compared to BSL. However, in addition to age, estrogen concentration also influenced femur geometry. Femur length was higher in OVX compared to SHAM and BSL (p<0.01). Moreover, NSA (p<0.05) and FNAL, both in absolute terms (p<0.01) and after normalization to bone length (relative FNAL, p<0.05) were shown to be significantly higher in OVX animals compared to SHAM. FNAL was significantly correlated with calcium density (r=-0.470, p<0.01), BV/TV (r=-0.704, p<0.01), Tb.N (r=-0.578, p<0.01), Tb.Sp (r=0.618, p<0.01), and whole femur RA (r=-0.527, p<0.01).

Compression testing revealed that there were no significant differences in the femoral neck biomechanical properties between groups, with the exception of ultimate strain which was significantly lower in SHAM compared to BSL (p<0.05). However, when biomechanical performance was expressed relative to calcium density (Fig. 3) OVX animals achieved on average a higher ultimate stress than both BSL and SHAM animals. Significantly higher ultimate stress, ultimate strain and Young's modulus were also observed in OVX animals compared to both BSL and SHAM when these were normalized to BV/TV. No differences were identified when biomechanical performance was normalized to geometric properties.

To identify the degree of association between the several bone properties assayed (trabecular bone architecture, mineral content, bone geometry, biochemical markers of bone turnover and RA measurements) and the biomechanical performance of the femur, correlation analysis was performed (Table 2). Ultimate strength correlated significantly with femur length (r=0.470, p<0.05), FNW (r=0.504, p<0.01) and FNAL (r=0.559, p<0.01). Importantly, these parameters were still correlated with ultimate strength after performing partial correlations controlling for BV/TV (r=0.414, p<0.05; r=0.445, p<0.05 and r=0.430, p<0.05, respectively), calcium content (r=0.473, p<0.05; r=0.502, p<0.01 and r=0.581, p<0.01, respectively) and calcium density (r=0.431, p<0.05; r=0.475, p<0.01 and r=0.442, p<0.05, respectively), showing that they were significantly correlated with bone strength independently of the amount of bone tissue and of its degree of mineralization.

Multiple regression analysis was performed to investigate the extent to which proximal femur geometric properties predicted ultimate strength. Simultaneous combination of FNAL, CFMA, FNW and bone length in the multiple regression analysis described 47.1% of the ultimate strength variance (adjusted  $R^2$ =0.471, p<0.01). All the remaining variables were unable to significantly predict ultimate strength variation.

Young's modulus correlated significantly with both Tb.Th (r=0.502, p<0.01), calcium content (r=0.449, p<0.01) and phosphate content (r=0.389, p<0.05). Tb.Th correlated with young's modulus even after controlling for BV/TV (r=0.535, p<0.01) and calcium density (r=0.507, p<0.01). Multiple regression analysis showed that 31.4% of Young's modulus variance was predicted by the combination of the variables Tb.Th, calcium content and phosphate content (adjusted  $R^2$ =0.314, p<0.01).

Ultimate strain correlated inversely with both femoral neck Ct.Th (r=-0.497, p<0.01) and mineralization degree (vs calcium density, r=-0.521, p<0.01; vs phosphate density, r=-0.359, p<0.05) as well as positively with OC (r=0.406, p<0.05) and CTX (r=0.511, p<0.01). 42.3% of ultimate strain variation was predicted by Ct.Th, calcium density, phosphate density, OC and CTX concentration (adjusted  $R^2$ =0.423, p<0.01).

Energy to fracture was also inversely correlated with both Ct.Th (r=-0.385, p<0.05) and calcium content (r=-0.356, p<0.05). However, multiple regression analysis showed that none of the variables assayed was able to significantly predict its variance.

RA measurements were not shown to correlate significantly with any of the outcomes of biomechanical performance. Correlation analysis showed that all RA measurements were significantly correlated with calcium content (0.406<r<0.578, 0.002<P<0.044), with the exception of the femoral head (r=0.338, *p*=0.098). However, multiple regression analysis demonstrated that calcium content and calcium density were only able to explain 29.3% (adjusted  $R^2$ =0.293; p<0.01) of the total femur RA variation while BV/TV and Tb.N were shown to explain 31.8% (adjusted  $R^2$ =0.318, p<0.01) of the total femur RA variation. When included together in the multiple regression model these variables explained 55.4% (adjusted  $R^2$ =0.554; p<0.001) of total femur RA variation, showing that RA was dependent on both the amount and on the degree of bone tissue mineralization and that both contribute significantly to its variation. Besides correlating positively with both the amount and mineralization degree of bone tissue, RA at the femoral head (r=-0.459, p<0.01), femoral neck (r=-0.396, p<0.05), trochanter major (r=-0.473, p<0.01), trochanter minor (r=-0.422, p<0.05), and total femur correlated inversely with FNAL.

## Discussion

Our results show that the loss of estrogen in OVX animals led to a significant decrease in the amount of trabecular bone tissue in the proximal femur as well as in the degree of bone tissue mineralization. Despite the importance of these properties to the femoral neck biomechanical performance, as evidenced by their significant correlation with Young's modulus, we found that bone strength was not significantly reduced in OVX animals compared to both BSL and SHAM. Our results also show that femoral neck geometry was significantly affected by the loss of ovarian hormones, with OVX animals showing a higher femur length, femoral neck axis length and neck shaft angle. Furthermore, these geometric properties were shown to correlate significantly with bone strength and to predict almost 50% of its variance, therefore contributing significantly to the preservation of the femoral neck biomechanical performance in OVX animals counteracting the effects of reduced bone volume and tissue mineralization in bone strength. RA measurements however were not shown to be significant predictors of the femoral neck biomechanical performance.

As expected, ovariectomy resulted in a significant loss of bone tissue, which was due to both the loss of trabecular bone volume as well as to a reduction in the cortical bone shell thickness in the proximal femur region. As it is well established by the estrogen-centric model of osteoporosis [21], this decrease in bone tissue is the result of the increased bone turnover and of the unbalance between bone formation and resorption that follows estrogen loss. This unbalance and the increase in bone turnover following estrogen loss was also identified in our study through the quantification of CTX and OC, which showed mean higher serum concentration in OVX (though not reaching statistical significance for OC; p=0.130) compared to age matched controls.

It is well established that estrogen exerts a pivotal role on the activity of bone cells, namely by inhibiting the differentiation and by promoting the apoptosis of osteoclasts [22] as well as

by inhibiting the renewal of early osteoblast progenitors [23], thereby hindering the rate of bone turnover. The increase in the rate of bone turnover as well as the unbalance between bone formation and resorption are known to have major implications in the bone tissue mechanical properties following the loss of ovarian hormones and are cornerstones of the pathophysiology of post menopausal osteoporosis [24]. Excess bone resorption leads not just to a progressive reduction in bone tissue volume, but also affects the average bone tissue age, reducing the time available for secondary mineralization to occur [25]. This explains the existence of a negative correlation between bone mineral content and biochemical markers of bone resorption in our study, and a lower bone mineral density in OVX animals with also had the highest bone resorption.

Both bone volume and tissue mineralization degree, are known to be major determinants of the bone biomechanical performance [26], and our results showed that Tb.Th, calcium content and phosphate content were significantly correlated with young's modulus and described 31.4% of its variance. Despite significant, the contribution of these properties to bone stiffness was shown to be lower than what was previously reported by others [26-28]. Using human bone samples within a wide range of compositions regarding to the predominance of cortical and trabecular bone tissue, Keller [27] showed that bone mineral composition, determined by ash weighting, was highly correlated (R<sup>2</sup>>0.81) with bone stiffness. Years later, Hernandez et al [26] reanalyzed Keller's data and included in their predictive model both ash weight and an estimate of BV/TV, and showed that both parameters together had an increased correlation with bone stiffness (R<sup>2</sup>=0.97). More recently, Cory et al [28] also reported that mineral density and BV/TV, assayed by µCT, were able to describe about 75% of the rat bone mechanical properties. All these studies however used bone samples that were shaped prior to the testing procedure, and that therefore did not

represented whole bone specimens. Hence these results neglected the contribution of bone architecture and geometry to its biomechanical performance.

Our results in turn, showed that bone morphology contributed significantly to the femur ultimate strength with multiple regression analysis showing that FNW, FNAL, CFMA and bone length altogether described 47.1% of bone strength variance. Surprisingly, none of the remaining properties assayed were shown to be as well correlated with the femoral neck ultimate strength as bone geometry.

As bone grows throughout the rat lifespan, a higher bone length was expected in OVX and SHAM animals compared to BSL, which was in fact shown by our results. Nevertheless, femur length was also higher in OVX animals compared to SHAM, showing that loss of estrogen accelerated bone length increase. Interestingly, there is evidence that, together with lower BMD, there is a significant difference in several geometric properties of the femur between individuals with high and low fracture risk witch highlights the importance of geometry in determining bone strength. For instance, Gnudi and colleagues [29] compared postmenopausal woman with a history of hip fracture with healthy controls and reported that, in addition to the significantly lower BMD, women with previous hip fractures had a higher hip axis length, femoral neck width and neck shaft angle. As a result, the increase in FNAL was considered in this and other studies [30, 31] as a factor that contributes positively to bone fragility. One important result in Gnudi et al [29] study however was that all those geometric parameters were shown to be highly and inversely correlated with femoral neck BMD. In another study, using data derived from almost 15.000 men and women, Beck and colleagues [13] also showed very clearly the existence of an inverse relationship between cortical thickness and BMD at the femoral neck and periosteal width, with the femoral neck becoming consistently wider in each successive decade of age. Although these findings come from crosssectional studies, data from a prospective study [32] also shows that while femoral neck BMD

decreased 1.9% yearly, cross-sectional moment of inertia increased by 3.1%, and that those with the highest bone loss were also those who showed the greatest periosteal expansion. What these studies suggest therefore is that rather than being a stationary bone feature, proximal femur geometry evolves alongside changes in bone mass and tissue mineralization degree.

In our study, OVX animals were shown to have a higher femur length and FNAL than age matched controls and the increase in these properties was show to be associated with increased femur strength. The longitudinal bone growth increase and the diaphyseal cross sectional area enlargement have been described previously following estrogen loss [33], and these adaptations have been suggested to compensate for the decreases in bone tissue volume and mineral content occurred after estrogen loss [34]. In Ahlborg et al [32] study, as a result of the inverse relationship between femoral neck BMD and cross-sectional area, despite significant decreases in BMD were detected as soon as 6 years after the menopause, bone strength did not decreased significantly until 14 years after menopause. Therefore, instead of being considered as factor that contributes positively to bone fragility, changes in proximal femur geometric properties might represent an adaptive response of the bone to maintain its mechanical strength. Indeed, direct biomechanical testing of human cadaveric femurs has shown that both FNAL and FNW are significantly and positively correlated with femoral strength [35], further suggesting that their increase is not responsible for higher bone fragility but conversely contributes to increased bone resistance to fracture.

Results from our study also showed that FNAL was negatively correlated with bone tissue calcium density (r=-0.470, p<0.01), proximal femur BV/TV (r=-0.704, p<0.01), Tb.N (r=-0.578, p<0.01) and whole femur RA (r=-0.527, p<0.01) and positively with Tb.Sp (r=0.618, p<0.01), evidencing the inverse relationship between bone geometry and bone mass and mineralization degree. In fact, despite the absence of differences in bone strength between groups, when

biomechanical performance was normalized to the bone volume fraction and to the degree of mineralization (Fig. 3) we saw that, in overall, OVX animals had a best biomechanical performance than BSL and SHAM. This result clearly suggests that in order to compensate for decreases in bone mineral density and loss of trabecular and cortical bone, the femur geometry adapted in order to maintain bone resistance. So, as bone tissue becomes scarce and under mineralized, mechanical stresses might be increased in the femoral neck which could stimulate periosteal bone apposition. Moreover, estrogen has been described to inhibit periosteal bone formation [36], which could also explain the increased periosteal apposition in OVX animals.

It is however noteworthy to emphasize that OVX and SHAM animal's femur properties were only analyzed 9 months following the surgical procedure. Therefore, although we have found no differences between OVX and SHAM animal's femoral neck strength, it is however possible that the compensatory geometrical changes that we have identified might only occur in a somewhat late stage following estrogen loss as in a previous study [37] no differences were found in femoral neck geometry between OVX and SHAM rats only 15 weeks following surgery. Moreover, in this study [37], it was shown that decreases in femoral neck strength were even more pronounced 5 weeks than 15 weeks following OVX, which might be a consequence of the lag time between increases in bone resorption and bone formation following estrogen loss [38].

In our study, RA measurements were not shown to be significantly correlated with the proximal femur biomechanical properties. We believe that the underlying cause for this lack of association was the simultaneous significant relationship between RA and bone mass, bone tissue mineralization and bone size. RA measurements were shown to be highly dependent on both bone tissue volume and mineralization degree ( $R^2$ =0.554). However, RA was also shown to be negatively correlated with FNAL witch was one of the significant determinants of bone

strength. Consequently, as bone FNAL and bone tissue properties contribute inversely to RA, it is likely that the net effect of the change of both features results in the absence of meaningful changes in RA.

The OVX rat has been widely used as a model for the study of estrogen induced bone loss in experimental studies [39]. Nevertheless, this animal model has some drawbacks which we consider important to mention, regarding the implications that they might have on our conclusions. As we referred previously, rats progressively grow throughout their lifespan, which however does not happen in humans. Therefore, it is possible that the mechanisms leading to the adaptive response in bone geometry that we observed in rats, might not be so meaningful in humans. Therefore, despite being a valid observation for rodents, our conclusion that bone geometry was altered in the absence of estrogen in order to compensate decreases in bone tissue properties, might not necessarily be transferable to humans, even thought there is evidence from previous studies suggesting that this kind of geometric adaptations also occur in adult humans [32], as well as in other species like the sheep [40], in order to compensate for deficits in bone tissue quality. It is also important to mention that despite its validity as a bone mass estimation procedure [15, 41] RA is not a standard diagnostic tool for the assessment of fracture risk, and has been mainly used for investigative purposes. Therefore, it should be noted that our results regarding the effectiveness of bone mass measurements based on 2D imaging techniques for discriminating proximal femur biomechanical properties, should be viewed considering this limitation, i.e. that we have not used the most broadly available 2D imaging technique, which is DXA.

In conclusion, our results showed that while bone stiffness was significantly associated with the proximal femur trabecular architecture and bone tissue degree of mineralization, whole bone strength was especially associated with bone size and femoral neck geometry. Importantly, RA measurements were not found to be significant predictors of the proximal

femur biomechanical performance. Our results also showed that with estrogen loss there was a significant increase in bone size and femoral neck length, which seems to have compensated the lower bone tissue volume and mineral content in OVX, thereby preventing a meaningful bone strength decline, which is a verification of the classical Frost's mechanostat model [42] of bone adaptation to mechanical loading.

# Acknowledgments

The authors express their gratitude towards Celeste Resende and Dr.ª Teresa Caldeira for their most valuable technical assistance during the experimental procedures. The present work was supported by Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (FCT) grant PTDC/DES/103047/2008. First and second authors are recipients of FCT fellows SFRH/BD/38110/2007 and SFRH/BD/33123/2007 respectively.

#### **Conflict of Interest**

All authors declare to have no disclosures.

# References

- 1. Marshall D, Johnell O, Wedel H (1996) Meta-analysis of how well measures of bone mineral density predict occurrence of osteoporotic fractures. BMJ 312:1254-1259
- 2. Seeman E (2007) Is a change in bone mineral density a sensitive and specific surrogate of anti-fracture efficacy? Bone 41:308-317
- 3. Pasco JA, Seeman E, Henry MJ, Merriman EN, Nicholson GC, Kotowicz MA (2006) The population burden of fractures originates in women with osteopenia, not osteoporosis. Osteoporos Int 17:1404-1409
- 4. Schuit SC, van der Klift M, Weel AE, de Laet CE, Burger H, Seeman E, Hofman A, Uitterlinden AG, van Leeuwen JP, Pols HA (2004) Fracture incidence and association with bone mineral density in elderly men and women: the Rotterdam Study. Bone 34:195-202
- Keaveny TM, Kopperdahl DL, Melton LJ, 3rd, Hoffmann PF, Amin S, Riggs BL, Khosla S (2010) Age-dependence of femoral strength in white women and men. J Bone Miner Res 25:994-1001
- 6. Jarvinen TL, Sievanen H, Jokihaara J, Einhorn TA (2005) Revival of bone strength: the bottom line. J Bone Miner Res 20:717-720
- 7. McCreadie BR, Goldstein SA (2000) Biomechanics of fracture: is bone mineral density sufficient to assess risk? J Bone Miner Res 15:2305-2308
- 8. Brownbill RA, Ilich JZ (2003) Hip geometry and its role in fracture: what do we know so far? Curr Osteoporos Rep 1:25-31
- Roux JP, Wegrzyn J, Arlot ME, Guyen O, Delmas PD, Chapurlat R, Bouxsein ML (2010) Contribution of trabecular and cortical components to biomechanical behavior of human vertebrae: an ex vivo study. J Bone Miner Res 25:356-361
- 10. Garnero P, Hausherr E, Chapuy MC, Marcelli C, Grandjean H, Muller C, Cormier C, Breart G, Meunier PJ, Delmas PD (1996) Markers of bone resorption predict hip fracture in elderly women: the EPIDOS Prospective Study. J Bone Miner Res 11:1531-1538
- 11. Ahlborg HG, Nguyen ND, Nguyen TV, Center JR, Eisman JA (2005) Contribution of hip strength indices to hip fracture risk in elderly men and women. J Bone Miner Res 20:1820-1827
- 12. Beck TJ, Ruff CB, Warden KE, Scott WW, Jr., Rao GU (1990) Predicting femoral neck strength from bone mineral data. A structural approach. Invest Radiol 25:6-18
- 13. Beck TJ, Looker AC, Ruff CB, Sievanen H, Wahner HW (2000) Structural trends in the aging femoral neck and proximal shaft: analysis of the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry data. J Bone Miner Res 15:2297-2304
- 14. Bouxsein ML, Myburgh KH, van der Meulen MC, Lindenberger E, Marcus R (1994) Agerelated differences in cross-sectional geometry of the forearm bones in healthy women. Calcif Tissue Int 54:113-118
- 15. Symmons R (2004) Digital photodensitometry: a reliable and accessible method for measuring bone density. J Archaeol Sci 31:711-719
- 16. Cosman F, Herrington B, Himmelstein S, Lindsay R (1991) Radiographic absorptiometry: a simple method for determination of bone mass. Osteoporos Int 2:34-38
- 17. Chappard C, Bousson V, Bergot C, Mitton D, Marchadier A, Moser T, Benhamou CL, Laredo JD (2010) Prediction of femoral fracture load: cross-sectional study of texture

analysis and geometric measurements on plain radiographs versus bone mineral density. Radiology 255:536-543

- 18. Turner CH, Burr DB (1993) Basic biomechanical measurements of bone: a tutorial. Bone 14:595-608
- 19. Monro PP, Purrier BJ, Shearer JR (1987) Use of histological samples for assessing skeletal calcium. J Clin Pathol 40:50-52
- 20. Carles J (1956) [Colorimetric microdetermination of phosphorus.]. Bull Soc Chim Biol (Paris) 38:255-257
- 21. Riggs BL, Khosla S, Melton LJ (1998) A unitary model for involutional osteoporosis: estrogen deficiency causes both type I and type II osteoporosis in postmenopausal women and contributes to bone loss in aging men. J Bone Miner Res 13:763-773
- 22. Boyle WJ, Simonet WS, Lacey DL (2003) Osteoclast differentiation and activation. Nature 423:337-342
- 23. Di Gregorio GB, Yamamoto M, Ali AA, Abe E, Roberson P, Manolagas SC, Jilka RL (2001) Attenuation of the self-renewal of transit-amplifying osteoblast progenitors in the murine bone marrow by 17 beta-estradiol. J Clin Invest 107:803-812
- 24. Garnero P, Sornay-Rendu E, Chapuy MC, Delmas PD (1996) Increased bone turnover in late postmenopausal women is a major determinant of osteoporosis. J Bone Miner Res 11:337-349
- 25. Boivin GY, Chavassieux PM, Santora AC, Yates J, Meunier PJ (2000) Alendronate increases bone strength by increasing the mean degree of mineralization of bone tissue in osteoporotic women. Bone 27:687-694
- 26. Hernandez CJ, Beaupre GS, Keller TS, Carter DR (2001) The influence of bone volume fraction and ash fraction on bone strength and modulus. Bone 29:74-78
- 27. Keller TS (1994) Predicting the compressive mechanical behavior of bone. J Biomech 27:1159-1168
- 28. Cory E, Nazarian A, Entezari V, Vartanians V, Muller R, Snyder BD (2010) Compressive axial mechanical properties of rat bone as functions of bone volume fraction, apparent density and micro-ct based mineral density. J Biomech 43:953-960
- 29. Gnudi S, Ripamonti C, Gualtieri G, Malavolta N (1999) Geometry of proximal femur in the prediction of hip fracture in osteoporotic women. Br J Radiol 72:729-733
- 30. Faulkner KG, McClung M, Cummings SR (1994) Automated evaluation of hip axis length for predicting hip fracture. J Bone Miner Res 9:1065-1070
- 31. Karlsson KM, Sernbo I, Obrant KJ, Redlund-Johnell I, Johnell O (1996) Femoral neck geometry and radiographic signs of osteoporosis as predictors of hip fracture. Bone 18:327-330
- 32. Ahlborg HG, Johnell O, Turner CH, Rannevik G, Karlsson MK (2003) Bone loss and bone size after menopause. N Engl J Med 349:327-334
- 33. Flieger J, Karachalios T, Khaldi L, Raptou P, Lyritis G (1998) Mechanical stimulation in the form of vibration prevents postmenopausal bone loss in ovariectomized rats. Calcif Tissue Int 63:510-514
- 34. Currey JD (2003) The many adaptations of bone. J Biomech 36:1487-1495
- 35. Cheng XG, Lowet G, Boonen S, Nicholson PH, Brys P, Nijs J, Dequeker J (1997) Assessment of the strength of proximal femur in vitro: relationship to femoral bone mineral density and femoral geometry. Bone 20:213-218
- 36. Saxon LK, Turner CH (2006) Low-dose estrogen treatment suppresses periosteal bone formation in response to mechanical loading. Bone 39:1261-1267
- 37. Sogaard CH, Wronski TJ, McOsker JE, Mosekilde L (1994) The positive effect of parathyroid hormone on femoral neck bone strength in ovariectomized rats is more pronounced than that of estrogen or bisphosphonates. Endocrinology 134:650-657

- 38. Sims NA, Morris HA, Moore RJ, Durbridge TC (1996) Increased bone resorption precedes increased bone formation in the ovariectomized rat. Calcif Tissue Int 59:121-127
- 39. Kalu DN (1991) The ovariectomized rat model of postmenopausal bone loss. Bone Miner 15:175-191
- 40. Healy C, Kennedy OD, Brennan O, Rackard SM, O'Brien FJ, Lee TC (2010) Structural adaptation and intracortical bone turnover in an ovine model of osteoporosis. J Orthop Res 28:248-251
- 41. Gulam M, Thornton MM, Hodsman AB, Holdsworth DW (2000) Bone mineral measurement of phalanges: comparison of radiographic absorptiometry and area dual X-ray absorptiometry. Radiology 216:586-591
- 42. Frost HM (1987) Bone "mass" and the "mechanostat": a proposal. Anat Rec 219:1-9

**Table 1**. Mean and standard deviation of each parameter assayed.

|   | BSL            | SHAM                        | OVX                         |
|---|----------------|-----------------------------|-----------------------------|
| Histomorphometry                        |                |                             |                             |
| . , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , | 477 ± 59.7     | 557 $\pm$ 51.3 <sup>a</sup> | 507 ± 47.7 <sup>b</sup>     |
| BV/TV (%)                               | 42.1 ± 3.01    | 43.9 ± 3.61                 | $30.1 \pm 8.98^{ab}$        |
| Tb.Th (μm)                              | 94.4 ± 8.61    | $108.3 \pm 12.87^{a}$       | $105.6 \pm 12.41^{a}$       |
| Tb.N (/mm)                              | 4.5 ± 0.14     | $3.9 \pm 0.22^{a}$          | $2.8 \pm 0.59^{ab}$         |
| Tb.Sp (μm)                              | 130 ± 7.6      | $144 \pm 8.6^{a}$           | 252 ± 81.5 <sup>ab</sup>    |
| Mineral content                         |                |                             |                             |
| Calcium content (mg)                    | 98.7 ± 6.92    | 106.7 ± 8.71 <sup>a</sup>   | $107.3 \pm 8.86^{\circ}$    |
| Calcium density (%)                     | 22.7 ± 0.87    | $23.7 \pm 0.72^{a}$         | $22.0 \pm 0.51^{ab}$        |
| Phosphate content (mg)                  | 36.9 ± 2.52    | $40.2 \pm 1.99^{a}$         | $39.8 \pm 3.64^{a}$         |
| Phosphate density (%)                   | 8.5 ± 0.28     | 8.7 ± 0.33 <sup>a</sup>     | $8.2 \pm 0.23^{ab}$         |
| Calcium/ Phosphate ratio                | 2.7 ± 0.05     | 2.7 ± 0.06                  | 2.7 ± 0.06                  |
| Biochemistry                            |                |                             |                             |
| 17β-estradiol (pg/mL)                   | 88.9 ± 18.73   | 84.5 ± 17.40                | $18.4 \pm 5.34^{ab}$        |
| Osteocalcin (ng/mL)                     | 89.9 ± 34.81   | $56.8 \pm 20.23^{a}$        | 76.3 ± 29.20                |
| CTX (ng/mL)                             | 11.45 ± 1.931  | 10.86 ± 1.427               | 13.38 ± 1.760 <sup>ab</sup> |
| Radiographic absorptiometry             |                |                             |                             |
| Femoral head (%)                        | 147 ± 14.9     | $140 \pm 10.4$              | $131 \pm 10.8^{ab}$         |
| Femoral neck (upper área) (%)           | 98 ± 12.5      | 96 ± 9.6                    | 104 ± 13.6                  |
| Femoral neck (central area) (%)         | 115 ± 15.7     | $108 \pm 10.3$              | 108 ± 11.9                  |
| Trochanter major (%)                    | 131 ± 12.2     | $128 \pm 10.8$              | 122 ± 9.8                   |
| Trochanter minor (%)                    | 141 ± 13.0     | 133 ± 8.7                   | $129 \pm 13.0^{\circ}$      |
| Intertrochanteric region (%)            | 139 ± 13.7     | 132 ± 11.8                  | $128 \pm 9.4^{a}$           |
| Total fémur (%)                         | 122 ± 16.8     | $101 \pm 5.9^{a}$           | $104 \pm 11.9^{a}$          |
| Geometry                                |                |                             |                             |
| Length (mm)                             | 34.2 ± 0.64    | $35.5 \pm 0.34^{a}$         | $36.1 \pm 0.28^{ab}$        |
| FNAL (mm)                               | 9.5 ± 0.54     | 9.9 ± 0.74                  | $11.0 \pm 0.70^{ab}$        |
| Relative FNAL (%)                       | 27.7 ± 1.32    | 28.0 ± 2.26                 | $30.3 \pm 1.92^{ab}$        |
| NSA ( <sup>°</sup> )                    | 128.9 ± 3.08   | 129.1 ± 3.39                | 132.9 ± 3.80 <sup>ab</sup>  |
| FNW (mm)                                | 2.6 ± 0.17     | $2.5 \pm 0.14$              | 2.5 ± 0.17                  |
| Relative FNW (%)                        | 7.6 ± 0.39     | $7.1 \pm 0.36^{a}$          | $6.9 \pm 0.36^{a}$          |
| CFMA (mm)                               | 3.8 ± 1.09     | 3.9 ± 0.73                  | 4.0 ± 1.22                  |
| Relative CFMA (%)                       | 11.1 ± 3.18    | 10.4 ± 2.51                 | 11.2 ± 3.19                 |
| <b>Biomechanical testing</b>            |                |                             |                             |
| Ultimate strength (N)                   | 133.7 ± 26.17  | 123.3 ± 31.25               | 133.7 ± 23.45               |
| Ultimate stress (MPa)                   | 22.0 ± 3.52    | 24.5 ± 5.57                 | 26.2 ± 3.78                 |
| Young´s modulus (MPa)                   | 350.2 ± 162.88 | 504.8 ± 245.97              | 479.8 ± 163.74              |
| Ultimate strain                         | 8.5 ± 2.07     | $6.8 \pm 1.52^{a}$          | 8.1 ± 1.83                  |
| Energy to fracture (MJ)                 | 0.94 ± 0.24    | 0.78 ± 0.16                 | $1.00 \pm 0.46$             |

a - p<0.05 versus BSL.

b - p<0.05 versus SHAM.

**Table 2**. Correlation coefficients between biomechanical properties and each parameter

 assayed

|                                 | Illtimate | <u> </u> Υουρσ΄ς | Illtimate | Ultimate | Energy to |
|---------------------------------|-----------|------------------|-----------|----------|-----------|
|                                 | strength  | modulus          | strain    | stress   | fracture† |
|                                 | 00.00.00  |                  |           | 011 000  |           |
| Histomorphometry                |           |                  |           |          |           |
| Ct.Th (µm)                      | -0.189    | 0.318            | -0.497**  | 0.154    | -0.385*   |
| BV/TV (%)                       | -0.195    | 0.078            | -0.343    | -0.242   | -0.268    |
| Tb.Th (μm)                      | -0.095    | 0.502**          | -0.323    | 0.195    | -0.313    |
| Tb.N (/mm)                      | 0.002     | -0.326           | -0.084    | -0.339   | 0.019     |
| Tb.Sp (μm)                      | 0.034     | 0.176            | 0.192     | 0.235    | 0.071     |
| Mineral content                 |           |                  |           |          |           |
| Calcium content (mg)            | 0.163     | 0.449**          | -0.272    | 0.196    | -0.356*   |
| Calcium density (%)             | -0.148    | 0.117            | -0.521**  | -0.019   | -0.306    |
| Phosphate content (mg)          | 0.168     | 0.389*           | -0.177    | 0.180    | -0.288    |
| Phosphate density (%)           | -0.128    | 0.029            | -0.359*   | -0.042   | -0.196    |
| Calcium/ Phosphate ratio        | -0.050    | 0.185            | -0.331    | 0.040    | -0.271    |
| Biochemistry                    |           |                  |           |          |           |
| Osteocalcin (ng/mL)             | 0.263     | -0.312           | 0.406*    | -0.061   | 0.335     |
| CTX (ng/mL)                     | 0.103     | -0.318           | 0.511**   | 0.038    | 0.180     |
| Radiographic absorptiometry     |           |                  |           |          |           |
| Femoral head (%)                | 0.096     | 0.022            | -0.169    | -0.037   | -0.124    |
| Femoral neck (upper área) (%)   | -0.078    | 0.046            | 0.121     | -0.063   | 0.041     |
| Femoral neck (central area) (%) | -0.077    | -0.013           | -0.002    | -0.161   | -0.021    |
| Trochanter major (%)            | 0.051     | 0.053            | -0.205    | 0.038    | -0.030    |
| Trochanter minor (%)            | 0.101     | 0.103            | -0.258    | -0.004   | -0.156    |
| Intertrochanteric region (%)    | 0.061     | 0.067            | -0.145    | -0.021   | -0.097    |
| Total fémur (%)                 | 0.079     | 0.089            | 0.016     | -0.148   | -0.207    |
| Geometry                        |           |                  |           |          |           |
| Length (mm)                     | 0.470*    | 0.238            | 0.244     | 0.333    | 0.067     |
| FNAL (mm)                       | 0.559**   | -0.076           | 0.344     | 0.187    | 0.297     |
| Relative FNAL (%)               | 0.428*    | -0.161           | 0.281     | 0.084    | 0.320     |
| NSA (°)                         | 0.226     | 0.082            | 0.177     | 0.163    | 0.121     |
| FNW (mm)                        | 0.504**   | 0.028            | 0.081     | -0.062   | -0.094    |
| Relative FNW (%)                | 0.283     | -0.076           | -0.015    | -0.196   | -0.074    |
| CFMA (mm)                       | 0.258     | -0.259           | 0.282     | -0.044   | 0.194     |
| Relative CFMA (%)               | 0.228     | -0.282           | 0.259     | -0.078   | 0.178     |

+ Spearman's Rho correlation; \*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.01

## **Figure Captions**

**Figure 1.** Diagram of the right femur x-ray image. a) Representation of the regions of interest (ROI) where radiographic absorptiometry was determined: total femur (dotted line), femoral head (1), upper area of the femoral neck (2), central area of the femoral neck (3), intertrochanteric region (4), trocanter major (5) trocanter minor (6) and standard referent (0). b) Representation of the femoral neck geometric parameters assayed: FNW – femoral neck width; CFMA – compression force moment arm; FNAL – femoral neck axis length; NSA – neck shaft angle.

**Figure 2.** a) Ovariectomized (OVX) and sham-operated (SHAM) animal's body weigth at the beginning and at the end of the 9 months of experimental procedure. b) Body weight variation in OVX and SHAM animals through the experimental procedure expressed in percentage change from initial body weight.

**Figure 3**. Comparison of the proximal femur biomechanical performance between BSL, OVX and SHAM groups after normalization for bone tissue calcium density (Ca<sup>2+</sup> density) and trabecular bone volume fraction (BV/TV). Brackets indicate significant differences between groups (p<0.05).







# Study 4

Fonseca H, Moreira-Gonçalves D, Esteves JL, Ferreira R, Amado F, Mota MP, Duarte JA. Voluntary physical activity improves proximal femur bone quality in adult ovariectomized Wistar rats. (*Submitted to J Bone Miner Metab*) **Experimental Studies** 

# Editorial Manager(tm) for Journal of Bone and Mineral Metabolism Manuscript Draft

Manuscript Number:

Title: Voluntary physical activity improves proximal femur bone quality in adult ovariectomized Wistar rats

Article Type: Original Article

Corresponding Author: Helder Fonseca

Corresponding Author's Institution: University of Porto

First Author: Helder Fonseca

Order of Authors: Helder Fonseca;Daniel Moreira-Gonçalves;José Luís Esteves;Rita Ferreira;Francisco Amado;Maria Paula Mota;José Alberto Duarte

Abstract: The effectiveness of exercise to prevent bone quality losses following estrogen deficiency remains unappreciated by monitoring merely BMD. Our aim was to investigate how a broad set of bone properties are influenced by exercise in ovariectomized animals and to determine if exercise is able to prevent decreases in bone mechanical properties.

Thirty-two female Wistar rats (5-months old) were sacrificed as baseline controls (BSL, n=7), ovariectomized (OVX; n=13) or sham-operated (SHAM; n=12). OVX and SHAM animals were further exercised (OVX+EX, n=7; SHAM+EX, n=6) or kept sedentary (OVX+SED, n=6; SHAM+SED, n=6) for 9 months. At sacrifice, serum  $17\beta$ - estradiol and bone turnover markers concentration was determined in the serum. Both femurs were collected for assessment of histomorphometry, femoral neck geometry, radiographic absorptiometry, bone mineral content and biomechanical properties. Exercise significantly prevented trabecular bone volume decreases in ovariectomized animals leading to the preservation of trabecular microarchitecture at both the femoral neck and distal femur regions. Bone mineral density was also shown to be higher, while bone resorption was lower in exercised than in sedentary ovariectomized animals. The preservation of trabecular microarchitecture and of bone mineral density contributed significantly to the higher Young modulus identified in ovariectomized animals that exercised regularly. The effects of exercise on bone tissue were substantially more pronounced in ovariectomized than in sham-operated animals. We conclude that voluntary exercise was able to prevent the long term bone mass losses in ovariectomized animals and to increase the femoral bone mechanical properties.

**Opposed Reviewers:** 

# Authors

Hélder Fonseca<sup>1</sup>; Daniel Moreira-Gonçalves<sup>1</sup>; José Luís Esteves<sup>2</sup>; Rita Ferreira<sup>3</sup>; Francisco

Amado<sup>3</sup>; Maria Paula Mota<sup>4</sup>; José Alberto Duarte<sup>1</sup>

# Title

Voluntary physical activity improves proximal femur bone quality in adult ovariectomized Wistar rats

Affiliation

<sup>1</sup> CIAFEL, Faculty of Sport, University of Porto

<sup>2</sup> INEGI, Faculty of Engineering, University of Porto

<sup>3</sup> Department of Chemistry, University of Aveiro

<sup>4</sup> CATED, Department of Sport, University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro

# **Corresponding author address**

Hélder Fonseca

Adress: Faculdade de Desporto da Universidade do Porto

Rua Dr. Placido Costa, 91

4200-450 Porto, PORTUGAL

Email: helder.rmf@gmail.com

Telephone: +351 225 074 700

Fax: +351 225 500 689

#### Abstract

The effectiveness of exercise to prevent bone quality losses following estrogen deficiency remains unappreciated by monitoring merely BMD. Our aim was to investigate how a broad set of bone properties are influenced by exercise in ovariectomized animals and to determine if exercise is able to prevent decreases in bone mechanical properties.

Thirty-two female Wistar rats (5-months old) were sacrificed as baseline controls (BSL, n=7), ovariectomized (OVX; n=13) or sham-operated (SHAM; n=12). OVX and SHAM animals were further exercised (OVX+EX, n=7; SHAM+EX, n=6) or kept sedentary (OVX+SED, n=6; SHAM+SED, n=6) for 9 months. At sacrifice, serum  $17\beta$ - estradiol and bone turnover markers concentration was determined in the serum. Both femurs were collected for assessment of histomorphometry, femoral neck geometry, radiographic absorptiometry, bone mineral content and biomechanical properties. (Exercise significantly prevented trabecular bone) volume decreases in ovariectomized animals leading to the preservation of trabecular microarchitecture at both the femoral neck and distal femur regions. Bone mineral density was also shown to be higher, while bone resorption was lower in exercised than in sedentary ovariectomized animals. The preservation of trabecular microarchitecture and of bone mineral density contributed significantly to the higher Young modulus identified in ovariectomized animals that exercised regularly. The effects of exercise on bone tissue were substantially more pronounced in ovariectomized than in sham-operated animals. We conclude that voluntary exercise was able to prevent the long term bone mass losses in ovariectomized animals and to increase the femoral bone mechanical properties.

# Keywords

Biomechanical testing

Femoral neck geometry

Histomorphometry

Exercise

Post-menopausal osteoporosis

#### Introduction

Osteoporosis is a prevalent metabolic bone disease in the elderly and postmenopausal women. Its major complication is fragility fracture occurrence due to bone mass loss and bone tissue properties deterioration.

Several pharmacological agents are available for the treatment of osteoporosis and their effectiveness is well demonstrated [1]. Nevertheless, as any drug, they also have adverse outcomes ranging from gastrointestinal discomfort to increased atypical femoral fracture occurrence [2]. Moreover, the cost of pharmacological treatments is a matter of concern as health care resources are inevitable limited. Therefore the struggle against osteoporosis should rely as much as possible on primary prevention based on non-pharmacological interventions such as exercise [3]. Several studies however show that exercise-induced bone gains occur especially during growth [4]. Nevertheless, there is also evidence that enhanced bone accrual during growth does not necessarily grant protection at old age [5]. Consequently, to be an effective preventive strategy, exercise should be performed throughout life.

However, several observational studies and clinical trials suggest that exercise has no effect or produces only minor BMD increments in the adult [6]. As the most widely available diagnosing technique, DXA derived areal bone mineral density (aBMD) has been the primary outcome in the majority of the studies for determining exercise-induced improvements in fracture risk. However, regardless of its value in diagnosing osteoporosis, BMD increases correlate poorly with fracture risk reduction following treatment [7], which suggests that its usefulness as a surrogate for treatment efficacy may be limited [8]. This results from the fact that bone strength depends on several material and structural properties [9] and changes in these properties are not necessarily captured by a shift in BMD [10] as we see in cases were fracture risk is reduced without increases in BMD [11] and in cases where increases in BMD do not reduce fracture risk [12]. Consequently, assessing treatment effectiveness by monitoring just BMD changes is insufficient and likely misleading and would instead be best achieved by
monitoring a broad set of bone properties that might change with treatment reducing thereby

fracture risk. Therefore one of the aims of the present study is to determine if exercise is able to prevent losses in bone mass and degree of mineralization and to reduce resorption rate as well as to determine if these alterations are captured by radiographic absorptiometry (RA) measurements.

In a previous study by our group [13], we determined how several bone properties were associated with femoral neck biomechanical performance following estrogen loss, and it was shown that while there was a decrease in bone material properties, whole bone strength was not compromised, as these deficits were compensated by adaptations in bone geometry. Moreover, there is evidence that exercise is able to increase bone strength by increasing bone size [14] even without improvements in bone tissue quality [15]. Therefore, and considering that bone strength depends on the interaction between several properties and that some features might adapt in order to compensate for deficits in others, our objective in the present study is also to investigate how regular exercise might influence these several bone properties after estrogen loss and how does that affects bone resistance, i.e. whether if exercise affects predominantly bone material properties or instead if it promotes mainly geometrical adaptations.

## Materials and methods

## Animal models and experimental design

Thirty-two nulliparous Wistar rats (Charls River Laboratories, Barcelona, Spain) were either ovariectomized (OVX; n=13), sham operated (SHAM; n=12) or sacrificed as baseline controls (BSL; n=7) at 5-months age. Bilateral ovariectomy was performed by ventral approach under anesthesia with 4% sevoflurane while in sham-surgery ovaries were exposed but not removed. One week after surgery OVX and SHAM groups were each separated in two sub-groups and housed in different conditions for a period of 9 months. In one of the sub-groups, animals were individually housed in cages with activity wheel and distance counter (floor area 800 cm<sup>2</sup>; Tecniplast) allowing them to perform voluntary running activity (OVX+EX, n=7; SHAM+EX, n=6). In the second sub-group, animals were housed in identical conditions (OVX+SED, n=6; SHAM+SED, n=6) except for the running wheel in the cage. Running distance in the wheel and body weight of each rat was recorded weekly. Standard rat chow (A04, SAFE, Augy, France) and water were provided *ad libitum* to all animals throughout the experimental period. Animals were maintained in an inverted 12h light/dark cycle in a humidity/temperature controlled environment. All procedures involving animal care were approved by the local ethics committee (University of Porto).

## Animal sacrifice and tissue harvesting

Following the 9-month experimental period, all rats were anesthetized with 4% sevoflurane and sacrificed by exsanguination. All animals were 14 months old at time of sacrifice. Serum was separated from the blood by centrifugation at 1500rpm for 30min at 4°C and used for assaying estrogen and markers of bone turnover concentration. Both femurs were removed and cleared of surrounding soft tissue. Right femur was used for assaying femoral neck geometry, RA, biomechanical testing and quantification of calcium and phosphate content. Left femur was used for assaying trabecular microarchitecture. Both hind limb *soleus* muscles were also collected and weighted in a precision balance (Kern 870, Balingen, Germany) for assessment of muscle mass.

## Biochemistry

Biochemical parameters were assayed in the serum using commercially available ELISA kits and a spectrophotometer (iEMS, Labsystems, Washington, USA) according to the manufacturer recommendations. 17β-estradiol concentration was assayed with Estradiol DE2693 ELISA kit (Demeditec Diagnostics, Kiel-Wellsee, Germany) for the confirmation of the OVX animal model. Assay range was between 9.7 and 2000pg/mL. Inter and intra-assay coefficients of variation (CV) are lower than 9.4% and 6.8%, respectively. Bone formation was assayed by measuring osteocalcin (OC) concentration with Rat-MID<sup>™</sup> ELISA kit (Immunodiagnostic Systems, Boldon, UK). Assay range was between 50 and 1500ng/mL. Inter and intra-assay CV are lower than 7.7% and 5.0%, respectively. Bone resorption was assayed by measuring Cterminal telopeptides of type I collagen (CTX) concentration with RatLaps<sup>™</sup> ELISA kit (Immunodiagnostic Systems). Assay range was between 7.7 and 188ng/mL. Inter and intraassay CV are lower than 14.8% and 9.2% respectively. Positive controls for OC and CTX were assayed together with samples and their concentration was found to be within the manufacturer's quality control concentration limits.

## Radiographs

Digital radiographs were taken from the right femur in the craniocaudal direction using dental radiographic equipment (CCX Digital, Trophy, Croissy-Beaubourg, France). The right femur was positioned over the sensor plate (DenOptix Imaging Plates, Sterling Heights, USA) at a 20cm distance from the X-ray-source. Exposure time and intensity were 0.08sec at 70Kv and 8mA. To ensure equal positioning between samples, all bones were placed with the caudal surfaces of both condyles and of the trocanter minor in contact with the film. A standard

reference made from a cortical bone section with 10mm of length was included in each radiograph for calibration purposes.

## Radiographic absorptiometry

Bone mass was assayed in the right femur by RA as described previously [16] using imageJ software (NIH, Bethesda, USA). Correlation between RA and DXA derived aBMD has shown to be as good as between different DXA scanners themselves [17]. Briefly, each x-ray image was composed of pixels within a grayscale value between 0 and 255, were 0 is black and 255 is white. Whiter pixels correspond to higher radiopacity. Bone mass was determined in each region as the mean gray value (MGV) of the pixels within that region. For total bone mass, the boundary of the femur was manually traced and the whole bone defined as the region of interest (ROI). For the other analyzed regions, including the standard reference, a circular selection with 1.5mm of diameter was defined as the ROI and positioned according to anatomical landmarks. The MGV registered for each region was the average of 4 repeated measures. In order to consider differences in background noise, the MGV of the background in the vicinity of the ROI was subtracted to the MGV of each region analyzed. Results were expressed as percentage of the MGV of the standard reference. The regions analyzed were total femur, femoral head, upper and central area of the femoral neck, trocanter major and minor and intertrochanteric region (Figure 1a). The CVs between repeated measures were 0.05%, 0.26%, 1.32%, 0.17%, 1.45%, 1.50% and 1.59%, respectively.

## Femoral neck geometry

Femoral neck geometry was assayed on the digital radiographs of the right femur by measuring standard geometric parameters [18] using ImageJ software, as described previously [19] (Fig. 1b). Briefly, femoral-neck axis length (FNAL) was the distance from the lateral aspect of the trocanter major to the medial surface of the femoral head. Femoral neck-shaft angle

(NSA) was the angle between the femoral neck and shaft axes. Femoral-neck width (FNW) was measured at the narrowest region perpendicular to the femoral neck axis. Compression force moment arm (CFMA) was the distance between femur axis and the medial surface of the femoral head. Results were the average of 2 repeated measures. Relative lengths were determined and expressed as percentage of femur length in order to allow comparisons independently of femur length. CVs between repeated measures were found to be among 0.07% (femur length) and 2.8% (CFMA).

## Histomorphometry

Left femur proximal and distal thirds were sectioned with a circular diamond saw continuously wet in could PBS (pH 7.2) and immersed in a solution containing 4% paraformaldehyde, 2.5% sucrose (Sigma, St. Louis, USA), 0.1% gluteraldehyde (TAAB, Aldermaston, UK) and 10% EDTA (Sigma) in PBS (pH 7.2) at  $4^{\circ}$ C during 3 weeks for fixation and decalcification. Bone samples were then dehydrated through graded ethanol (Panreac, Barcelona, Spain) concentrations and mounted in paraffin (MERK, Darmstadt, Germany). Six- $\mu$ m-thick sections were obtained from the head and neck region of the proximal epiphysis in the coronal plane as well as from the intercondylar fossa region of the distal epiphysis in the sagital plane (Fig. 2). Sections were stained with H&E and viewed under a light microscope coupled to a digital camera (Axio Imager A1, Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany). Digital images were analyzed with imageJ. Standard histomorphometric parameters [20] were determined as the average of five sections per specimen and included trabecular bone volume fraction (BV/TV, %), trabecular number (Tb.N;  $/mm^2$ ), trabecular separation (Tb.Sp,  $\mu m$ ), trabecular thickness (Tb.Th,  $\mu$ m) and cortical thickness (Ct.Th,  $\mu$ m). Trabecular architecture and Ct.Th were determined in the region between the femoral head growth plate and the lesser trocanter.

160

## Biomechanical testing of the femoral neck

Biomechanical properties were assayed by compression testing of the right femur head according to recommend guidelines [21] using a servo-hydraulic testing machine (TIRATest 2705, Schalkau, Germany) as described previously [22]. Each femur midpoint was determined and sectioned with a circular diamond saw. The proximal half was then fixed on the testing apparatus and a vertical load applied on the femoral head parallel to the diaphysis. A stabilizing preload was first applied at a rate of 0.1mm.s<sup>-1</sup> until 5N was reached. Above this point the load rate shifted to 0.5mm.s<sup>-1</sup> until failure. Bones were kept moist in PBS throughout the testing procedure. The load-deformation plot and bone ultimate strength (maximal load registered, N) were obtained directly from the test and converted to stress-strain. Ultimate stress was the maximum stress the bone could sustain and ultimate strain was the strain at failure. Young's modulus was the highest slope of the stress-strain curve. Energy to fracture was the area under the load-deformation curve. CV for compression testing was 7.6%.

## Bone mineral content and degree of mineralization

Bone mineral content was determined by quantification of the calcium and phosphate extracted during the decalcification of the right femur, as described elsewhere [23, 24]. Briefly, after compression testing, the proximal and distal halves of the right femur were collectively fixed overnight in 70% ethanol (Panreac), lyophilized during 4 days (EZ550Q, FTS Systems, Warminster, USA) and their dry weight determined with an analytical balance (Kern 870). They were then decalcified in 5mL of 2% formic acid (Sigma) during 10 days. In each day a 2mL aliquot of the decalcification solution was collected, the remaining discarded and replaced by 5mL of fresh solution. Calcium content was then determined as the sum of the calcium in each daily aliquot by atomic absorption spectroscopy (Perkin Elmer AAnalyst 100, Massachusetts, USA) after addition of 0.5% lanthanum chloride (Sigma). Degree of mineralization was the ratio between calcium content and both halves dry weight. Calibration solutions (Sigma) were read

between sets of samples to minimize effects of equipment drift. Recovery degree was found to be on average 99.1% and CV between repeated samples to be 2.84%. Phosphate content was determined by spectrophotometry (iEMS, Labsystems) based on the formation of molybdate complex using KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> solutions as standard (Sigma). Total phosphate content and density were calculated as described above for calcium. Average CV between repeated samples was 3.55%.

### Statistical analysis

The Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Levene's test were used to investigate within-group normality and homogeneity of variance of each variable, respectively. Comparisons between groups were performed by two-way-ANOVA with Bonferroni or Games-Howell (calcium density; energy to fracture) *post hoc* test whenever homogeneity of variance was verified or not, respectively. Whenever the necessary assumptions for ANOVA were not verified, either square (proximal femur Tb.N), natural log (distal femur Tb.Sp; head and trocanter major RA) or reciprocal (proximal femur Tb.Sp) data transformation was employed to reestablish the necessary assumptions. Results are expressed as mean ± standard deviation (SD) and differences were considered significant when p<0.05. Data was analyzed with PASW 18.0 (IBM, Armonk, USA).

162

## Results

Means and standard deviations are detailed in tables 1 and 2.

Estrogen (17β-estradiol) concentration was significantly reduced in OVX animals when compared to both young (BSL) and age-matched sham-operated (SHAM) controls thus confirming the effectiveness of the ovariectomy. In addition there were no differences regarding estrogen concentration between OVX+SED and OVX+EX or between SHAM+EX, SHAM+SED and BSL (Table 1).

At the beginning of the experiments, when animals were 5 months old, there were no significant differences between groups regarding body weight. However, at the end of the 9 months of experimental period, when animals were 14 months old, average body weight had increased significantly in both OVX and SHAM animals ( $p \le 0.003$ ). Nevertheless increases were higher in OVX animals compared to SHAM counterparts (45.5±13.39% vs. 23.2±13.30% respectively; p < 0.001) and higher in OVX+EX than in OVX+SED animals (p < 0.05).

Average distance traveled per week in the running wheel was almost 10-fold higher in SHAM+EX compared to OVX+EX animals (34.93±11.70Kms vs. 3.95±0.85Kms respectively; p<0.01). Despite this discrepancy in distance traveled, there were no significant differences in *soleus* muscle weight between OVX+EX and SHAM+EX (p=0.5) neither between OVX+SED and SHAM+SED (p=1.0). In addition, *soleus* muscle weight was significantly greater in OVX and SHAM exercised animals when compared to OVX and SHAM sedentary counterparts (p<0.05), therefore confirming that animals housed with access to the running wheel were sedentary.

Proximal femur BV/TV was significantly lower in OVX animals compared to baseline and age-marched sham-operated animals (Table 2). Nevertheless, BV/TV was 65% higher in exercised vs. sedentary OVX (p<0.01) and 17% higher in exercised vs. sedentary SHAM animals (p<0.05) (Figure 2). Both OVX and SHAM groups had a lower Tb.N when compared to BSL. Moreover, Tb.N was also lower in the OVX group compared to SHAM. Nevertheless in OVX

animals, Tb.N and Tb.Th were 35% and 23% higher while Tb.Sp was 41% lower in exercised compared to sedentary counterparts while in the SHAM group only Tb.Th was 20% higher in exercised compared to sedentary counterparts. Proximal femur Tb.Th in OVX+EX and SHAM+EX groups, but not in sedentary controls, was also 22% and 24% higher than in baseline controls, respectively. In OVX and SHAM exercised animals, but not in sedentary, proximal femur cortical bone thickness (Ct.Th) was also 11% and 25% higher compared to BSL, respectively.

Distal femur BV/TV and Tb.N were also lower in OVX animals when compared to BSL and SHAM groups but significantly higher in exercised animals compared to sedentary counterparts. In OVX animals, BV/TV was 2-fold and Tb.N 81% higher in exercised than in sedentary animals while in SHAM animals, BV/TV was 30% and Tb.N 17% higher in exercised than in sedentary animals (p<0.05). Additionally, in the OVX animals Tb.Sp was 47% lower in exercised compared to sedentary animals (p<0.05). There were no differences between groups regarding distal femur Ct.Th.

Direct quantification of bone mineral content by atomic mass spectroscopy showed that all groups, with the exception of OVX+SED, had significantly higher calcium contents compared to BSL. However, after normalizing bone calcium content to bone tissue dry weight, only SHAM+EX animals showed a higher calcium density than BSL. In addition, calcium and phosphate density were also shown to be significantly lower in OVX animals when compared to SHAM counterparts. Nevertheless, calcium and phosphate density were significantly higher (in OVX+EX than in OVX+SED animals (3% and 4% respectively; p<0.05). Moreover, OVX+SED group was the only to evidence a significantly lower calcium and phosphate density compared to BSL (5% and 6% respectively; p<0.05). There were no differences in calcium content (p=0.544) and density (p=0.202) between SHAM+EX and SHAM+SED. Calcium to phosphate ratio was identical throughout all groups.

Bone resorption, evidenced by serum CTX concentration, was higher in OVX+SED animals compared to all other groups, while in OVX+EX animals there were no significant differences compared to BSL or SHAM+EX animals. Serum CTX concentration was 17% higher in OVX+SED than in OVX+EX (p<0.05) but similar between SHAM+SED and SHAM+EX (p=0.902). Despite their significantly higher bone resorption rate, OVX+SED animals bone formation rate, evidenced by serum osteocalcin concentration, was not significantly increased compared to BSL (p=0.766) or to OVX+EX (p=0.090).

With age all animals increased bone size, as evidenced by the significantly higher femur length in all groups compared to BSL. Femur length however was 1.7% higher in OVX+EX than in SHAM+EX (p<0.05) and 2.5% in OVX+SED than in SHAM+SED (p<0.01). Nevertheless, there were no differences in femur length between exercised and sedentary animals. Both absolute and relative (after normalization to femur length) FNAL were greater in OVX than in SHAM animals, but significantly lower ( $\approx$ 10%) in OVX+EX and SHAM+EX compared to their sedentary counterparts (p<0.01). Moreover, relative FNAL was significantly higher in OVX+SED (p<0.01) and SHAM+SED (p<0.05), but not in OVX+EX (p=0.087) or SHAM+EX (p=0.231), compared to BSL. Although there were no differences in NSA between exercised and sedentary animals, NSA was 4.3% and 5.0% higher in OVX+EX compared to BSL and to SHAM+EX groups (p<0.01), respectively. There were no differences between groups regarding CFMA and absolute FNW, however relative FNW was  $\approx$ 10% lower in exercised animals compared to BSL (p<0.01).

Regarding RA measurements, no differences were identified between SHAM+EX and SHAM+SED (Figure 3). Conversely, RA differences in total femur and in the femoral neck region were detected between OVX+EX and OVX+SED animals. Moreover in OVX+SED, but not in OVX+EX animals, RA at all sites analyzed, with the exception of the upper region of the femoral neck, was significantly lower than in BSL. Interestingly, total femur RA of the BSL group was higher than in all other groups, with the exception of OVX+EX. Compression testing of the femoral head revealed that Young modulus was significantly higher in OVX+EX compared to BSL (51% higher; p<0.05) and to OVX+SED (72% higher; p<0.05) as well as significantly higher in SHAM+EX compared to BSL (62%; p<0.05) and SHAM+SED (66%; p<0.05). There were however no significant differences in ultimate strength, ultimate stress or energy to fracture between SHAM and OVX groups or between exercised and sedentary animals.

#### Discussion

Our experiments provide three main findings. First, in OVX animals, regular exercise dramatically influenced the bone properties, with exercised animals having a significantly higher trabecular bone volume and bone tissue degree of mineralization than sedentary animals as well as a significantly lower resorption rate. Second, the differences between exercised and sedentary animals were substantially more pronounced in OVX than in SHAM animals, even though SHAM+EX animals exercised 10-fold more than OVX+EX. Finally, exercise improved proximal femur Young modulus in both OVX and SHAM animals when compared to both age-matched sedentary controls as well as to 5-months old baseline controls. A discussion of each of these findings follows.

#### Regular physical activity prevents bone losses in ovariectomized rats

Our findings show that as expected, ovariectomy resulted in a dramatic bone mass loss and trabecular microarchitecture deterioration. However, bone mass losses in OVX animals were prevented to a great extent by regular physical activity, with histomorphometric analysis of both the proximal and distal femur showing notorious differences between exercised and sedentary animals. In the proximal femur, BV/TV (-65%), Tb.N (-35%) and Tb.Th (-23%) were all significantly lower in sedentary than in exercised OVX animals leading to a significantly higher Tb.Sp (+41%) in sedentary than in exercised animals.

In the distal femur the effects of regular physical activity were even more dramatic with sedentary animals displaying half the BV/TV and an 81% lower Tb.N than in exercised animals. Our histomorphometric results show therefore that bone tissue, following estrogen loss, maintains its responsiveness to mechanical stimulation, and that regular physical activity, although not being totally able to avoid bone mass losses, contributes significantly to its preservation. Moreover, the higher BV/TV in exercised animals was mostly attained by the preservation of Tb.N, which was 35% and 81% higher in the proximal and distal femur, respectively, while Tb.Th was only increased in the proximal femur by 23%. As it was suggested previously [25], disruption of the connections between trabecular elements produces a disproportionate loss of bone resistance, for which the increased thickness of the remaining trabeculae can only partly compensate. Therefore exercise protected the most biomechanically significant component of trabecular microarchitecture [25] which is Tb.N.

Our results also show that the effects of exercise in OVX animals were limited to trabecular bone, as there were no significant differences between OVX+SED and OVX+EX animals regarding cortical bone thickness in both the proximal and distal epiphysis. Interestingly, previous studies performed on younger female rats that were exercised in a treadmill caring additional weigh on a backpack [26] have described precisely opposite findings, showing that proximal femur trabecular bone in OVX animals was unaffected by exercise whilst there was an increase in cortical bone, suggesting therefore that trabecular and cortical bone adaptations to exercise are certainly dependent to a great extent on age and exercise characteristics.

The rapid loss of trabecular bone mass is a well established consequence of estrogen deficiency [27] and results from the increased bone turnover and of the unbalance between bone formation and resorption [28]. By measuring the serum concentration of biochemical markers for bone formation (OC) and resorption (CTX), we were able to determine the bone turnover rate and balance. Our results show that bone resorption in OVX+EX animals was similar to that of BSL and SHAM+EX animals. Conversely, in OVX+SED animals, resorption rate was significantly higher than in OVX+EX and was in addition increased by almost 40% in comparison to sham-operated sedentary controls. These results therefore show that regular exercise was able to prevent the increases in bone resorption that follow estrogen loss. In a previous study [29], Lin and colleagues also demonstrated, in ovariectomized rats submitted to 60 days of hind limb immobilization, that bone resorption was significantly lower in the tibia from the load bearing limb than in the tibia from the opposite immobilized limb. In addition of being in agreement with these findings, our results further demonstrate that the effects of

regular physical activity on bone resorption were long lasting as bone resorption was maintained close to baseline levels even 9 months after ovariectomy.

In addition of leading to a progressive bone tissue loss, increases in bone turnover rate and excessive bone resorption also have a negative effect on bone tissue mineral content by reducing the time available for secondary mineralization to take place [30]. Consequently, by reducing the rate of bone turnover in OVX animals, we also hypothesized that exercise could have affected bone mineral content following estrogen loss. Previous studies have shown conflicting results in this regard, with exercise effects on bone mineral content varying according to exercise intensity, training duration and skeletal site analyzed [22, 31]. In our study, bone tissue degree of mineralization (calcium and phosphate density) was lower in OVX+SED compared to OVX+EX animals. Additionally, bone tissue mineralization degree was lower in OVX+SED, but not in OVX+EX animals, when compared to BSL controls, showing therefore that exercise was able to preserve bone mineral content following ovariectomy. Interestingly, total calcium content was even higher in OVX+EX animals than in BSL controls, which could be, at least partially, caused by the greater femur length in ovariectomized animals.

Besides decreasing bone mass, loss of estrogen is also shown to promote skeletal muscle mass losses [32] which may increase fracture risk due to the higher risk of fall [33]. Determination of the *soleus* muscle weight showed that muscle mass was significantly higher in exercised than in sedentary ovariectomized animals suggesting therefore that sarcopenia, a risk factor for both decreased bone quality and falls [33], was prevented by regular physical activity in ovariectomized animals.

Notoriously, the effects of ovariectomy and of exercise on bone tissue volume and mineralization degree were also detected by RA measurements, with a greater total femur and femoral neck RA detected in OVX+EX than in OVX+SED. No differences were however identified in the remaining analyzed regions of the femur. This result suggests that RA was

169

sensitive enough to detect the most meaningful differences between exercised and sedentary OVX animals, but unable to detect the more subtle differences evidenced between exercised and sedentary sham-operated animals.

Regular physical activity has a more pronounced effect on bone tissue of ovariectomized than of intact animals

Previous studies [34] show that estrogen receptor (ER) expression is down-regulated by low estrogen levels on bone cells, leading thereby to a lower ER expression in OVX animals. Importantly, ERs are involved in the signaling pathways that mediate bone tissue adaptations to mechanical loading [34-37]. For instance, proliferation is higher in osteoblasts that overexpress ER and is blocked by ER antagonists [35]. Additionally, mechanical loading of the ulna of wildtype mice results in significantly higher cortical bone increases than in the ulna of ER null mice [37]. Recent studies also suggested that ERs are involved in Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling [36], regulating thereby bone tissue adaptations to mechanical loading [38]. Together these findings suggest that ovariectomy might lead to a decrease in bone tissue responsiveness to mechanical loading.

Our study however showed opposite results with substantially higher differences between OVX+EX and OVX+SED animals than between SHAM+EX and SHAM+SED animals. While in OVX animals, exercise affected proximal femur BV/TV (+65%), Tb.Sp (-41%), distal femur BV/TV (2-fold increase), Tb.Sp (-47%) and bone tissue mineralization degree (+3%), in SHAM animals the effects of exercise were only seen in proximal (+30%) and distal (+17%) femur BV/TV. Furthermore, differences in Young modulus between OVX+EX and OVX+SED were higher (72%) than between SHAM+EX and SHAM+SED (66%). These finding are quite interesting considering that SHAM+EX animals were significantly more active than OVX+EX, running per week a 10-fold higher distance (34.93±11.70Kms vs. 3.95±0.85Kms respectively; p<0.01). Therefore, OVX animals were not only more sensitive to the stimulus provided by exercise, as they were also

the ones that benefited the most with it, even though they performed only a fraction of the exercise performed by SHAM counterparts. As body weight in OVX+EX animals was higher than in SHAM+EX, it is possible that this additional weight bearing might have enhanced the effects of exercise on bone tissue of OVX animals.

# Regular physical activity improves bone tissue quality in ovariectomized animals but does not promote significant geometrical adaptations

Biomechanical testing demonstrated that exercise was able to improve bone tissue quality in ovariectomized animals. Young modulus at the femoral neck was not only 72% higher in OVX+EX animals compared to OVX+SED, as it was also 52% higher when compared to baseline controls, showing therefore that exercise not just prevented the decrease, as it also improved bone mechanical properties in OVX animals.

In a previous study by our group [13], we have identified a significant correlation between the femoral neck Young modulus and Tb.Th (r=0.502, p<0.01), calcium content (r=0.449, p<0.01) and phosphate content (r=0.389, p<0.05) being these variables responsible for about 32% of the Young modulus variance. Our results now demonstrate that these several bone properties were all significantly increased in OVX+EX animals leading thereby to a significant improvement in femur biomechanical performance.

Our previous studies [13] have also shown that the femoral neck ultimate strength correlated significantly with femur length (r=0.470, p<0.05), FNAL (r=0.559, p<0.01) and FNW (r=0.504, p<0.01). A significant correlation between FNAL and FNW with femoral neck strength has also been identified by others [39]. (Interestingly, FNAL was shown to be higher in sedentary than in exercised animals, This increase was observed in both SHAM and OVX animals, suggesting that favorable geometric adaptations occurred in sedentary instead of in exercised animals. Bone mechanical properties are the outcome of bone tissue properties as well as of the way bone tissue is spatially organized [9]. These is compelling evidence [39, 40],

suggesting that bone geometry changes synergistically with material properties, and that changes in bone geometry are often a compensatory strategy to preserve bone strength as a result of deficits in bone tissue amount and quality. The existence of an increased FNAL in both groups of sedentary animals therefore suggests that there was a change in the femoral neck geometry in order to compensate for decreases in bone material properties, thereby preventing decreases in bone ultimate strength in sedentary animals, which is a verification of the classical Frost's mechanostat model [41] of bone adaptation to mechanical loading.

## Summary and conclusions

Our experiments provide significant findings regarding the effects that voluntary exercise has in the prevention of bone tissue quality decreases as long as 9 months after ovariectomy. We demonstrate here that exercise was able to preserve femoral neck trabecular architecture, increased bone tissue mineralization degree and significantly decreased bone resorption rate in exercised OVX animals compared to sedentary counterparts. Skeletal adaptations to exercise were also shown to be more pronounced in OVX than in SHAM animals. Finally, exercise resulted essentially in improvements in bone tissue quality but not in proximal femur geometric adaptations, resulting in a significantly higher Young modulus, but not in significant increases in bone ultimate strength.

## Acknowledgments

The authors express their gratitude towards Celeste Resende and Dr.ª Teresa Caldeira for their most valuable technical assistance during the experimental procedures. The present work was supported by Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (FCT) grant PTDC/DES/103047/2008. First and second authors are recipients of FCT fellows SFRH/BD/38110/2007 and SFRH/BD/33123/2007 respectively.

## **Conflict of Interest**

All authors declare to have no disclosures.

## References

- 1. Delmas PD (2002) Treatment of postmenopausal osteoporosis. Lancet 359:2018-2026
- 2. Shane E, Burr D, Ebeling PR, Abrahamsen B, Adler RA, et al. (2010) Atypical subtrochanteric and diaphyseal femoral fractures: report of a task force of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research. J Bone Miner Res 25:2267-2294
- Nurmi-Lawton JA, Baxter-Jones AD, Mirwald RL, Bishop JA, Taylor P, Cooper C, New SA (2004) Evidence of sustained skeletal benefits from impact-loading exercise in young females: a 3-year longitudinal study. J Bone Miner Res 19:314-322
- MacKelvie KJ, Khan KM, McKay HA (2002) Is there a critical period for bone response to weight-bearing exercise in children and adolescents? a systematic review. Br J Sports Med 36:250-257; discussion 257
- 5. Karlsson MK, Linden C, Karlsson C, Johnell O, Obrant K, Seeman E (2000) Exercise during growth and bone mineral density and fractures in old age. Lancet 355:469-470
- 6. Kelley GA, Kelley KS (2006) Exercise and bone mineral density at the femoral neck in postmenopausal women: a meta-analysis of controlled clinical trials with individual patient data. Am J Obstet Gynecol 194:760-767
- Cefalu CA (2004) Is bone mineral density predictive of fracture risk reduction? Curr Med Res Opin 20:341-349
- Seeman E (2007) Is a change in bone mineral density a sensitive and specific surrogate of anti-fracture efficacy? Bone 41:308-317
- Seeman E, Delmas PD (2006) Bone quality--the material and structural basis of bone strength and fragility. N Engl J Med 354:2250-2261
- 10. Delmas PD, Seeman E (2004) Changes in bone mineral density explain little of the reduction in vertebral or nonvertebral fracture risk with anti-resorptive therapy. Bone 34:599-604

- 11. Sarkar S, Mitlak BH, Wong M, Stock JL, Black DM, Harper KD (2002) Relationships between bone mineral density and incident vertebral fracture risk with raloxifene therapy. J Bone Miner Res 17:1-10
- 12. Haguenauer D, Welch V, Shea B, Tugwell P, Adachi JD, Wells G (2000) Fluoride for the treatment of postmenopausal osteoporotic fractures: a meta-analysis. Osteoporos Int 11:727-738
- Fonseca H, Moreira-Goncalves D, Esteves JL, Ferreira R, Amado F, Mota MP, Duarte JA (In Press) Changes in proximal femur bone properties following ovariectomy and their association with resistance to fracture. J Bone Miner Metab
- 14. Wittich A, Mautalen CA, Oliveri MB, Bagur A, Somoza F, Rotemberg E (1998) Professional football (soccer) players have a markedly greater skeletal mineral content, density and size than age- and BMI-matched controls. Calcif Tissue Int 63:112-117
- 15. Haapasalo H, Kontulainen S, Sievanen H, Kannus P, Jarvinen M, Vuori I (2000) Exerciseinduced bone gain is due to enlargement in bone size without a change in volumetric bone density: a peripheral quantitative computed tomography study of the upper arms of male tennis players. Bone 27:351-357
- 16. Symmons R (2004) Digital photodensitometry: a reliable and accessible method for measuring bone density. J Archaeol Sci 31:711-719
- Cosman F, Herrington B, Himmelstein S, Lindsay R (1991) Radiographic absorptiometry: a simple method for determination of bone mass. Osteoporos Int 2:34-38
- 18. Wang Q, Teo JW, Ghasem-Zadeh A, Seeman E (2009) Women and men with hip fractures have a longer femoral neck moment arm and greater impact load in a sideways fall. Osteoporos Int 20:1151-1156
- Chappard C, Bousson V, Bergot C, Mitton D, Marchadier A, Moser T, Benhamou CL,
   Laredo JD (2010) Prediction of femoral fracture load: cross-sectional study of texture

175

analysis and geometric measurements on plain radiographs versus bone mineral density. Radiology 255:536-543

- 20. Parfitt AM, Drezner MK, Glorieux FH, Kanis JA, Malluche H, Meunier PJ, Ott SM, Recker RR (1987) Bone histomorphometry: standardization of nomenclature, symbols, and units. Report of the ASBMR Histomorphometry Nomenclature Committee. J Bone Miner Res 2:595-610
- Turner CH, Burr DB (1993) Basic biomechanical measurements of bone: a tutorial.
   Bone 14:595-608
- 22. Peng Z, Tuukkanen J, Vaananen HK (1994) Exercise can provide protection against bone loss and prevent the decrease in mechanical strength of femoral neck in ovariectomized rats. J Bone Miner Res 9:1559-1564
- Monro PP, Purrier BJ, Shearer JR (1987) Use of histological samples for assessing skeletal calcium. J Clin Pathol 40:50-52
- 24. Carles J (1956) [Colorimetric microdetermination of phosphorus.]. Bull Soc Chim Biol (Paris) 38:255-257
- 25. Parfitt AM (1987) Trabecular bone architecture in the pathogenesis and prevention of fracture. Am J Med 82:68-72
- 26. Tromp AM, Bravenboer N, Tanck E, Oostlander A, Holzmann PJ, Kostense PJ, Roos JC, Burger EH, Huiskes R, Lips P (2006) Additional weight bearing during exercise and estrogen in the rat: the effect on bone mass, turnover, and structure. Calcif Tissue Int 79:404-415
- Boyd SK, Davison P, Muller R, Gasser JA (2006) Monitoring individual morphological changes over time in ovariectomized rats by in vivo micro-computed tomography.
   Bone 39:854-862

- 28. Westerlind KC, Wronski TJ, Ritman EL, Luo ZP, An KN, Bell NH, Turner RT (1997) Estrogen regulates the rate of bone turnover but bone balance in ovariectomized rats is modulated by prevailing mechanical strain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:4199-4204
- 29. Lin BY, Jee WS, Chen MM, Ma YF, Ke HZ, Li XJ (1994) Mechanical loading modifies ovariectomy-induced cancellous bone loss. Bone Miner 25:199-210
- Boivin G, Meunier PJ (2002) Changes in bone remodeling rate influence the degree of mineralization of bone. Connect Tissue Res 43:535-537
- 31. Barengolts EI, Curry DJ, Bapna MS, Kukreja SC (1993) Effects of two non-endurance exercise protocols on established bone loss in ovariectomized adult rats. Calcif Tissue Int 52:239-243
- 32. Dionne IJ, Kinaman KA, Poehlman ET (2000) Sarcopenia and muscle function during menopause and hormone-replacement therapy. J Nutr Health Aging 4:156-161
- 33. Szulc P, Beck TJ, Marchand F, Delmas PD (2005) Low skeletal muscle mass is associated with poor structural parameters of bone and impaired balance in elderly men--the MINOS study. J Bone Miner Res 20:721-729
- Zaman G, Jessop HL, Muzylak M, De Souza RL, Pitsillides AA, Price JS, Lanyon LL (2006)
   Osteocytes use estrogen receptor alpha to respond to strain but their ERalpha content is regulated by estrogen. J Bone Miner Res 21:1297-1306
- 35. Zaman G, Cheng MZ, Jessop HL, White R, Lanyon LE (2000) Mechanical strain activates estrogen response elements in bone cells. Bone 27:233-239
- 36. Armstrong VJ, Muzylak M, Sunters A, Zaman G, Saxon LK, Price JS, Lanyon LE (2007) Wnt/beta-catenin signaling is a component of osteoblastic bone cell early responses to load-bearing and requires estrogen receptor alpha. J Biol Chem 282:20715-20727
- 37. Lee K, Jessop H, Suswillo R, Zaman G, Lanyon L (2003) Endocrinology: bone adaptation requires oestrogen receptor-alpha. Nature 424:389

- 38. Robinson JA, Chatterjee-Kishore M, Yaworsky PJ, Cullen DM, Zhao W, Li C, Kharode Y, Sauter L, Babij P, Brown EL, Hill AA, Akhter MP, Johnson ML, Recker RR, Komm BS, Bex FJ (2006) Wnt/beta-catenin signaling is a normal physiological response to mechanical loading in bone. J Biol Chem 281:31720-31728
- 39. Cheng XG, Lowet G, Boonen S, Nicholson PH, Brys P, Nijs J, Dequeker J (1997) Assessment of the strength of proximal femur in vitro: relationship to femoral bone mineral density and femoral geometry. Bone 20:213-218
- 40. Ahlborg HG, Johnell O, Turner CH, Rannevik G, Karlsson MK (2003) Bone loss and bone size after menopause. N Engl J Med 349:327-334
- 41. Frost HM (1987) Bone "mass" and the "mechanostat": a proposal. Anat Rec 219:1-9

## **List of Tables**

|                              | BSL           | SHAM                    |                    | OVX                           |                               |
|------------------------------|---------------|-------------------------|--------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------------------|
|                              |               | SED                     | EX                 | SED                           | EX                            |
| 17β-estradiol (pg/mL)        | 88.9 ± 18.73  | 82.3 ± 19.51            | 86.7 ± 16.57       | $20.4 \pm 5.69^{ac}$          | $16.7 \pm 4.78^{ac}$          |
| Initial body weigth (g)      | 262.0 ± 16.51 | $269.8 \pm 16.70$       | 241.8 ± 9.61       | 267.1 ± 28.72                 | 260.3 ± 18.32                 |
| Body weight at sacrifice (g) |               | 324.7 ± 39.67           | 303.2 ± 41.27      | 363.5 ± 31.79                 | $400.9 \pm 36.61^{\circ}$     |
| Body weight variation (%)    |               | 21.0 ± 11.19            | 25.3 ± 15.85       | $35.4 \pm 7.13$ <sup>bc</sup> | 54.1 $\pm$ 11.27 <sup>c</sup> |
| Soleus muscle weigth (mg)    | 222 ± 23.0    | 211 ± 23.5 <sup>b</sup> | $288 \pm 26.6^{a}$ | $210 \pm 20.6$ <sup>b</sup>   | $261 \pm 31.3^{a}$            |

## Table 1. Group analysis for estrogen concentration, body weight and soleus muscle weight

Results are mean ± standard deviation. a - p<0.05 versus BSL; b - p<0.05 versus EX counterpart; c - p<0.05 versus SHAM counterpart. BSL – baseline control (5-months old); OVX – ovariectomized; SHAM – sham-operated; EX – exercised; SED – sedentary.

| Variable                        | BSL             | SHAM                                  |                           | OVX                                 |                                   |
|---------------------------------|-----------------|---------------------------------------|---------------------------|-------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|
|                                 |                 | SED                                   | EX                        | SED                                 | EX                                |
| Proximal Femur Histomorphometry | ,               |                                       |                           |                                     |                                   |
|                                 | 477 ± 59.7      | <mark>511 ± 22.7<sup>b</sup></mark>   | $596 \pm 30.5^{\circ}$    | 484 ± 50.0                          | 527 ± 38.6 <sup>ac</sup>          |
| BV/TV (%)                       | 42.1 ± 3.01     | <mark>39.0 ± 5.06<sup>b</sup></mark>  | 45.7 ± 3.48               | 22.3 ± 4.89 <sup>abc</sup>          | 36.8 ± 5.38 <sup>ac</sup>         |
| Tb.Th (μm)                      | 94.4 ± 8.61     | <mark>97.8 ± 7.95<sup>b</sup></mark>  | 117.0 ± 8.95 <sup>ª</sup> | 94.1 ± 3.97 <sup>b</sup>            | 115.4 ± 7.03 <sup>a</sup>         |
| Tb.N (/mm)                      | 4.47 ± 0.14     | $3.97 \pm 0.24^{a}$                   | $3.91 \pm 0.22^{a}$       | 2.36 ± 0.43 <sup>abc</sup>          | $3.18 \pm 0.41^{ac}$              |
| Tb.Sp (μm)                      | 130 ± 7.6       | $155 \pm 23.2^{a}$                    | 140 ± 13.7                | 342 ± 84.2 <sup>abc</sup>           | $204 \pm 44.2^{ac}$               |
| Distal Femur                    |                 |                                       |                           |                                     |                                   |
| Histomorphometry                |                 |                                       |                           |                                     |                                   |
| Ct.Th (μm)                      | 428 ± 71.0      | 383 ± 46.6                            | 394 <u>+</u> 62.2         | 406 ± 42.6                          | 418 ± 45.2                        |
| BV/TV (%)                       | 30.1 ± 4.78     | $22.1 \pm 8.12^{ab}$                  | 28.8 ± 3.40               | $5.6 \pm 1.37^{abc}$                | $11.4 \pm 3.90^{ac}$              |
| Tb.Th (μm)                      | 50.8 ± 5.47     | $\frac{56.7 \pm 6.49^{b}}{200}$       | 64.3 ± 2.64°              | $59.6 \pm 6.97^{\circ}$             | 65.9 ± 8.00°                      |
| Tb.N (/mm)                      | $5.90 \pm 0.40$ | 3.82 ± 1.02 <sup>ab</sup>             | 4.49 ± 0.52°              | $0.94 \pm 0.21^{abc}$               | $1.69 \pm 0.43^{\circ\circ}$      |
| Tb.Sp (μm)                      | 119 ± 15        | $223 \pm 91^{\circ}$                  | 161 <u>+</u> 28°          | $1056 \pm 248^{abc}$                | 556 <u>+</u> 152°°                |
| Mineral content                 |                 |                                       | _                         | _                                   | _                                 |
| Calcium content (mg)            | 98.7 ± 6.92     | $107.5 \pm 4.69^{a}$                  | $109.7 \pm 6.19^{a}$      | 99.2 ± 5.54 <sup>bc</sup>           | $114.7 \pm 3.86^{\circ}$          |
| Calcium density (%)             | 22.7 ± 0.87     | 23.22 ± 0.81                          | $24.09 \pm 0.16^{a}$      | 21.63 ± 0.24 <sup>abc</sup>         | $22.25 \pm 0.24^{\circ}$          |
| Phosphate content (mg)          | 36.9 ± 2.52     | 38.02 ± 3.66                          | $40.74 \pm 2.39^{a}$      | 37.47 ± 3.01 <sup>b</sup>           | 41.82 ± 2.96 <sup>a</sup>         |
| Phosphate density (%)           | 8.48 ± 0.278    | 8.52 ± 0.311 <sup>b</sup>             | 8.95 ± 0.167 <sup>a</sup> | 7.96 ± 0.032 <sup>abc</sup>         | 8.28 <u>+</u> 0.209 <sup>c</sup>  |
| Calcium/Phosphate ratio         | 2.7 ± 0.05      | 2.7 ± 0.07                            | 2.7 ± 0.04                | $2.7 \pm 0.04$                      | 2.7 ± 0.07                        |
| Bone turnover markers           |                 |                                       |                           |                                     |                                   |
| Osteocalcin (ng/mL)             | 89.9 ± 34.81    | $56.7 \pm 21.34^{a}$                  | 56.9 ± 21.58              | $95.0 \pm 34.48^{\circ}$            | 63.9 <u>+</u> 18.85               |
| CTX (ng/mL)                     | 11.5 ± 1.93     | $10.9 \pm 1.41$                       | $10.8 \pm 1.58$           | 14.9 ± 2.33 <sup>abc</sup>          | $12.3 \pm 1.20$                   |
| Geometry                        |                 |                                       |                           |                                     |                                   |
| Length (mm)                     | 34.2 ± 0.64     | $35.47 \pm 0.37^{a}$                  | $35.53 \pm 0.350^{a}$     | $36.35 \pm 0.662^{ac}$              | $36.12 \pm 0.297^{ac}$            |
| FNAL (mm)                       | 9.5 ± 0.54      | 10.5 ± 0.84 <sup>ab</sup>             | 9.5 ± 0.42                | 11.5 ± 0.44 <sup>abc</sup>          | $10.5 \pm 0.50^{ac}$              |
| Relative FNAL (%)               | 27.7 ± 1.32     | <mark>29.9 ± 2.35<sup>ab</sup></mark> | 26.7 ± 1.05               | 31.8 ± 1.19 <sup>abc</sup>          | $29.1 \pm 1.55^{\circ}$           |
| NSA ( <sup>°</sup> )            | 128.9 ± 3.08    | 130.2 ± 4.04                          | 128.0 ± 2.44              | 131.5 ± 4.32                        | 134.5 <u>+</u> 2.67 <sup>ac</sup> |
| FNW (mm)                        | 2.59 ± 0.168    | 2.55 ± 0.118                          | 2.43 ± 0.139              | 2.62 ± 0.197                        | 2.47 ± 0.127                      |
| Relative FNW (%)                | 7.57 ± 0.391    | 7.26 ± 0.184                          | 6.84 ± 0.389 <sup>a</sup> | 7.19 ± 0.528                        | 6.85 ± 0.337 <sup>a</sup>         |
| CFMA (mm)                       | 3.81 ± 1.090    | 4.74 ± 1.576                          | 3.36 ± 0.993              | 4.58 ± 1.263                        | 3.51 ± 0.983                      |
| Relative CFMA (%)               | 11.1 ± 3.18     | 13.5 ± 4.38                           | 9.5 ± 2.56                | 12.6 ± 3.31                         | 9.8 ± 2.61                        |
| Radiographic absorptiometry     |                 |                                       |                           |                                     |                                   |
| Femoral head (%)                | 147 ± 14.9      | 142 ± 9.6                             | 139 ± 11.9                | $125 \pm 10.8^{ac}$                 | 136 ± 8.1                         |
| Femoral neck (upper área) (%)   | 98 ± 12.5       | 95 ± 5.1                              | 97 ± 13.1                 | <mark>93 ± 9.5<sup>b</sup></mark>   | $114 \pm 6.6^{ac}$                |
| Femoral neck (central area) (%) | 115 ± 15.7      | 106 ± 7.7                             | 110 ± 12.9                | 95 ± 3.7 <sup>ab</sup>              | 117 ± 4.4                         |
| Trochanter major (%)            | 131 ± 12.2      | 127 ± 10.8                            | 129 ± 11.8                | $118 \pm 8.7^{a}$                   | 126 <u>+</u> 9.7                  |
| Trochanter minor (%)            | 141 ± 13.0      | 134 ± 10.6                            | 133 ± 7.4                 | $122 \pm 11.0^{a}$                  | 134 ± 12.7                        |
| Intertrochanteric region (%)    | 139 ± 13.7      | 139 ± 11.5                            | 132 ± 13.3                | $123 \pm 8.4^{a}$                   | 133 ± 7.5                         |
| Total fémur (%)                 | 122 ± 16.8      | $100 \pm 3.3^{a}$                     | $103 \pm 7.8^{a}$         | <mark>94 ± 3.8<sup>ab</sup></mark>  | $112 \pm 9.2^{\circ}$             |
| <b>Biomechanical testing</b>    |                 |                                       |                           |                                     |                                   |
| Ultimate strength (N)           | 133.7 ± 26.17   | 131.3 ± 36.02                         | 104.9 ± 7.95              | 142.3 ± 20.74                       | 126.4 ± 24.62                     |
| Ultimate stress (MPa)           | 21.97 ± 3.522   | 22.59 ± 2.753                         | 23.96 ± 4.984             | 26.53 ± 3.972                       | 25.89 ± 3.893                     |
| Young´s modulus (MPa)           | 350 ± 162.9     | <mark>341 ± 97.9<sup>b</sup></mark>   | 566 ± 230.9 <sup>a</sup>  | <mark>310 ± 38.3<sup>b</sup></mark> | 531 ± 127.6 <sup>ª</sup>          |
| Ultimate strain                 | 8.5 ± 2.07      | 7.5 ± 1.66                            | $6.0 \pm 1.00^{a}$        | 9.6 ± 2.70                          | 7.4 ± 1.49                        |
| Energy to fracture (KJ)         | 935 ± 235.7     | 879 ± 123.7                           | 680 ± 137.4               | 1209 ± 566.5                        | 971 ± 514.1                       |

Table 2. Descriptive statistics and group comparisons for bone properties assayed

Results are mean ± standard deviation. a - p<0.05 versus BSL; b - p<0.05 versus EX counterpart; c - p<0.05 versus SHAM counterpart. BSL - baseline controls (5-months old); OVX – ovariectomized; SHAM – sham-operated; EX – exercised; SED – sedentary. BV/TV - trabecular bone volume fraction; Tb.N - trabecular number; Tb.Sp - trabecular separation; Tb. Th - trabecular thickness; Ct.Th - cortical thickness; FNW – femoral neck width; CFMA – compression force moment arm; FNAL – femoral neck axis length; NSA – neck shaft angle; CTX- C-terminal telopeptides of type I collagen; OC – osteocalcin.

## **List of Figure Captions**

**Figure 1.** Diagram of the right femur x-ray image. a) Representation of the regions of interest (ROI) where radiographic absorptiometry was determined: total femur (dotted line), femoral head (1), upper area of the femoral neck (2), central area of the femoral neck (3), intertrochanteric region (4), trocanter major (5) trocanter minor (6) and standard referent (0). b) Representation of the femoral neck geometric parameters assayed: FNW – femoral neck width; CFMA – compression force moment arm; FNAL – femoral neck axis length; NSA – neck shaft angle.

**Figure 2.** Micrographs of decalcified bone sections stained with H&E evidencing trabecular microarchitecture in: a) coronal sections of the femoral neck region; b) sagital sections of the femoral distal metaphysis. It is possible to appreciate a higher trabecular bone volume fraction (BV/TV) in both the proximal and distal femur of exercised animals in comparison to their respective sedentary counterparts. Bar is 500µm. BSL – baseline control (5-months old); OVX – ovariectomized; SHAM – sham-operated; EX – exercised; SED – sedentary.

**Figure 3**. Representative X-ray images of the animal's right femur showing overall differences in radiographic absorptiometry between groups. Differences in radiographic absorptiometry measurements between exercised and sedentary animals were only identified in ovariectomized animals, namely for total femur and femoral neck region, but not between exercised and sedentary sham-operated animals. It is possible to appreciate the presence of the standard reference included in each radiograph for calibration purposes. BSL – baseline control (5-months old); OVX – ovariectomized; SHAM – sham-operated; EX – exercised; SED – sedentary.

181







## Study 5

Fonseca H, Moreira-Gonçalves D, Esteves JL, Viriato N, Vaz M, Mota MP, Duarte JA. (2011) Voluntary Exercise has Long-Term In Vivo Protective Effects on Osteocyte Viability and Bone Strength Following Ovariectomy. Calcif Tissue Int. 88(6):443-54 *Reprinted here with the kind permission of Springer (licence nr 2691930518013)* 

**Experimental Studies** 

## ORIGINAL RESEARCH

## Voluntary Exercise has Long-Term In Vivo Protective Effects on Osteocyte Viability and Bone Strength Following Ovariectomy

Hélder Fonseca · Daniel Moreira-Gonçalves · José Luís Soares Esteves · Nuno Viriato · Mário Vaz · Maria Paula Mota · José Alberto Duarte

Received: 13 December 2010/Accepted: 25 February 2011 © Springer Science+Business Media, LLC 2011

Abstract Osteocytes are recognized as having a pivotal role in bone tissue homeostasis, and stimuli that increase osteocyte death result in decreased bone tissue quality. Previous in vitro studies have shown that mechanical stimulation prevents osteocyte death; however, in vivo evidence of this protective effect is limited. The aim of this study was to investigate if mechanical stimulation provided by voluntary exercise reduces osteocyte death caused by estrogen deficiency. Thirty-two female Wistar rats (5 months old) were either sacrificed as baseline controls (BSL, n = 7), ovariectomized or sham-operated and housed in cages with a voluntary running wheel (OVXEX, n = 7; SHAMEX, n = 6), or ovariectomized or shamoperated and housed in standard cages of equivalent size (OVXSED, n = 6; SHAMSED, n = 6) and sacrificed at age 14 months. Histomorphometric analysis of femur middiaphysis cortical bone revealed a significantly higher osteocyte number (N.Ot) and lower empty lacunae number (N.Lc) in both the OVXEX and SHAMEX groups compared to their SED counterparts. Intracortical porosity (Po.Ar) was also lower in both EX groups compared to their SED counterparts and significantly correlated with

The authors have stated that they have no conflict of interest.

H. Fonseca (⊠) · D. Moreira-Gonçalves · J. A. Duarte
 Faculdade de Desporto, Universidade do Porto, Rua Dr. Plácido
 Costa, 91, 4200-450 Porto, Portugal
 e-mail: helder.rmf@gmail.com

J. L. S. Esteves · N. Viriato · M. Vaz INEGI, Faculty of Engineering, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal

M. P. Mota

CATED, Department of Sport, University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Vila Real, Portugal N.Lc (r = 0.616; P < 0.001). Three-point bending testing showed a significantly higher Young's modulus and ultimate stress in OVXEX compared to OVXSED and significant correlations between N.Lc and both yield stress (r = -0.376, P < 0.05) and ultimate stress (r = -0.369, P < 0.05) and between intracortical porosity and bone ultimate stress (r = -0.451, P < 0.05). Our results show that voluntary exercise prevented osteocyte death and that this protective effect was associated with increases in femur ultimate stress, which could be partially explained by decreases in Po.Ar.

**Keywords** Osteocyte death · Cortical porosity · Mechanical strain · Osteoporosis · Bone fragility

Since osteoblasts and osteoclasts are more actively involved in bone remodeling, they have been the most broadly studied bone cells. Substantial evidence, however, shows that osteocytes are also actively involved in both the local and systemic regulation of bone tissue metabolism. Osteocytes are considered the best candidates for detecting and coordinating local responses to mechanical and chemical signals due to their ubiquitous location within the bone matrix [1]. They contact through cytoplasmatic projections within canaliculi forming a syncytial network linked by adherent and gap junctions or hemichannels [2]. There is evidence showing that communication between osteocytes [3] and between osteocytes and osteoblasts or preosteoblastic cells regulates osteoblast differentiation, proliferation [4], and survival [2], controlling the rate of bone formation [5] by allowing the diffusion of second messengers, like nitric oxide [6], glutamate [7], and prostaglandins [8], throughout the osteocyte network. More recently, the identification of sclerostin secretion by osteocytes [9] and of its role as a regulator of bone formation [10] has reinforced the active role of osteocytes in bone remodeling.

Osteocyte viability appears to reduce with ageing [11], especially following estrogen deficiency [12], an effect that has been previously demonstrated in rats [13] as well as in humans [14]. Experimental animals show an increase in the number of apoptotic osteocytes as soon as 3 weeks after ovariectomy (OVX), which is reversed through estrogenreplacement therapy [13]. The mechanism through which estrogen protects osteocytes may include both classical receptor-dependent gene-activation effects [15] as well as receptor-independent effects due to the antioxidant properties of estrogen [16].

The decline in osteocyte number is paralleled by increases in bone fragility [17]. Experimental evidence demonstrates that osteocyte ablation rapidly leads to microfracture proliferation and decreased bone strength [18], showing that the presence of a viable osteocyte network is critical for maintenance of bone health. If in the short term an increase in bone fragility seems to be due to increased osteoclast recruitment by signals released by apoptotic osteocytes [19], in the long term an osteocyte decrease is linked with reduced bone remodeling and a consequent increase in microfracture proliferation [20] as well as reduced bone vascularity and hydration [21].

Despite detecting and converting mechanical into biochemical signals within bone, osteocytes seem to depend on these same mechanical signals for their own survival [22]. Tail-suspended mice show a rapid increase in osteocyte apoptosis, which is later followed closely by increases in osteoclast number and intracortical porosity and by reduced bone strength [23]. In vitro studies also demonstrate that cultured osteocytes subjected to cyclic mechanical stimulation have increased viability compared to unstimulated cultured osteocytes [22] and that fluid shear stress increases in osteocytes the Bcl-2/Bax ratio [24]. These findings indicate mechanical stimulation as a likely candidate for counteracting the extensive osteocyte death that occurs after estrogen loss. However, it is uncertain if these findings are also applicable to in vivo bones. Hence, further studies using in vivo models are needed to support the effectiveness of increased mechanical stimulation on osteocyte survival. These data would have meaningful clinical value in dealing with age-induced bone deterioration-namely, following menopause, where the lack of estrogen has a rapid deleterious effect on osteocyte viability [13], ultimately compromising bone strength [18]. If osteocyte death is a hallmark of bone fragility after menopause, osteocytes could be a target for prevention of bone fragility by the potential protective effects of mechanical stimulation.

Therefore, the objective of this study was to evaluate if in vivo mechanical stimulation induced by voluntary exercise reduces osteocyte death stimulated by estrogen deficiency in rats, with protective effects on bone mechanical properties. For this purpose, we used OVX female Wistar rats as a model in which osteocyte death is enhanced and voluntary daily physical activity performed in running wheels as a strategy to increase bone mechanical strain. Based on the results of previous in vitro studies [22, 24], we hypothesized that daily voluntary exercise would effectively counteract osteocyte death induced by estrogen loss and that this protective effect would prevent the deterioration of bone mechanical properties.

#### Materials and Methods

Animal Models and Experimental Design

All procedures involving animal care were approved by the local ethics committee and were in compliance with the "Guiding Principles in the Care and Use of Animals" approved by the Council of the American Physiological Society in 1991.

Following arrival, 32 nulliparous female Wistar rats aged 5 months (Charles River Laboratories, Barcelona, Spain) were randomly ovariectomized (OVX, n = 13), shamoperated (SHAM, n = 12) or killed as baseline controls following 1 week of quarantine (BSL, n = 7). Bilateral OVX was performed by the standard ventral approach [25] under anesthesia with 4% sevoflurane. In SHAM animals the ovaries were exposed but not removed. After 1 week of recovery, the OVX and SHAM groups were each divided into two subgroups of exercised (OVXEX, n = 7; SHA-MEX, n = 6) or sedentary (OVXSED, n = 6; SHAMSED, n = 6). Rats in the exercise subgroups were housed in cages equipped with an activity wheel and distance counter (Tecniplast, Buguggiate, Italy), allowing them to run at will. The running distance of each rat was recorded weekly. Rats in the sedentary subgroups were housed in identical cages without a running wheel. All animals were housed individually and maintained in an inverted 12-h light/dark cycle in a humidity/ temperature-controlled environment. Standard rat chow and water was provided ad libitum throughout the experimental period. The body weight of each animal was recorded weekly.

### Animal Sacrifice and Tissue Harvesting

After 9 months of housing (at 14 months of age), OVX and SHAM rats were sacrificed by exsanguination under anesthesia with 4% sevoflurane, with blood collected from the vena cava used for assaying the estrogen concentration. Both femora were removed and cleared of surround soft tissue. The right femur was used for biomechanical testing



and the left femur, for histology (Fig. 1a). Soleus muscles from both hind limbs were dissected and weighted collectively with an analytical balance (Kern 870; resolution 0.01 mg). The right soleus muscle was prepared for histology to evaluate the effectiveness of the exercise protocol by quantification of muscle fiber cross-sectional area.

## Histology

The left femoral length was measured with a digital caliper (Powerfix, Leeds, UK, resolution 0.01 mm) from the proximal surface of the trochanter major to the distal surface of both femoral condyles. The midpoint of the diaphysis was determined, and a transverse section was cut with a circular diamond saw from the measured midpoint to 3 mm above this point (proximal direction) (Fig. 1a). The saw was continuously kept wet in cold PBS during the cutting procedure. Mid-diaphysis bone samples were then fixed and decalcified in a solution of 4% paraformaldehyde, 2.5% sucrose (Sigma, St. Louis, MO), 0.1% glutaraldehyde (TAAB, Aldermaston, UK) and 10% EDTA (Sigma) in PBS (pH 7.2) at 4°C for 3 weeks. They were further dehydrated in graded ethanol solutions and mounted in paraffin blocks. Bone samples were oriented to allow transverse cuts to be performed from the midpoint to the proximal direction. Each bone sample was serially sectioned in 6-µm-thick sections, each section collected at a distance of 30 µm away from the previous one. Five transverse sections were collected and stained with H&E.

The right soleus was fixed overnight at 4°C in a solution of 4% paraformaldehyde, 2.5% sucrose (Sigma), and 0.1% gluteraldehyde (TAAB) in PBS (pH 7.2), then dehydrated and mounted in paraffin blocks. Transverse sections (6  $\mu$ m thick) were cut from the soleus mid-region and stained with H&E for fiber cross-sectional area determination.

## Determination of Serum Estrogen Concentration

Serum was separated from blood samples by centrifugation at 4°C. Estradiol (17 $\beta$ -estradiol) concentration was assessed by solid-phase competitive binding ELISA using a commercially available kit (Estradiol ELISA DE2693, Demeditec Diagnostics, Kiel-Wellsee, Germany) and a spectrophotometer (iEMS and Labsystems, Washington, USA) according to the manufacturer's recommendations for confirmation of OVX animal model implementation. Briefly, 25 µl of serum and 200 µl of enzyme conjugate were dispensed in each well and incubated for 120 min at 25°C. After complete washing, 100 µl of substrate solution was added to each well and incubated for a further 15 min. Absorbance was read at 450 nm after addition of 50 µl stop solution. Duplicates were analyzed for each sample and triplicates for each standard. The assay range was 9.7–2,000 pg/ml.

Cortical Bone and Soleus Muscle Fiber Size Measurements

Cortical bone sections from the mid-diaphysis stained with H&E were examined under a light microscope coupled to a

digital camera (Axio Imager A1; Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany). Images were captured at  $2.5 \times$  magnification and analyzed with ImageJ software (NIH, Bethesda, USA) for measurement of mid-diaphysis geometry: cortical width (Ct.Wi, µm), cortical bone tissue area (Ct.Ar, mm<sup>2</sup>), marrow cavity diameter (Ma.Dm, mm), and bone diameter (B.Dm, mm). B.Dm and Ma.Dm on each section were determined as the average diameter from 30 direct measurements throughout that bone section.

Four images from the same section were captured with a  $10 \times$  magnification objective for intracortical porosity area (Po.Ar) quantification as described previously [26]. Briefly, images were first converted to 16-bit gray, followed by segmentation into bone and pores using a fixed threshold. The margin of each pore was then traced and its area determined. Pores with an area less than 25  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> (average size of osteocyte lacunae) were not considered. The pore area and cortical bone area of all images from the same section were summed to give total pore and bone areas, respectively, for that bone section. Results were then expressed as the summed area of all pores per cortical bone area (Po.Ar/Ct.Ar, %).

Osteocyte number (N.Ot) and empty lacunae number (N.Lc) were measured in four different regions of 0.090 mm<sup>2</sup> area in each bone section from images captured with a  $40 \times$  magnification objective, as depicted in Fig. 1b. Results were expressed as numbers per area (N.Ot/mm<sup>2</sup>, N.Lc/mm<sup>2</sup>).

Transverse sections from the soleus muscle mid-portion were analyzed with a  $40 \times$  objective. Cross-sectional area was determined in a total of 150 fibers per muscle. Results for each muscle were calculated as the average area of the 150 fibers analyzed.

## **Biomechanical Testing**

Biomechanical properties of the right femur were assayed by three-point bending of the diaphysis according to recommended guidelines of procedure and calculation [27], using a servohydraulic testing machine (TIRATest 2705, TIRA, Schalkau, Germany). The supports in which the femora were placed were designed with AutoCAD software (Autodesk, San Rafael, CA) and made in aluminum and steel. Before each test, the femoral midpoint was determined by measuring with a digital caliper (Powerfix, Leeds, UK, resolution 0.01 mm) as described above. Femora were placed with the caudal surface on the lower supports. These were adjusted individually so that one was placed just distal to the trochanter minor and the other just proximal to the condyles. A bending load was applied to the femoral midpoint, perpendicular to its long axis in the craniocaudal direction by a steel crosshead coupled to a load cell. A stabilizing preload was first applied at a rate of  $0.1 \text{ mm s}^{-1}$  until 5 N was reached. Above this point the load rate shifted to 0.5 mm s<sup>-1</sup> until bone failure. A computer-generated load–deformation curve was obtained for each test. Bones were kept moist in PBS throughout the testing.

## Determination of Mechanical Properties

After direct acquisition of the extrinsic femoral properties, the load-deformation curve was converted to a stressstrain curve for determination of the intrinsic properties.

Femoral diaphysis cross-sectional moment of inertia  $(I_{femoral}, mm^4)$  was determined in left femoral histological sections by subtracting inner surface cross-sectional moment of inertia  $(I_{inner}, mm^4)$  from the outer surface cross-sectional moment of inertia  $(I_{outer}, mm^4)$  according to Eqs. 1 and 2 (a<sub>1</sub>, lateromedial bone diameter; b<sub>1</sub>, cranio-caudal bone diameter; a<sub>2</sub>, lateromedial marrow diameter; b<sub>2</sub>, craniocaudal marrow diameter; all measurements in mm) (Fig. 1b):

$$I_{\rm femoral} = I_{\rm outer} - I_{\rm inner} \tag{1}$$

$$I_{\text{femoral}} = \left[ \pi/4 \times (a_1/2) \times (b_1/2)^3 \right] \\ - \left[ \pi/4 \times (a_2/2) \times (b_2/2)^3 \right]$$
(2)

Strain ( $\varepsilon$ ) was calculated for each point of the loaddeformation curve according to Eq. 3 ( $b_1/2$ , distance from the load application point to the bone neutral axis; *Y*, deformation; *L*, distance between the lower supports; all measurements in mm) (Fig. 1b):

$$\varepsilon = [12 \times (b_1/2) \times Y]/L^2 \tag{3}$$

Stress ( $\sigma$ ) was calculated for each point of the load-deformation curve according to Eq. 4 (*F*, load applied to the specimen in newtons) (Fig. 1b):

$$\sigma = [F \times L \times (b_1/2)]/(4 \times I_{\text{femoral}})$$
(4)

Intrinsic mechanical properties were then determined from the stress–strain curves generated. Ultimate stress ( $\sigma_U$ ) was determined as the maximum stress the bone could sustain and is expressed in megapascals (MPa). Young's modulus was calculated as the slope of the stress–strain curve within the elastic region. Yield point was determined as the point of intersection between the stress–strain curve and a line with the same slope as Young's modulus and a positive offset of 0.03% strain. The coefficient of variation (CV) for threepoint bending tests of the femur was determined as 4.21%.

## Statistical Analysis

The Kolmogorov–Smirnov test was used to investigate within-group normality for a given variable. Levene's test was used to assess the homogeneity of variance. Statistical analysis was performed by two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Bonferroni post hoc test for pairwise comparisons between groups if normality or equality of variance existed. When normality or equality of variance assumptions were not met, root square transformation was employed (Ma.Dm, B.Dm, Ct.Wi). When transformation was inefficient to reestablish the necessary assumptions for ANOVA, the Kruskal-Wallis test was used for comparison (Po.Ar/Ct.Ar).

Correlation analysis was performed using Pearson's correlation coefficient except for Po.Ar/Ct.Ar, in which Spearman's rho was employed due to variable lack of normal distribution. Correlation between N.Ln and Po.Ar/Ct.Ar was determined using a quadratic equation model. Results are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD), and differences were considered significant at P < 0.05.

## Results

## Animals Weight Variation

At the beginning of the experimental procedure (5 months of age) there were no significant body weight differences between groups. Initial body weight was on average 269.8  $\pm$  16.70, 241.8  $\pm$  9.61, 267.1  $\pm$  28.72, and 260.3  $\pm$  18.32 g for the SHAMSED, SHAMEX, OVXSED, and OVXEX groups, respectively. As expected, during the experimental period (9 months of housing) all animals evidenced increases in body weight (Fig. 2d). Increases were thought more pronounced in OVX animals than in SHAM animals (45.5  $\pm$  13.39 vs. 23.2  $\pm$  13.30%, respectively; *P* < 0.001), in particular in the OVXEX group, in which mean body weight accrual was significantly higher than in both the SHAMSED and SHAMEX groups.

## Soleus Muscle Weight and Fiber Size

OVXSED and SHAMSED animals displayed, at the time of sacrifice, a significantly smaller soleus muscle weight and mean fiber cross-sectional area than OVXEX and SHAMEX. Average soleus weight was 210.6  $\pm$  23.54, 287.7  $\pm$  26.63, 210.2  $\pm$  20.65, and 261.0  $\pm$  31.33 g for the SHAMSED, SHAMEX, OVXSED, and OVXEX groups, respectively (Fig. 2a). Average soleus fiber cross-sectional areas were 1206.5  $\pm$  380.06, 2990  $\pm$  734.28, 1081  $\pm$  289.41, and 1950.2  $\pm$  232.74  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> for the SHAMSED, SHAMEX, OVXSED, and OVXEX groups, respectively (Fig. 2b). Fiber cross-sectional area was also higher in SHAMEX compared to OVXEX animals. This could be due to differences in the amount of running activity since fiber cross-sectional area and traveled distance were significantly correlated (r = 0.765,  $\overline{P} < 0.05$ ) and no significant differences in fiber

## cross-sectional area were identified between OVXSED and SHAMSED. Average running distance recorded per week was significantly higher $(34.93 \pm 11.70 \text{ km})$ in the SHAMEX group than in the OVXEX group $(3.95 \pm 0.85 \text{ km})$ .

## Serum 17 $\beta$ -Estradiol Concentration

Quantification of serum  $17\beta$ -estradiol concentration confirmed the expected differences between OVX and both SHAM and BSL groups. Mean serum  $17\beta$ -estradiol concentration in the OVXSED ( $20.4 \pm 5.69$  pg/ml) and OVXEX ( $16.7 \pm 4.78$  pg/ml) groups was significantly lower compared to the SHAMEX ( $86.7 \pm 16.57$  pg/ml), SHAM-SED ( $82.4 \pm 19.51$  pg/ml), and BSL ( $88.9 \pm 18.73$  pg/ml) groups. There were no significant differences between the OVXSED and OVXEX or between the SHAMEX, SHAM-SED, and BSL groups (Fig. 2c).

## Cortical Bone Geometry

Analysis performed on femur mid-diaphysis cortical bone showed a significant increase in B.Dm with age only in OVX animals, regardless of their housing conditions since B.Dm of both OVXSED ( $3.42 \pm 0.187$  mm) and OVXEX ( $3.35 \pm 0.082$  mm) animals was significantly higher than that of BSL ( $3.12 \pm 0.096$  mm) animals (Fig. 3c). The same trend was verified regarding bone marrow cavity dimensions (Fig. 3a). Only OVXSED ( $2.27 \pm 0.215$  mm) and OVXEX ( $2.14 \pm 0.148$  mm) animals displayed significantly higher Ma.Dm compared to BSL ( $1.85 \pm 0.140$  mm).

In OVXSED animals the increase in endocortical dimensions (Ma.Dm) that took place with age surpassed the periosteal dimension (B.Dm) increase, leading to a significantly lower Ct.Wi compared to BSL (572.6  $\pm$  $34.19 \text{ vs. } 639.10 \pm 55.93 \text{ } \mu\text{m}$ ) (Fig. 3d). In OVXEX animals (607.3  $\pm$  51.66 µm), however, there were no significant differences in Ct.Wi compared to BSL. Ct.Wi in OVXEX animals was only significantly decreased compared to SHAMEX (664.3  $\pm$  24.85 µm). Despite the differences in B.Dm and Ct.Wi identified, Ct.Ar was similar in all groups. This indicates that the same amount of cortical bone was present in all groups, even though there were differences in its distribution around the bone axis (Fig. 3e). Ct.Ar was  $4.98 \pm 0.390$ ,  $5.23 \pm 0.330$ ,  $5.11 \pm 0.373$ ,  $5.33 \pm 0.357$ , and  $5.23 \pm 0.422 \text{ mm}^2$  for the BSL, OVXEX, OVXSED, SHAMEX, and SHAMSED groups, respectively. Significant differences were not identified regarding Ma.Dm, B.Dm, Ct.Wi, and Ct.Ar between the EX and SED subgroups from both OVX and SHAM groups.

A significant increase in Po.Ar/Ct.Ar occurred with age in both OVXSED and SHAMSED animals but not in


**Fig. 3** a Photomicrographs showing femoral mid-diaphyseal transverse sections in each group. OVX animals displayed significantly higher Ma.Dm (b) and B.Dm (c) compared to BSL controls. d Despite these increases, when compared to BSL, Ct.Wi was significantly decreased only in OVXSED animals and not in OVXEX. e Regardless

of the changes in cortical bone dimensions, there were no differences in the amount of cortical bone tissue (Ct.Ar) between groups. *Bars* = 1,000  $\mu$ m. Sections were stained with H&E. \*Differences between groups are statistically significant (*P* < 0.05)



Fig. 4 a Photomicrographs showing a detail of femoral mid-diaphyseal axial sections. b Intracortical porosity was significantly correlated with empty lacuna number (N.Lc). c Intracortical porosity was significantly higher in SED animals compared to EX. In

OVXEX and SHAMEX animals (Fig. 4). Po.Ar/Ct.Ar in the OVXSED ( $2.3 \pm 1.02\%$ ) and SHAMSED ( $1.8 \pm 0.80\%$ ) groups was significantly increased compared to BSL ( $0.62 \pm 0.24\%$ ). Moreover, Po.Ar/Ct.Ar was significantly smaller in OVXEX ( $0.61 \pm 0.26\%$ ) compared to both OVXSED and SHAMSED groups and smaller in SHAMEX ( $0.81 \pm 0.23\%$ ) compared to both OVXSED and SHAMSED groups. The increase in Po.Ar/Ct.Ar identified in SED animals, particularly in OVXSED (Fig. 4a), was accompanied by a noticeable increase in marrow accumulation within the intracortical compartment. Significant differences were absent between the OVXEX and SHAMEX and between the OVXSED and SHAMSED groups.

Osteocyte and Empty Lacunae Numbers in Cortical Bone

Housing conditions influenced significantly the number of osteocytes in femoral mid-diaphysis cortical bone, with SED animals displaying a significant reduction in N.Ot and an increase in N.Lc compared to their EX counterparts (Fig. 5). N.Ot was significantly higher in the SHAMEX group compared to SHAMSED (677  $\pm$  59 vs. 619  $\pm$  53/mm<sup>2</sup>,

OVXSED there was an increase in bone marrow accumulation within cortical bone pores.  $Bars = 200 \ \mu\text{m}$ . \*Differences between groups are statistically significant (P < 0.05)

respectively) and in the OVXEX group compared to OVX-SED (632  $\pm$  73 vs. 578  $\pm$  71/mm<sup>2</sup>, respectively). The OVXSED group was the only one to display a decrease in N.Ot with age since it was the only group to differ significantly from BSL (578  $\pm$  71 vs. 632  $\pm$  90/mm<sup>2</sup>).

N.Lc was significantly smaller in BSL compared to all other groups, showing that a significant increase in N.Lc occurred with age. This increase was, however, significantly higher in both SED groups. N.Lc in the OVXEX  $(274 \pm 56/\text{mm}^2)$  group was significantly smaller than in both the OVXSED  $(379 \pm 63/\text{mm}^2)$  and SHAMSED  $(360 \pm 59/\text{mm}^2)$  groups and in SHAMEX  $(275 \pm 65/\text{mm}^2)$  it was significantly smaller than in both the OVX-SED and SHAMSED groups. N.Lc was also significantly and positively correlated with Po.Ar/Ct.Ar (r) = 0.616, P < 0.001 (Fig. 5b).

#### **Biomechanical Properties**

A significantly smaller Young's modulus and smaller ultimate stress were observed in the OVXSED group compared to OVXEX (Fig. 6). The OVXSED group showed also less ultimate stress and yield stress compared to BSL. Ultimate stress was also lower in OVXSED than in



Fig. 5 a Photomicrographs showing a detail of femoral mid-diaphyseal axial sections evidencing differences in osteocyte (N.Ot) and empty lacunae (N.Lc) numbers. **b** Quantitative analyses of osteocyte number (N.Ot/mm<sup>2</sup>). **c** Empty lacuna number (N.Lc/mm<sup>2</sup>).

*Arrowheads* indicate empty lacunae. Bars =  $50 \ \mu m$ . \*Differences between groups are statistically significant (P < 0.05), \*\*statistically significant differences compared to all other groups

SHAMSED. SHAMEX was the only group to display a significant increase in Young's modulus compared to BSL. No significant differences were observed between the SHAMEX and SHAMSED groups for either biomechanical parameter evaluated despite a trend for higher values in the SHAMEX group.

Further analysis of correlation between the femoral biomechanical and geometrical properties showed that Young's modulus correlated negatively with Ct.Ar, B.Dm, and Ma.Dm (Table 1). Yield stress was also negatively correlated with both B.Dm and Ma.Dm and positively correlated with Ct.Wi. Ultimate stress correlated positively with Ct.Wi and negatively with B.Dm, Ma.Dm, and Po.Ar/Ct.Ar.

Regarding osteocyte and empty lacuna distribution in cortical bone, N.Ot was not correlated with any of the measured biomechanical properties. N.Lc in turn correlated negatively with both yield stress and ultimate stress.

#### Discussion

We present in this study evidence that voluntary exercise is able to provide a protective stimulus against osteocyte death caused by estrogen loss and that these cellular changes have beneficial effects on bone mechanical properties.

We used voluntary exercise as an approach to increase bone mechanical strain in vivo by housing the animals in different conditions throughout the experimental procedure. Mechanically stimulated animals were housed in cages with a running wheel, where they could voluntarily exercise, increasing bone mechanical loading while avoiding the drawbacks associated with forced exercise regimens on a treadmill [28]. The presence of muscle atrophy in animals housed in standard cages (OVXSED, SHAMSED) compared to their counterparts housed in cages with a running wheel (OVXEX, SHAMEX) confirms our model's effectiveness and shows that animals that had access to the running wheel were in fact more physically active. The greater muscle mass identified in EX animals suggests therefore that they experienced higher mechanical loading stimulation, which might have been due to both the higher ground reaction forces associated with the locomotor activity as well as to the higher muscle/tendon-derived forces [29].

The identification of differences in osteocyte numbers between animals housed in different conditions shows that the enhanced mechanical loading provided by exercise



Fig. 6 Biomechanical properties of femoral mid-diaphysis assayed by three-point bending. Physical inactivity had mostly a detrimental influence on the femoral properties of OVX animals since no significant differences were identified between the SHAMSED and

 Table 1
 Correlation analysis between femur mid-diaphysis cortical bone properties and biomechanical outcomes

|                          | Young's modulus |       | Yield stress |         | Ultimate stress |         |
|--------------------------|-----------------|-------|--------------|---------|-----------------|---------|
|                          | r               | Р     | r            | Р       | r               | Р       |
| Ct.Ar                    | -0.352          | 0.048 | -0.263       | 0.145   | -0.253          | 0.162   |
| B.Dm                     | -0.496          | 0.004 | -0.807       | < 0.001 | -0.779          | < 0.001 |
| Ma.Dm                    | -0.387          | 0.029 | -0.782       | < 0.001 | -0.760          | < 0.001 |
| Ct.Wi                    | 0.082           | 0.654 | 0.472        | 0.006   | 0.468           | 0.007   |
| Po.Ar/Ct.Ar <sup>a</sup> | -0.111          | 0.544 | -0.337       | 0.059   | -0.451          | 0.010   |
| N.Ot                     | 0.293           | 0.104 | 0.209        | 0.251   | 0.197           | 0.280   |
| N.Lc                     | 0.075           | 0.683 | -0.376       | 0.034   | -0.369          | 0.038   |

*Ct.Ar* cortical bone area, *B.Dm* bone diameter, *Ma.Dm* marrow diameter, *Ct.Wi* cortical width, *Po.Ar/Ct.Ar* intracortical porosity area per cortical bone area, *N.Ot* osteocyte number, *N.Lc* empty lacunae number

<sup>a</sup> Correlation coefficient was determined by Spearman's rho due to variable lack of normality. The remaining correlation coefficients were determined using Pearson's correlation coefficient

decreased osteocyte loss within the cortical bone. This effect was observed considering the significantly higher number of osteocytes present in EX animals compared to SED animals, but especially due to the smaller number of empty lacunae. Nevertheless, it is also possible that the higher number of osteocytes identified in EX animals might have resulted not only from an increase in osteocyte viability but also from an increase in the pool of osteoblasts that were available to become entrapped within the bone matrix and to differentiate as osteocytes as mechanical stimulation is known to increase the rate of mesenchymal stem cell replication and to bias their differentiation toward the osteoblastic lineage [30] as well as to decrease osteoblast apoptosis [31].

Osteocytes are long-lived cells that stay embedded within the bone matrix until they are eliminated by

SHAMEX groups, although there was a trend for EX animals to have a higher Young's modulus (a), ultimate stress (b), and yield stress point (c). \*Differences between groups are statistically significant (P < 0.05)

osteoclasts together with the surrounding bone matrix during bone resorption [32] or until they die from autolysis or apoptosis [33]. After osteocyte death, the lacuna in which the osteocyte cell body was housed remains empty, leaving a histological footprint that allows us to track osteocyte death [34]. Our results showed a significantly smaller number of empty lacunae in BSL animals in comparison to the remaining groups, indicating that with age there was progressive Ot death, which is in agreement with previous findings [35]. However, this increase was higher in SED animals compared to EX animals, showing that mechanical stimulation prevented osteocyte death.

Previous studies have demonstrated that increases in osteocyte death are associated with decreases in bone strength [23]. Our results are in agreement with these previous findings by showing that animals with fewer empty lacunae also had enhanced biomechanical properties. Furthermore, empty lacuna numbers correlated negatively with both yield stress and bone ultimate stress, demonstrating an inverse relationship between loss of osteocytes and bone resistance to fracture.

Osteocyte death may influence bone strength through different mechanisms [18, 19, 36, 37]. There is evidence that water within bone is to a great extent responsible for its viscoelastic properties, conferring much of the bone strength and resiliency by reducing stress during dynamic loading [11], with dehydrated bones showing a decrease in ultimate strength [27]. The major component of the pericellular matrix surrounding the osteocyte and its projections through the canalicular system is proteoglycan [38]. Considering proteoglycans high water affinity and osteocyte network extension, the canalicular system appears to be a major contributor to bone hydration. The death of osteocytes and the disruption of their associated pericellular matrix could therefore affect bone hydration status, compromising bone strength [21]. Finite element analysis

modeling shows that hydration produces a 2.5-fold increase in ultimate strength in cortical bone [39], and direct mechanical testing of cortical bone specimens with different degrees of hydration show a linear increase in stiffness with progressive water loss [40]. It is therefore possible that the correlation that we identified between empty lacuna number and both bone strength and yield stress could be related to a decrease in hydration status owing to osteocyte loss.

Our results also suggest that increases in osteocyte loss were associated with increases in intracortical bone resorption as empty lacuna number correlated positively with intracortical porosity, with higher numbers of empty lacunae being identified in animals that showed a higher intracortical porosity area. Osteocyte death, caused by estrogen withdrawal [15], tail suspension [23], or damage [19], is known to trigger osteoclast activation and to promote bone resorption within its vicinity, leading to increases in bone porosity. The significant correlation identified between intracortical porosity area and empty lacuna number could therefore result from the increase in intracortical bone resorption that follows osteocyte death.

The increase in intracortical porosity was also shown in our study to compromise bone strength as it was negatively correlated with bone ultimate stress. The significant negative correlation between cortical bone biomechanical properties and intracortical porosity has also been reported by others [41], and in a recent study [42] intracortical porosity was shown to be responsible for a 6% decrease in tibial stiffness.

However, despite the negative correlation of empty lacuna number and intracortical porosity with ultimate stress and the observation that both SHAMSED and OVXSED groups had an increase in empty lacuna number and cortical porosity, differences in bone biomechanical properties only reached statistical significance between OVXEX and OVXSED and not between SHAMSED and SHAMEX groups. As bone strength depends on the interaction between several bone properties [43], the significant differences only between OVXEX and OVXSED and not between SHAMEX and SHAMSED animals seems to be due to the effect that loss of estrogen has on other relevant properties for bone strength [44, 45]. Indeed, OVXSED animals showed a significantly smaller ultimate stress than SHAMSED animals, despite having similar cellular density patterns, which indicates a role of estrogen in the maintenance of other properties that determine bone strength and that were not considered in our study.

As biomechanical testing results reflect the intrinsic properties of the bones, differences in cortical bone geometry between groups do not explain the differences identified in bone strength. These differences were due to differences in the bone material properties. It was therefore interesting to note that all geometric bone properties measured were correlated with at least one of the biomechanical parameters measured. B.Dm and Ma.Dm in particular showed strong negative correlation coefficients with both yield stress and ultimate stress. It is known that a higher cortical perimeter has a dramatic influence on bone strength given that increasing a hollow cylinder's diameter provides exponential resistance increases to bending and torsion without necessary increases in bone mass [27]. It has been suggested, however, that increases in bone diameter associated with cases of ageing or menopause are the result of an adaptive mechanism that acts to maintain bone strength, compensating for decreases in bone mass or quality [46–48]. Therefore, and keeping in mind that our results for biomechanical testing reflect the intrinsic properties of bone, the strong negative correlation between bone diameter and bone strength suggests that a greater periosteal bone expansion was in fact a sign of bone tissue quality deterioration.

In summary, our results provide novel evidence that in vivo mechanical strain induced by regular voluntary exercise has a significant influence in decreasing long-term osteocyte loss in animal models. These long-term effects on osteocyte loss appear to be estrogen-independent as similar responses were seen in both OVX and SHAM animals. Furthermore, prevention of osteocyte death was associated with an increase in femoral bending ultimate stress, which could be partially explained by decreases in intracortical bone porosity. Voluntary exercise seems therefore to be a successful strategy for preventing, or at least delaying, osteocyte death and some of the typical features of skeletal involution associated with it, with benefits for bone strength.

Acknowledgments The authors express their gratitude to Celeste Resende for her skilled technical involvement. The present work was supported by Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (FCT) grant PTDC/DES/103047/2008. H. F. and D. M.-G. are supported by FCT fellows SFRH/BD/38110/2007 and SFRH/BD/33123/2007, respectively.

### References

- 1. Civitelli R (2008) Cell-cell communication in the osteoblast/ osteocyte lineage. Arch Biochem Biophys 473:188–192
- Plotkin LI, Manolagas SC, Bellido T (2002) Transduction of cell survival signals by connexin-43 hemichannels. J Biol Chem 277:8648–8657
- Ishihara Y, Kamioka H, Honjo T, Ueda H, Takano-Yamamoto T, Yamashiro T (2008) Hormonal, pH, and calcium regulation of connexin 43-mediated dye transfer in osteocytes in chick calvaria. J Bone Miner Res 23:350–360
- Gramsch B, Gabriel HD, Wiemann M, Grummer R, Winterhager E, Bingmann D, Schirrmacher K (2001) Enhancement of connexin 43 expression increases proliferation and differentiation of an osteoblast-like cell line. Exp Cell Res 264:397–407

- Chung DJ, Castro CH, Watkins M, Stains JP, Chung MY, Szejnfeld VL, Willecke K, Theis M, Civitelli R (2006) Low peak bone mass and attenuated anabolic response to parathyroid hormone in mice with an osteoblast-specific deletion of connexin43. J Cell Sci 119:4187–4198
- Tan SD, Bakker AD, Semeins CM, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM, Klein-Nulend J (2008) Inhibition of osteocyte apoptosis by fluid flow is mediated by nitric oxide. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 369:1150–1154
- Laketic-Ljubojevic I, Suva LJ, Maathuis FJ, Sanders D, Skerry TM (1999) Functional characterization of *N*-methyl-D-aspartic acid-gated channels in bone cells. Bone 25:631–637
- Jiang JX, Cherian PP (2003) Hemichannels formed by connexin 43 play an important role in the release of prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> by osteocytes in response to mechanical strain. Cell Commun Adhes 10:259–264
- Winkler DG, Sutherland MK, Geoghegan JC, Yu C, Hayes T, Skonier JE, Shpektor D, Jonas M, Kovacevich BR, Staehling-Hampton K, Appleby M, Brunkow ME, Latham JA (2003) Osteocyte control of bone formation via sclerostin, a novel BMP antagonist. EMBO J 22:6267–6276
- Lin C, Jiang X, Dai Z, Guo X, Weng T, Wang J, Li Y, Feng G, Gao X, He L (2009) Sclerostin mediates bone response to mechanical unloading through antagonizing Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. J Bone Miner Res 24:1651–1661
- Manolagas SC, Parfitt AM (2010) What old means to bone. Trends Endocrinol Metab 21:369–374
- 12. Kousteni S, Bellido T, Plotkin LI, O'Brien CA, Bodenner DL, Han L, Han K, DiGregorio GB, Katzenellenbogen JA, Katzenellenbogen BS, Roberson PK, Weinstein RS, Jilka RL, Manolagas SC (2001) Nongenotropic, sex-nonspecific signaling through the estrogen or androgen receptors: dissociation from transcriptional activity. Cell 104:719–730
- Tomkinson A, Gevers EF, Wit JM, Reeve J, Noble BS (1998) The role of estrogen in the control of rat osteocyte apoptosis. J Bone Miner Res 13:1243–1250
- Tomkinson A, Reeve J, Shaw RW, Noble BS (1997) The death of osteocytes via apoptosis accompanies estrogen withdrawal in human bone. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 82:3128–3135
- Emerton KB, Hu B, Woo AA, Sinofsky A, Hernandez C, Majeska RJ, Jepsen KJ, Schaffler MB (2009) Osteocyte apoptosis and control of bone resorption following ovariectomy in mice. Bone 46:577–583
- Mann V, Huber C, Kogianni G, Collins F, Noble B (2007) The antioxidant effect of estrogen and selective estrogen receptor modulators in the inhibition of osteocyte apoptosis in vitro. Bone 40:674–684
- Qiu S, Rao DS, Palnitkar S, Parfitt AM (2003) Reduced iliac cancellous osteocyte density in patients with osteoporotic vertebral fracture. J Bone Miner Res 18:1657–1663
- Tatsumi S, Ishii K, Amizuka N, Li M, Kobayashi T, Kohno K, Ito M, Takeshita S, Ikeda K (2007) Targeted ablation of osteocytes induces osteoporosis with defective mechanotransduction. Cell Metab 5:464–475
- Cardoso L, Herman BC, Verborgt O, Laudier D, Majeska RJ, Schaffler MB (2009) Osteocyte apoptosis controls activation of intracortical resorption in response to bone fatigue. J Bone Miner Res 24:597–605
- Qiu S, Rao DS, Palnitkar S, Parfitt AM (2002) Relationships between osteocyte density and bone formation rate in human cancellous bone. Bone 31:709–711
- Weinstein RS, Wan C, Liu Q, Wang Y, Almeida M, O'Brien CA, Thostenson J, Roberson PK, Boskey AL, Clemens TL, Manolagas SC (2009) Endogenous glucocorticoids decrease skeletal angiogenesis, vascularity, hydration, and strength in aged mice. Aging Cell 9:147–161

- Plotkin LI, Mathov I, Aguirre JI, Parfitt AM, Manolagas SC, Bellido T (2005) Mechanical stimulation prevents osteocyte apoptosis: requirement of integrins, Src kinases, and ERKs. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 289:C633–C643
- 23. Aguirre JI, Plotkin LI, Stewart SA, Weinstein RS, Parfitt AM, Manolagas SC, Bellido T (2006) Osteocyte apoptosis is induced by weightlessness in mice and precedes osteoclast recruitment and bone loss. J Bone Miner Res 21:605–615
- Bakker A, Klein-Nulend J, Burger E (2004) Shear stress inhibits while disuse promotes osteocyte apoptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 320:1163–1168
- Olson ME, Bruce J (1986) Ovariectomy, ovariohysterectomy and orchidectomy in rodents and rabbits. Can Vet J 27:523–527
- Fazzalari NL, Parkinson IH, Fogg QA, Sutton-Smith P (2006) Antero–postero differences in cortical thickness and cortical porosity of T12 to L5 vertebral bodies. Joint Bone Spine 73:293–297
- 27. Turner CH, Burr DB (1993) Basic biomechanical measurements of bone: a tutorial. Bone 14:595–608
- Coleman MA, Garland T Jr, Marler CA, Newton SS, Swallow JG, Carter PA (1998) Glucocorticoid response to forced exercise in laboratory house mice (*Mus domesticus*). Physiol Behav 63:279– 285
- 29. Burr DB (1997) Muscle strength, bone mass, and age-related bone loss. J Bone Miner Res 12:1547–1551
- 30. Luu YK, Capilla E, Rosen CJ, Gilsanz V, Pessin JE, Judex S, Rubin CT (2009) Mechanical stimulation of mesenchymal stem cell proliferation and differentiation promotes osteogenesis while preventing dietary-induced obesity. J Bone Miner Res 24:50–61
- Pavalko FM, Gerard RL, Ponik SM, Gallagher PJ, Jin Y, Norvell SM (2003) Fluid shear stress inhibits TNF-alpha-induced apoptosis in osteoblasts: a role for fluid shear stress-induced activation of PI3-kinase and inhibition of caspase-3. J Cell Physiol 194: 194–205
- 32. Cerri PS, Boabaid F, Katchburian E (2003) Combined TUNEL and TRAP methods suggest that apoptotic bone cells are inside vacuoles of alveolar bone osteoclasts in young rats. J Periodontal Res 38:223–226
- Parfitt AM (2002) Life history of osteocytes: relationship to bone age, bone remodeling, and bone fragility. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact 2:499–500
- Frost HM (1960) In vivo osteocyte death. J Bone Joint Surg Am 42:138–143
- 35. Qiu S, Rao DS, Palnitkar S, Parfitt AM (2002) Age and distance from the surface but not menopause reduce osteocyte density in human cancellous bone. Bone 31:313–318
- 36. Qiu S, Rao DS, Fyhrie DP, Palnitkar S, Parfitt AM (2005) The morphological association between microcracks and osteocyte lacunae in human cortical bone. Bone 37:10–15
- 37. Weinstein RS (2010) Glucocorticoids, osteocytes, and skeletal fragility: the role of bone vascularity. Bone 46:564–570
- Sauren YM, Mieremet RH, Groot CG, Scherft JP (1992) An electron microscopic study on the presence of proteoglycans in the mineralized matrix of rat and human compact lamellar bone. Anat Rec 232:36–44
- Liebschner MA, Keller TS (2005) Hydraulic strengthening affects the stiffness and strength of cortical bone. Ann Biomed Eng 33:26–38
- 40. Nyman JS, Roy A, Shen X, Acuna RL, Tyler JH, Wang X (2006) The influence of water removal on the strength and toughness of cortical bone. J Biomech 39:931–938
- Dong XN, Guo XE (2004) The dependence of transversely isotropic elasticity of human femoral cortical bone on porosity. J Biomech 37:1281–1287
- 42. Burghardt AJ, Kazakia GJ, Ramachandran S, Link TM, Majumdar S (2010) Age- and gender-related differences in the

geometric properties and biomechanical significance of intracortical porosity in the distal radius and tibia. J Bone Miner Res 25:983–993

- 43. Chavassieux P, Seeman E, Delmas PD (2007) Insights into material and structural basis of bone fragility from diseases associated with fractures: how determinants of the biomechanical properties of bone are compromised by disease. Endocr Rev 28:151–164
- 44. Bagi CM, Ammann P, Rizzoli R, Miller SC (1997) Effect of estrogen deficiency on cancellous and cortical bone structure and strength of the femoral neck in rats. Calcif Tissue Int 61:336–344
- 45. Ouyang H, Sherman PJ, Paschalis EP, Boskey AL, Mendelsohn R (2004) Fourier transform infrared microscopic imaging: effects of

estrogen and estrogen deficiency on fracture healing in rat femora. Appl Spectrosc 58:1–9

- 46. Russo CR, Lauretani F, Seeman E, Bartali B, Bandinelli S, Di Iorio A, Guralnik J, Ferrucci L (2006) Structural adaptations to bone loss in aging men and women. Bone 38:112–118
- 47. Seeman E (2003) Periosteal bone formation—a neglected determinant of bone strength. N Engl J Med 349:320–323
- Orwoll ES (2003) Toward an expanded understanding of the role of the periosteum in skeletal health. J Bone Miner Res 18:949–954

# CHAPTER IV General Discussion



### **1.** General Discussion

All together the studies that we performed have provided a series of findings about the interplay that exists between age, low estrogen levels and sedentary behavior, and how each one affects the femur bone quality. Firstly, our results suggest that age as well as estrogen loss are associated with a significant decrease in voluntary physical activity levels. Secondly, results also suggest that some of the changes that occurred in the femur were not necessarily a direct consequence of the effects of age and/or low estrogen levels, since these changes were attenuated or even absent in animals that were allowed to grow old in physically active conditions. A general discussion of our findings addressing these main issues follows.

### Voluntary physical activity decreases with age and estrogen loss

It is well established that estrogen exerts a pivotal role in the functionality and survival of bone cells [132, 493, 180, 508, 257, 526, 69, 226, 481, 229, 388, 629, 120, 193, 202, 554, 555], as well as on other organs that regulate calcium homeostasis [27, 400, 115, 568, 248, 141, 140], since the loss of estrogen leads to huge degenerative changes in bone structure in the elder and in post-menopausal women [456]. Nevertheless, other conditions are also known to affect significantly bone health, and among them, the lack of adequate amounts of mechanical stimulation is one the most well identified causes leading to bone loss [495, 304, 93, 426, 275, 145, 299, 577, 310, 59, 626]. Considering the importance of mechanical stimulation for bone health, we hypothesized that the increased bone fragility observed both with ageing and with estrogen loss might not just directly result from imbalances in calcium homeostasis or cell senescence *per se* but might also be a major outcome of the reduced mechanical stimulation associated with a decline in voluntary physical activity levels that usually accompanies age and estrogen loss.

The results from our first experimental study (study 1) demonstrated that estrogen levels are critical in the regulation of the animal's spontaneous motor activity, with ovariectomized (OVX) animals running as much as 10-fold less than sham-operated (SHAM) counterparts. Despite that previous studies have also demonstrated that

motor activity is reduced as a consequence of low estrogen levels [254, 196, 131, 25, 529], our findings further demonstrate that this reduction was long-lasting, since the OVX animals running activity was consistently lower than that of SHAM animals throughout the time of study duration (36 weeks). In addition, and most notoriously, this reduction in physical activity levels was shown to be more pronounced than what was suggested previously by other studies [196, 254]. It was also interesting to notice that the presence of estrogen did not seemed to be a requirement to prevent decreases in skeletal muscle mass, being the reduced soleus muscle fiber cross-sectional area primarily associated with lower physical activity levels and not so much with the direct effects of low estrogen levels. Considering therefore the relevance of sarcopenia as a major risk factor for low bone mass [538, 586] and its association with balance problems and increased risk for fall [150], our findings are vital in the context of bone loss and fracture occurrence prevention since they reveal that the decreased skeletal muscle mass following estrogen loss may be, at least in part, prevented by counteracting the tendency for a reduction in physical activity levels.

Although not so dramatically as observed in females following estrogen loss, there is evidence suggesting that males also experience a decrease in voluntary physical activity levels with age [233]. In our second study we have addressed this issue by analyzing the pattern of voluntary physical activity of male mice from the age of 2 until 25 months old. Our results showed that during the first trimester of the experimental procedure the average daily distance traveled in the running wheel was of about 9 Km/day. Following this initial period of higher spontaneous physical activity, the average distance traveled in the wheel declined progressively throughout the succeeding 7 months, reaching thereafter an average daily distance of about 5 Km/day until the end of the experimental procedure. These results therefore suggest that voluntary physical activity levels in the male mice also tend to decrease as the animal grows old. However, it is noteworthy that even though the running distance declined with age, mice were still quite active at old age as they continued to perform a significant amount of running on the wheel. This result therefore suggests that

imposing a sedentary lifestyle to the animal, which will certainly have consequences on the studied variables.

Having therefore gathered evidence supporting the concept that physical activity levels decrease with age and estrogen deficiency, the possibility that the degenerative changes in bone structure observed with age and low estrogen levels could also be an outcome of physical inactivity became stronger. Consequently, the next step was to characterize the changes in bone structure associated with age and estrogen loss, and to investigate to what extent were those changes influenced by an imposed sedentary behavior.

## Age and estrogen loss affect several bone features that contribute significantly to bone resistance

To investigate the effects of age on bone structure, we analyzed the femoral bone from mice that were housed through life in physically active conditions (study 2). Male C57BL/6 mice were selected as animal models in this study because their age-related changes in skeletal mass and architecture have been suggested to resemble at a great extent those seen in human ageing [209]. As these animals were allowed to exercise at their will and were not forced to do it, these housing conditions mimicked, as much as possible, the pattern of physical activity that they would have in the wild habitat. On the other hand, animals that were housed in standard laboratory conditions and were therefore constrained to a sedentary behavior did not experienced only the effects of age *per se*, but also the influence of physical inactivity. Consequently, we assumed that the differences between young animals and animals that were allowed to exercise freely reflected the consequences of age and that the additional differences observed between aged active and aged sedentary animals would reflect the consequences of physical inactivity.

By comparing the femur structure between young (Y) and aged active (AA) animals we verified that with ageing, as expected, there was a significant deterioration of the trabecular microarchitecture, with AA animals displaying at both the proximal and distal epiphysis a significantly lower trabecular bone volume fraction (BV/TV),

trabecular number (Tb.N), trabecular thickness (Tb.Th) as well as a significantly higher trabecular separation (Tb.Sp). Despite these differences in trabecular microarchitecture, the analysis performed on the animal's pattern of cellular density revealed no differences in osteocyte density between Y and AA animals, suggesting therefore that age per se does not lead to an inevitable decrease in osteocyte density as has been suggested previously by others [571, 448]. Hence, we believe that previous studies reporting age-related decreases in osteocyte density [571, 448], were in fact not determining the effects of age for itself, but the cumulative effects of age and of lack of physical activity on osteocyte viability. From our results, the evidence about the role of physical activity levels as an important aspect in the skeletal changes associated with age comes also from the identification of a significant correlation between several parameters of trabecular bone microarchitecture, particularly in the distal epiphysis, and the distance traveled by the animals in the running wheel. For instance, distal epiphysis BV/TV, Tb.N and Tb.Th were all shown to be positively correlated with the distance traveled by mice, while Tb.Sp was shown to be inversely correlated.

To investigate the effects of the loss of estrogen on bone tissue we used a similar experimental design to that used to investigate the effects of ageing, but using as an animal model the ovariectomized female rat [564] (studies 4 and 5). Again, animals housed with access to the running wheel (OVX+EX) were considered as those reflecting the effects of estrogen loss on bone tissue, while animals housed in standard conditions (OVX+SED) would additionally reflect the consequences of sedentary behavior. Surprisingly, we did not found in OVX+EX animals one of the hallmarks of estrogen loss-induced changes in bone metabolism, which is the significant increase in bone resorption [607]. Our results showed that OVX animals that were maintained in physically active housing conditions following the ovariectomy had only a slightly increased serum concentration of the bone resorption and formation markers compared to sham-operated animals of the same age and housing conditions, which however did not reached statistical significance. In addition, there was also no substantial evidence suggesting highly unbalanced bone turnover in OVX+EX animals.

suggesting that the overall rate of bone turnover is mostly regulated by estrogen levels, but the balance between bone formation and resorption seem to be mostly modulated by mechanical stimulation. Considering the evidences from this study as well as our results, we believe that the unbalanced bone resorption commonly described following estrogen loss might be in part caused by lack of mechanical stimulation, and not just because of estrogen loss, because otherwise it would be expected to observe a significantly increased bone turnover in OVX+EX animals, which was not the case.

Even though bone turnover was not significantly increased in OVX+EX compared to SHAM+EX animals, differences in bone mineralization degree were detected between these groups but however not between OVX+EX and younger controls (BSL). This finding suggests that with age there was a tendency for bone tissue to become more mineralized, but ovariectomy hindered that increase in bone mineralization degree. Therefore, OVX+EX animals were unable to attain the same degree of bone tissue mineralization as SHAM+EX animals, but however OVX+EX animals did not evidenced a decrease regarding the baseline mineralization degree conditions.

Regarding trabecular microarchitecture, the histomorphometric analysis demonstrated that ovariectomy caused a dramatic trabecular bone mass loss and resulted in a significant deterioration of the trabecular microarchitecture at both epiphyses. In the OVX+EX animal's proximal and distal epiphysis, BV/TV and Tb.N were significantly decreased while Tb.Sp was significantly increased when compared to BSL animals. In addition, despite that the proximal epiphysis Ct.Th was higher in OVX+EX animals compared to BSL, demonstrating that in fact there was an increase with age, Ct.Th was still smaller when compared to that of the proximal femur of SHAM+EX animals, suggesting that estrogen loss hindered the Ct.Th increases in with age in the proximal epiphysis. In the distal epiphysis however age and ovariectomy seemed to induce no changes in cortical bone thickness.

In our fifth study we have also analyzed the effects that low estrogen levels have on the femur, but we have focused our attention here to the changes that occur in the cortical bone from the femur mid-diaphysis. Our results (study 5) were very similar

Physical Inactivity and Bone Health

with our findings regarding the effects of age on the cellular density pattern of the male mice cortical bone (study 2). Our analysis to the cellular density pattern of physically active ovariectomized animals, suggests that the loss of estrogen does not necessarily lead to a decrease in osteocyte density, as we have found no differences between OVX+EX and BSL or between OVX+EX and SHAM+EX. Nevertheless, and like we have also observed in the aged male mice, the number of empty lacunae in OVX+EX was still significantly higher than in BSL controls, demonstrating that with age there was some loss of osteocytes, but not to an extent that implicates a significant reduction in osteocyte density within the bone matrix. However, our results also suggest that the loss of estrogen did not influenced this increase in empty lacunae numbers, and that this increase was mostly associated with advancing age as there were no differences between OVX+EX and SHAM+EX animals. The implications of a significant reduction in the number of viable osteocytes in bone have been described by others and are associated with impaired mechanotransduction [547], alterations in the bone hydration status [593], increases in microcrack accumulation [447] as well as in increased intracortical bone resorption [90]. Interestingly, there is evidence from a previous study [156], that ovariectomized mice have a significant increase in osteocyte apoptosis, which leads to increased osteoclast activation and intracortical resorption with the consequent increase in cortical porosity. Importantly, intracortical porosity has also been shown in some studies to be a hallmark of the ageing skeleton [119, 623] and there is evidence that it significantly compromises cortical bone biomechanical properties [146, 85]. Notoriously, our analysis to the femur mid-diaphysis cortical bone demonstrates that in addition of not leading to a significant decrease in osteocyte density, ovariectomy and age did not also resulted in a significant increase in intracortical bone resorption, as there were no differences between OVX+EX and BSL regarding these parameters. Therefore, our results suggest that the increase in intracortical porosity does not seem to be an inevitable consequence of age and estrogen loss. Regarding our results it is also interesting to consider the findings from a previous study [166] who describes the age-related changes in human femoral cortical bone. The results from this study show that there was a large variance in cortical bone

porosity between individuals of the same age, with bones from aged individuals displaying large increases in porosity when compared with bones from younger individuals while others surprisingly displayed almost no differences. Therefore, these results further strengthen our conviction that some of the age and estrogen loss related features of bone might not result only from age and estrogen loss and that other variables, as most likely the physical activity levels, also play an important role in the evolution of those changes.

In addition of analyzing the cellular density pattern, we have also assayed in this study (study 5) the cortical bone geometry from the femoral mid-diaphysis. There is evidence that the mid-shaft cross section of long bones tends to increase with age [479] and that estrogen loss is also associated with increases in periosteal expansion [499, 14]. In agreement with these findings, our results also showed that the combined effects of age and estrogen-loss induced a significant increase of both the endocortical and periosteal bone dimensions. This effect was evidenced by the significantly higher bone diameter (B.Dm) and marrow cavity diameter (Ma.Dm) observed in OVX+EX animals when compared to BSL. However, the increase in endocortical dimensions was not sufficient enough to lead to a significant decrease in Ct.Th in OVX+EX animals as there were no differences between them and BSL. As periosteal expansion increases the bending strength of the diaphysis [560], this adaptation has been considered to be a compensatory mechanism that allows bone strength to be maintained despite significant decreases in the amount of bone tissue or on the deterioration of its properties [479, 499, 409, 73]. Interestingly, our results also showed that both Young modulus and ultimate stress were inversely correlated with endocortical and periosteal cortical bone dimensions, suggesting therefore that periosteal and endocortical expansion were in fact signs of a decrease in bone tissue mechanical properties.

The proximal femur geometry was also analyzed on study 4, and our results suggest that some alterations were also induced here by estrogen loss. Analysis to the femur length showed that it increased with age in all animals, irrespectively of estrogen loss, which is in accordance to what was expected considering that rat continues to display

some longitudinal bone growth in the adulthood [564]. Nevertheless, increases in femur length were higher in ovariectomized animals when compared to shamoperated counterparts, suggesting therefore that loss of estrogen significantly enhanced bone length increases, which is also in agreement with the findings of a higher periosteal expansion in cortical bone. In addition to the higher femur length, ovariectomized animals also displayed a significantly higher femoral neck axis length (FNAL) and neck-shaft angle (NSA) when compared to both BSL and sham-operated counterparts, suggesting that the combination of age and estrogen loss significantly increased these dimensions in the proximal femur. Interestingly, both femur length and FNAL were shown (in study 3) to be significantly associated with an increase in the femoral neck ultimate strength. There is also evidence from a previous study that increases in FNAL are associated with increases in femoral neck ultimate strength [106]. Therefore, and like in the cortical bone from the diaphysis, these adaptations may represent an adaptive response of the bone to maintain its mechanical strength possibly compensating for decreases in other properties as it has been suggested previously [130]. Indeed our results showed that there were no differences in bone strength between ovariectomized and either BSL or sham-operated animals, which suggests that geometric adaptations might have compensated decreases in other bone properties, thereby contributing to the preservation of overall bone strength.

Several bone tissue alterations that have been associated with age and estrogen loss were shown in our studies to be prevented or attenuated when the animals were housed in the cages with activity wheel. Therefore and as we have previously mentioned, the alterations observed in physically active animals are considered to be the consequence of age, and to reflect what would be the skeletal consequences of age if the animals were in the wild, where they could freely move. Having this in consideration we will now discuss what were the main skeletal changes observed in the animals that were constrained to the cages without running wheel and that therefore besides of ageing and estrogen loss, also suffered the influence of sedentary behavior.

### Sedentary behavior enhances some of the bone tissue alterations induced by age and estrogen loss

Histomorphometric analysis performed to the proximal and distal epiphysis of the mice femur (study 2) suggests that the lack of physical activity significantly enhances the age-induced deterioration of the trabecular microarchitecture. Despite that both groups of aged animals (aged active and aged sedentary) had an overall deterioration of the trabecular microarchitecture when compared to younger animals, differences between AA and aged sedentary animals (AS) were also detected. For instance, Tb.N was significantly lower and Tb.Sp was significantly higher in AS compared to AA animals in both epiphyses. Similar results regarding the effects of sedentary behavior and estrogen loss on trabecular microarchitecture were also identified (study 4). Despite that ovariectomy lead to a dramatic loss of trabecular bone, these losses were shown to be significantly more pronounced in animals housed in sedentary conditions than in their physically active counterparts. For instance, in the proximal femur, BV/TV (-65%), Tb.N (-35%) and Tb.Th (-23%) were all significantly lower in sedentary when compared to physically active ovariectomized animals while Tb.Sp (+41%) was significantly higher in sedentary compared to physically active ovariectomized animals. A similar pattern of disuse-enhanced trabecular deterioration was also identified in the distal epiphysis of the femur, with sedentary animals displaying half the BV/TV and an 81% lower Tb.N as well as a 90% higher Tb.Sp than physically active ovariectomized animals. The identification of these differences in trabecular microarchitecture between physically active and sedentary animals therefore suggests that when the animals are housed in standard laboratory conditions they are being constrained to a significant degree of sedentary behavior which greatly enhances the deterioration of the trabecular microarchitecture that is already being affected by age and/or estrogen loss.

The substantial differences in trabecular microarchitecture observed between physically active and sedentary ovariectomized female rats were however not surprising considering the effects that sedentary behavior had on the bone turnover rate and balance in these animals. Indeed, the serum concentration of the biochemical

marker of bone resorption was significantly higher in sedentary than in physically active ovariectomized animals. Nevertheless, bone formation was only slightly, but not significantly, higher in sedentary than in physically active ovariectomized animals. These results therefore suggest that physical inactivity contributed to the unbalance of bone turnover in OVX animals by favoring bone resorption, which is in line with evidence provided in previous studies suggesting that mechanical strain is a key determinant of bone turnover balance in the absence of estrogen [597, 563].

As mentioned previously, increased bone turnover rate is associated with decreases in bone tissue mineralization degree due to the reduction in the time available for secondary mineralization to occur [64]. In fact, we have also identified a significant inverse correlation between the concentration of the bone resorption marker and both calcium and phosphate densities (study 3), which further supports the importance of bone turnover in determining bone mineralization degree. Therefore, by stimulating the increase in bone resorption in ovariectomized animals, sedentary behavior also resulted in a lower bone tissue mineralization degree, as it is evidenced by the lower calcium and phosphate densities in sedentary compared to physically active ovariectomized animals.

Considering therefore that physical inactivity enhanced the deterioration of the trabecular microarchitecture and lead to a decrease in the bone tissue mineralization degree, it was not surprising that we have encountered significant differences in the bone tissue properties between exercised and sedentary ovariectomized animals. In study 3, our results showed that Young modulus was significantly correlated with Tb.Th, bone calcium content and bone phosphate content, and that the combination of these properties was responsible for 34% of the Young modulus variation. Notoriously, all these several bone properties were decreased in OVX animals housed in sedentary conditions when compared to counterparts housed on physically active conditions thereby leading to a significantly lower Young modulus in sedentary animals. Quite interesting though was the finding that ultimate bone strength was not significantly different between sedentary and physically active animals considering the differences encountered in trabecular architecture and bone tissue mineralization

degree. As referred previously, with age and following estrogen loss, the bone tends to suffer an adaptation on its geometry, which seems to be a compensatory response to the decrease in other bone properties [47, 73]. In study 3, we performed multiple regression analysis to investigate the extent to which the proximal femur bone geometry was able to predicted the bone ultimate strength, and it was shown that the combination of FNAL, CFMA, FNW and femur length were responsible for 47% of the proximal femur ultimate strength variation. Interestingly, despite that differences between sedentary and physically active ovariectomized animals only reached statistical significance for FNAL, the mean values of all these parameters were higher in sedentary animals suggesting that their geometric adaptations therefore seem to be responsible for the absence of differences in bone strength between sedentary and physically active OVX animals.

The influence of sedentary behavior was also noticed in the femur mid-diaphysis geometry in our studies with both ovariectomized female rats (study 5) as well as with aged mice (study 2). Following ovariectomy, an expansion of the periosteal diameter was observed in both sedentary and physically active animals. Despite that the mean values of total bone and marrow cavity diameter were slightly higher in sedentary animals, the differences among groups did not reached statistical significance. Nevertheless, the results regarding cortical bone thickness suggest that the expansion of the endocortical diameter in sedentary animals surpassed the increases in periosteal expansion as sedentary animals evidenced a significant decrease in cortical bone thickness with age, an outcome that was however not identified in physically active counterparts.

In our study with aged male mice (study 2), we have also identified that sedentary animals had a significantly higher periosteal (B.Dm) and endocortical (Ma.Dm) bone expansion then their physically active counterparts, which is in agreement with our findings in ovariectomized female rats. Nevertheless, we observed a surprisingly higher Ct.Th in sedentary animals. This finding was quite unexpected as it was anticipated that sedentary behavior would have, like in the female ovariectomized rat, unbalanced

Physical Inactivity and Bone Health

bone turnover towards bone resorption. Despite that we do not have data regarding bone turnover in this study, we speculate that differences in Ct.Th between sedentary and physically active aged mice may be associated with a reduction in bone resorption considering the significantly reduced osteocyte density that was observed in aged sedentary animals and the existence of evidence suggesting that the integrity of the osteocyte network is a requirement for bone resorption to occur [510, 547].

In ovariectomized female rats, sedentary behavior was also shown to have a profound effect on the pattern of bone tissue cellular density (study 5), with OVX animals housed in sedentary conditions displaying a significant reduction in osteocyte density with age, and a significantly lower osteocyte density than their physically active counterparts. Moreover, despite that the number of empty lacunae increased in both groups of OVX animals with age, increases were considerably higher in sedentary animals suggesting therefore that physical inactivity played a pivotal role in determining osteocyte viability.

There is compelling evidence suggesting that osteocyte death stimulates the activation of osteoclasts [301, 151, 290] which leads to the increase in local bone resorption [90]. If restricted to focal bone regions, this resorption constitutes a protective mechanism that promotes the renewal of damaged bone [90]. However large increases in osteocyte death could lead to excessive bone resorption and increased intracortical porosity, ultimately compromising bone strength [547]. Interestingly our results also showed that in sedentary animals intracortical bone porosity was substantially higher than in physically active counterparts, and that this increase in cortical porosity was significantly correlated with increases in empty lacunae number. These results therefore demonstrate that sedentary behavior was the main factor associated with the loss of osteocytes and with the increase in intracortical bone resorption. Moreover, physical inactivity was also shown to contribute significantly to the decrease in the femur mechanical properties as both the number of empty lacunae and intracortical bone porosity were inversely correlated to the bone ultimate stress. Therefore, biomechanical testing of the femur diaphysis also showed

that sedentary animals had a significantly lower Young modulus and bone ultimate stress when compared to their physically active counterparts.

These several findings therefore suggest that sedentary behavior imposed by standard housing conditions exerted a determinant effect over the bone changes that occur with age and following estrogen loss.

### 2. Overall Limitations

Bearing in mind the overall experimental design, we consider that it is important to highlight some potential limitations of our studies.

Although the ovariectomized female rat has been widely used as an experimental model for the study of estrogen induced bone loss [256, 318] it still has some drawbacks that are important to mention. Event thought that most of the rat's bone elongation occurs during the initial third of their lifespan [564], they still continue to display some bone growth throughout adulthood, which however does not happen in humans. Therefore, it is possible that the mechanisms leading to the adaptive response in bone geometry that we observed in rats, might not be so meaningful in humans which may therefore preclude generalization. Another important particularity in rodent's bones, especially in mice, is the existence of minimal intra-cortical bone remodeling due to their ill developed Haversian system. Therefore, it is possible that the effects of physical inactivity on the increase in intracortical porosity may have been at some extent undervalued by our animal models as it may be higher in humans who display considerably higher levels of Haversian remodeling.

It is also important to bear in mind that the ovaryes produce not just estrogen, but also other hormones such as progesterone and testosterone, both of which are also known to influence bone mass [445, 269]. Thus, and despite the widespread use of the ovariectomized female rat as a model for the study of post-menopausal bone loss, it is perhaps not correct to ascribe to the estrogen loss all the skeletal outcomes of the bilateral ovaries removal, as it is possible that other hormones may also be involved.

### 3. Main Conclusions

Considering the overall findings of our studies the major conclusions of the present work are that:

- Ovariectomy results in a notorious and permanent decrease in voluntary physical activity levels in female rats;
- Decreases in skeletal muscle fibers cross sectional area in ovariectomized female rats appear to result mostly from decreases in voluntary physical activity levels and not from the direct effects of estrogen on skeletal muscle fibers;
- In spite of not experiencing such a dramatic decrease in physical activity levels as female rats following estrogen loss, male mice voluntary physical activity levels are also shown to decline with age;
- Although age and hypoestrogenemia were *per se* major factors leading to trabecular bone loss, sedentary behavior significantly enhanced the deterioration of the proximal and distal femur trabecular microarchitecture;
- Physical inactivity was a major factor leading to unbalances in bone turnover contributing thereby to a decrease in bone tissue mineralization degree in sedentary animals;
- Age and estrogen loss were not shown to lead *per se* to a significant decrease in bone tissue osteocyte density, as a significant reduction in osteocyte density with age was only observed in sedentary animals and not in physically active animals;
- The increase in bone tissue empty lacunae density was associated with increases in intra-cortical bone porosity and reduced cortical bone mechanical properties;

In view of the initial objective of this work our overall conclusion is that even though there is an overall decrease in bone tissue quality with age and following estrogen loss, physical inactivity plays here a major factor, significantly enhancing that deterioration.

### 4. Perspectives for future research

One of the most interesting findings of our studies was the identification of the protective effects that regular physical activity had on osteocytes, enabling to preserve the osteocyte network in the elder male mice as well as in ovariectomized female rats. This was further shown to have notorious consequences on bone mechanical properties. Regardless of this observation, the mechanisms whereby regular physical activity improved osteocyte viability are to a great extent unknown, especially *in vivo*. We therefore believe that future research should be directed to the identification of the mechanisms that might be involved in this protective effect. Moreover, there is evidence that excessive osteocyte death is also associated with decreases in bone strength and increased fracture risk following the exposure to glucocorticoids [399, 437] and radiation [335, 394] and possibly also following antimetastatic drug administration [528]. Considering our results about the effects of regular physical activity on osteocyte viability, it should be the aim of future research to determine if regular physical activity was also able to prevent decreases in osteocyte loss in these situations.

### References

- 1. Aaron JE, de Vernejoul MC, Kanis JA (1991) The effect of sodium fluoride on trabecular architecture. Bone 12:307-310
- 2. Aberle H, Bauer A, Stappert J, Kispert A, Kemler R (1997) beta-catenin is a target for the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. EMBO J 16:3797-3804
- Abrahamsen B, Bonnevie-Nielsen V, Ebbesen EN, Gram J, Beck-Nielsen H (2000) Cytokines and bone loss in a 5-year longitudinal study--hormone replacement therapy suppresses serum soluble interleukin-6 receptor and increases interleukin-1-receptor antagonist: the Danish Osteoporosis Prevention Study. J Bone Miner Res 15:1545-1554
- 4. Abrahamsen B, Eiken P, Brixen K (2009) Atrial fibrillation in fracture patients treated with oral bisphosphonates. J Intern Med 265:581-592
- 5. Abram AC, Keller TS, Spengler DM (1988) The effects of simulated weightlessness on bone biomechanical and biochemical properties in the maturing rat. J Biomech 21:755-767
- Adami S, Gatti D, Bertoldo F, Rossini M, Fratta-Pasini A, Zamberlan N, Facci E, Lo Cascio V (1992) The effects of menopause and estrogen replacement therapy on the renal handling of calcium. Osteoporos Int 2:180-185
- 7. Adami S, Gatti D, Braga V, Bianchini D, Rossini M (1999) Site-specific effects of strength training on bone structure and geometry of ultradistal radius in postmenopausal women. J Bone Miner Res 14:120-124
- Adams MM, Fink SE, Shah RA, Janssen WG, Hayashi S, Milner TA, McEwen BS, Morrison JH (2002) Estrogen and aging affect the subcellular distribution of estrogen receptor-alpha in the hippocampus of female rats. J Neurosci 22:3608-3614
- 9. Addadi L, Weiner S, Geva M (2001) On how proteins interact with crystals and their effect on crystal formation. Z Kardiol 90 Suppl 3:92-98
- 10. Addison WN, Masica DL, Gray JJ, McKee MD Phosphorylation-dependent inhibition of mineralization by osteopontin ASARM peptides is regulated by PHEX cleavage. J Bone Miner Res 25:695-705
- 11. Addison WN, McKee MD ASARM mineralization hypothesis: a bridge to progress. J Bone Miner Res 25:1191-1192
- 12. Aguirre JI, Plotkin LI, Gortazar AR, Millan MM, O'Brien CA, Manolagas SC, Bellido T (2007) A novel ligand-independent function of the estrogen receptor is essential for osteocyte and osteoblast mechanotransduction. J Biol Chem 282:25501-25508
- 13. Aguirre JI, Plotkin LI, Stewart SA, Weinstein RS, Parfitt AM, Manolagas SC, Bellido T (2006) Osteocyte apoptosis is induced by weightlessness in mice and precedes osteoclast recruitment and bone loss. J Bone Miner Res 21:605-615
- 14. Ahlborg HG, Johnell O, Turner CH, Rannevik G, Karlsson MK (2003) Bone loss and bone size after menopause. N Engl J Med 349:327-334

- 15. Ahlborg HG, Nguyen ND, Nguyen TV, Center JR, Eisman JA (2005) Contribution of hip strength indices to hip fracture risk in elderly men and women. J Bone Miner Res 20:1820-1827
- 16. Ajubi NE, Klein-Nulend J, Alblas MJ, Burger EH, Nijweide PJ (1999) Signal transduction pathways involved in fluid flow-induced PGE2 production by cultured osteocytes. Am J Physiol 276:E171-178
- 17. al Saffar N, Revell PA (1994) Interleukin-1 production by activated macrophages surrounding loosened orthopaedic implants: a potential role in osteolysis. Br J Rheumatol 33:309-316
- 18. Alenghat FJ, Ingber DE (2002) Mechanotransduction: all signals point to cytoskeleton, matrix, and integrins. Sci STKE 2002:pe6
- 19. Alford AI, Jacobs CR, Donahue HJ (2003) Oscillating fluid flow regulates gap junction communication in osteocytic MLO-Y4 cells by an ERK1/2 MAP kinase-dependent mechanism small star, filled. Bone 33:64-70
- 20. Allen FD, Hung CT, Pollack SR, Brighton CT (2000) Serum modulates the intracellular calcium response of primary cultured bone cells to shear flow. J Biomech 33:1585-1591
- 21. Almeida M, Han L, Martin-Millan M, Plotkin LI, Stewart SA, Roberson PK, Kousteni S, O'Brien CA, Bellido T, Parfitt AM, Weinstein RS, Jilka RL, Manolagas SC (2007) Skeletal involution by age-associated oxidative stress and its acceleration by loss of sex steroids. J Biol Chem 282:27285-27297
- 22. Alonso CG, Curiel MD, Carranza FH, Cano RP, Perez AD (2000) Femoral bone mineral density, neck-shaft angle and mean femoral neck width as predictors of hip fracture in men and women. Multicenter Project for Research in Osteoporosis. Osteoporos Int 11:714-720
- 23. Ammann P, Rizzoli R, Bonjour JP, Bourrin S, Meyer JM, Vassalli P, Garcia I (1997) Transgenic mice expressing soluble tumor necrosis factor-receptor are protected against bone loss caused by estrogen deficiency. J Clin Invest 99:1699-1703
- 24. Ammann P, Rizzoli R, Meyer JM, Bonjour JP (1996) Bone density and shape as determinants of bone strength in IGF-I and/or pamidronate-treated ovariectomized rats. Osteoporos Int 6:219-227
- 25. Anantharaman-Barr HG, Decombaz J (1989) The effect of wheel running and the estrous cycle on energy expenditure in female rats. Physiol Behav 46:259-263
- Andreassen TT, Jorgensen PH, Flyvbjerg A, Orskov H, Oxlund H (1995) Growth hormone stimulates bone formation and strength of cortical bone in aged rats. J Bone Miner Res 10:1057-1067
- Arjmandi BH, Salih MA, Herbert DC, Sims SH, Kalu DN (1993) Evidence for estrogen receptor-linked calcium transport in the intestine. Bone Miner 21:63-74
- Armstrong VJ, Muzylak M, Sunters A, Zaman G, Saxon LK, Price JS, Lanyon LE (2007) Wnt/beta-catenin signaling is a component of osteoblastic bone cell early responses to load-bearing and requires estrogen receptor alpha. J Biol Chem 282:20715-20727

- 29. Arnold S, Plate U, Wiesmann HP, Stratmann U, Kohl H, Hohling HJ (2001) Quantitative analyses of the biomineralization of different hard tissues. J Microsc 202:488-494
- 30. Arnsdorf EJ, Tummala P, Kwon RY, Jacobs CR (2009) Mechanically induced osteogenic differentiation--the role of RhoA, ROCKII and cytoskeletal dynamics. J Cell Sci 122:546-553
- 31. Baek KH, Oh KW, Lee WY, Lee SS, Kim MK, Kwon HS, Rhee EJ, Han JH, Song KH, Cha BY, Lee KW, Kang MI (2010) Association of oxidative stress with postmenopausal osteoporosis and the effects of hydrogen peroxide on osteoclast formation in human bone marrow cell cultures. Calcif Tissue Int 87:226-235
- 32. Bai XC, Lu D, Bai J, Zheng H, Ke ZY, Li XM, Luo SQ (2004) Oxidative stress inhibits osteoblastic differentiation of bone cells by ERK and NF-kappaB. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 314:197-207
- 33. Bailey AJ, Sims TJ, Ebbesen EN, Mansell JP, Thomsen JS, Mosekilde L (1999) Age-related changes in the biochemical properties of human cancellous bone collagen: relationship to bone strength. Calcif Tissue Int 65:203-210
- 34. Bailey AJ, Wotton SF, Sims TJ, Thompson PW (1993) Biochemical changes in the collagen of human osteoporotic bone matrix. Connect Tissue Res 29:119-132
- 35. Bakker A, Klein-Nulend J, Burger E (2004) Shear stress inhibits while disuse promotes osteocyte apoptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 320:1163-1168
- 36. Bakker AD, Klein-Nulend J, Tanck E, Albers GH, Lips P, Burger EH (2005) Additive effects of estrogen and mechanical stress on nitric oxide and prostaglandin E2 production by bone cells from osteoporotic donors. Osteoporos Int 16:983-989
- 37. Balaban RS, Nemoto S, Finkel T (2005) Mitochondria, oxidants, and aging. Cell 120:483-495
- 38. Banse X, Sims TJ, Bailey AJ (2002) Mechanical properties of adult vertebral cancellous bone: correlation with collagen intermolecular cross-links. J Bone Miner Res 17:1621-1628
- 39. Baron R, Rawadi G (2007) Targeting the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway to regulate bone formation in the adult skeleton. Endocrinology 148:2635-2643
- Barrett E, Barrett P (2009) The Parathyroid Glands and Vitamin D. In: Boron W, Boulpaep E (eds) Medical Physiology. Saunders Elsevier, Philadelphia, p 1095-1110
- 41. Bass S, Pearce G, Bradney M, Hendrich E, Delmas PD, Harding A, Seeman E (1998) Exercise before puberty may confer residual benefits in bone density in adulthood: studies in active prepubertal and retired female gymnasts. J Bone Miner Res 13:500-507
- 42. Bass SL, Saxon L, Daly RM, Turner CH, Robling AG, Seeman E, Stuckey S (2002) The effect of mechanical loading on the size and shape of bone in pre-, peri-, and postpubertal girls: a study in tennis players. J Bone Miner Res 17:2274-2280
- 43. Basso N, Heersche JN (2002) Characteristics of in vitro osteoblastic cell loading models. Bone 30:347-351

- 44. Basu S, Michaelsson K, Olofsson H, Johansson S, Melhus H (2001) Association between oxidative stress and bone mineral density. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 288:275-279
- 45. Batra NN, Li YJ, Yellowley CE, You L, Malone AM, Kim CH, Jacobs CR (2005) Effects of short-term recovery periods on fluid-induced signaling in osteoblastic cells. J Biomech 38:1909-1917
- 46. Beck TJ (2007) Extending DXA beyond bone mineral density: understanding hip structure analysis. Curr Osteoporos Rep 5:49-55
- 47. Beck TJ, Looker AC, Ruff CB, Sievanen H, Wahner HW (2000) Structural trends in the aging femoral neck and proximal shaft: analysis of the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry data. J Bone Miner Res 15:2297-2304
- 48. Beck TJ, Ruff CB, Warden KE, Scott WW, Jr., Rao GU (1990) Predicting femoral neck strength from bone mineral data. A structural approach. Invest Radiol 25:6-18
- 49. Bell KL, Loveridge N, Power J, Garrahan N, Meggitt BF, Reeve J (1999) Regional differences in cortical porosity in the fractured femoral neck. Bone 24:57-64
- 50. Ben-Dov IZ, Galitzer H, Lavi-Moshayoff V, Goetz R, Kuro-o M, Mohammadi M, Sirkis R, Naveh-Many T, Silver J (2007) The parathyroid is a target organ for FGF23 in rats. J Clin Invest 117:4003-4008
- 51. Ben-Hur H, Mor G, Insler V, Blickstein I, Amir-Zaltsman Y, Sharp A, Globerson A, Kohen F (1995) Menopause is associated with a significant increase in blood monocyte number and a relative decrease in the expression of estrogen receptors in human peripheral monocytes. Am J Reprod Immunol 34:363-369
- 52. Berard A, Bravo G, Gauthier P (1997) Meta-analysis of the effectiveness of physical activity for the prevention of bone loss in postmenopausal women. Osteoporos Int 7:331-337
- 53. Bergot C, Bousson V, Meunier A, Laval-Jeantet M, Laredo JD (2002) Hip fracture risk and proximal femur geometry from DXA scans. Osteoporos Int 13:542-550
- 54. Bhanot P, Brink M, Samos CH, Hsieh JC, Wang Y, Macke JP, Andrew D, Nathans J, Nusse R (1996) A new member of the frizzled family from Drosophila functions as a Wingless receptor. Nature 382:225-230
- 55. Bilezikian JP (2006) Osteonecrosis of the jaw--do bisphosphonates pose a risk? N Engl J Med 355:2278-2281
- 56. Black DM, Cummings SR, Karpf DB, Cauley JA, Thompson DE, Nevitt MC, Bauer DC, Genant HK, Haskell WL, Marcus R, Ott SM, Torner JC, Quandt SA, Reiss TF, Ensrud KE (1996) Randomised trial of effect of alendronate on risk of fracture in women with existing vertebral fractures. Fracture Intervention Trial Research Group. Lancet 348:1535-1541
- 57. Black DM, Delmas PD, Eastell R, Reid IR, Boonen S, Cauley JA, Cosman F, Lakatos P, Leung PC, Man Z, Mautalen C, Mesenbrink P, Hu H, Caminis J, Tong K, Rosario-Jansen T, Krasnow J, Hue TF, Sellmeyer D, Eriksen EF, Cummings SR (2007) Once-yearly zoledronic acid for treatment of postmenopausal osteoporosis. N Engl J Med 356:1809-1822

- 58. Bliuc D, Nguyen ND, Milch VE, Nguyen TV, Eisman JA, Center JR (2009) Mortality risk associated with low-trauma osteoporotic fracture and subsequent fracture in men and women. JAMA 301:513-521
- 59. Bloomfield SA (1997) Changes in musculoskeletal structure and function with prolonged bed rest. Med Sci Sports Exerc 29:197-206
- Blouin J, Dragomir A, Moride Y, Ste-Marie LG, Fernandes JC, Perreault S (2008) Impact of noncompliance with alendronate and risedronate on the incidence of nonvertebral osteoporotic fractures in elderly women. Br J Clin Pharmacol 66:117-127
- 61. Boivin G, Meunie PJ (2001) Changes in bone remodeling rate influence the degree of mineralization of bone which is a determinant of bone strength: therapeutic implications. Adv Exp Med Biol 496:123-127
- 62. Boivin G, Meunier PJ (2002) Changes in bone remodeling rate influence the degree of mineralization of bone. Connect Tissue Res 43:535-537
- 63. Boivin G, Meunier PJ (2002) The degree of mineralization of bone tissue measured by computerized quantitative contact microradiography. Calcif Tissue Int 70:503-511
- 64. Boivin GY, Chavassieux PM, Santora AC, Yates J, Meunier PJ (2000) Alendronate increases bone strength by increasing the mean degree of mineralization of bone tissue in osteoporotic women. Bone 27:687-694
- 65. Bonewald LF (1999) Establishment and characterization of an osteocyte-like cell line, MLO-Y4. J Bone Miner Metab 17:61-65
- 66. Bonewald LF (2011) The amazing osteocyte. J Bone Miner Res 26:229-238
- 67. Borah B, Dufresne TE, Chmielewski PA, Gross GJ, Prenger MC, Phipps RJ (2002) Risedronate preserves trabecular architecture and increases bone strength in vertebra of ovariectomized minipigs as measured by three-dimensional microcomputed tomography. J Bone Miner Res 17:1139-1147
- 68. Bord S, Horner A, Beavan S, Compston J (2001) Estrogen receptors alpha and beta are differentially expressed in developing human bone. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 86:2309-2314
- 69. Bord S, Ireland DC, Beavan SR, Compston JE (2003) The effects of estrogen on osteoprotegerin, RANKL, and estrogen receptor expression in human osteoblasts. Bone 32:136-141
- 70. Borke JL, Caride A, Verma AK, Penniston JT, Kumar R (1989) Plasma membrane calcium pump and 28-kDa calcium binding protein in cells of rat kidney distal tubules. Am J Physiol 257:F842-849
- 71. Boskey A (2003) Bone mineral crystal size. Osteoporos Int 14 Suppl 5:S16-20; discussion S20-11
- 72. Boutahar N, Guignandon A, Vico L, Lafage-Proust MH (2004) Mechanical strain on osteoblasts activates autophosphorylation of focal adhesion kinase and proline-rich tyrosine kinase 2 tyrosine sites involved in ERK activation. J Biol Chem 279:30588-30599
- 73. Bouxsein ML, Myburgh KH, van der Meulen MC, Lindenberger E, Marcus R (1994) Age-related differences in cross-sectional geometry of the forearm bones in healthy women. Calcif Tissue Int 54:113-118

- 74. Boyd SK, Davison P, Muller R, Gasser JA (2006) Monitoring individual morphological changes over time in ovariectomized rats by in vivo micro-computed tomography. Bone 39:854-862
- 75. Boyden LM, Mao J, Belsky J, Mitzner L, Farhi A, Mitnick MA, Wu D, Insogna K, Lifton RP (2002) High bone density due to a mutation in LDL-receptor-related protein 5. N Engl J Med 346:1513-1521
- 76. Boyle WJ, Simonet WS, Lacey DL (2003) Osteoclast differentiation and activation. Nature 423:337-342
- 77. Bradney M, Pearce G, Naughton G, Sullivan C, Bass S, Beck T, Carlson J, Seeman E (1998) Moderate exercise during growth in prepubertal boys: changes in bone mass, size, volumetric density, and bone strength: a controlled prospective study. J Bone Miner Res 13:1814-1821
- 78. Branca F, Valtuena S (2001) Calcium, physical activity and bone health--building bones for a stronger future. Public Health Nutr 4:117-123
- 79. Briesacher BA, Andrade SE, Yood RA, Kahler KH (2007) Consequences of poor compliance with bisphosphonates. Bone 41:882-887
- 80. Brodt MD, Silva MJ (2010) Aged mice have enhanced endocortical response and normal periosteal response compared to young-adult mice following 1 week of axial tibial compression. J Bone Miner Res 25:2006-2015
- 81. Brodt MD, Silva MJ (2010) Aged mice have enhanced endocortical response and normal periosteal response compared with young-adult mice following 1 week of axial tibial compression. J Bone Miner Res 25:2006-2015
- 82. Brownbill RA, Ilich JZ (2003) Hip geometry and its role in fracture: what do we know so far? Curr Osteoporos Rep 1:25-31
- 83. Buhl KM, Jacobs CR, Turner RT, Evans GL, Farrell PA, Donahue HJ (2001) Aged bone displays an increased responsiveness to low-intensity resistance exercise. J Appl Physiol 90:1359-1364
- Burge R, Dawson-Hughes B, Solomon DH, Wong JB, King A, Tosteson A (2007) Incidence and economic burden of osteoporosis-related fractures in the United States, 2005-2025. J Bone Miner Res 22:465-475
- 85. Burghardt AJ, Kazakia GJ, Ramachandran S, Link TM, Majumdar S (2010) Ageand gender-related differences in the geometric properties and biomechanical significance of intracortical porosity in the distal radius and tibia. J Bone Miner Res 25:983-993
- Burr DB, Turner CH, Naick P, Forwood MR, Ambrosius W, Hasan MS, Pidaparti R (1998) Does microdamage accumulation affect the mechanical properties of bone? J Biomech 31:337-345
- 87. Butler RN, Miller RA, Perry D, Carnes BA, Williams TF, Cassel C, Brody J, Bernard MA, Partridge L, Kirkwood T, Martin GM, Olshansky SJ (2008) New model of health promotion and disease prevention for the 21st century. BMJ 337:a399
- 88. Campbell GM, Buie HR, Boyd SK (2008) Signs of irreversible architectural changes occur early in the development of experimental osteoporosis as assessed by in vivo micro-CT. Osteoporos Int 19:1409-1419

- 89. Carani C, Qin K, Simoni M, Faustini-Fustini M, Serpente S, Boyd J, Korach KS, Simpson ER (1997) Effect of testosterone and estradiol in a man with aromatase deficiency. N Engl J Med 337:91-95
- 90. Cardoso L, Herman BC, Verborgt O, Laudier D, Majeska RJ, Schaffler MB (2009) Osteocyte apoptosis controls activation of intracortical resorption in response to bone fatigue. J Bone Miner Res 24:597-605
- 91. Castro CH, Stains JP, Sheikh S, Szejnfeld VL, Willecke K, Theis M, Civitelli R (2003) Development of mice with osteoblast-specific connexin43 gene deletion. Cell Commun Adhes 10:445-450
- 92. Cauley JA, Thompson DE, Ensrud KC, Scott JC, Black D (2000) Risk of mortality following clinical fractures. Osteoporos Int 11:556-561
- 93. Cavanagh PR, Licata AA, Rice AJ (2005) Exercise and pharmacological countermeasures for bone loss during long-duration space flight. Gravit Space Biol Bull 18:39-58
- 94. Cefalu CA (2004) Is bone mineral density predictive of fracture risk reduction? Curr Med Res Opin 20:341-349
- 95. Cenci S, Toraldo G, Weitzmann MN, Roggia C, Gao Y, Qian WP, Sierra O, Pacifici R (2003) Estrogen deficiency induces bone loss by increasing T cell proliferation and lifespan through IFN-gamma-induced class II transactivator. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:10405-10410
- Cenci S, Weitzmann MN, Roggia C, Namba N, Novack D, Woodring J, Pacifici R (2000) Estrogen deficiency induces bone loss by enhancing T-cell production of TNF-alpha. J Clin Invest 106:1229-1237
- 97. Center JR, Nguyen TV, Schneider D, Sambrook PN, Eisman JA (1999) Mortality after all major types of osteoporotic fracture in men and women: an observational study. Lancet 353:878-882
- 98. Chachisvilis M, Zhang YL, Frangos JA (2006) G protein-coupled receptors sense fluid shear stress in endothelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:15463-15468
- 99. Chappard D, Legrand E, Basle MF, Fromont P, Racineux JL, Rebel A, Audran M (1996) Altered trabecular architecture induced by corticosteroids: a bone histomorphometric study. J Bone Miner Res 11:676-685
- Chen H, Zhou X, Washimi Y, Shoumura S (2008) Three-dimensional microstructure of the bone in a hamster model of senile osteoporosis. Bone 43:494-500
- Chen JQ, Delannoy M, Cooke C, Yager JD (2004) Mitochondrial localization of ERalpha and ERbeta in human MCF7 cells. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 286:E1011-1022
- 102. Chen NX, Ryder KD, Pavalko FM, Turner CH, Burr DB, Qiu J, Duncan RL (2000) Ca(2+) regulates fluid shear-induced cytoskeletal reorganization and gene expression in osteoblasts. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 278:C989-997
- 103. Chen P, Miller PD, Delmas PD, Misurski DA, Krege JH (2006) Change in lumbar spine BMD and vertebral fracture risk reduction in teriparatide-treated postmenopausal women with osteoporosis. J Bone Miner Res 21:1785-1790
- 104. Cheng B, Zhao S, Luo J, Sprague E, Bonewald LF, Jiang JX (2001) Expression of functional gap junctions and regulation by fluid flow in osteocyte-like MLO-Y4 cells. J Bone Miner Res 16:249-259
- 105. Cheng MZ, Rawlinson SC, Pitsillides AA, Zaman G, Mohan S, Baylink DJ, Lanyon LE (2002) Human osteoblasts' proliferative responses to strain and 17betaestradiol are mediated by the estrogen receptor and the receptor for insulinlike growth factor I. J Bone Miner Res 17:593-602
- 106. Cheng XG, Lowet G, Boonen S, Nicholson PH, Brys P, Nijs J, Dequeker J (1997) Assessment of the strength of proximal femur in vitro: relationship to femoral bone mineral density and femoral geometry. Bone 20:213-218
- 107. Chesnut CH, 3rd (1989) Is osteoporosis a pediatric disease? Peak bone mass attainment in the adolescent female. Public Health Rep 104 Suppl:50-54
- 108. Cheung CL, Livshits G, Zhou Y, Meigs JB, McAteer JB, Florez JC, Cupples LA, Demissie S, Kiel DP, Karasik D (2009) Hip Geometry Variation is Associated With Bone Mineralization Pathway Gene Variants: The Framingham Study. J Bone Miner Res
- 109. Chilibeck PD, Sale DG, Webber CE (1995) Exercise and bone mineral density. Sports Med 19:103-122
- 110. Ching W, Hang HC, Nusse R (2008) Lipid-independent secretion of a Drosophila Wnt protein. J Biol Chem 283:17092-17098
- 111. Chow JW (2000) Role of nitric oxide and prostaglandins in the bone formation response to mechanical loading. Exerc Sport Sci Rev 28:185-188
- Chow JW, Chambers TJ (1994) Indomethacin has distinct early and late actions on bone formation induced by mechanical stimulation. Am J Physiol 267:E287-292
- 113. Civitelli R (2008) Cell-cell communication in the osteoblast/osteocyte lineage. Arch Biochem Biophys 473:188-192
- 114. Clowes JA, Peel NF, Eastell R (2004) The impact of monitoring on adherence and persistence with antiresorptive treatment for postmenopausal osteoporosis: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89:1117-1123
- 115. Colin EM, Van Den Bemd GJ, Van Aken M, Christakos S, De Jonge HR, Deluca HF, Prahl JM, Birkenhager JC, Buurman CJ, Pols HA, Van Leeuwen JP (1999) Evidence for involvement of 17beta-estradiol in intestinal calcium absorption independent of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 level in the Rat. J Bone Miner Res 14:57-64
- 116. Colletti LA, Edwards J, Gordon L, Shary J, Bell NH (1989) The effects of musclebuilding exercise on bone mineral density of the radius, spine, and hip in young men. Calcif Tissue Int 45:12-14
- 117. Collin-Osdoby P (1994) Role of vascular endothelial cells in bone biology. J Cell Biochem 55:304-309
- 118. Cooper C, Campion G, Melton LJ, 3rd (1992) Hip fractures in the elderly: a world-wide projection. Osteoporos Int 2:285-289

- 119. Cooper DM, Thomas CD, Clement JG, Turinsky AL, Sensen CW, Hallgrimsson B (2007) Age-dependent change in the 3D structure of cortical porosity at the human femoral midshaft. Bone 40:957-965
- 120. Cooper LF, Tiffee JC, Griffin JP, Hamano H, Guo Z (2000) Estrogen-induced resistance to osteoblast apoptosis is associated with increased hsp27 expression. J Cell Physiol 185:401-407
- 121. Costessi A, Pines A, D'Andrea P, Romanello M, Damante G, Cesaratto L, Quadrifoglio F, Moro L, Tell G (2005) Extracellular nucleotides activate Runx2 in the osteoblast-like HOBIT cell line: a possible molecular link between mechanical stress and osteoblasts' response. Bone 36:418-432
- 122. Cowin SC, Moss-Salentijn L, Moss ML (1991) Candidates for the mechanosensory system in bone. J Biomech Eng 113:191-197
- 123. Cowley SM, Hoare S, Mosselman S, Parker MG (1997) Estrogen receptors alpha and beta form heterodimers on DNA. J Biol Chem 272:19858-19862
- 124. Cranney A, Jamal SA, Tsang JF, Josse RG, Leslie WD (2007) Low bone mineral density and fracture burden in postmenopausal women. CMAJ 177:575-580
- 125. Cummings SR, Bates D, Black DM (2002) Clinical use of bone densitometry: scientific review. JAMA 288:1889-1897
- 126. Cummings SR, Karpf DB, Harris F, Genant HK, Ensrud K, LaCroix AZ, Black DM (2002) Improvement in spine bone density and reduction in risk of vertebral fractures during treatment with antiresorptive drugs. Am J Med 112:281-289
- 127. Cummings SR, Kelsey JL, Nevitt MC, O'Dowd KJ (1985) Epidemiology of osteoporosis and osteoporotic fractures. Epidemiol Rev 7:178-208
- 128. Cummings SR, Melton LJ (2002) Epidemiology and outcomes of osteoporotic fractures. Lancet 359:1761-1767
- 129. Currey JD (1990) Physical characteristics affecting the tensile failure properties of compact bone. J Biomech 23:837-844
- 130. Currey JD (2003) The many adaptations of bone. J Biomech 36:1487-1495
- 131. Cushing BS, Marhenke S, McClure PA (1995) Estradiol concentration and the regulation of locomotor activity. Physiol Behav 58:953-957
- 132. Dang ZC, van Bezooijen RL, Karperien M, Papapoulos SE, Lowik CW (2002) Exposure of KS483 cells to estrogen enhances osteogenesis and inhibits adipogenesis. J Bone Miner Res 17:394-405
- 133. Davidson RM, Tatakis DW, Auerbach AL (1990) Multiple forms of mechanosensitive ion channels in osteoblast-like cells. Pflugers Arch 416:646-651
- 134. Davis ME, Cai H, Drummond GR, Harrison DG (2001) Shear stress regulates endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression through c-Src by divergent signaling pathways. Circ Res 89:1073-1080
- 135. Delmas PD (2002) Treatment of postmenopausal osteoporosis. Lancet 359:2018-2026
- 136. Delmas PD, Seeman E (2004) Changes in bone mineral density explain little of the reduction in vertebral or nonvertebral fracture risk with anti-resorptive therapy. Bone 34:599-604

- 137. Denger S, Reid G, Kos M, Flouriot G, Parsch D, Brand H, Korach KS, Sonntag-Buck V, Gannon F (2001) ERalpha gene expression in human primary osteoblasts: evidence for the expression of two receptor proteins. Mol Endocrinol 15:2064-2077
- 138. Dequeker J, Nijs J, Verstraeten A, Geusens P, Gevers G (1987) Genetic determinants of bone mineral content at the spine and radius: a twin study. Bone 8:207-209
- 139. Di Gregorio GB, Yamamoto M, Ali AA, Abe E, Roberson P, Manolagas SC, Jilka RL (2001) Attenuation of the self-renewal of transit-amplifying osteoblast progenitors in the murine bone marrow by 17 beta-estradiol. J Clin Invest 107:803-812
- 140. Dick IM, Devine A, Beilby J, Prince RL (2005) Effects of endogenous estrogen on renal calcium and phosphate handling in elderly women. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 288:E430-435
- 141. Dick IM, Liu J, Glendenning P, Prince RL (2003) Estrogen and androgen regulation of plasma membrane calcium pump activity in immortalized distal tubule kidney cells. Mol Cell Endocrinol 212:11-18
- 142. Dickson IR, Bagga MK (1985) Changes with age in the non-collagenous proteins of human bone. Connect Tissue Res 14:77-85
- 143. Dionne IJ, Kinaman KA, Poehlman ET (2000) Sarcopenia and muscle function during menopause and hormone-replacement therapy. J Nutr Health Aging 4:156-161
- 144. Doherty TJ (2003) Invited review: Aging and sarcopenia. J Appl Physiol 95:1717-1727
- 145. Donaldson CL, Hulley SB, Vogel JM, Hattner RS, Bayers JH, McMillan DE (1970) Effect of prolonged bed rest on bone mineral. Metabolism 19:1071-1084
- 146. Dong XN, Guo XE (2004) The dependence of transversely isotropic elasticity of human femoral cortical bone on porosity. J Biomech 37:1281-1287
- 147. Doty SB (1981) Morphological evidence of gap junctions between bone cells. Calcif Tissue Int 33:509-512
- 148. Ducy P, Schinke T, Karsenty G (2000) The osteoblast: a sophisticated fibroblast under central surveillance. Science 289:1501-1504
- 149. Dunstan CR, Somers NM, Evans RA (1993) Osteocyte death and hip fracture. Calcif Tissue Int 53 Suppl 1:S113-116; discussion S116-117
- 150. Dutta C (1997) Significance of sarcopenia in the elderly. J Nutr 127:992S-993S
- 151. Eberhardt AW, Yeager-Jones A, Blair HC (2001) Regional trabecular bone matrix degeneration and osteocyte death in femora of glucocorticoid- treated rabbits. Endocrinology 142:1333-1340
- 152. Ejersted C, Andreassen TT, Oxlund H, Jorgensen PH, Bak B, Haggblad J, Torring O, Nilsson MH (1993) Human parathyroid hormone (1-34) and (1-84) increase the mechanical strength and thickness of cortical bone in rats. J Bone Miner Res 8:1097-1101
- 153. El-Kaissi S, Pasco JA, Henry MJ, Panahi S, Nicholson JG, Nicholson GC, Kotowicz MA (2005) Femoral neck geometry and hip fracture risk: the Geelong osteoporosis study. Osteoporos Int 16:1299-1303

- 154. El-Tanani MK, Green CD (1997) Two separate mechanisms for ligandindependent activation of the estrogen receptor. Mol Endocrinol 11:928-937
- 155. Elbaz A, Rivas D, Duque G (2009) Effect of estrogens on bone marrow adipogenesis and Sirt1 in aging C57BL/6J mice. Biogerontology
- 156. Emerton KB, Hu B, Woo AA, Sinofsky A, Hernandez C, Majeska RJ, Jepsen KJ, Schaffler MB (2009) Osteocyte apoptosis and control of bone resorption following ovariectomy in mice. Bone 46:577-583
- 157. Epstein S, Bryce G, Hinman JW, Miller ON, Riggs BL, Hui SL, Johnston CC, Jr. (1986) The influence of age on bone mineral regulating hormones. Bone 7:421-425
- Eriksen EF, Colvard DS, Berg NJ, Graham ML, Mann KG, Spelsberg TC, Riggs BL (1988) Evidence of estrogen receptors in normal human osteoblast-like cells. Science 241:84-86
- 159. Ernst E (1998) Exercise for female osteoporosis. A systematic review of randomised clinical trials. Sports Med 25:359-368
- 160. Ettinger B, Pressman A, Schein J (1998) Clinic visits and hospital admissions for care of acid-related upper gastrointestinal disorders in women using alendronate for osteoporosis. Am J Manag Care 4:1377-1382
- 161. Fahrbach SE, Meisel RL, Pfaff DW (1985) Preoptic implants of estradiol increase wheel running but not the open field activity of female rats. Physiol Behav 35:985-992
- 162. Fan X, Roy E, Zhu L, Murphy TC, Ackert-Bicknell C, Hart CM, Rosen C, Nanes MS, Rubin J (2004) Nitric oxide regulates receptor activator of nuclear factorkappaB ligand and osteoprotegerin expression in bone marrow stromal cells. Endocrinology 145:751-759
- 163. Faulkner KG, Cummings SR, Black D, Palermo L, Gluer CC, Genant HK (1993) Simple measurement of femoral geometry predicts hip fracture: the study of osteoporotic fractures. J Bone Miner Res 8:1211-1217
- 164. Faulkner KG, Wacker WK, Barden HS, Simonelli C, Burke PK, Ragi S, Del Rio L (2006) Femur strength index predicts hip fracture independent of bone density and hip axis length. Osteoporos Int 17:593-599
- 165. Faulkner RA, Bailey DA (2007) Osteoporosis: a pediatric concern? Med Sport Sci 51:1-12
- 166. Feik SA, Thomas CD, Clement JG (1997) Age-related changes in cortical porosity of the midshaft of the human femur. J Anat 191 (Pt 3):407-416
- 167. Felsing NE, Brasel JA, Cooper DM (1992) Effect of low and high intensity exercise on circulating growth hormone in men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 75:157-162
- 168. Finkel T, Holbrook NJ (2000) Oxidants, oxidative stress and the biology of ageing. Nature 408:239-247
- 169. Fleurence RL, Iglesias CP, Johnson JM (2007) The cost effectiveness of bisphosphonates for the prevention and treatment of osteoporosis: a structured review of the literature. Pharmacoeconomics 25:913-933

- 170. Forwood MR (1996) Inducible cyclo-oxygenase (COX-2) mediates the induction of bone formation by mechanical loading in vivo. J Bone Miner Res 11:1688-1693
- 171. Forwood MR, Burr DB (1993) Physical activity and bone mass: exercises in futility? Bone Miner 21:89-112
- 172. Fox SW, Chambers TJ, Chow JW (1996) Nitric oxide is an early mediator of the increase in bone formation by mechanical stimulation. Am J Physiol 270:E955-960
- 173. Fratzl P, Fratzl-Zelman N, Klaushofer K, Vogl G, Koller K (1991) Nucleation and growth of mineral crystals in bone studied by small-angle X-ray scattering. Calcif Tissue Int 48:407-413
- 174. Fratzl P, Gupta H, Paschalis E, Roschger P (2004) Structure and mechanical quality of the collagen–mineral nano-composite in bone. J Mater Chem:2115 2123
- 175. Frisoli A, Jr., Paula AP, Pinheiro M, Szejnfeld VL, Delmonte Piovezan R, Takata E, Araujo Silva T, Chaves PH (2005) Hip axis length as an independent risk factor for hip fracture independently of femural bone mineral density in Caucasian elderly Brazilian women. Bone 37:871-875
- 176. Frost HM (1987) Bone "mass" and the "mechanostat": a proposal. Anat Rec 219:1-9
- 177. Frost HM (1988) Vital biomechanics: proposed general concepts for skeletal adaptations to mechanical usage. Calcif Tissue Int 42:145-156
- 178. Frost HM (1999) Why do bone strength and "mass" in aging adults become unresponsive to vigorous exercise? Insights of the Utah paradigm. J Bone Miner Metab 17:90-97
- 179. Fuchs RK, Bauer JJ, Snow CM (2001) Jumping improves hip and lumbar spine bone mass in prepubescent children: a randomized controlled trial. J Bone Miner Res 16:148-156
- 180. Fujita M, Urano T, Horie K, Ikeda K, Tsukui T, Fukuoka H, Tsutsumi O, Ouchi Y, Inoue S (2002) Estrogen activates cyclin-dependent kinases 4 and 6 through induction of cyclin D in rat primary osteoblasts. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 299:222-228
- 181. Gajjeraman S, Narayanan K, Hao J, Qin C, George A (2007) Matrix macromolecules in hard tissues control the nucleation and hierarchical assembly of hydroxyapatite. J Biol Chem 282:1193-1204
- 182. Garner E, Lakes R, Lee T, Swan C, Brand R (2000) Viscoelastic dissipation in compact bone: implications for stress-induced fluid flow in bone. J Biomech Eng 122:166-172
- 183. Garnero P, Borel O, Gineyts E, Duboeuf F, Solberg H, Bouxsein ML, Christiansen C, Delmas PD (2006) Extracellular post-translational modifications of collagen are major determinants of biomechanical properties of fetal bovine cortical bone. Bone 38:300-309
- 184. Garnero P, Hausherr E, Chapuy MC, Marcelli C, Grandjean H, Muller C, Cormier C, Breart G, Meunier PJ, Delmas PD (1996) Markers of bone resorption predict

hip fracture in elderly women: the EPIDOS Prospective Study. J Bone Miner Res 11:1531-1538

- 185. Garnero P, Sornay-Rendu E, Chapuy MC, Delmas PD (1996) Increased bone turnover in late postmenopausal women is a major determinant of osteoporosis. J Bone Miner Res 11:337-349
- 186. Garrett IR, Boyce BF, Oreffo RO, Bonewald L, Poser J, Mundy GR (1990) Oxygenderived free radicals stimulate osteoclastic bone resorption in rodent bone in vitro and in vivo. J Clin Invest 85:632-639
- 187. Genetos DC, Kephart CJ, Zhang Y, Yellowley CE, Donahue HJ (2007) Oscillating fluid flow activation of gap junction hemichannels induces ATP release from MLO-Y4 osteocytes. J Cell Physiol 212:207-214
- 188. Gennari C, Agnusdei D, Nardi P, Civitelli R (1990) Estrogen preserves a normal intestinal responsiveness to 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in oophorectomized women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 71:1288-1293
- 189. Gilbert L, He X, Farmer P, Boden S, Kozlowski M, Rubin J, Nanes MS (2000) Inhibition of osteoblast differentiation by tumor necrosis factor-alpha. Endocrinology 141:3956-3964
- 190. Giorgio M, Trinei M, Migliaccio E, Pelicci PG (2007) Hydrogen peroxide: a metabolic by-product or a common mediator of ageing signals? Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 8:722-728
- 191. Girasole G, Jilka RL, Passeri G, Boswell S, Boder G, Williams DC, Manolagas SC (1992) 17 beta-estradiol inhibits interleukin-6 production by bone marrowderived stromal cells and osteoblasts in vitro: a potential mechanism for the antiosteoporotic effect of estrogens. J Clin Invest 89:883-891
- 192. Glass DA, 2nd, Bialek P, Ahn JD, Starbuck M, Patel MS, Clevers H, Taketo MM, Long F, McMahon AP, Lang RA, Karsenty G (2005) Canonical Wnt signaling in differentiated osteoblasts controls osteoclast differentiation. Dev Cell 8:751-764
- 193. Gohel A, McCarthy MB, Gronowicz G (1999) Estrogen prevents glucocorticoidinduced apoptosis in osteoblasts in vivo and in vitro. Endocrinology 140:5339-5347
- 194. Golub EE (2009) Role of matrix vesicles in biomineralization. Biochim Biophys Acta 1790:1592-1598
- 195. Gong Y, Slee RB, Fukai N, Rawadi G, Roman-Roman S, Reginato AM, Wang H, Cundy T, Glorieux FH, Lev D, Zacharin M, Oexle K, Marcelino J, Suwairi W, Heeger S, Sabatakos G, Apte S, Adkins WN, Allgrove J, Arslan-Kirchner M, Batch JA, Beighton P, Black GC, Boles RG, Boon LM, Borrone C, Brunner HG, Carle GF, Dallapiccola B, De Paepe A, Floege B, Halfhide ML, Hall B, Hennekam RC, Hirose T, Jans A, Juppner H, Kim CA, Keppler-Noreuil K, Kohlschuetter A, LaCombe D, Lambert M, Lemyre E, Letteboer T, Peltonen L, Ramesar RS, Romanengo M, Somer H, Steichen-Gersdorf E, Steinmann B, Sullivan B, Superti-Furga A, Swoboda W, van den Boogaard MJ, Van Hul W, Vikkula M, Votruba M, Zabel B, Garcia T, Baron R, Olsen BR, Warman ML (2001) LDL receptor-related protein 5 (LRP5) affects bone accrual and eye development. Cell 107:513-523

- 196. Gorzek JF, Hendrickson KC, Forstner JP, Rixen JL, Moran AL, Lowe DA (2007) Estradiol and tamoxifen reverse ovariectomy-induced physical inactivity in mice. Med Sci Sports Exerc 39:248-256
- 197. Gramsch B, Gabriel HD, Wiemann M, Grummer R, Winterhager E, Bingmann D, Schirrmacher K (2001) Enhancement of connexin 43 expression increases proliferation and differentiation of an osteoblast-like cell line. Exp Cell Res 264:397-407
- 198. Greendale GA, Edelstein S, Barrett-Connor E (1997) Endogenous sex steroids and bone mineral density in older women and men: the Rancho Bernardo Study. J Bone Miner Res 12:1833-1843
- 199. Greenspan SL, Beck TJ, Resnick NM, Bhattacharya R, Parker RA (2005) Effect of hormone replacement, alendronate, or combination therapy on hip structural geometry: a 3-year, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial. J Bone Miner Res 20:1525-1532
- 200. Gronthos S, Stewart K, Graves SE, Hay S, Simmons PJ (1997) Integrin expression and function on human osteoblast-like cells. J Bone Miner Res 12:1189-1197
- 201. Group TEPOSE (2002) Incidence of vertebral fracture in europe: results from the European Prospective Osteoporosis Study (EPOS). J Bone Miner Res 17:716-724
- 202. Gu G, Hentunen TA, Nars M, Harkonen PL, Vaananen HK (2005) Estrogen protects primary osteocytes against glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis. Apoptosis 10:583-595
- 203. Gu G, Mulari M, Peng Z, Hentunen TA, Vaananen HK (2005) Death of osteocytes turns off the inhibition of osteoclasts and triggers local bone resorption. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 335:1095-1101
- 204. Gu G, Nars M, Hentunen TA, Metsikko K, Vaananen HK (2006) Isolated primary osteocytes express functional gap junctions in vitro. Cell Tissue Res 323:263-271
- 205. Haapasalo H, Kontulainen S, Sievanen H, Kannus P, Jarvinen M, Vuori I (2000) Exercise-induced bone gain is due to enlargement in bone size without a change in volumetric bone density: a peripheral quantitative computed tomography study of the upper arms of male tennis players. Bone 27:351-357
- 206. Haapasalo H, Sievanen H, Kannus P, Heinonen A, Oja P, Vuori I (1996) Dimensions and estimated mechanical characteristics of the humerus after long-term tennis loading. J Bone Miner Res 11:864-872
- 207. Hagenfeldt Y, Eriksson HA (1988) The estrogen receptor in the rat kidney. Ontogeny, properties and effects of gonadectomy on its concentration. J Steroid Biochem 31:49-56
- 208. Haguenauer D, Welch V, Shea B, Tugwell P, Adachi JD, Wells G (2000) Fluoride for the treatment of postmenopausal osteoporotic fractures: a meta-analysis. Osteoporos Int 11:727-738
- Halloran BP, Ferguson VL, Simske SJ, Burghardt A, Venton LL, Majumdar S (2002) Changes in bone structure and mass with advancing age in the male C57BL/6J mouse. J Bone Miner Res 17:1044-1050

- 210. Hamdy N (2008) Osteoporosis: Other secondary Causes. In: P M (ed) Primer on the metabolic bone diseases and disorders of mineral metabolism. American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, Washigton, DC
- 211. Hamdy RC, Anderson JS, Whalen KE, Harvill LM (1994) Regional differences in bone density of young men involved in different exercises. Med Sci Sports Exerc 26:884-888
- 212. Han Y, Cowin SC, Schaffler MB, Weinbaum S (2004) Mechanotransduction and strain amplification in osteocyte cell processes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:16689-16694
- 213. Hanover JA (1992) The nuclear pore: at the crossroads. FASEB J 6:2288-2295
- 214. Hansen MA, Overgaard K, Riis BJ, Christiansen C (1991) Role of peak bone mass and bone loss in postmenopausal osteoporosis: 12 year study. BMJ 303:961-964
- 215. Haut Donahue TL, Genetos DC, Jacobs CR, Donahue HJ, Yellowley CE (2004) Annexin V disruption impairs mechanically induced calcium signaling in osteoblastic cells. Bone 35:656-663
- 216. Heaney RP, Abrams S, Dawson-Hughes B, Looker A, Marcus R, Matkovic V, Weaver C (2000) Peak bone mass. Osteoporos Int 11:985-1009
- 217. Heino TJ, Hentunen TA, Vaananen HK (2002) Osteocytes inhibit osteoclastic bone resorption through transforming growth factor-beta: enhancement by estrogen. J Cell Biochem 85:185-197
- 218. Heino TJ, Hentunen TA, Vaananen HK (2004) Conditioned medium from osteocytes stimulates the proliferation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells and their differentiation into osteoblasts. Exp Cell Res 294:458-468
- 219. Heinonen A, Oja P, Kannus P, Sievanen H, Haapasalo H, Manttari A, Vuori I (1995) Bone mineral density in female athletes representing sports with different loading characteristics of the skeleton. Bone 17:197-203
- 220. Heinonen A, Oja P, Kannus P, Sievanen H, Manttari A, Vuori I (1993) Bone mineral density of female athletes in different sports. Bone Miner 23:1-14
- 221. Heinonen A, Sievanen H, Kannus P, Oja P, Pasanen M, Vuori I (2000) Highimpact exercise and bones of growing girls: a 9-month controlled trial. Osteoporos Int 11:1010-1017
- 222. Heinonen A, Sievanen H, Kyrolainen H, Perttunen J, Kannus P (2001) Mineral mass, size, and estimated mechanical strength of triple jumpers' lower limb. Bone 29:279-285
- 223. Henderson BR (2000) Nuclear-cytoplasmic shuttling of APC regulates betacatenin subcellular localization and turnover. Nat Cell Biol 2:653-660
- 224. Hernandez CJ, Keaveny TM (2006) A biomechanical perspective on bone quality. Bone 39:1173-1181
- 225. Hillam RA, Skerry TM (1995) Inhibition of bone resorption and stimulation of formation by mechanical loading of the modeling rat ulna in vivo. J Bone Miner Res 10:683-689
- 226. Hofbauer LC, Khosla S, Dunstan CR, Lacey DL, Spelsberg TC, Riggs BL (1999) Estrogen stimulates gene expression and protein production of osteoprotegerin in human osteoblastic cells. Endocrinology 140:4367-4370

- 227. Horwood NJ, Kartsogiannis V, Quinn JM, Romas E, Martin TJ, Gillespie MT (1999) Activated T lymphocytes support osteoclast formation in vitro. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 265:144-150
- 228. Hsieh YF, Turner CH (2001) Effects of loading frequency on mechanically induced bone formation. J Bone Miner Res 16:918-924
- 229. Hughes DE, Dai A, Tiffee JC, Li HH, Mundy GR, Boyce BF (1996) Estrogen promotes apoptosis of murine osteoclasts mediated by TGF-beta. Nat Med 2:1132-1136
- 230. Huiskes R (2000) If bone is the answer, then what is the question? J Anat 197 ( Pt 2):145-156
- 231. Hung CT, Allen FD, Pollack SR, Brighton CT (1996) Intracellular Ca2+ stores and extracellular Ca2+ are required in the real-time Ca2+ response of bone cells experiencing fluid flow. J Biomech 29:1411-1417
- 232. Ikeda S, Tsurukami H, Ito M, Sakai A, Sakata T, Nishida S, Takeda S, Shiraishi A, Nakamura T (2001) Effect of trabecular bone contour on ultimate strength of lumbar vertebra after bilateral ovariectomy in rats. Bone 28:625-633
- 233. Ingram DK (2000) Age-related decline in physical activity: generalization to nonhumans. Med Sci Sports Exerc 32:1623-1629
- 234. Ishijima H, Ishizaka H, Horikoshi H, Sakurai M (1996) Water fraction of lumbar vertebral bone marrow estimated from chemical shift misregistration on MR imaging: normal variations with age and sex. AJR Am J Roentgenol 167:355-358
- 235. Jagger CJ, Chow JW, Chambers TJ (1996) Estrogen suppresses activation but enhances formation phase of osteogenic response to mechanical stimulation in rat bone. J Clin Invest 98:2351-2357
- 236. Jarvinen TL, Kannus P, Sievanen H (1999) Have the DXA-based exercise studies seriously underestimated the effects of mechanical loading on bone? J Bone Miner Res 14:1634-1635
- 237. Jarvinen TL, Kannus P, Sievanen H, Jolma P, Heinonen A, Jarvinen M (1998) Randomized controlled study of effects of sudden impact loading on rat femur. J Bone Miner Res 13:1475-1482
- 238. Jarvinen TL, Pajamaki I, Sievanen H, Vuohelainen T, Tuukkanen J, Jarvinen M, Kannus P (2003) Femoral neck response to exercise and subsequent deconditioning in young and adult rats. J Bone Miner Res 18:1292-1299
- 239. Jarvinen TL, Sievanen H, Jokihaara J, Einhorn TA (2005) Revival of bone strength: the bottom line. J Bone Miner Res 20:717-720
- 240. Jee WS, Ke HZ, Li XJ (1991) Long-term anabolic effects of prostaglandin-E2 on tibial diaphyseal bone in male rats. Bone Miner 15:33-55
- 241. Jelinsky SA, Harris HA, Brown EL, Flanagan K, Zhang X, Tunkey C, Lai K, Lane MV, Simcoe DK, Evans MJ (2003) Global transcription profiling of estrogen activity: estrogen receptor alpha regulates gene expression in the kidney. Endocrinology 144:701-710
- 242. Jessop HL, Sjoberg M, Cheng MZ, Zaman G, Wheeler-Jones CP, Lanyon LE (2001) Mechanical strain and estrogen activate estrogen receptor alpha in bone cells. J Bone Miner Res 16:1045-1055

- 243. Jessop HL, Suswillo RF, Rawlinson SC, Zaman G, Lee K, Das-Gupta V, Pitsillides AA, Lanyon LE (2004) Osteoblast-like cells from estrogen receptor alpha knockout mice have deficient responses to mechanical strain. J Bone Miner Res 19:938-946
- 244. Jilka RL, Hangoc G, Girasole G, Passeri G, Williams DC, Abrams JS, Boyce B, Broxmeyer H, Manolagas SC (1992) Increased osteoclast development after estrogen loss: mediation by interleukin-6. Science 257:88-91
- 245. Jilka RL, Takahashi K, Munshi M, Williams DC, Roberson PK, Manolagas SC (1998) Loss of estrogen upregulates osteoblastogenesis in the murine bone marrow. Evidence for autonomy from factors released during bone resorption. J Clin Invest 101:1942-1950
- Johnell O, Kanis JA, Oden A, Sernbo I, Redlund-Johnell I, Petterson C, De Laet C, Jonsson B (2004) Mortality after osteoporotic fractures. Osteoporos Int 15:38-42
- 247. Johnson DL, McAllister TN, Frangos JA (1996) Fluid flow stimulates rapid and continuous release of nitric oxide in osteoblasts. Am J Physiol 271:E205-208
- 248. Johnson JA, Kumar R (1994) Vitamin D and renal calcium transport. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 3:424-429
- 249. Joldersma M, Klein-Nulend J, Oleksik AM, Heyligers IC, Burger EH (2001) Estrogen enhances mechanical stress-induced prostaglandin production by bone cells from elderly women. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 280:E436-442
- 250. Jones ME, Thorburn AW, Britt KL, Hewitt KN, Wreford NG, Proietto J, Oz OK, Leury BJ, Robertson KM, Yao S, Simpson ER (2000) Aromatase-deficient (ArKO) mice have a phenotype of increased adiposity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:12735-12740
- Jonsson B, Strom O, Eisman JA, Papaioannou A, Siris ES, Tosteson A, Kanis JA (2010) Cost-effectiveness of Denosumab for the treatment of postmenopausal osteoporosis. Osteoporos Int 22:967-982
- 252. Juppner H, Wolf M, Salusky IB (2010) FGF-23: More than a regulator of renal phosphate handling? J Bone Miner Res 25:2091-2097
- 253. Justesen J, Stenderup K, Ebbesen EN, Mosekilde L, Steiniche T, Kassem M (2001) Adipocyte tissue volume in bone marrow is increased with aging and in patients with osteoporosis. Biogerontology 2:165-171
- 254. Kadi F, Karlsson C, Larsson B, Eriksson J, Larval M, Billig H, Jonsdottir IH (2002) The effects of physical activity and estrogen treatment on rat fast and slow skeletal muscles following ovariectomy. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 23:335-339
- 255. Kai MC, Anderson M, Lau EM (2003) Exercise interventions: defusing the world's osteoporosis time bomb. Bull World Health Organ 81:827-830
- 256. Kalu DN (1991) The ovariectomized rat model of postmenopausal bone loss. Bone Miner 15:175-191
- 257. Kameda T, Mano H, Yuasa T, Mori Y, Miyazawa K, Shiokawa M, Nakamaru Y, Hiroi E, Hiura K, Kameda A, Yang NN, Hakeda Y, Kumegawa M (1997) Estrogen inhibits bone resorption by directly inducing apoptosis of the bone-resorbing osteoclasts. J Exp Med 186:489-495

- 258. Kamioka H, Honjo T, Takano-Yamamoto T (2001) A three-dimensional distribution of osteocyte processes revealed by the combination of confocal laser scanning microscopy and differential interference contrast microscopy. Bone 28:145-149
- 259. Kanamaru F, Iwai H, Ikeda T, Nakajima A, Ishikawa I, Azuma M (2004) Expression of membrane-bound and soluble receptor activator of NF-kappaB ligand (RANKL) in human T cells. Immunol Lett 94:239-246
- 260. Kanis JA, Johnell O, De Laet C, Johansson H, Oden A, Delmas P, Eisman J, Fujiwara S, Garnero P, Kroger H, McCloskey EV, Mellstrom D, Melton LJ, Pols H, Reeve J, Silman A, Tenenhouse A (2004) A meta-analysis of previous fracture and subsequent fracture risk. Bone 35:375-382
- 261. Kanno T, Takahashi T, Tsujisawa T, Ariyoshi W, Nishihara T (2007) Mechanical stress-mediated Runx2 activation is dependent on Ras/ERK1/2 MAPK signaling in osteoblasts. J Cell Biochem 101:1266-1277
- 262. Kannus P, Haapasalo H, Sievanen H, Oja P, Vuori I (1994) The site-specific effects of long-term unilateral activity on bone mineral density and content. Bone 15:279-284
- 263. Kapur S, Baylink DJ, Lau KH (2003) Fluid flow shear stress stimulates human osteoblast proliferation and differentiation through multiple interacting and competing signal transduction pathways. Bone 32:241-251
- 264. Karlsson MK, Linden C, Karlsson C, Johnell O, Obrant K, Seeman E (2000) Exercise during growth and bone mineral density and fractures in old age. Lancet 355:469-470
- 265. Kasper M, Funk RH (2001) Age-related changes in cells and tissues due to advanced glycation end products (AGEs). Arch Gerontol Geriatr 32:233-243
- 266. Kato S, Endoh H, Masuhiro Y, Kitamoto T, Uchiyama S, Sasaki H, Masushige S, Gotoh Y, Nishida E, Kawashima H, Metzger D, Chambon P (1995) Activation of the estrogen receptor through phosphorylation by mitogen-activated protein kinase. Science 270:1491-1494
- 267. Kato Y, Windle JJ, Koop BA, Mundy GR, Bonewald LF (1997) Establishment of an osteocyte-like cell line, MLO-Y4. J Bone Miner Res 12:2014-2023
- 268. Katsumi A, Orr AW, Tzima E, Schwartz MA (2004) Integrins in mechanotransduction. J Biol Chem 279:12001-12004
- 269. Katznelson L, Finkelstein JS, Schoenfeld DA, Rosenthal DI, Anderson EJ, Klibanski A (1996) Increase in bone density and lean body mass during testosterone administration in men with acquired hypogonadism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 81:4358-4365
- 270. Keaveny TM, Kopperdahl DL, Melton LJ, 3rd, Hoffmann PF, Amin S, Riggs BL, Khosla S (2010) Age-dependence of femoral strength in white women and men. J Bone Miner Res 25:994-1001
- 271. Kelley G (1998) Aerobic exercise and lumbar spine bone mineral density in postmenopausal women: a meta-analysis. J Am Geriatr Soc 46:143-152
- 272. Kelley GA (1998) Aerobic exercise and bone density at the hip in postmenopausal women: a meta-analysis. Prev Med 27:798-807

- 273. Kelley GA, Kelley KS (2006) Exercise and bone mineral density at the femoral neck in postmenopausal women: a meta-analysis of controlled clinical trials with individual patient data. Am J Obstet Gynecol 194:760-767
- 274. Kesavan C, Mohan S, Srivastava AK, Kapoor S, Wergedal JE, Yu H, Baylink DJ (2006) Identification of genetic loci that regulate bone adaptive response to mechanical loading in C57BL/6J and C3H/HeJ mice intercross. Bone 39:634-643
- 275. Keyak JH, Koyama AK, LeBlanc A, Lu Y, Lang TF (2009) Reduction in proximal femoral strength due to long-duration spaceflight. Bone 44:449-453
- 276. Khan K, McKay HA, Haapasalo H, Bennell KL, Forwood MR, Kannus P, Wark JD (2000) Does childhood and adolescence provide a unique opportunity for exercise to strengthen the skeleton? J Sci Med Sport 3:150-164
- 277. Khan KM, Bennell KL, Hopper JL, Flicker L, Nowson CA, Sherwin AJ, Crichton KJ, Harcourt PR, Wark JD (1998) Self-reported ballet classes undertaken at age 10-12 years and hip bone mineral density in later life. Osteoporos Int 8:165-173
- 278. Khosla S, Atkinson EJ, Melton LJ, 3rd, Riggs BL (1997) Effects of age and estrogen status on serum parathyroid hormone levels and biochemical markers of bone turnover in women: a population-based study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 82:1522-1527
- 279. Khosla S, Melton LJ, 3rd, Atkinson EJ, O'Fallon WM, Klee GG, Riggs BL (1998) Relationship of serum sex steroid levels and bone turnover markers with bone mineral density in men and women: a key role for bioavailable estrogen. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 83:2266-2274
- 280. Khosla S, Melton LJ, 3rd, Riggs BL (2011) The unitary model for estrogen deficiency and the pathogenesis of osteoporosis: is a revision needed? J Bone Miner Res 26:441-451
- 281. Kim BT, Mosekilde L, Duan Y, Zhang XZ, Tornvig L, Thomsen JS, Seeman E (2003) The structural and hormonal basis of sex differences in peak appendicular bone strength in rats. J Bone Miner Res 18:150-155
- 282. Kimble RB, Bain S, Pacifici R (1997) The functional block of TNF but not of IL-6 prevents bone loss in ovariectomized mice. J Bone Miner Res 12:935-941
- 283. Kimble RB, Matayoshi AB, Vannice JL, Kung VT, Williams C, Pacifici R (1995) Simultaneous block of interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor is required to completely prevent bone loss in the early postovariectomy period. Endocrinology 136:3054-3061
- 284. Kindermann W, Schnabel A, Schmitt WM, Biro G, Cassens J, Weber F (1982) Catecholamines, growth hormone, cortisol, insulin, and sex hormones in anaerobic and aerobic exercise. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 49:389-399
- 285. Klein-Nulend J, Bakker A (2007) Osteocytes: Mechanosensors of Bone and Orchestrators of Mechanical Adaptation. Clinic Rev Bone Miner Metab 5:195-209
- Klein-Nulend J, Sterck JG, Semeins CM, Lips P, Joldersma M, Baart JA, Burger EH (2002) Donor age and mechanosensitivity of human bone cells. Osteoporos Int 13:137-146
- 287. Klotzbuecher CM, Ross PD, Landsman PB, Abbott TA, 3rd, Berger M (2000) Patients with prior fractures have an increased risk of future fractures: a

summary of the literature and statistical synthesis. J Bone Miner Res 15:721-739

- 288. Kodama Y, Umemura Y, Nagasawa S, Beamer WG, Donahue LR, Rosen CR, Baylink DJ, Farley JR (2000) Exercise and mechanical loading increase periosteal bone formation and whole bone strength in C57BL/6J mice but not in C3H/Hej mice. Calcif Tissue Int 66:298-306
- 289. Koga T, Matsui Y, Asagiri M, Kodama T, de Crombrugghe B, Nakashima K, Takayanagi H (2005) NFAT and Osterix cooperatively regulate bone formation. Nat Med 11:880-885
- 290. Kogianni G, Mann V, Noble BS (2008) Apoptotic bodies convey activity capable of initiating osteoclastogenesis and localized bone destruction. J Bone Miner Res 23:915-927
- 291. Kohrt WM, Barry DW, Van Pelt RE, Jankowski CM, Wolfe P, Schwartz RS Timing of ibuprofen use and bone mineral density adaptations to exercise training. J Bone Miner Res 25:1415-1422
- 292. Kohrt WM, Bloomfield SA, Little KD, Nelson ME, Yingling VR (2004) American College of Sports Medicine Position Stand: physical activity and bone health. Med Sci Sports Exerc 36:1985-1996
- 293. Kohrt WM, Snead DB, Slatopolsky E, Birge SJ, Jr. (1995) Additive effects of weight-bearing exercise and estrogen on bone mineral density in older women. J Bone Miner Res 10:1303-1311
- 294. Kontulainen S, Sievanen H, Kannus P, Pasanen M, Vuori I (2003) Effect of longterm impact-loading on mass, size, and estimated strength of humerus and radius of female racquet-sports players: a peripheral quantitative computed tomography study between young and old starters and controls. J Bone Miner Res 18:352-359
- 295. Kousteni S, Bellido T, Plotkin LI, O'Brien CA, Bodenner DL, Han L, Han K, DiGregorio GB, Katzenellenbogen JA, Katzenellenbogen BS, Roberson PK, Weinstein RS, Jilka RL, Manolagas SC (2001) Nongenotropic, sex-nonspecific signaling through the estrogen or androgen receptors: dissociation from transcriptional activity. Cell 104:719-730
- 296. Kouzmenko AP, Takeyama K, Ito S, Furutani T, Sawatsubashi S, Maki A, Suzuki E, Kawasaki Y, Akiyama T, Tabata T, Kato S (2004) Wnt/beta-catenin and estrogen signaling converge in vivo. J Biol Chem 279:40255-40258
- 297. Kowitz J, Knippel M, Schuhr T, Mach J (1997) Alteration in the extent of collagen I hydroxylation, isolated from femoral heads of women with a femoral neck fracture caused by osteoporosis. Calcif Tissue Int 60:501-505
- 298. Krishnan V, Bryant HU, Macdougald OA (2006) Regulation of bone mass by Wnt signaling. J Clin Invest 116:1202-1209
- 299. Krolner B, Toft B (1983) Vertebral bone loss: an unheeded side effect of therapeutic bed rest. Clin Sci (Lond) 64:537-540
- 300. Kumar V, Chambon P (1988) The estrogen receptor binds tightly to its responsive element as a ligand-induced homodimer. Cell 55:145-156

- 301. Kurata K, Heino TJ, Higaki H, Vaananen HK (2006) Bone marrow cell differentiation induced by mechanically damaged osteocytes in 3D gelembedded culture. J Bone Miner Res 21:616-625
- 302. Lacey DL, Timms E, Tan HL, Kelley MJ, Dunstan CR, Burgess T, Elliott R, Colombero A, Elliott G, Scully S, Hsu H, Sullivan J, Hawkins N, Davy E, Capparelli C, Eli A, Qian YX, Kaufman S, Sarosi I, Shalhoub V, Senaldi G, Guo J, Delaney J, Boyle WJ (1998) Osteoprotegerin ligand is a cytokine that regulates osteoclast differentiation and activation. Cell 93:165-176
- 303. Laib A, Kumer JL, Majumdar S, Lane NE (2001) The temporal changes of trabecular architecture in ovariectomized rats assessed by MicroCT. Osteoporos Int 12:936-941
- 304. Lang T, LeBlanc A, Evans H, Lu Y, Genant H, Yu A (2004) Cortical and trabecular bone mineral loss from the spine and hip in long-duration spaceflight. J Bone Miner Res 19:1006-1012
- 305. Lanyon LE (1993) Osteocytes, strain detection, bone modeling and remodeling. Calcif Tissue Int 53 Suppl 1:S102-106; discussion S106-107
- 306. Lau KH, Kapur S, Kesavan C, Baylink DJ (2006) Up-regulation of the Wnt, estrogen receptor, insulin-like growth factor-I, and bone morphogenetic protein pathways in C57BL/6J osteoblasts as opposed to C3H/HeJ osteoblasts in part contributes to the differential anabolic response to fluid shear. J Biol Chem 281:9576-9588
- 307. Lean JM, Davies JT, Fuller K, Jagger CJ, Kirstein B, Partington GA, Urry ZL, Chambers TJ (2003) A crucial role for thiol antioxidants in estrogen-deficiency bone loss. J Clin Invest 112:915-923
- 308. Lean JM, Matsuo K, Fox SW, Fuller K, Gibson FM, Draycott G, Wani MR, Bayley KE, Wong BR, Choi Y, Wagner EF, Chambers TJ (2000) Osteoclast lineage commitment of bone marrow precursors through expression of membrane-bound TRANCE. Bone 27:29-40
- 309. LeBlanc A, Marsh C, Evans H, Johnson P, Schneider V, Jhingran S (1985) Bone and muscle atrophy with suspension of the rat. J Appl Physiol 58:1669-1675
- Leblanc AD, Schneider VS, Evans HJ, Engelbretson DA, Krebs JM (1990) Bone mineral loss and recovery after 17 weeks of bed rest. J Bone Miner Res 5:843-850
- 311. Lecanda F, Warlow PM, Sheikh S, Furlan F, Steinberg TH, Civitelli R (2000) Connexin43 deficiency causes delayed ossification, craniofacial abnormalities, and osteoblast dysfunction. J Cell Biol 151:931-944
- 312. Ledger GA, Burritt MF, Kao PC, O'Fallon WM, Riggs BL, Khosla S (1995) Role of parathyroid hormone in mediating nocturnal and age-related increases in bone resorption. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 80:3304-3310
- 313. Lee DY, Yeh CR, Chang SF, Lee PL, Chien S, Cheng CK, Chiu JJ (2008) Integrinmediated expression of bone formation-related genes in osteoblast-like cells in response to fluid shear stress: roles of extracellular matrix, Shc, and mitogenactivated protein kinase. J Bone Miner Res 23:1140-1149
- 314. Lee K, Jessop H, Suswillo R, Zaman G, Lanyon L (2003) Endocrinology: bone adaptation requires oestrogen receptor-alpha. Nature 424:389

- 315. Legrand E, Chappard D, Pascaretti C, Duquenne M, Krebs S, Rohmer V, Basle MF, Audran M (2000) Trabecular bone microarchitecture, bone mineral density, and vertebral fractures in male osteoporosis. J Bone Miner Res 15:13-19
- 316. Leppanen OV, Sievanen H, Jokihaara J, Pajamaki I, Kannus P, Jarvinen TL (2008) Pathogenesis of age-related osteoporosis: impaired mechano-responsiveness of bone is not the culprit. PLoS One 3:e2540
- 317. Li J, Duncan RL, Burr DB, Turner CH (2002) L-type calcium channels mediate mechanically induced bone formation in vivo. J Bone Miner Res 17:1795-1800
- 318. Li M, Shen Y, Wronski TJ (1997) Time course of femoral neck osteopenia in ovariectomized rats. Bone 20:55-61
- 319. Li X, Zhang Y, Kang H, Liu W, Liu P, Zhang J, Harris SE, Wu D (2005) Sclerostin binds to LRP5/6 and antagonizes canonical Wnt signaling. J Biol Chem 280:19883-19887
- 320. Li YJ, Batra NN, You L, Meier SC, Coe IA, Yellowley CE, Jacobs CR (2004) Oscillatory fluid flow affects human marrow stromal cell proliferation and differentiation. J Orthop Res 22:1283-1289
- 321. Li Z, Zhou Z, Saunders MM, Donahue HJ (2006) Modulation of connexin43 alters expression of osteoblastic differentiation markers. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 290:C1248-1255
- 322. Liebschner MA, Keller TS (2005) Hydraulic strengthening affects the stiffness and strength of cortical bone. Ann Biomed Eng 33:26-38
- 323. Liedert A, Kaspar D, Blakytny R, Claes L, Ignatius A (2006) Signal transduction pathways involved in mechanotransduction in bone cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 349:1-5
- 324. Lin C, Jiang X, Dai Z, Guo X, Weng T, Wang J, Li Y, Feng G, Gao X, He L (2009) Sclerostin mediates bone response to mechanical unloading through antagonizing Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. J Bone Miner Res 24:1651-1661
- 325. Liu W, Murcia NS, Duan Y, Weinbaum S, Yoder BK, Schwiebert E, Satlin LM (2005) Mechanoregulation of intracellular Ca2+ concentration is attenuated in collecting duct of monocilium-impaired orpk mice. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 289:F978-988
- 326. Lorenzo JA, Naprta A, Rao Y, Alander C, Glaccum M, Widmer M, Gronowicz G, Kalinowski J, Pilbeam CC (1998) Mice lacking the type I interleukin-1 receptor do not lose bone mass after ovariectomy. Endocrinology 139:3022-3025
- 327. Lowik CW, van der Pluijm G, Bloys H, Hoekman K, Bijvoet OL, Aarden LA, Papapoulos SE (1989) Parathyroid hormone (PTH) and PTH-like protein (PLP) stimulate interleukin-6 production by osteogenic cells: a possible role of interleukin-6 in osteoclastogenesis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 162:1546-1552
- 328. Lu T, Finkel T (2008) Free radicals and senescence. Exp Cell Res 314:1918-1922
- 329. Luu YK, Capilla E, Rosen CJ, Gilsanz V, Pessin JE, Judex S, Rubin CT (2009) Mechanical stimulation of mesenchymal stem cell proliferation and differentiation promotes osteogenesis while preventing dietary-induced obesity. J Bone Miner Res 24:50-61

- 330. Ma H, Leskinen T, Alen M, Cheng S, Sipila S, Heinonen A, Kaprio J, Suominen H, Kujala UM (2009) Long-term leisure time physical activity and properties of bone: a twin study. J Bone Miner Res 24:1427-1433
- 331. Machwate M, Harada S, Leu CT, Seedor G, Labelle M, Gallant M, Hutchins S, Lachance N, Sawyer N, Slipetz D, Metters KM, Rodan SB, Young R, Rodan GA (2001) Prostaglandin receptor EP(4) mediates the bone anabolic effects of PGE(2). Mol Pharmacol 60:36-41
- 332. MacKelvie KJ, Khan KM, McKay HA (2002) Is there a critical period for bone response to weight-bearing exercise in children and adolescents? a systematic review. Br J Sports Med 36:250-257; discussion 257
- 333. MacKelvie KJ, Petit MA, Khan KM, Beck TJ, McKay HA (2004) Bone mass and structure are enhanced following a 2-year randomized controlled trial of exercise in prepubertal boys. Bone 34:755-764
- 334. MacNeil JA, Boyd SK (2007) Load distribution and the predictive power of morphological indices in the distal radius and tibia by high resolution peripheral quantitative computed tomography. Bone 41:129-137
- 335. Maeda M, Bryant MH, Yamagata M, Li G, Earle JD, Chao EY (1988) Effects of irradiation on cortical bone and their time-related changes. A biomechanical and histomorphological study. J Bone Joint Surg Am 70:392-399
- 336. Maggio D, Barabani M, Pierandrei M, Polidori MC, Catani M, Mecocci P, Senin U, Pacifici R, Cherubini A (2003) Marked decrease in plasma antioxidants in aged osteoporotic women: results of a cross-sectional study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 88:1523-1527
- 337. Malone AM, Anderson CT, Tummala P, Kwon RY, Johnston TR, Stearns T, Jacobs CR (2007) Primary cilia mediate mechanosensing in bone cells by a calcium-independent mechanism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:13325-13330
- 338. Mann V, Huber C, Kogianni G, Collins F, Noble B (2007) The antioxidant effect of estrogen and Selective Estrogen Receptor Modulators in the inhibition of osteocyte apoptosis in vitro. Bone 40:674-684
- 339. Manolagas SC (2010) From Estrogen-Centric to Aging and Oxidative Stress: A Revised Perspective of the Pathogenesis of Osteoporosis. Endocr Rev
- 340. Manolagas SC (2010) From Estrogen-Centric to Aging and Oxidative Stress: A Revised Perspective of the Pathogenesis of Osteoporosis. Endocr Rev 31:266-300
- 341. Manolagas SC, Bellido T, Jilka RL (1995) Sex steroids, cytokines and the bone marrow: new concepts on the pathogenesis of osteoporosis. Ciba Found Symp 191:187-196; discussion 197-202
- 342. Manolagas SC, Jilka RL (1995) Bone marrow, cytokines, and bone remodeling. Emerging insights into the pathophysiology of osteoporosis. N Engl J Med 332:305-311
- 343. Manolagas SC, Parfitt AM (2010) What old means to bone. Trends Endocrinol Metab
- 344. Maravic M, Le Bihan C, Landais P, Fardellone P (2005) Incidence and cost of osteoporotic fractures in France during 2001. A methodological approach by the national hospital database. Osteoporos Int 16:1475-1480

- 345. Marshall D, Johnell O, Wedel H (1996) Meta-analysis of how well measures of bone mineral density predict occurrence of osteoporotic fractures. BMJ 312:1254-1259
- 346. Martin E, Shapiro JR (2007) Osteogenesis imperfecta:epidemiology and pathophysiology. Curr Osteoporos Rep 5:91-97
- 347. Martin RM, Correa PH (2010) Bone quality and osteoporosis therapy. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol 54:186-199
- 348. Martin TJ, Sims NA (2005) Osteoclast-derived activity in the coupling of bone formation to resorption. Trends Mol Med 11:76-81
- 349. Martyn-St James M, Carroll S (2006) High-intensity resistance training and postmenopausal bone loss: a meta-analysis. Osteoporos Int 17:1225-1240
- 350. Martyn-St James M, Carroll S (2008) Meta-analysis of walking for preservation of bone mineral density in postmenopausal women. Bone 43:521-531
- 351. Martyn-St James M, Carroll S (2009) A meta-analysis of impact exercise on postmenopausal bone loss: the case for mixed loading exercise programmes. Br J Sports Med 43:898-908
- 352. Mashiba T, Hirano T, Turner CH, Forwood MR, Johnston CC, Burr DB (2000) Suppressed bone turnover by bisphosphonates increases microdamage accumulation and reduces some biomechanical properties in dog rib. J Bone Miner Res 15:613-620
- 353. Mashiba T, Turner CH, Hirano T, Forwood MR, Johnston CC, Burr DB (2001) Effects of suppressed bone turnover by bisphosphonates on microdamage accumulation and biomechanical properties in clinically relevant skeletal sites in beagles. Bone 28:524-531
- 354. Matkovic V (1992) Osteoporosis as a pediatric disease: role of calcium and heredity. J Rheumatol Suppl 33:54-59
- 355. Matkovic V, Jelic T, Wardlaw GM, Ilich JZ, Goel PK, Wright JK, Andon MB, Smith KT, Heaney RP (1994) Timing of peak bone mass in Caucasian females and its implication for the prevention of osteoporosis. Inference from a cross-sectional model. J Clin Invest 93:799-808
- 356. Mavrokokki T, Cheng A, Stein B, Goss A (2007) Nature and frequency of bisphosphonate-associated osteonecrosis of the jaws in Australia. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 65:415-423
- 357. McCarthy RN, Jeffcott LB (1992) Effects of treadmill exercise on cortical bone in the third metacarpus of young horses. Res Vet Sci 52:28-37
- 358. McClanahan BS, Harmon-Clayton K, Ward KD, Klesges RC, Vukadinovich CM, Cantler ED (2002) Side-to-side comparisons of bone mineral density in upper and lower limbs of collegiate athletes. J Strength Cond Res 16:586-590
- 359. McCombs JS, Thiebaud P, McLaughlin-Miley C, Shi J (2004) Compliance with drug therapies for the treatment and prevention of osteoporosis. Maturitas 48:271-287
- 360. McCreadie BR, Goldstein SA (2000) Biomechanics of fracture: is bone mineral density sufficient to assess risk? J Bone Miner Res 15:2305-2308

- 361. McCreadie BR, Goulet RW, Feldkamp LA, Goldstein SA (2001) Hierarchical structure of bone and micro-computed tomography. Adv Exp Med Biol 496:67-83
- 362. McDonnell DP, Clemm DL, Hermann T, Goldman ME, Pike JW (1995) Analysis of estrogen receptor function in vitro reveals three distinct classes of antiestrogens. Mol Endocrinol 9:659-669
- 363. McDougall KE, Perry MJ, Gibson RL, Colley SM, Korach KS, Tobias JH (2003) Estrogen receptor-alpha dependency of estrogen's stimulatory action on cancellous bone formation in male mice. Endocrinology 144:1994-1999
- 364. McGarry JG, Klein-Nulend J, Prendergast PJ (2005) The effect of cytoskeletal disruption on pulsatile fluid flow-induced nitric oxide and prostaglandin E2 release in osteocytes and osteoblasts. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 330:341-348
- 365. McKane WR, Khosla S, Burritt MF, Kao PC, Wilson DM, Ory SJ, Riggs BL (1995) Mechanism of renal calcium conservation with estrogen replacement therapy in women in early postmenopause--a clinical research center study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 80:3458-3464
- 366. McKane WR, Khosla S, Risteli J, Robins SP, Muhs JM, Riggs BL (1997) Role of estrogen deficiency in pathogenesis of secondary hyperparathyroidism and increased bone resorption in elderly women. Proc Assoc Am Physicians 109:174-180
- 367. McKay H, Smith E (2008) Winning the battle against childhood physical inactivity: the key to bone strength? J Bone Miner Res 23:980-985
- 368. McNamara LM, Majeska RJ, Weinbaum S, Friedrich V, Schaffler MB (2009) Attachment of osteocyte cell processes to the bone matrix. Anat Rec (Hoboken) 292:355-363
- 369. Melton LJ, 3rd (2003) Adverse outcomes of osteoporotic fractures in the general population. J Bone Miner Res 18:1139-1141
- 370. Melton LJ, 3rd, Atkinson EJ, Cooper C, O'Fallon WM, Riggs BL (1999) Vertebral fractures predict subsequent fractures. Osteoporos Int 10:214-221
- 371. Menniti FS, Baum MJ (1981) Differential effects of estrogen and androgen on locomotor activity induced in castrated male rats by amphetamine, a novel environment, or apomorphine. Brain Res 216:89-107
- 372. Meunier PJ, Boivin G (1997) Bone mineral density reflects bone mass but also the degree of mineralization of bone: therapeutic implications. Bone 21:373-377
- 373. Meunier PJ, Sebert JL, Reginster JY, Briancon D, Appelboom T, Netter P, Loeb G, Rouillon A, Barry S, Evreux JC, Avouac B, Marchandise X (1998) Fluoride salts are no better at preventing new vertebral fractures than calcium-vitamin D in postmenopausal osteoporosis: the FAVOStudy. Osteoporos Int 8:4-12
- 374. Michelotti J, Clark J (1999) Femoral neck length and hip fracture risk. J Bone Miner Res 14:1714-1720
- 375. Milliken LA, Going SB, Houtkooper LB, Flint-Wagner HG, Figueroa A, Metcalfe LL, Blew RM, Sharp SC, Lohman TG (2003) Effects of exercise training on bone remodeling, insulin-like growth factors, and bone mineral density in

postmenopausal women with and without hormone replacement therapy. Calcif Tissue Int 72:478-484

- 376. Minguell JJ, Erices A, Conget P (2001) Mesenchymal stem cells. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 226:507-520
- 377. Miserez A, Schneberk T, Sun C, Zok FW, Waite JH (2008) The transition from stiff to compliant materials in squid beaks. Science 319:1816-1819
- 378. Mochida Y, Parisuthiman D, Pornprasertsuk-Damrongsri S, Atsawasuwan P, Sricholpech M, Boskey AL, Yamauchi M (2009) Decorin modulates collagen matrix assembly and mineralization. Matrix Biol 28:44-52
- 379. Mody N, Parhami F, Sarafian TA, Demer LL (2001) Oxidative stress modulates osteoblastic differentiation of vascular and bone cells. Free Radic Biol Med 31:509-519
- 380. Moran AL, Nelson SA, Landisch RM, Warren GL, Lowe DA (2007) Estradiol replacement reverses ovariectomy-induced muscle contractile and myosin dysfunction in mature female mice. J Appl Physiol 102:1387-1393
- 381. Moran AL, Warren GL, Lowe DA (2006) Removal of ovarian hormones from mature mice detrimentally affects muscle contractile function and myosin structural distribution. J Appl Physiol 100:548-559
- 382. Morris FL, Naughton GA, Gibbs JL, Carlson JS, Wark JD (1997) Prospective tenmonth exercise intervention in premenarcheal girls: positive effects on bone and lean mass. J Bone Miner Res 12:1453-1462
- 383. Mosimann C, Hausmann G, Basler K (2009) Beta-catenin hits chromatin: regulation of Wnt target gene activation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 10:276-286
- 384. Mullender MG, Tan SD, Vico L, Alexandre C, Klein-Nulend J (2005) Differences in osteocyte density and bone histomorphometry between men and women and between healthy and osteoporotic subjects. Calcified Tissue International 77:291-296
- 385. Mullender MG, van der Meer DD, Huiskes R, Lips P (1996) Osteocyte density changes in aging and osteoporosis. Bone 18:109-113
- 386. Musatov S, Chen W, Pfaff DW, Mobbs CV, Yang XJ, Clegg DJ, Kaplitt MG, Ogawa S (2007) Silencing of estrogen receptor alpha in the ventromedial nucleus of hypothalamus leads to metabolic syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:2501-2506
- 387. Muthusami S, Ramachandran I, Muthusamy B, Vasudevan G, Prabhu V, Subramaniam V, Jagadeesan A, Narasimhan S (2005) Ovariectomy induces oxidative stress and impairs bone antioxidant system in adult rats. Clin Chim Acta 360:81-86
- 388. Nakamura T, Imai Y, Matsumoto T, Sato S, Takeuchi K, Igarashi K, Harada Y, Azuma Y, Krust A, Yamamoto Y, Nishina H, Takeda S, Takayanagi H, Metzger D, Kanno J, Takaoka K, Martin TJ, Chambon P, Kato S (2007) Estrogen prevents bone loss via estrogen receptor alpha and induction of Fas ligand in osteoclasts. Cell 130:811-823
- 389. Nauli SM, Alenghat FJ, Luo Y, Williams E, Vassilev P, Li X, Elia AE, Lu W, Brown EM, Quinn SJ, Ingber DE, Zhou J (2003) Polycystins 1 and 2 mediate mechanosensation in the primary cilium of kidney cells. Nat Genet 33:129-137

- 390. Nelson DA, Barondess DA, Hendrix SL, Beck TJ (2000) Cross-sectional geometry, bone strength, and bone mass in the proximal femur in black and white postmenopausal women. J Bone Miner Res 15:1992-1997
- 391. Nelson DA, Pettifor JM, Barondess DA, Cody DD, Uusi-Rasi K, Beck TJ (2004) Comparison of cross-sectional geometry of the proximal femur in white and black women from Detroit and Johannesburg. J Bone Miner Res 19:560-565
- 392. Nilas L, Christiansen C (1988) Rates of bone loss in normal women: evidence of accelerated trabecular bone loss after the menopause. Eur J Clin Invest 18:529-534
- 393. Nissenson R (2008) Parathyroid Hormone. In: Seeman E (ed) Primer on the metabolic bone diseases and disorders of the mineral metabolism. American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, Washigton, DC, p 123-127
- 394. Noble BS, Reeve J (2000) Osteocyte function, osteocyte death and bone fracture resistance. Mol Cell Endocrinol 159:7-13
- 395. Nordin BE, JM WI, Clifton PM, McArthur R, Scopacasa F, Need AG, Morris HA, O'Loughlin PD, Horowitz M (2004) A longitudinal study of bone-related biochemical changes at the menopause. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 61:123-130
- 396. Norman TL, Bradley-Popovich G, Clovis N, Cutlip RG, Bryner RW (2000) Aerobic exercise as a countermeasure for microgravity-induced bone loss and muscle atrophy in a rat hindlimb suspension model. Aviat Space Environ Med 71:593-598
- 397. Nurmi-Lawton JA, Baxter-Jones AD, Mirwald RL, Bishop JA, Taylor P, Cooper C, New SA (2004) Evidence of sustained skeletal benefits from impact-loading exercise in young females: a 3-year longitudinal study. J Bone Miner Res 19:314-322
- 398. Nyman JS, Roy A, Shen X, Acuna RL, Tyler JH, Wang X (2006) The influence of water removal on the strength and toughness of cortical bone. J Biomech 39:931-938
- 399. O'Brien CA, Jia D, Plotkin LI, Bellido T, Powers CC, Stewart SA, Manolagas SC, Weinstein RS (2004) Glucocorticoids act directly on osteoblasts and osteocytes to induce their apoptosis and reduce bone formation and strength. Endocrinology 145:1835-1841
- 400. O'Loughlin PD, Morris HA (1998) Oestrogen deficiency impairs intestinal calcium absorption in the rat. J Physiol 511 (Pt 1):313-322
- 401. Odvina CV, Zerwekh JE, Rao DS, Maalouf N, Gottschalk FA, Pak CY (2005) Severely suppressed bone turnover: a potential complication of alendronate therapy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90:1294-1301
- 402. Oeppen J, Vaupel JW (2002) Demography. Broken limits to life expectancy. Science 296:1029-1031
- 403. Okazaki R, Inoue D, Shibata M, Saika M, Kido S, Ooka H, Tomiyama H, Sakamoto Y, Matsumoto T (2002) Estrogen promotes early osteoblast differentiation and inhibits adipocyte differentiation in mouse bone marrow stromal cell lines that express estrogen receptor (ER) alpha or beta. Endocrinology 143:2349-2356

- 404. Okumura H, Shiba D, Kubo T, Yokoyama T (2008) P2X7 receptor as sensitive flow sensor for ERK activation in osteoblasts. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 372:486-490
- 405. Ominsky MS, Vlasseros F, Jolette J, Smith SY, Stouch B, Doellgast G, Gong J, Gao Y, Cao J, Graham K, Tipton B, Cai J, Deshpande R, Zhou L, Hale MD, Lightwood DJ, Henry AJ, Popplewell AG, Moore AR, Robinson MK, Lacey DL, Simonet WS, Paszty C Two doses of sclerostin antibody in cynomolgus monkeys increases bone formation, bone mineral density, and bone strength. J Bone Miner Res 25:948-959
- 406. Onoe Y, Miyaura C, Ohta H, Nozawa S, Suda T (1997) Expression of estrogen receptor beta in rat bone. Endocrinology 138:4509-4512
- 407. Oreffo RO, Kusec V, Virdi AS, Flanagan AM, Grano M, Zambonin-Zallone A, Triffitt JT (1999) Expression of estrogen receptor-alpha in cells of the osteoclastic lineage. Histochem Cell Biol 111:125-133
- 408. Organization WH (1994) Assessment of fracture risk and its application to screening for postmenopausal osteoporosis. Report of a WHO Study Group. World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser 843:1-129
- 409. Orwoll ES (2003) Toward an expanded understanding of the role of the periosteum in skeletal health. J Bone Miner Res 18:949-954
- 410. Oxlund H, Barckman M, Ortoft G, Andreassen TT (1995) Reduced concentrations of collagen cross-links are associated with reduced strength of bone. Bone 17:365S-371S
- 411. Ozcivici E, Luu YK, Adler B, Qin YX, Rubin J, Judex S, Rubin CT Mechanical signals as anabolic agents in bone. Nat Rev Rheumatol 6:50-59
- 412. Pacifici R, Brown C, Puscheck E, Friedrich E, Slatopolsky E, Maggio D, McCracken R, Avioli LV (1991) Effect of surgical menopause and estrogen replacement on cytokine release from human blood mononuclear cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88:5134-5138
- 413. Padhi D, Jang G, Stouch B, Fang L, Posvar E Single-dose, placebo-controlled, randomized study of AMG 785, a sclerostin monoclonal antibody. J Bone Miner Res
- 414. Pajamaki I, Kannus P, Vuohelainen T, Sievanen H, Tuukkanen J, Jarvinen M, Jarvinen TL (2003) The bone gain induced by exercise in puberty is not preserved through a virtually life-long deconditioning: a randomized controlled experimental study in male rats. J Bone Miner Res 18:544-552
- Pajamaki I, Sievanen H, Kannus P, Jokihaara J, Vuohelainen T, Jarvinen TL (2008)
  Skeletal effects of estrogen and mechanical loading are structurally distinct.
  Bone 43:748-757
- 416. Palombaro KM (2005) Effects of walking-only interventions on bone mineral density at various skeletal sites: a meta-analysis. J Geriatr Phys Ther 28:102-107
- 417. Papanicolaou SE, Phipps RJ, Fyhrie DP, Genetos DC (2009) Modulation of sclerostin expression by mechanical loading and bone morphogenetic proteins in osteogenic cells. Biorheology 46:389-399
- 418. Parfitt AM (2002) Targeted and nontargeted bone remodeling: relationship to basic multicellular unit origination and progression. Bone 30:5-7

- 419. Parker MG, Arbuckle N, Dauvois S, Danielian P, White R (1993) Structure and function of the estrogen receptor. Ann N Y Acad Sci 684:119-126
- 420. Parkkari J, Kannus P, Palvanen M, Natri A, Vainio J, Aho H, Vuori I, Jarvinen M (1999) Majority of hip fractures occur as a result of a fall and impact on the greater trochanter of the femur: a prospective controlled hip fracture study with 206 consecutive patients. Calcif Tissue Int 65:183-187
- 421. Paschalis EP, Burr DB, Mendelsohn R, Hock JM, Boskey AL (2003) Bone mineral and collagen quality in humeri of ovariectomized cynomolgus monkeys given rhPTH(1-34) for 18 months. J Bone Miner Res 18:769-775
- 422. Paschalis EP, Shane E, Lyritis G, Skarantavos G, Mendelsohn R, Boskey AL (2004) Bone fragility and collagen cross-links. J Bone Miner Res 19:2000-2004
- Pasco JA, Seeman E, Henry MJ, Merriman EN, Nicholson GC, Kotowicz MA (2006) The population burden of fractures originates in women with osteopenia, not osteoporosis. Osteoporos Int 17:1404-1409
- 424. Pavalko FM, Chen NX, Turner CH, Burr DB, Atkinson S, Hsieh YF, Qiu J, Duncan RL (1998) Fluid shear-induced mechanical signaling in MC3T3-E1 osteoblasts requires cytoskeleton-integrin interactions. Am J Physiol 275:C1591-1601
- 425. Pavalko FM, Norvell SM, Burr DB, Turner CH, Duncan RL, Bidwell JP (2003) A model for mechanotransduction in bone cells: the load-bearing mechanosomes. J Cell Biochem 88:104-112
- 426. Pavy-Le Traon A, Heer M, Narici MV, Rittweger J, Vernikos J (2007) From space to Earth: advances in human physiology from 20 years of bed rest studies (1986-2006). Eur J Appl Physiol 101:143-194
- 427. Pazianas M, Compston J, Huang CL (2010) Atrial fibrillation and bisphosphonate therapy. J Bone Miner Res 25:2-10
- 428. Pearson OM, Lieberman DE (2004) The aging of Wolff's "law": ontogeny and responses to mechanical loading in cortical bone. Am J Phys Anthropol Suppl 39:63-99
- 429. Pedram A, Razandi M, Levin ER (2006) Nature of functional estrogen receptors at the plasma membrane. Mol Endocrinol 20:1996-2009
- 430. Penning-van Beest FJ, Erkens JA, Olson M, Herings RM (2008) Loss of treatment benefit due to low compliance with bisphosphonate therapy. Osteoporos Int 19:511-517
- 431. Penning-van Beest FJ, Goettsch WG, Erkens JA, Herings RM (2006) Determinants of persistence with bisphosphonates: a study in women with postmenopausal osteoporosis. Clin Ther 28:236-242
- 432. Piccone CM, Brazeau GA, McCormick KM (2005) Effect of oestrogen on myofibre size and myosin expression in growing rats. Exp Physiol 90:87-93
- 433. Pike C, Birnbaum HG, Schiller M, Sharma H, Burge R, Edgell ET Direct and indirect costs of non-vertebral fracture patients with osteoporosis in the US. Pharmacoeconomics 28:395-409
- 434. Plotkin LI, Aguirre JI, Kousteni S, Manolagas SC, Bellido T (2005) Bisphosphonates and estrogens inhibit osteocyte apoptosis via distinct molecular mechanisms downstream of extracellular signal-regulated kinase activation. J Biol Chem 280:7317-7325

- 435. Plotkin LI, Bellido T (2001) Bisphosphonate-induced, hemichannel-mediated, anti-apoptosis through the Src/ERK pathway: a gap junction-independent action of connexin43. Cell Commun Adhes 8:377-382
- 436. Plotkin LI, Manolagas SC, Bellido T (2002) Transduction of cell survival signals by connexin-43 hemichannels. J Biol Chem 277:8648-8657
- 437. Plotkin LI, Manolagas SC, Bellido T (2007) Glucocorticoids induce osteocyte apoptosis by blocking focal adhesion kinase-mediated survival. Evidence for inside-out signaling leading to anoikis. J Biol Chem 282:24120-24130
- 438. Plotkin LI, Mathov I, Aguirre JI, Parfitt AM, Manolagas SC, Bellido T (2005) Mechanical stimulation prevents osteocyte apoptosis: requirement of integrins, Src kinases, and ERKs. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 289:C633-643
- 439. Pocock NA, Eisman JA, Hopper JL, Yeates MG, Sambrook PN, Eberl S (1987) Genetic determinants of bone mass in adults. A twin study. J Clin Invest 80:706-710
- 440. Poehlman ET, Tchernof A (1998) Traversing the menopause: changes in energy expenditure and body composition. Coron Artery Dis 9:799-803
- 441. Poli V, Balena R, Fattori E, Markatos A, Yamamoto M, Tanaka H, Ciliberto G, Rodan GA, Costantini F (1994) Interleukin-6 deficient mice are protected from bone loss caused by estrogen depletion. EMBO J 13:1189-1196
- 442. Poole KE, van Bezooijen RL, Loveridge N, Hamersma H, Papapoulos SE, Lowik CW, Reeve J (2005) Sclerostin is a delayed secreted product of osteocytes that inhibits bone formation. FASEB J 19:1842-1844
- 443. Praetorius HA, Spring KR (2001) Bending the MDCK cell primary cilium increases intracellular calcium. J Membr Biol 184:71-79
- 444. Prince RL, Dick I, Devine A, Price RI, Gutteridge DH, Kerr D, Criddle A, Garcia-Webb P, St John A (1995) The effects of menopause and age on calcitropic hormones: a cross-sectional study of 655 healthy women aged 35 to 90. J Bone Miner Res 10:835-842
- 445. Prior JC (1990) Progesterone as a bone-trophic hormone. Endocr Rev 11:386-398
- 446. Pulkkinen P, Partanen J, Jalovaara P, Jamsa T (2004) Combination of bone mineral density and upper femur geometry improves the prediction of hip fracture. Osteoporos Int 15:274-280
- 447. Qiu S, Rao DS, Fyhrie DP, Palnitkar S, Parfitt AM (2005) The morphological association between microcracks and osteocyte lacunae in human cortical bone. Bone 37:10-15
- 448. Qiu S, Rao DS, Palnitkar S, Parfitt AM (2003) Reduced iliac cancellous osteocyte density in patients with osteoporotic vertebral fracture. J Bone Miner Res 18:1657-1663
- 449. Ralston SH (1997) The Michael Mason Prize Essay 1997. Nitric oxide and bone: what a gas! Br J Rheumatol 36:831-838
- 450. Ralston SH, Russell RG, Gowen M (1990) Estrogen inhibits release of tumor necrosis factor from peripheral blood mononuclear cells in postmenopausal women. J Bone Miner Res 5:983-988

- 451. Rawlinson SC, Pitsillides AA, Lanyon LE (1996) Involvement of different ion channels in osteoblasts' and osteocytes' early responses to mechanical strain. Bone 19:609-614
- 452. Ray NF, Chan JK, Thamer M, Melton LJ, 3rd (1997) Medical expenditures for the treatment of osteoporotic fractures in the United States in 1995: report from the National Osteoporosis Foundation. J Bone Miner Res 12:24-35
- 453. Redberg RF, Nishino M, McElhinney DB, Dae MW, Botvinick EH (2000) Longterm estrogen replacement therapy is associated with improved exercise capacity in postmenopausal women without known coronary artery disease. Am Heart J 139:739-744
- 454. Reich KM, McAllister TN, Gudi S, Frangos JA (1997) Activation of G proteins mediates flow-induced prostaglandin E2 production in osteoblasts. Endocrinology 138:1014-1018
- 455. Riddle RC, Taylor AF, Rogers JR, Donahue HJ (2007) ATP release mediates fluid flow-induced proliferation of human bone marrow stromal cells. J Bone Miner Res 22:589-600
- 456. Riggs BL, Khosla S, Melton LJ (1998) A unitary model for involutional osteoporosis: estrogen deficiency causes both type I and type II osteoporosis in postmenopausal women and contributes to bone loss in aging men. J Bone Miner Res 13:763-773
- 457. Riggs BL, Melton Iii LJ, 3rd, Robb RA, Camp JJ, Atkinson EJ, Peterson JM, Rouleau PA, McCollough CH, Bouxsein ML, Khosla S (2004) Population-based study of age and sex differences in bone volumetric density, size, geometry, and structure at different skeletal sites. J Bone Miner Res 19:1945-1954
- 458. Riggs BL, Wahner HW, Melton LJ, 3rd, Richelson LS, Judd HL, Offord KP (1986) Rates of bone loss in the appendicular and axial skeletons of women. Evidence of substantial vertebral bone loss before menopause. J Clin Invest 77:1487-1491
- 459. Robinson JA, Chatterjee-Kishore M, Yaworsky PJ, Cullen DM, Zhao W, Li C, Kharode Y, Sauter L, Babij P, Brown EL, Hill AA, Akhter MP, Johnson ML, Recker RR, Komm BS, Bex FJ (2006) Wnt/beta-catenin signaling is a normal physiological response to mechanical loading in bone. J Biol Chem 281:31720-31728
- 460. Robinson JA, Harris SA, Riggs BL, Spelsberg TC (1997) Estrogen regulation of human osteoblastic cell proliferation and differentiation. Endocrinology 138:2919-2927
- 461. Robling AG, Castillo AB, Turner CH (2006) Biomechanical and molecular regulation of bone remodeling. Annu Rev Biomed Eng 8:455-498
- 462. Robling AG, Duijvelaar KM, Geevers JV, Ohashi N, Turner CH (2001) Modulation of appositional and longitudinal bone growth in the rat ulna by applied static and dynamic force. Bone 29:105-113
- 463. Robling AG, Hinant FM, Burr DB, Turner CH (2002) Shorter, more frequent mechanical loading sessions enhance bone mass. Med Sci Sports Exerc 34:196-202

- 464. Robling AG, Niziolek PJ, Baldridge LA, Condon KW, Allen MR, Alam I, Mantila SM, Gluhak-Heinrich J, Bellido TM, Harris SE, Turner CH (2008) Mechanical stimulation of bone in vivo reduces osteocyte expression of Sost/sclerostin. J Biol Chem 283:5866-5875
- 465. Rochefort GY, Pallu S, Benhamou CL Osteocyte: the unrecognized side of bone tissue. Osteoporos Int
- 466. Rodda SJ, McMahon AP (2006) Distinct roles for Hedgehog and canonical Wnt signaling in specification, differentiation and maintenance of osteoblast progenitors. Development 133:3231-3244
- 467. Roggia C, Gao Y, Cenci S, Weitzmann MN, Toraldo G, Isaia G, Pacifici R (2001) Up-regulation of TNF-producing T cells in the bone marrow: a key mechanism by which estrogen deficiency induces bone loss in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:13960-13965
- 468. Ronkainen PH, Kovanen V, Alen M, Pollanen E, Palonen EM, Ankarberg-Lindgren C, Hamalainen E, Turpeinen U, Kujala UM, Puolakka J, Kaprio J, Sipila S (2009) Postmenopausal hormone replacement therapy modifies skeletal muscle composition and function: a study with monozygotic twin pairs. J Appl Physiol 107:25-33
- 469. Ross PD, Davis JW, Epstein RS, Wasnich RD (1991) Pre-existing fractures and bone mass predict vertebral fracture incidence in women. Ann Intern Med 114:919-923
- 470. Roux JP, Wegrzyn J, Arlot ME, Guyen O, Delmas PD, Chapurlat R, Bouxsein ML (2010) Contribution of trabecular and cortical components to biomechanical behavior of human vertebrae: an ex vivo study. J Bone Miner Res 25:356-361
- 471. Rubin CT, Bain SD, McLeod KJ (1992) Suppression of the osteogenic response in the aging skeleton. Calcif Tissue Int 50:306-313
- 472. Rubin CT, Capilla E, Luu YK, Busa B, Crawford H, Nolan DJ, Mittal V, Rosen CJ, Pessin JE, Judex S (2007) Adipogenesis is inhibited by brief, daily exposure to high-frequency, extremely low-magnitude mechanical signals. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:17879-17884
- 473. Rubin CT, Lanyon LE (1985) Regulation of bone mass by mechanical strain magnitude. Calcif Tissue Int 37:411-417
- 474. Rubin J, Fan X, Biskobing DM, Taylor WR, Rubin CT (1999) Osteoclastogenesis is repressed by mechanical strain in an in vitro model. J Orthop Res 17:639-645
- 475. Rubin J, Murphy T, Nanes MS, Fan X (2000) Mechanical strain inhibits expression of osteoclast differentiation factor by murine stromal cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 278:C1126-1132
- 476. Rubin J, Murphy TC, Fan X, Goldschmidt M, Taylor WR (2002) Activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase is involved in mechanical strain inhibition of RANKL expression in bone stromal cells. J Bone Miner Res 17:1452-1460
- 477. Rubin J, Murphy TC, Zhu L, Roy E, Nanes MS, Fan X (2003) Mechanical strain differentially regulates endothelial nitric-oxide synthase and receptor activator of nuclear kappa B ligand expression via ERK1/2 MAPK. J Biol Chem 278:34018-34025

- 478. Russo CR, Lauretani F, Bandinelli S, Bartali B, Di Iorio A, Volpato S, Guralnik JM, Harris T, Ferrucci L (2003) Aging bone in men and women: beyond changes in bone mineral density. Osteoporos Int 14:531-538
- 479. Russo CR, Lauretani F, Seeman E, Bartali B, Bandinelli S, Di Iorio A, Guralnik J, Ferrucci L (2006) Structural adaptations to bone loss in aging men and women. Bone 38:112-118
- 480. Ryan MR, Shepherd R, Leavey JK, Gao Y, Grassi F, Schnell FJ, Qian WP, Kersh GJ, Weitzmann MN, Pacifici R (2005) An IL-7-dependent rebound in thymic T cell output contributes to the bone loss induced by estrogen deficiency. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:16735-16740
- 481. Saika M, Inoue D, Kido S, Matsumoto T (2001) 17beta-estradiol stimulates expression of osteoprotegerin by a mouse stromal cell line, ST-2, via estrogen receptor-alpha. Endocrinology 142:2205-2212
- 482. Saino H, Matsuyama T, Takada J, Kaku T, Ishii S (1997) Long-term treatment of indomethacin reduces vertebral bone mass and strength in ovariectomized rats. J Bone Miner Res 12:1844-1850
- 483. Saito M, Fujii K, Soshi S, Tanaka T (2006) Reductions in degree of mineralization and enzymatic collagen cross-links and increases in glycation-induced pentosidine in the femoral neck cortex in cases of femoral neck fracture. Osteoporos Int 17:986-995
- 484. Saito M, Mori S, Mashiba T, Komatsubara S, Marumo K (2008) Collagen maturity, glycation induced-pentosidine, and mineralization are increased following 3-year treatment with incadronate in dogs. Osteoporos Int 19:1343-1354
- 485. Salter DM, Robb JE, Wright MO (1997) Electrophysiological responses of human bone cells to mechanical stimulation: evidence for specific integrin function in mechanotransduction. J Bone Miner Res 12:1133-1141
- 486. Sambrook P, Cooper C (2006) Osteoporosis. Lancet 367:2010-2018
- 487. Santos A, Bakker AD, Zandieh-Doulabi B, Semeins CM, Klein-Nulend J (2009) Pulsating fluid flow modulates gene expression of proteins involved in Wnt signaling pathways in osteocytes. J Orthop Res 27:1280-1287
- 488. Sarkar S, Mitlak BH, Wong M, Stock JL, Black DM, Harper KD (2002) Relationships between bone mineral density and incident vertebral fracture risk with raloxifene therapy. J Bone Miner Res 17:1-10
- 489. Saunders MM, You J, Zhou Z, Li Z, Yellowley CE, Kunze EL, Jacobs CR, Donahue HJ (2003) Fluid flow-induced prostaglandin E2 response of osteoblastic ROS 17/2.8 cells is gap junction-mediated and independent of cytosolic calcium. Bone 32:350-356
- 490. Saville PD, Whyte MP (1969) Muscle and bone hypertrophy. Positive effect of running exercise in the rat. Clin Orthop Relat Res 65:81-88
- 491. Sawakami K, Robling AG, Ai M, Pitner ND, Liu D, Warden SJ, Li J, Maye P, Rowe DW, Duncan RL, Warman ML, Turner CH (2006) The Wnt co-receptor LRP5 is essential for skeletal mechanotransduction but not for the anabolic bone response to parathyroid hormone treatment. J Biol Chem 281:23698-23711

- 492. Saxon LK, Turner CH (2006) Low-dose estrogen treatment suppresses periosteal bone formation in response to mechanical loading. Bone 39:1261-1267
- 493. Scheven BA, Damen CA, Hamilton NJ, Verhaar HJ, Duursma SA (1992) Stimulatory effects of estrogen and progesterone on proliferation and differentiation of normal human osteoblast-like cells in vitro. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 186:54-60
- 494. Schilling AF, Filke S, Lange T, Gebauer M, Brink S, Baranowsky A, Zustin J, Amling M (2008) Gap junctional communication in human osteoclasts in vitro and in vivo. J Cell Mol Med 12:2497-2504
- 495. Schneider VS, LeBlanc A, Huntoon CL (1993) Prevention of space flight induced soft tissue calcification and disuse osteoporosis. Acta Astronaut 29:139-140
- 496. Schuit SC, van der Klift M, Weel AE, de Laet CE, Burger H, Seeman E, Hofman A, Uitterlinden AG, van Leeuwen JP, Pols HA (2004) Fracture incidence and association with bone mineral density in elderly men and women: the Rotterdam Study. Bone 34:195-202
- 497. Schwartz AV, Sellmeyer DE (2007) Diabetes, fracture, and bone fragility. Curr Osteoporos Rep 5:105-111
- 498. Searby ND, Steele CR, Globus RK (2005) Influence of increased mechanical loading by hypergravity on the microtubule cytoskeleton and prostaglandin E2 release in primary osteoblasts. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 289:C148-158
- 499. Seeman E (2003) Periosteal bone formation--a neglected determinant of bone strength. N Engl J Med 349:320-323
- 500. Seeman E (2007) Is a change in bone mineral density a sensitive and specific surrogate of anti-fracture efficacy? Bone 41:308-317
- 501. Seeman E, Delmas PD (2006) Bone quality--the material and structural basis of bone strength and fragility. N Engl J Med 354:2250-2261
- 502. Seeman E, Hopper JL, Bach LA, Cooper ME, Parkinson E, McKay J, Jerums G (1989) Reduced bone mass in daughters of women with osteoporosis. N Engl J Med 320:554-558
- 503. Sen B, Xie Z, Case N, Ma M, Rubin C, Rubin J (2008) Mechanical strain inhibits adipogenesis in mesenchymal stem cells by stimulating a durable beta-catenin signal. Endocrinology 149:6065-6075
- 504. Services DoHaH (2004) Bone Health and Osteoporosis: A Report of the Surgeon General. Rockville, USA
- 505. Shane E, Burr D, Ebeling PR, Abrahamsen B, Adler RA, Brown TD, Cheung AM, Cosman F, Curtis JR, Dell R, Dempster D, Einhorn TA, Genant HK, Geusens P, Klaushofer K, Koval K, Lane JM, McKiernan F, McKinney R, Ng A, Nieves J, O'Keefe R, Papapoulos S, Sen HT, van der Meulen MC, Weinstein RS, Whyte M (2010) Atypical subtrochanteric and diaphyseal femoral fractures: report of a task force of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research. J Bone Miner Res 25:2267-2294
- 506. Shaw SR, Zernicke RF, Vailas AC, DeLuna D, Thomason DB, Baldwin KM (1987) Mechanical, morphological and biochemical adaptations of bone and muscle to hindlimb suspension and exercise. J Biomech 20:225-234

- 507. Sherrington C, Whitney JC, Lord SR, Herbert RD, Cumming RG, Close JC (2008) Effective exercise for the prevention of falls: a systematic review and metaanalysis. J Am Geriatr Soc 56:2234-2243
- 508. Shevde NK, Bendixen AC, Dienger KM, Pike JW (2000) Estrogens suppress RANK ligand-induced osteoclast differentiation via a stromal cell independent mechanism involving c-Jun repression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:7829-7834
- 509. Shibayama J, Paznekas W, Seki A, Taffet S, Jabs EW, Delmar M, Musa H (2005) Functional characterization of connexin43 mutations found in patients with oculodentodigital dysplasia. Circ Res 96:e83-91
- 510. Shimizu H, Sakamoto M, Sakamoto S (1990) Bone resorption by isolated osteoclasts in living versus devitalized bone: differences in mode and extent and the effects of human recombinant tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases. J Bone Miner Res 5:411-418
- 511. Sietsema WK (1995) Animal models of cortical porosity. Bone 17:297S-305S
- 512. Simonet WS, Lacey DL, Dunstan CR, Kelley M, Chang MS, Luthy R, Nguyen HQ, Wooden S, Bennett L, Boone T, Shimamoto G, DeRose M, Elliott R, Colombero A, Tan HL, Trail G, Sullivan J, Davy E, Bucay N, Renshaw-Gegg L, Hughes TM, Hill D, Pattison W, Campbell P, Sander S, Van G, Tarpley J, Derby P, Lee R, Boyle WJ (1997) Osteoprotegerin: a novel secreted protein involved in the regulation of bone density. Cell 89:309-319
- 513. Sitara D, Razzaque MS, Hesse M, Yoganathan S, Taguchi T, Erben RG, Juppner H, Lanske B (2004) Homozygous ablation of fibroblast growth factor-23 results in hyperphosphatemia and impaired skeletogenesis, and reverses hypophosphatemia in Phex-deficient mice. Matrix Biol 23:421-432
- 514. Siu WS, Qin L, Cheung WH, Leung KS (2004) A study of trabecular bones in ovariectomized goats with micro-computed tomography and peripheral quantitative computed tomography. Bone 35:21-26
- 515. Siu WS, Qin L, Leung KS (2003) pQCT bone strength index may serve as a better predictor than bone mineral density for long bone breaking strength. J Bone Miner Metab 21:316-322
- 516. Skerry TM, Bitensky L, Chayen J, Lanyon LE (1989) Early strain-related changes in enzyme activity in osteocytes following bone loading in vivo. J Bone Miner Res 4:783-788
- 517. Slemenda CW, Longcope C, Zhou L, Hui SL, Peacock M, Johnston CC (1997) Sex steroids and bone mass in older men. Positive associations with serum estrogens and negative associations with androgens. J Clin Invest 100:1755-1759
- 518. Smalt R, Mitchell FT, Howard RL, Chambers TJ (1997) Induction of NO and prostaglandin E2 in osteoblasts by wall-shear stress but not mechanical strain. Am J Physiol 273:E751-758
- 519. Smith EP, Boyd J, Frank GR, Takahashi H, Cohen RM, Specker B, Williams TC, Lubahn DB, Korach KS (1994) Estrogen resistance caused by a mutation in the estrogen-receptor gene in a man. N Engl J Med 331:1056-1061

- 520. Sorensen MB, Rosenfalck AM, Hojgaard L, Ottesen B (2001) Obesity and sarcopenia after menopause are reversed by sex hormone replacement therapy. Obes Res 9:622-626
- 521. Sornay-Rendu E, Munoz F, Duboeuf F, Delmas PD (2005) Rate of forearm bone loss is associated with an increased risk of fracture independently of bone mass in postmenopausal women: the OFELY study. J Bone Miner Res 20:1929-1935
- 522. Sran MM, Boyd SK, Cooper DM, Khan KM, Zernicke RF, Oxland TR (2007) Regional trabecular morphology assessed by micro-CT is correlated with failure of aged thoracic vertebrae under a posteroanterior load and may determine the site of fracture. Bone 40:751-757
- 523. Sran MM, Khan KM, Zhu Q, McKay HA, Oxland TR (2004) Failure characteristics of the thoracic spine with a posteroanterior load: investigating the safety of spinal mobilization. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 29:2382-2388
- 524. Srinivasan S, Gross TS (2000) Canalicular fluid flow induced by bending of a long bone. Med Eng Phys 22:127-133
- 525. Srinivasan S, Weimer DA, Agans SC, Bain SD, Gross TS (2002) Low-magnitude mechanical loading becomes osteogenic when rest is inserted between each load cycle. J Bone Miner Res 17:1613-1620
- 526. Srivastava S, Toraldo G, Weitzmann MN, Cenci S, Ross FP, Pacifici R (2001) Estrogen decreases osteoclast formation by down-regulating receptor activator of NF-kappa B ligand (RANKL)-induced JNK activation. J Biol Chem 276:8836-8840
- 527. Srivastava S, Weitzmann MN, Cenci S, Ross FP, Adler S, Pacifici R (1999) Estrogen decreases TNF gene expression by blocking JNK activity and the resulting production of c-Jun and JunD. J Clin Invest 104:503-513
- 528. Stava CJ, Jimenez C, Hu MI, Vassilopoulou-Sellin R (2009) Skeletal sequelae of cancer and cancer treatment. J Cancer Surviv 3:75-88
- 529. Stenn PG, Klinge V (1972) Relationship between the menstrual cycle and bodily activity in humans. Hormones and Behavior 3:297-305
- 530. Stone KL, Seeley DG, Lui LY, Cauley JA, Ensrud K, Browner WS, Nevitt MC, Cummings SR (2003) BMD at multiple sites and risk of fracture of multiple types: long-term results from the Study of Osteoporotic Fractures. J Bone Miner Res 18:1947-1954
- 531. Strampel W, Emkey R, Civitelli R (2007) Safety considerations with bisphosphonates for the treatment of osteoporosis. Drug Saf 30:755-763
- 532. Suda N, Morita I, Kuroda T, Murota S (1993) Participation of oxidative stress in the process of osteoclast differentiation. Biochim Biophys Acta 1157:318-323
- 533. Sun L, Blair HC, Peng Y, Zaidi N, Adebanjo OA, Wu XB, Wu XY, Iqbal J, Epstein S, Abe E, Moonga BS, Zaidi M (2005) Calcineurin regulates bone formation by the osteoblast. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:17130-17135
- 534. Suominen H (1993) Bone mineral density and long term exercise. An overview of cross-sectional athlete studies. Sports Med 16:316-330
- 535. Sutherland MK, Geoghegan JC, Yu C, Turcott E, Skonier JE, Winkler DG, Latham JA (2004) Sclerostin promotes the apoptosis of human osteoblastic cells: a novel regulation of bone formation. Bone 35:828-835

- 536. Sutherland MK, Hui DU, Rao LG, Wylie JN, Murray TM (1996) Immunohistochemical localization of the estrogen receptor in human osteoblastic SaOS-2 cells: association of receptor levels with alkaline phosphatase activity. Bone 18:361-369
- 537. Syed FA, Oursler MJ, Hefferanm TE, Peterson JM, Riggs BL, Khosla S (2008) Effects of estrogen therapy on bone marrow adipocytes in postmenopausal osteoporotic women. Osteoporos Int 19:1323-1330
- 538. Szulc P, Beck TJ, Marchand F, Delmas PD (2005) Low skeletal muscle mass is associated with poor structural parameters of bone and impaired balance in elderly men--the MINOS study. J Bone Miner Res 20:721-729
- 539. Taaffe DR (2006) Sarcopenia--exercise as a treatment strategy. Aust Fam Physician 35:130-134
- 540. Taes Y, Lapauw B, Griet V, De Bacquer D, Goemaere S, Zmierczak H, Kaufman JM Prevalent fractures are related to cortical bone geometry in young healthy men at age of peak bone mass. J Bone Miner Res 25:1433-1440
- 541. Takata S, Yasui N (2001) Disuse osteoporosis. J Med Invest 48:147-156
- 542. Tamai K, Semenov M, Kato Y, Spokony R, Liu C, Katsuyama Y, Hess F, Saint-Jeannet JP, He X (2000) LDL-receptor-related proteins in Wnt signal transduction. Nature 407:530-535
- 543. Tan D, De Vries TJ, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM, Semeins CM, Everts V, Klein-Nulend J (2007) Osteocytes subjected to pulsating fluid flow inhibit osteoclast formation and bone resorption. Calcified Tissue International 80:S28-S28
- 544. Tan SD, de Vries TJ, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM, Semeins CM, Elverts V, Klein-Nulend J (2007) Osteocytes subjected to fluid flow inhibit osteoclast formation and bone resorption. Bone 41:745-751
- 545. Tan SD, de Vries TJ, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM, Semeins CM, Everts V, Klein-Nulend J (2007) Osteocytes subjected to fluid flow inhibit osteoclast formation and bone resorption. Bone 41:745-751
- 546. Tang BM, Eslick GD, Nowson C, Smith C, Bensoussan A (2007) Use of calcium or calcium in combination with vitamin D supplementation to prevent fractures and bone loss in people aged 50 years and older: a meta-analysis. Lancet 370:657-666
- 547. Tatsumi S, Ishii K, Amizuka N, Li M, Kobayashi T, Kohno K, Ito M, Takeshita S, Ikeda K (2007) Targeted ablation of osteocytes induces osteoporosis with defective mechanotransduction. Cell Metab 5:464-475
- 548. Taubman MA, Kawai T (2001) Involvement of T-lymphocytes in periodontal disease and in direct and indirect induction of bone resorption. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med 12:125-135
- 549. Taylor AF, Saunders MM, Shingle DL, Cimbala JM, Zhou Z, Donahue HJ (2007) Mechanically stimulated osteocytes regulate osteoblastic activity via gap junctions. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 292:C545-552
- 550. Ten Bolscher M, Netelenbos JC, Barto R, Van Buuren LM, Van der vijgh WJ (1999) Estrogen regulation of intestinal calcium absorption in the intact and ovariectomized adult rat. J Bone Miner Res 14:1197-1202

- 551. Theobald TM, Cauley JA, Gluer CC, Bunker CH, Ukoli FA, Genant HK (1998) Black-white differences in hip geometry. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. Osteoporos Int 8:61-67
- 552. Thomas DK, Storlien LH, Bellingham WP, Gillette K (1986) Ovarian hormone effects on activity, glucoregulation and thyroid hormones in the rat. Physiol Behav 36:567-573
- 553. Thomas ML, Xu X, Norfleet AM, Watson CS (1993) The presence of functional estrogen receptors in intestinal epithelial cells. Endocrinology 132:426-430
- 554. Tomkinson A, Gevers EF, Wit JM, Reeve J, Noble BS (1998) The role of estrogen in the control of rat osteocyte apoptosis. J Bone Miner Res 13:1243-1250
- 555. Tomkinson A, Reeve J, Shaw RW, Noble BS (1997) The death of osteocytes via apoptosis accompanies estrogen withdrawal in human bone. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 82:3128-3135
- 556. Torrance AG, Mosley JR, Suswillo RF, Lanyon LE (1994) Noninvasive loading of the rat ulna in vivo induces a strain-related modeling response uncomplicated by trauma or periostal pressure. Calcif Tissue Int 54:241-247
- 557. Tromp AM, Bravenboer N, Tanck E, Oostlander A, Holzmann PJ, Kostense PJ, Roos JC, Burger EH, Huiskes R, Lips P (2006) Additional weight bearing during exercise and estrogen in the rat: the effect on bone mass, turnover, and structure. Calcif Tissue Int 79:404-415
- 558. Turner CH (2002) Biomechanics of bone: determinants of skeletal fragility and bone quality. Osteoporos Int 13:97-104
- 559. Turner CH, Akhter MP, Raab DM, Kimmel DB, Recker RR (1991) A noninvasive, in vivo model for studying strain adaptive bone modeling. Bone 12:73-79
- 560. Turner CH, Burr DB (1993) Basic biomechanical measurements of bone: a tutorial. Bone 14:595-608
- 561. Turner CH, Owan I, Takano Y (1995) Mechanotransduction in bone: role of strain rate. Am J Physiol 269:E438-442
- 562. Turner CH, Takano Y, Owan I (1995) Aging changes mechanical loading thresholds for bone formation in rats. J Bone Miner Res 10:1544-1549
- 563. Turner RT (1999) Mechanical signaling in the development of postmenopausal osteoporosis. Lupus 8:388-392
- 564. Turner RT, Maran A, Lotinun S, Hefferan T, Evans GL, Zhang M, Sibonga JD (2001) Animal models for osteoporosis. Rev Endocr Metab Disord 2:117-127
- 565. Udagawa N, Takahashi N, Katagiri T, Tamura T, Wada S, Findlay DM, Martin TJ, Hirota H, Taga T, Kishimoto T, Suda T (1995) Interleukin (IL)-6 induction of osteoclast differentiation depends on IL-6 receptors expressed on osteoblastic cells but not on osteoclast progenitors. J Exp Med 182:1461-1468
- 566. Udagawa N, Takahashi N, Yasuda H, Mizuno A, Itoh K, Ueno Y, Shinki T, Gillespie MT, Martin TJ, Higashio K, Suda T (2000) Osteoprotegerin produced by osteoblasts is an important regulator in osteoclast development and function. Endocrinology 141:3478-3484
- 567. Uusi-Rasi K, Semanick LM, Zanchetta JR, Bogado CE, Eriksen EF, Sato M, Beck TJ (2005) Effects of teriparatide [rhPTH (1-34)] treatment on structural geometry of the proximal femur in elderly osteoporotic women. Bone 36:948-958

- 568. Van Cromphaut SJ, Rummens K, Stockmans I, Van Herck E, Dijcks FA, Ederveen AG, Carmeliet P, Verhaeghe J, Bouillon R, Carmeliet G (2003) Intestinal calcium transporter genes are upregulated by estrogens and the reproductive cycle through vitamin D receptor-independent mechanisms. J Bone Miner Res 18:1725-1736
- 569. van Staa TP, Dennison EM, Leufkens HG, Cooper C (2001) Epidemiology of fractures in England and Wales. Bone 29:517-522
- 570. Vashishth D, Gibson GJ, Khoury JI, Schaffler MB, Kimura J, Fyhrie DP (2001) Influence of nonenzymatic glycation on biomechanical properties of cortical bone. Bone 28:195-201
- 571. Vashishth D, Verborgt O, Divine G, Schaffler MB, Fyhrie DP (2000) Decline in osteocyte lacunar density in human cortical bone is associated with accumulation of microcracks with age. Bone 26:375-380
- 572. Vatsa A, Smit TH, Klein-Nulend J (2007) Extracellular NO signalling from a mechanically stimulated osteocyte. J Biomech 40 Suppl 1:S89-95
- 573. Vedi S, Compston JE (1996) The effects of long-term hormone replacement therapy on bone remodeling in postmenopausal women. Bone 19:535-539
- 574. Veis A (2005) Materials science. A window on biomineralization. Science 307:1419-1420
- 575. Vestergaard P (2007) Discrepancies in bone mineral density and fracture risk in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes--a meta-analysis. Osteoporos Int 18:427-444
- 576. Vicente-Rodriguez G, Dorado C, Perez-Gomez J, Gonzalez-Henriquez JJ, Calbet JA (2004) Enhanced bone mass and physical fitness in young female handball players. Bone 35:1208-1215
- 577. Vico L, Chappard D, Alexandre C, Palle S, Minaire P, Riffat G, Morukov B, Rakhmanov S (1987) Effects of a 120 day period of bed-rest on bone mass and bone cell activities in man: attempts at countermeasure. Bone Miner 2:383-394
- 578. Viguet-Carrin S, Garnero P, Delmas PD (2006) The role of collagen in bone strength. Osteoporos Int 17:319-336
- 579. Volgyi E, Lyytikainen A, Tylavsky FA, Nicholson PH, Suominen H, Alen M, Cheng S Long-term leisure-time physical activity has a positive effect on bone mass gain in girls. J Bone Miner Res 25:1034-1041
- 580. Wada T, Nakashima T, Hiroshi N, Penninger JM (2006) RANKL-RANK signaling in osteoclastogenesis and bone disease. Trends Mol Med 12:17-25
- 581. Wadhwa S, Choudhary S, Voznesensky M, Epstein M, Raisz L, Pilbeam C (2002) Fluid flow induces COX-2 expression in MC3T3-E1 osteoblasts via a PKA signaling pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 297:46-51
- 582. Wainwright SA, Marshall LM, Ensrud KE, Cauley JA, Black DM, Hillier TA, Hochberg MC, Vogt MT, Orwoll ES (2005) Hip fracture in women without osteoporosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90:2787-2793
- 583. Walker LM, Publicover SJ, Preston MR, Said Ahmed MA, El Haj AJ (2000) Calcium-channel activation and matrix protein upregulation in bone cells in response to mechanical strain. J Cell Biochem 79:648-661

- 584. Wallace BA, Cumming RG (2000) Systematic review of randomized trials of the effect of exercise on bone mass in pre- and postmenopausal women. Calcif Tissue Int 67:10-18
- 585. Wallace JM, Golcuk K, Morris MD, Kohn DH (2009) Inbred strain-specific response to biglycan deficiency in the cortical bone of C57BL6/129 and C3H/He mice. J Bone Miner Res 24:1002-1012
- 586. Walsh MC, Hunter GR, Livingstone MB (2006) Sarcopenia in premenopausal and postmenopausal women with osteopenia, osteoporosis and normal bone mineral density. Osteoporos Int 17:61-67
- 587. Wang L, Wang Y, Han Y, Henderson SC, Majeska RJ, Weinbaum S, Schaffler MB (2005) In situ measurement of solute transport in the bone lacunar-canalicular system. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:11911-11916
- 588. Wang Q, Teo JW, Ghasem-Zadeh A, Seeman E (2009) Women and men with hip fractures have a longer femoral neck moment arm and greater impact load in a sideways fall. Osteoporos Int 20:1151-1156
- 589. Watts NB, Cooper C, Lindsay R, Eastell R, Manhart MD, Barton IP, van Staa TP, Adachi JD (2004) Relationship between changes in bone mineral density and vertebral fracture risk associated with risedronate: greater increases in bone mineral density do not relate to greater decreases in fracture risk. J Clin Densitom 7:255-261
- 590. Wehrli FW, Rajapakse CS, Magland JF, Snyder PJ Mechanical implications of estrogen supplementation in early postmenopausal women. J Bone Miner Res 25:1406-1414
- 591. Wei S, Kitaura H, Zhou P, Ross FP, Teitelbaum SL (2005) IL-1 mediates TNFinduced osteoclastogenesis. J Clin Invest 115:282-290
- 592. Weinbaum S, Cowin SC, Zeng Y (1994) A model for the excitation of osteocytes by mechanical loading-induced bone fluid shear stresses. J Biomech 27:339-360
- 593. Weinstein RS Glucocorticoids, osteocytes, and skeletal fragility: the role of bone vascularity. Bone 46:564-570
- 594. Weinstein RS, Wan C, Liu Q, Wang Y, Almeida M, O'Brien CA, Thostenson J, Roberson PK, Boskey AL, Clemens TL, Manolagas SC (2009) Endogenous glucocorticoids decrease skeletal angiogenesis, vascularity, hydration, and strength in aged mice. Aging Cell
- 595. Weitzmann MN, Cenci S, Rifas L, Haug J, Dipersio J, Pacifici R (2001) T cell activation induces human osteoclast formation via receptor activator of nuclear factor kappaB ligand-dependent and -independent mechanisms. J Bone Miner Res 16:328-337
- 596. Weitzmann MN, Roggia C, Toraldo G, Weitzmann L, Pacifici R (2002) Increased production of IL-7 uncouples bone formation from bone resorption during estrogen deficiency. J Clin Invest 110:1643-1650
- 597. Westerlind KC, Wronski TJ, Ritman EL, Luo ZP, An KN, Bell NH, Turner RT (1997) Estrogen regulates the rate of bone turnover but bone balance in ovariectomized rats is modulated by prevailing mechanical strain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:4199-4204

- 598. Weyts FA, Li YS, van Leeuwen J, Weinans H, Chien S (2002) ERK activation and alpha v beta 3 integrin signaling through Shc recruitment in response to mechanical stimulation in human osteoblasts. J Cell Biochem 87:85-92
- 599. Whitfield JF (2003) Primary cilium--is it an osteocyte's strain-sensing flowmeter? J Cell Biochem 89:233-237
- 600. Williams JA, Wagner J, Wasnich R, Heilbrun L (1984) The effect of long-distance running upon appendicular bone mineral content. Med Sci Sports Exerc 16:223-227
- 601. Wilson EE, Awonusi A, Morris MD, Kohn DH, Tecklenburg MM, Beck LW (2006) Three structural roles for water in bone observed by solid-state NMR. Biophys J 90:3722-3731
- 602. Winters KM, Snow CM (2000) Detraining reverses positive effects of exercise on the musculoskeletal system in premenopausal women. J Bone Miner Res 15:2495-2503
- 603. Wittich A, Mautalen CA, Oliveri MB, Bagur A, Somoza F, Rotemberg E (1998) Professional football (soccer) players have a markedly greater skeletal mineral content, density and size than age- and BMI-matched controls. Calcif Tissue Int 63:112-117
- 604. Wolff I, van Croonenborg JJ, Kemper HC, Kostense PJ, Twisk JW (1999) The effect of exercise training programs on bone mass: a meta-analysis of published controlled trials in pre- and postmenopausal women. Osteoporos Int 9:1-12
- 605. Wollnik F, Turek FW (1988) Estrous correlated modulations of circadian and ultradian wheel-running activity rhythms in LEW/Ztm rats. Physiol Behav 43:389-396
- 606. Wronski TJ, Cintron M, Dann LM (1988) Temporal relationship between bone loss and increased bone turnover in ovariectomized rats. Calcif Tissue Int 43:179-183
- 607. Wronski TJ, Lowry PL, Walsh CC, Ignaszewski LA (1985) Skeletal alterations in ovariectomized rats. Calcif Tissue Int 37:324-328
- 608. Xiao Z, Zhang S, Mahlios J, Zhou G, Magenheimer BS, Guo D, Dallas SL, Maser R, Calvet JP, Bonewald L, Quarles LD (2006) Cilia-like structures and polycystin-1 in osteoblasts/osteocytes and associated abnormalities in skeletogenesis and Runx2 expression. J Biol Chem 281:30884-30895
- 609. Yalin S, Bagis S, Polat G, Dogruer N, Cenk Aksit S, Hatungil R, Erdogan C (2005) Is there a role of free oxygen radicals in primary male osteoporosis? Clin Exp Rheumatol 23:689-692
- 610. Yeh CR, Chiu JJ, Lee CI, Lee PL, Shih YT, Sun JS, Chien S, Cheng CK (2010) Estrogen augments shear stress-induced signaling and gene expression in osteoblast-like cells via estrogen receptor-mediated expression of beta1integrin. J Bone Miner Res 25:627-639
- 611. Yellowley CE, Li Z, Zhou Z, Jacobs CR, Donahue HJ (2000) Functional gap junctions between osteocytic and osteoblastic cells. J Bone Miner Res 15:209-217
- 612. Yerramshetty JS, Akkus O (2008) The associations between mineral crystallinity and the mechanical properties of human cortical bone. Bone 42:476-482

- 613. Yerramshetty JS, Lind C, Akkus O (2006) The compositional and physicochemical homogeneity of male femoral cortex increases after the sixth decade. Bone 39:1236-1243
- 614. Yeung DK, Griffith JF, Antonio GE, Lee FK, Woo J, Leung PC (2005) Osteoporosis is associated with increased marrow fat content and decreased marrow fat unsaturation: a proton MR spectroscopy study. J Magn Reson Imaging 22:279-285
- 615. You J, Jacobs CR, Steinberg TH, Donahue HJ (2002) P2Y purinoceptors are responsible for oscillatory fluid flow-induced intracellular calcium mobilization in osteoblastic cells. J Biol Chem 277:48724-48729
- 616. You J, Reilly GC, Zhen X, Yellowley CE, Chen Q, Donahue HJ, Jacobs CR (2001) Osteopontin gene regulation by oscillatory fluid flow via intracellular calcium mobilization and activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase in MC3T3-E1 osteoblasts. J Biol Chem 276:13365-13371
- 617. You L, Cowin SC, Schaffler MB, Weinbaum S (2001) A model for strain amplification in the actin cytoskeleton of osteocytes due to fluid drag on pericellular matrix. J Biomech 34:1375-1386
- 618. You L, Temiyasathit S, Lee P, Kim CH, Tummala P, Yao W, Kingery W, Malone AM, Kwon RY, Jacobs CR (2008) Osteocytes as mechanosensors in the inhibition of bone resorption due to mechanical loading. Bone 42:172-179
- 619. You LD, Weinbaum S, Cowin SC, Schaffler MB (2004) Ultrastructure of the osteocyte process and its pericellular matrix. Anat Rec A Discov Mol Cell Evol Biol 278:505-513
- 620. Zaman G, Cheng MZ, Jessop HL, White R, Lanyon LE (2000) Mechanical strain activates estrogen response elements in bone cells. Bone 27:233-239
- 621. Zaman G, Jessop HL, Muzylak M, De Souza RL, Pitsillides AA, Price JS, Lanyon LL (2006) Osteocytes use estrogen receptor alpha to respond to strain but their ERalpha content is regulated by estrogen. J Bone Miner Res 21:1297-1306
- 622. Zaman G, Pitsillides AA, Rawlinson SC, Suswillo RF, Mosley JR, Cheng MZ, Platts LA, Hukkanen M, Polak JM, Lanyon LE (1999) Mechanical strain stimulates nitric oxide production by rapid activation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase in osteocytes. J Bone Miner Res 14:1123-1131
- 623. Zebaze RM, Ghasem-Zadeh A, Bohte A, Iuliano-Burns S, Mirams M, Price RI, Mackie EJ, Seeman E (2010) Intracortical remodelling and porosity in the distal radius and post-mortem femurs of women: a cross-sectional study. Lancet 375:1729-1736
- 624. Zecca M, Basler K, Struhl G (1996) Direct and long-range action of a wingless morphogen gradient. Cell 87:833-844
- 625. Zeng X, Huang H, Tamai K, Zhang X, Harada Y, Yokota C, Almeida K, Wang J, Doble B, Woodgett J, Wynshaw-Boris A, Hsieh JC, He X (2008) Initiation of Wnt signaling: control of Wnt coreceptor Lrp6 phosphorylation/activation via frizzled, dishevelled and axin functions. Development 135:367-375
- 626. Zerwekh JE, Ruml LA, Gottschalk F, Pak CY (1998) The effects of twelve weeks of bed rest on bone histology, biochemical markers of bone turnover, and calcium homeostasis in eleven normal subjects. J Bone Miner Res 13:1594-1601

- 627. Zhang Y, Lai WP, Leung PC, Wu CF, Wong MS (2007) Short- to mid-term effects of ovariectomy on bone turnover, bone mass and bone strength in rats. Biol Pharm Bull 30:898-903
- 628. Zhao S, Zhang YK, Harris S, Ahuja SS, Bonewald LF (2002) MLO-Y4 osteocyte-like cells support osteoclast formation and activation. J Bone Miner Res 17:2068-2079
- 629. Zhou S, Zilberman Y, Wassermann K, Bain SD, Sadovsky Y, Gazit D (2001) Estrogen modulates estrogen receptor alpha and beta expression, osteogenic activity, and apoptosis in mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) of osteoporotic mice. J Cell Biochem Suppl Suppl 36:144-155
- 630. Ziambaras K, Lecanda F, Steinberg TH, Civitelli R (1998) Cyclic stretch enhances gap junctional communication between osteoblastic cells. J Bone Miner Res 13:218-228